## **Using Genetic and Chemical Techniques to**

## **Aid Elasmobranch Conservation**

G P Tiktak

PhD 2024

# **Using Genetic and Chemical Techniques to**

## **Aid Elasmobranch Conservation**

# **GUUSKE PAULIEN TIKTAK**

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the

requirements of Manchester Metropolitan

University for the degree of Doctor of

Philosophy

**Department of Natural Sciences** 

## Declaration

I declare that I have written and produced all the contents of this PhD thesis unless otherwise stated.

Juntoletites

Signed:

Date: 11/10/2024

## Contents

Decla	ration3
Conte	ents4
Ackno	owledgements
Awar	ds, Presentations and Publications12
i)	Awards 12
ii)	Presentations12
iii)	Publications included within this thesis13
iv)	Publications not included within this thesis13
Abstr	act15
List oj	f Figures17
List oj	f Tables
Chap	ter 1
1 (	General Introduction
1.1	Background 24
1.2	Evolution and Biology of Elasmobranchs25
1.3	Conservation Status of Elasmobranchs25
1.4	Overexploitation 27
1.5	Trade in Elasmobranchs and their Related Products
1.6	Pollutant Exposure 31

1.7	Conservation Efforts and Challenges 34
1.8	Ecuador
1.9	Aims and Objectives
1.10	References 40
Chapter	253
2 Idei	ntifying patterns of mislabelling in elasmobranchs (sharks, rays, and
skates):	A global review53
Chapter	Overview
Author C	Contributions
2.1	Abstract
2.1	Introduction
2.2	Methods 59
2.2.1	L Study Selection
2.2.2	2 Data Collection
2.2.3	3 Mislabelling Terminology62
2.2.4	Data Analysis
2.3	Results and Discussion
2.3.1	L Research Trends
2.3.2	2 Global Distribution of Studies65
2.3.3	3 Species Identification
2	.3.3.1 Molecular Species Identification70
2.3.4	Species Composition of Global Elasmobranch Trade and Conservation Status72
2.3.5	5 Summary of Mislabelling Findings in Elasmobranch Products
2.	.3.5.1 Mislabelling78

	2.3.5.2	Umbrella Labelling	80
	2.3.5.3	Conservation Implications of Mislabelling	82
	2.3.5.4	The Hidden Costs of Mislabelling	83
2.4	Cone	clusion and Future Recommendations	86
2.5	Refe	erences	90
Chapt	er 3		128
3 G	ienetic	identification of three CITES-listed sharks (bigeye thres	her, pelagic
thresh	ner and s	shortfin mako shark) using a paper-based Lab-on-a-Chip (	′LOC) 128
Chapt	er Over	view	128
Fundir	ng Rece	ived	128
Autho	r Contri	butions	
3.1.	Abst	ract	130
3.2.	Introdu	ction	131
3.2.	Met	hods	135
3.	.2.1.	Sample Collection	135
3.	.2.2.	Confirmation of Species Identification	136
3.	.2.3.	LOC: Loop Mediated Isothermal Amplification (LAMP)	137
	3.2.3.1.	Primer Design	137
	3.2.3.2.	Amplification Reaction	138
	3.2.3.3.	Primer Specificity	139
3.	.2.4.	LOC and LAMP Optimisation	140
	3.2.4.1.	LOC Design & Fabrication	140
	3.2.4.2.	LOC Standard Operating Procedure (SOP)	140
	3.2.4.3.	Testing of Real-World Samples and Workshop	144

3.3.	Resu	Ilts and Discussion144	1
3	.3.1.	Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC): Lysis and Extraction144	4
	3.3.1.1.	Optimisation and Evaluation of Cell Lysis Techniques144	4
	3.3.1.2.	Optimisation and Evaluation of Field-based DNA Extraction145	5
3	.3.2.	LAMP	7
	3.3.2.1.	Primer Specificity147	7
	3.3.2.2.	Integrated LOC148	3
3.4.	Con	clusion152	2
3.5.	Refe	rences154	1
Chapt	er 4		1
4. A	re conc	entrations of pollutants in snarks, rays, and skates (Elasmobranchil) (	7
cause	for con	cern? A systematic review181	L
Chapt	er Over	view	L
Autho	r Contri	butions	L
4.1.	Abst	ract182	2
4.2.	Intro	oduction183	3
4.3.	Met	hods187	7
4	.3.1.	Study Selection	7
4.	.3.2.	Data Collection	3
4.	.3.3.	Meta-analysis	3
4	.3.4.	Statistical Analysis	Э
4.4.	Pub	ication Trends190	)
4.	.4.1.	General Information	C
4	.4.2.	Overview of pollutants studied190	c

4.4.	.3.	IUCN status	193
4.4.	.4.	Geographical distribution	
4.4.	.5.	Concentrations of pollutants in elasmobranchs	194
2	4.4.5.1.	Total mercury (THg)	195
2	4.4.5.2.	Cadmium (Cd)	196
2	4.4.5.3.	Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)	198
2	4.4.5.4.	Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT)	200
4.4.	.6.	Risk to elasmobranchs	201
4.4	.7.	Human health risks	206
2	4.4.7.1.	Human consumption	206
2	4.4.7.2.	Hazard quotients	208
2	4.4.7.3.	Human health recommendations	213
4.5.	Knov	wledge gaps and future recommendations	215
_			
16	Pofo	roncos	210
4.6.	Refe	rences	218
4.6. Chapter	Refe r 5	rences	218 242
4.6. Chapter 5. Tro	Refe r 5 ace ele	rences ments in the muscle tissue of five species of sharks (bigeye	218 
4.6. Chapter 5. Tro	Refe r 5 ace ele	rences ments in the muscle tissue of five species of sharks (bigeye	218 
4.6. Chapter 5. Tro blue sh	Refe r 5 ace ele hark, j	rences ments in the muscle tissue of five species of sharks (bigeye pelagic thresher, silky shark, and smooth hammerhed	218 242 thresher, ad shark)
4.6. Chapter 5. Tro blue sh commen	Refe r 5 ace ele hark, p rcially	rences ments in the muscle tissue of five species of sharks (bigeye pelagic thresher, silky shark, and smooth hammerhed landed at artisanal fish markets in Ecuador	218 242 thresher, ad shark) 242
4.6. Chapter 5. Tro blue sh commen Chapter	Refe r 5 ace ele hark, p ercially r Overy	rences ments in the muscle tissue of five species of sharks (bigeye pelagic thresher, silky shark, and smooth hammerhed landed at artisanal fish markets in Ecuador	218 thresher, ad shark) 242
4.6. Chapter 5. Tro blue sh commen Chapter Author	Refe r 5 ace ele hark, f rcially r Overv Contril	rences ments in the muscle tissue of five species of sharks (bigeye pelagic thresher, silky shark, and smooth hammerhed landed at artisanal fish markets in Ecuador view	218 thresher, ad shark) 242 242
4.6. Chapter 5. Tro blue sh commen Chapter Author 5.1.	Refe r 5 ace ele hark, f rrcially r Overv Contril Abst	rences ments in the muscle tissue of five species of sharks (bigeye pelagic thresher, silky shark, and smooth hammerhed landed at artisanal fish markets in Ecuador view butions	218 242 thresher, ad shark) 242 242 242
4.6. Chapter 5. Tro blue sh commen Chapter Author 5.1. 5.2.	Refe r 5 ace ele hark, p rcially r Overu Contrin Abst Intro	rences ments in the muscle tissue of five species of sharks (bigeye pelagic thresher, silky shark, and smooth hammerhed landed at artisanal fish markets in Ecuador view butions	218 242 thresher, ad shark) 242 242 242 243 
4.6. Chapter 5. Tro blue sh commen Chapter Author 5.1. 5.2. 5.3.	Refe r 5 ace ele hark, f rrcially r Overv Contril Abst Intro Mate	rences ments in the muscle tissue of five species of sharks (bigeye pelagic thresher, silky shark, and smooth hammerhed landed at artisanal fish markets in Ecuador view butions butions ract	218 242 thresher, ad shark) 242 242 242 243 244 250
4.6. Chapter 5. Tro blue sh commen Chapter Author 5.1. 5.2. 5.3.	Refe r 5 ace ele hark, p rcially r Overu Contrin Abst Intro Mate	rences ments in the muscle tissue of five species of sharks (bigeye pelagic thresher, silky shark, and smooth hammerhed landed at artisanal fish markets in Ecuador landed at artisanal fish mar	218 242 thresher, ad shark) 242 242 242 243 250 

5.3.3.	Sample Extraction	254
5.3.4.	Instrumental Analysis	255
5.3.5.	Data Quality	255
5.3.6.	Data Analyses	256
5.3.7.	Human Health Risk Assessment	257
5.4. Resu	ults and Discussion	259
5.4.1.	General Overview	259
5.4.2.	Concentrations of Total Mercury (THg)	262
5.4.3.	Human Health Risks	265
5.4.3.1.	Hazard Quotients (HQs)	265
5.4.4.	Concentrations of Trace Elements	272
5.4.5.	Implications for Sharks	275
5.5. Con	clusion and Future Recommendations	277
5.6. Refe	erences	279
Chapter 6		325
6. Conclusio	on and Future Work	325
6.1. Conclusio	ons	325
6.2. Future w	ork	331
6.3. Summary	<pre> v Statement v Statement </pre>	333

## Acknowledgements

I am incredibly grateful to everyone that helped me along this journey, I could not have done it without any of you and I am so lucky to have such an incredible group of supportive friends, family, and supervisors in my life.

I would firstly like to thank my director of studies, Dr. David Megson. Your unwavering support throughout the duration of my PhD has gone above and beyond what I could have ever hoped for. Finishing this thesis would have been impossible without your support, and I can't thank you enough for giving me all the other opportunities outside of my PhD. I would also like to thank Dr. Kirsty Shaw for her invaluable support. You pushed me to pursue opportunities I never thought would be possible, and you taught me so much. I would like to thank Professor Richard Preziosi for giving me this PhD opportunity and for always helping me, even when I got a little lost. I would finally like to thank Dr. Bradley Cain for helping me through some of the last hurdles. Thank you all for believing in me, I could not have asked for a better supervisory team. I always felt I had someone to talk to and that I was supported the whole way!

I am incredibly grateful for my mum (Annemieke), dad (Evertjan), brother (Bas) and sister (Hanneke) for their love and support during my PhD. *Zonder jullie had ik het niet kunnen doen*. My mum and dad have always told me to follow my dreams and encouraged me to pursue what I'm most passionate about, and for that I will always be grateful. I am extremely thankful for my best friend Alex A. Gabb who put up with my stress over the last six years. Your phone calls meant everything to me, and I could not have done the fieldwork without you. I am deeply grateful for my incredible friends Nialh M., Valerio G., Deborah (Debs) W., Shankar S., Dan B., Mani P., Priya A., Tom S., and Emily C-M. Thank you all for everything, especially for helping me enjoy life outside of my PhD. I am grateful for the friendship of Thomas H., Joana B., and Jade N., you guys were such a big part of my PhD and the Covid lockdown was made easier with your love and support. Finally, I would like to thank my other incredible friends and colleagues (in no particular order) Avanti M., Charley S., Alice F., Craig K., Harry W., Sam B., Luna G., Alex W., Anita H., Olivia M., Alejandra Z., Josh W., Sarah G., Lauren M., Danny N., Danny C., Peter, J.L., Daniel N., Jerome W., Joanna M., Emma C., Gill M., Jerome, W., Joanna M., Kate M., Callum D., Jerry G., Nick N., Triana T., Beth T., Alex S., Fran J., Sarah Y, Heidi, G., Anna S.M., and Dan A. I cannot thank you all enough for your patience and support. Gustavo thank you so much for all the Spanish lessons; I always enjoyed our chats. I would also like to the thank the incredible technicians and technical team at MMU that have always supported me with my experiments. I would especially like to thank David McKendry, Claire, Alistair, Graham Tinsley and Dr Claudio Dos Santos. I am also grateful for the numerous collaborators and students that helped me with my lab work in the UK, and fieldwork in Ecuador and Colombia, particularly Dr. Louise M., Rhys J., Professor Margarita B., Dr. César P., Fernando R., Karla B.V., Carlos J.Z.Z, Jorge D., Jennifer, Cristina G., Jonathan S.V.R., and some of my international collaborators Professor Aaron C. and Jean-Denis H. for helping me obtain important samples for my PhD. I would also like to thank all the friendly fishers and other local stakeholders that helped me in Ecuador and Colombia. I would finally like to thank Save our Seas Foundation (SOSF) and the National Geographic Society (NGS) for helping fund the work we did on the Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC) (Chapter 2). - Guuske Paulien Tiktak, 2024

## Awards, Presentations and Publications

## i) Awards

### 2019 – 2023 Save Our Seas Foundation (SOSF) Keystone Grant (#434)

\$25,000 for the development of the "Lab-on-a-Chip technology for rapid, on-site identification of threatened shark species."

## 2019 – 2023 National Geographic Society (NGS) Exploration Grant (NGS-52807T-18)

\$24,900 for the development of the "Lab on a Chip for rapid, on-site genetic identification of illegally traded threatened shark species."

## ii) Presentations

**Tiktak, G.P. (2022).** 'Genetic identification of three CITES-listed hammerhead sharks using a paper-based Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC)'. Sharks International. Valencia (Spain), October 19-22. Oral Presentation.

**Tiktak, G.P. (2022).** 'Genetic identification of threatened hammerhead sharks using a paper-based Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC)'. STEM Britain. House of Commons, London (UK), March 7. Poster presentation.

**Tiktak, G.P. (2021).** 'Genetic identification of threatened hammerhead sharks illegally sold at artisanal fish markets in Ecuador'. microTAS. Palm Springs, California (USA), October 10-14. Oral Presentation.

### *iii)* Publications included within this thesis

<u>**Tiktak, G.P.,</u>** Gabb, A., Brandt, M., Diz, F.R., Bravo-Vásquez, K., Peñaherrera-Palma, C., Valdiviezo-Rivera, J., Carlisle, A., Melling, L.M., Cain, B. and Megson, D. (2024). Genetic identification of three CITES-listed sharks using a paper-based Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC). *Plos one*, *19*(4), p.e0300383.</u>

**<u>Tiktak, G.P.</u>**, Butcher, D., Lawrence, P.J., Norrey, J., Bradley, L., Shaw, K., Preziosi, R. and Megson, D. (2020) 'Are concentrations of pollutants in sharks, rays and skates (Elasmobranchii) a cause for concern? A systematic review.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 160, p.111701.

### *iv)* Publications not included within this thesis

Idowu, I.G., Megson, D., <u>Tiktak, G.,</u> Dereviankin, M. and Sandau, C.D. (2023) 'Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) half-lives in humans: A systematic review.' *Chemosphere*, p.140359.

Megson, D., <u>Tiktak, G.P.</u>, Shideler, S., Dereviankin, M., Harbicht, L. and Sandau, C.D. (2023) 'Source apportionment of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) using different receptor models: A case study on sediment from the Portland Harbor Superfund Site (PHSS), Oregon, USA.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 872, p.162231.

Megson, D., Brown, T., Jones, G.R., Robson, M., Johnson, G.W., <u>Tiktak, G.P.</u>, Sandau, C.D. and Reiner, E.J. (2022) 'Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) concentrations and profiles in marine mammals from the North Atlantic Ocean.' *Chemosphere*, 288, p.132639.

Arkley, K., <u>Tiktak, G.P.</u>, Breakell, V., Prescott, T.J. and Grant, R.A. (2017) 'Whisker touch guides canopy exploration in a nocturnal, arboreal rodent, the Hazel dormouse (*Muscardinus avellanarius*).' *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, 203, pp.133-142.

## Abstract

Elasmobranchs encompass some of the most threatened species on our planet, with their biggest threat being overfishing, either when they are targeted as a group themselves (i.e., for fins and meat) or when they are incidentally caught as bycatch. Elasmobranch products are sold and consumed all over the world, with threatened and CITES-listed species dominating the trade. Conservation and management of elasmobranch populations requires a multidisciplinary approach and to address some of these conservation issues, this thesis uses genetic and chemical techniques to aid elasmobranch conservation. In Chapter 2 a total of 85 studies were included in a systematic review, which found that 11.3% of samples were mislabelled and 10.1% labelled using umbrella terms. Species listed as threatened made up 48.7% of mislabelled elasmobranchs and 53.7% of species labelled using umbrella terms. In Chapter 3, I developed a paper-based Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC) for the identification of three threatened and CITES-listed sharks (bigeve thresher, pelagic thresher and shortfin mako shark) that incorporated DNA amplification and visualisation using Loop Mediated Isothermal Amplification (LAMP). I was able to successfully identify the three sharks, where when target species where present there was a simple colour change from pink to yellow. In Chapter 4, a total of 176 studies were included in a systematic review of pollutants in elasmobranchs. The highest concentrations of pollutants were found in sharks occupying top trophic levels (Carcharhiniformes and Lamniformes). A human health risk assessment carried out in both Chapter 4 and 5 identified that humans consuming shark as little as once a week are exposed to more mercury than is recommended by the US EPA. This not only poses a risk to local fishing

communities and international consumers of shark-based products but also those subject to the widespread mislabelling of elasmobranch products. Overall, this thesis has helped to address a significant gap in our understanding of mislabelling and pollutant levels in elasmobranchs. Additionally, the LOC for identifying CITES-listed sharks has promising implications for shark conservation efforts as it has the potential to enhance the monitoring of trade in protected and threatened shark species.

*Key words:* Elasmobranchs; Conservation; Genetics; Pollutants; Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC); Threatened

## **List of Figures**

Figure 1-1 Flow chart of the four key elements of my PhD thesis: Chapter 2 - Review on identification and mislabelling of elasmobranchs, Chapter 3 – Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC) for the identification of three threatened and CITES-listed sharks, Chapter 4 - Systematic review of pollutants in elasmobranchs, and Chapter 5 - Trace metals and heavy metals in the tissue of five commercially important shark species in Figure 2-1 PRISMA flow diagram used for the inclusion and exclusion of studies at each stage of the review's screening process. A total of 85 studies were included in the final review.------60 Figure 2-2 Total number (n = 85) of publications between 2001 and 2023 by topic (bycatch, elasmobranch landings, mislabelling and species identification). No relevant studies were found before 2001.-----65 Figure 2-3 Geographical distribution of studies published between 2001 and 2023 (cut off October) on elasmobranchs in the trade (bycatch, elasmobranch landings, species identification and mislabelling). The numbers represent the number of studies carried out in each country. The number of studies were not even across area of study ( $\chi^2$  = 137.35, df = 49, p < 0.0001) where more studies were published in Brazil than anywhere else in the world. Species Composition of Global Elasmobranch Trade and Conservation Status-----67

Figure 2-4 This figure shows (a) the identification techniques used over time, specifically showing genetic and morphological identification, and (b) provides a

more detailed breakdown of the studies conducted. One study identified elasmobranchs using protein fingerprinting in 2001, but these findings have not been included in the figure.-----68

Figure 2-5 The percentage of total species (%) for different genera across the two elasmobranch superorders: (a) Batoidea (rays and skates) and (b) Selachimorpha (sharks), calculated based on data from the 85 studies. Each bar's height indicates the total count (*n*) of each genus within the two superorders. Some species were excluded from the dataset due to missing sample numbers in the studies, despite their presence in the records. The excluded species were *Lago* sp./*Mustelus mosis*, *Isistius brasiliensis*, *Lamna* spp., *Bathyraja brachyurops* and *Himantura* sp. ----- 73

Figure 2-6 Level of mislabelling per species. This figure shows the total percentage of species identified in studies with correct labels, mislabelled or labelled using umbrella terms for the two elasmobranch orders (a) Batoidea (rays and skates) and (b) Selachimorpha (sharks). Each bar represents the percentage of species within each order that are classified as correctly labelled, mislabelled, or labelled using umbrella terms. The *n* represents the total number of species identified -------77

Figure 3-1. a) Overview of the procedure for cell lysis from a small piece of meat or wet fin sample taken from markets; b) Photograph showing the paper LOC design with five different coloured areas (panels) that was folded in a origami-style manner to enable different steps of the genetic analysis to be performed; c) Schematic showing the folding of the LOC for DNA binding and washing steps; d) Schematic showing the alternative folding of the LOC for DNA elution; e) Location of the five LAMP chambers for species-specific amplification, as well as positive and negative controls.----- 143

Figure 3-2. DNA capture efficiency of Whatman<sup>©</sup> glass microfiber filters (GF/C). The DNA solution was made up to 25  $\mu$ L with 5M GuHCl in concentrations ranging from 8 to 64 ng/ $\mu$ L. The maximum retention of the GF/C filters were recorded.146 Figure 3-3. DNA from fin and muscle tissue samples was purified using 70% ethanol in 5  $\mu$ L increments. The protein concentrations of the resulting samples were compared. The red dashed line indicates the plateau in protein concentration at 0.1 ng/ $\mu$ L when 60  $\mu$ L of ethanol is loaded onto the LOC.----- 147 Figure 3-4. Schematic (*top panel*) and photographic (*bottom panel*) examples of LOC results showing amplification of target species (a) bigeye thresher shark (*Alopias superciliosus*), (b) pelagic thresher shark (*A. pelagicus*), and (c) shortfin

mako shark (Isurus oxyrinchus), and no amplification of non-target species (d) blue

shark (Prionace glauca). ------ 150

Figure 4-1 Total number of studies carried out on different pollutant types (Plastic, POP, Radionuclide and Trace Element, Other). Total number of studies (n=176); some studies reported on more than one type of pollutant (January 1999 – November 2019).

Figure 4-2 Geographical distribution from studies published on pollutants in elasmobranchs. The numbers represent the number of studies performed for each ocean (North Pacific, South Pacific, North Atlantic, South Atlantic and Indian Ocean), with the coloured shading showing how many studies were conducted by each country. The number of studies were not even across area of study ( $\chi^2$  =

56.885, df = 5, p < 0.001) where more studies were published in the North Atlantic Ocean than other locations. ----- 194

Figure 4-5  $\Sigma$ PCB concentrations in the muscle and liver tissue of different elasmobranch groups reported globally. Values are reported in ng g<sup>-1</sup> on a wet weight (w.w.) basis. No tolerable limit was considered against this data due to inconsistencies in reporting PCB concentrations in the literature.----- 200 Figure 4-6  $\Sigma$ DDT concentrations in the muscle and liver tissue of different elasmobranch groups reported globally. Values are reported in ng g<sup>-1</sup> on a wet weight (w.w.) basis. The maximum concentration of DDT in one serving (113 g) of fish for adults is indicated with a blue dashed line, and one serving of 28 g in children (two-years-old) with a red dashed line. The upper limit was set at 6.64 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (6640 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) per week for adults and the lower limit at 4.79 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (4790 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) per week in children (WHO, 1961; WHO and FAO, 2000). ------ 201 Figure 5-1 Map of the three study sites Salinas, Manta, and Esmeraldas in Ecuador.

Figure 5-2 The three study sites in Ecuador (a) Santa Rosa, Salinas (b) Playita Mia, Manta, and (c) Esmeraldas. In (a) species of blue sharks (*Prionace glauca*) and short fin mako sharks (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) can be seen, and in (b), blue sharks and silky sharks (*Carcharhinus falciformis*).------253

Figure 5-3 Total mercury concentrations of muscle tissue in five species of sharks landed at artisanal fisheries in Ecuador: bigeye thresher shark (*Alopias superciliosus*), blue shark (*Prionace glauca*), pelagic thresher shark (*A. pelagicus*), silky shark (*Carcharhinus falciformis*) and smooth hammerhead shark (*Sphyrna zygaena*). Concentrations are expressed in mg kg<sup>-1</sup> on wet weight (w.w.) basis. 265

Table 2-1 Market sectors for each of the studies conducted on mislabelling and
species identification of elasmobranchs. The total number of market sectors was
28. Some studies were conducted in more than one market sector 69
Table 3-1. LAMP and loop primers for bigeye thresher shark (Alopias superciliosus),
pelagic thresher shark (A. pelagicus) and shortfin mako shark (Isurus oxyrinchus).
139
Table 4-1 Mean $\pm$ SD THg, Cd, SPCB and SDDT concentrations in the muscle and liver
tissue of superorder Selachimorpha and Batoidea expressed in ng ${\rm g}^{\text{-}1}$ on a wet
weight basis 206
Table 4-2 Hazard Quotients (HQ) were calculated for Cd, THg and $\Sigma DDT$ indicating
the minimum and maximum risk humans would have from consuming shark meat
one to three times per week 209
Table 5-1 Number, total body length (mean $\pm$ SD), trophic level (mean $\pm$ SD) <sup>d</sup> ,
gender, and age (juvenile, subadult or adult) of sharks sampled. Thirty-six sharks
were sampled in total <sup>a</sup> 260
Table 5-2 Hazard quotients (HQ) were calculated for THg indicating the minimum
(1 serving per week) and maximum (3 servings per week) risk adults (general and
coastal population) and children (2-year-old's and 11-year-old's) would have from
the consumption of shark meat 267
Table 5-3 Hazard quotients (HQ) were calculated for As indicating the minimum (1
serving per week) and maximum (3 servings per week) risk adults (general and

coastal population) and children (2-year-old's and 11-year-old's) would have from the consumption of shark meat.----- 269

Table 5-5 Mean concentrations of 13 trace elements in the muscle of five shark species from this present study. Values are expressed in mg kg<sup>-1</sup> on a wet (w.w.) and dry (d.w.) weight basis. The numbers at the top represent mean values ± SD, and the values in parentheses represent the concentration ranges.------ 273

## **Chapter 1**

## **1** General Introduction

### 1.1 Background

The planet is currently undergoing its sixth mass extinction where we are seeing the alarming loss of species at an exponential rate. This rapid loss in biodiversity has mainly been caused by human activities such as deforestation, intense farming and agricultural activities, climate change, introduction of non-native and invasive species, climate change, overexploitation of natural resources, pollution, and habitat fragmentation (Derraik, 2002; Sanderson et al., 2002; Islam and Tanaka, 2004; McKee et al., 2004; Cardinale et al., 2012; Dulvy et al., 2014, 2021; Patel and Haldar, 2022).

Marine ecosystems are particularly vulnerable to human activities, with climate change, pollution and overfishing being the main driver causing rapid declines of marine populations. The overexploitation of fisheries has led to the depletion of numerous fish stocks, disrupting the balance of marine ecosystems. Overfishing can be when species are targeted and incidentally caught (e.g. bycatch), further contributing to the decline in fish, sea turtle, marine mammal (cetacean), and elasmobranch (sharks, rays, and skates) populations. This loss of biodiversity in the ocean not only threatens marine life but also negatively impacts human livelihoods, as millions of people depend on fisheries for food as well as economic security.

#### 1.2 Evolution and Biology of Elasmobranchs

Chondrichthyans are a diverse group of cartilaginous fish that include sharks, rays, skates, and chimaeras. They have existed on our planet for over 420 million years, making them one of the oldest and most ecologically diverse vertebrae lineages on earth (Ebert et al., 2013; Dulvy et al., 2014). Elasmobranchs, comprising of sharks (Selachimorpha), rays and skates (Batoidea), are a particularly diverse ecological group that can be found in every ocean across the world, from shallow coastal waters to deep seas (Lucifora et al., 2011; Ebert et al., 2013). There are over 1,200 known species of elasmobranchs made up of approximately 500 species of sharks and 700 rays and skates (Ebert et al., 2013). Sharks, particularly those occupying positions at the top of the food chain in tropical climates have been shown to exert top-down control of prey species, including mesopredators such as smaller sharks, rays and skates (Myers et al., 2007; Ferretti et al., 2008; Baum and Worm, 2009; Prugh et al., 2009; Barría et al., 2017). Many sharks exhibit traits like that of large bodied cetaceans where they have reduced number of offspring, long gestation periods and late maturity (Reynolds et al., 2005; Field et al., 2010; Simpfendorfer et al., 2011). It's a combination of these traits, as well as their high trophic level and migratory behaviour and their relatively low economic value that make them more susceptible to anthropogenic threats such as overfishing and bycatch, pollution exposure, habitat loss and degradation and climate change (Tiktak et al., 2020; Pacoureau et al., 2021).

#### **1.3** Conservation Status of Elasmobranchs

Despite their evolutionary success, many species of elasmobranchs are now facing significant threats from human related activities. It is estimated that over one third (37.5%) of chondrichthyan (sharks, rays, skates and chimaeras) are currently

threatened with extinction, where 21% of rays and skates, and 17% of sharks are classified as threatened according to the IUCN Red List. The IUCN Red List threatened categories encompass Critically Endangered (CR), Endangered (EN) and Vulnerable (VU). The true number of threatened elasmobranchs is likely to be higher as many elasmobranchs are listed as Data Deficient (DD) (n = 438) or their population has not yet been assessed by the IUCN, making their true status unknown (Dulvy et al., 2014, 2021; Gray and Kennelly, 2018; Tiktak et al., 2020; Niedermüller et al., 2021; Pacoureau et al., 2021; Cardeñosa et al., 2022; IUCN, 2023). Dulvy et al., (2021) estimated that the current rate of extinction for Chondrichthyes's is potentially 24 extinctions a year. Some species of elasmobranchs, such as oceanic white tip (Carcharhinus longimanus), thresher sharks (Alopias spp.), smooth, great, and scalloped hammerheads (*Sphyrna* spp.) and shortfin mako sharks (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) have experienced population declines of over 90% in the last few decades and are now at risk of extinction (Baum et al., 2003; Dulvy et al., 2008; Ferretti et al., 2008; Clarke et al., 2013; Cortés et al., 2015; Pacoureau et al., 2021).

Currently 154 elasmobranch species are listed in either Appendix I or II of The Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) (CITES, 2023a). CITES is "an international agreement between governments. Its aim is to ensure that the international trade in specimens of wild animals and plants does not threaten the survival of species"(CITES, 2023b). CITES works by enforcing certain restrictions for specimens that are internationally traded. Species that are covered by CITES are listed under three different Appendices: Appendix I, II or III. Appendix I is for species that are threatened with extinction and trade in these species is highly restricted and can only be done in exceptional circumstances, only a handful of elasmobranchs are listed in this Appendix. Appendix II encompasses species that are not immediately at risk of extinction, but where trade regulation is essential to prevent utilization incompatible with their survival. Appendix III includes species that are protected in at least one country, and where other CITES Parties are asked to assist in controlling the trade (CITES, 2023b). An additional 54 requiem sharks (Carcharhinidae), six hammerhead sharks (Sphyrnidae), seven freshwater stingrays (*Potamotrygon* spp.) and 37 guitarfishes (Rhinobatidae) were added to CITES Appendix I or II following the 19<sup>th</sup> Conference of the Parties (CoP19) of CITES held in 2022 (CITES, 2023a).

The decline of these populations could have devastating effects on the health and productivity of marine ecosystems across the world. A loss of our large predatory sharks has serious consequences to the health of our oceans (Myers et al., 2007; Pacoureau et al., 2021). They are crucial for the top-down control of food webs as they regulate the natural mortality in a range of their prey, contributing to changes in the abundance, distribution, and behaviour of small elasmobranchs (mesopredators), marine mammals, and sea turtles which only have a few other natural predators (Myers et al., 2007; Ferretti et al., 2010; Hammerschlag et al., 2018). Their disappearance will also significantly impact the global fishing industry, causing a potential collapse of one of the most important sources of food and income for many countries.

#### 1.4 Overexploitation

The main threat to elasmobranchs is overfishing, whether it's when they are targeted specifically as a group or when they are incidentally caught, in bycatch. It is estimated that between 63 and 273 million sharks are killed a year because of overfishing, with this number likely to be higher due to the underreporting of species (i.e., Illegal Unregulated and Unreported (IUU) fishing, illegal trade, and mislabelling) (Worm et al., 2013). One of the main challenges in managing overfishing of elasmobranchs is the difficulty in monitoring these activities as many fisheries operate beyond jurisdiction (high seas), such as IUU fishing, and sharks cross many jurisdictions (Dulvy et al., 2017). Elasmobranchs are often considered bycatch, and not as a targeted group themselves which makes it difficult to monitor which species are caught and sold, as well as receiving support from government and other institutional bodies.

#### **1.5** Trade in Elasmobranchs and their Related Products

Elasmobranchs are traded and consumed all over the world, the WWF recently reporting that the trade in elasmobranch fins and meat generated over \$4.1 billion USD globally between 2012 and 2019 (Niedermüller et al., 2021). Elasmobranch products include dried fins often for shark fin soup, meat, traditional Chinese medicine (e.g. gill plates), dietary supplements (e.g., liver oil and cartilage supplements), cosmetic and beauty products (e.g., lipstick, mascara, anti-ageing creams), vaccines, and pet food (Wong et al., 2009; Caballero et al., 2012; Zeng et al., 2016; Steinke et al., 2017; Almerón-Souza et al., 2018; Cardeñosa et al., 2018; Cardeñosa, 2019; Hobbs et al., 2019; Ferretti et al., 2020; Tiktak et al., 2020; Niedermüller et al., 2021; Prasetyo et al., 2023).

The most "valuable" and frequently traded fins belong to those species that are threatened as well as protected under Appendix II of the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES), such as scalloped, great, and smooth hammerhead sharks (*Sphyrna* spp.), thresher sharks (*Alopias* spp.),

shortfin mako shark (*Isurus oxyrinchus*), oceanic whitetip shark (*Carcharhinus longimanus*) and other Carcharhinid species (Abercrombie et al., 2005; Cardeñosa et al., 2018, 2022).

While the shark fin trade has often been thought as being the primary threat to shark populations, there has been growing concern for the elasmobranch meat trade. Between 2012 and 2019, the meat trade generated over \$2.6 billion USD, which was more than the fin trade during that period ( $\sim$ \$1.5 billion USD) (Niedermüller et al., 2021). The elasmobranch meat trade has expanded in the last few decades with regulations in place that require elasmobranchs to be landed with fins and heads intact ("antifinning") as well as the increase in demand in elasmobranch meat (Dent and Clarke, 2015). The growing meat trade might be contributing to the increased frequency of mislabelling, leading to instances where elasmobranchs may be sold as other species (e.g. teleost fish), or where threatened species are sold as nonthreatened species. Mislabelling raises significant concerns as it not only hinders elasmobranch conservation efforts, but also poses a risk to humans that may be consuming elasmobranch products without their knowledge. Mislabelling also contributes to overfishing of already vulnerable species as we are uncertain of true numbers caught and sold, which can increase their likelihood of extinction. It also deceives consumers who may not know they are purchasing elasmobranch meat and prevents them from making informed decisions about their food choices (Luque and Donlan, 2019).

Identifying elasmobranchs and elasmobranch-related-products is one of the main challenges in monitoring their trade. Physical features such as fin shapes, teeth structure, colouration, body markings, size and length are often used to identify

elasmobranchs. When elasmobranchs are landed at fisheries, they might lack important identifying features such as heads, fins, or wings (rays and skates). Carcasses may also lose colour and degrade due to sun exposure, for example when caught at open sea and left for days or when landed at a market and left in direct sunlight. Additionally, some species share many physical characteristics that make them difficult to tell apart even for experts, for example sharks belonging to the genus Carcharhinus and Mobula (Corrigan et al., 2017; Pazmiño et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2021). In some cases, products such as a fish fillet may be sold to consumers with ambiguous labelling, or where a general term is used such as "shark", and in both cases consumers are unaware of what species is being sold. This lack of speciesspecific identification poses a significant challenge as understanding which species are caught and traded is crucial for effective conservation and management of elasmobranch populations. However, identifying elasmobranchs down to species level often requires specialised expertise in either morphological identification, or genetic identification techniques such as DNA barcoding. This expertise is essential for accurate species identification among the ambiguity that arises from the sale of processed products (e.g., dried fins) as well mislabelling.

Genetic identification techniques are some of the most powerful tools in elasmobranch conservation as it allows for accurate identification, down to species level, even for heavily degraded and processed samples such as dried fins, shark fin soup, pet food etc (Fields et al., 2015; Cardeñosa et al., 2017; French and Wainwright, 2022). DNA Barcoding is the most widely used genetic technique for the identification of elasmobranchs in the trade (Abercrombie et al., 2005; Ward et al., 2005; Pinhal et al., 2012). It can assist conservation policies by increasing capacity for local

biodiversity assessments that help prioritise conservation programs and evaluating the success of already implemented conservation efforts. Identifying sharks using genetic tools is the most reliable technique though it comes with some drawbacks. Techniques such as these require specialist facilities and equipment, as well as trained experts in the field to carry out the analysis. It's also more time consuming as it can take a few days (or longer) to process samples, especially if it's done by external researchers or international research institutes. Most species are found in the tropics of developing countries where resources are often limited for thorough biodiversity assessments and monitoring programs (Krishna Krishnamurthy and Francis, 2012). In some cases, input from international experts and institutions is needed to carry out genetic analysis, but our aim is to divert away from this approach and collaborate directly with local stakeholders and communities. There is a real need for rapid, fieldbased genetic identification techniques that can be used by non-scientifically trained personnel at the market source and in the country of origin.

#### **1.6 Pollutant Exposure**

Pollutants enter the marine environment through a variety of sources, mainly human activities, such as industrial discharge, agricultural and urban runoff, vehicle emissions, waste incineration, sewage, as well as natural processes such as volcanic activity and forest fires (Wang et al., 2004; El-Shahawi et al., 2010; Morrison and Murphy, 2010; Megson et al., 2013; O'Sullivan and Megson, 2013; Briffa et al., 2020; WHO, 2020). When pollutants are introduced into the ocean, they can have long lasting effects and cause irreversible damage to marine ecosystems. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs), heavy metals, crude oil and marine debris (e.g. marine litter or microplastics) are the most common marine pollutants found globally (United Nations Environment Program, 2017; Briffa et al., 2020; Patel and Haldar, 2022). Pollutants encompass a wide range of substances, including heavy metals, such as mercury (Hg), lead (Pb) and cadmium (Cd), as well as various persistent organic pollutants (POPs) such as industrial compounds and chemicals like pesticides (e.g. DDT), flame retardants, and dioxins and furans (Patel and Haldar, 2022).

Sharks are exposed to pollutants in various ways, though the main pathway is through their diet. They may also be exposed through their gills (limited research on this). Mercury transfers up the food chain through the prey sharks feed on, which varies significantly per species from small to large fish species, crustaceans, cephalopods, marine mammals, sea birds, turtles, and other elasmobranchs (Teffer et al., 2014; Estupiñán-Montaño et al., 2017; Gonzalez-Pestana et al., 2017). Many pollutants bioaccumulate and biomagnify up the food chain, eventually concentrating in apex predators such as sharks and marine mammals (cetaceans) (Arnot and Gobas, 2004; Bezerra et al., 2019; Cagnazzi et al., 2019; Tiktak et al., 2020). Therefore, apex predators such as sharks may have high concentrations of heavy metals (e.g. methylmercury, cadmium, arsenic, and lead) and POPs in their tissue due to their high trophic level (Tiktak et al., 2020). In many cases, these concentrations are above the legal limit set by health regulators (e.g. WHO, EPA etc) (Domingo and Bocio, 2007; Vračko et al., 2007; WHO, 2010; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2011).

Inadvertently consuming elasmobranchs and their related products could have significant health implications. The hidden costs of consuming elasmobranch meat products are that not only are they crucial for marine ecosystem functioning, but many elasmobranchs (especially large-bodied sharks) have high concentrations

of pollutants, such as mercury in their tissue (Tiktak et al., 2020). Humans are exposed to pollutants through their diet (Linares et al., 2010) which means consuming apex predators puts them at greater risk of overexposure to pollutants and bioaccumulation in their tissue. Humans that consume elasmobranch products without their knowledge, i.e. in the case of mislabelling, are exposed to high concentrations of these pollutants often without their knowledge. Humans that knowingly consume shark may not know the species of shark and are therefore also at risk of exposure especially if they are consuming pelagic shark species with high concentrations of mercury.

Pollutants can have detrimental effects on human health, where even low concentrations of toxic metals can have a devastating impact on the global population (Linares et al., 2010; Nordberg et al., 2022). Some of the health impacts include cell damage, cellular function loss, neurotoxicity, impaired reproductive success, birth defects, lowered fertility, endocrine disruption, immunosuppression, increased risk of cancer and in some cases can even lead to death (Vračko et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2013; Sharma et al., 2014; Briffa et al., 2020). Pregnant women and young children are at increased risk to the health risks associated with exposure to these contaminants (Patandin et al., 1999; Bruce-Vanderpuije et al., 2019; EFSA et al., 2019)

The effects pollutants have on elasmobranchs remains relatively unknown (Bezerra et al., 2019; Merly et al., 2019; Tiktak et al., 2020). Elasmobranchs exhibit klife strategies, characterised by producing very few offspring, maturing late, and slow growth (García et al., 2008; Dulvy et al., 2021). This makes them particularly susceptible to toxic pollutants which bioaccumulate over time. Nevertheless, there is

limited information regarding the effects of pollutants on elasmobranchs despite their threat status. Pollutant studies are often done in isolation, or only on a few species or pollutants at a time. Therefore, it's important to incorporate all these components and understand biases within the literature by identifying gaps in previous literature. This enables us to focus research efforts in key and understudied areas.

#### **1.7** Conservation Efforts and Challenges

The media has historically presented sharks in a negative way, using emotive language, "one liner" or attention grabbing headlines, and terms expressing negative personification frames (Neff and Hueter, 2013; McCagh et al., 2015). The actual number of humans attacked by sharks each year remains relatively low, and the number killed even lower (Simpfendorfer et al., 2011; Crossley et al., 2014; Friedrich et al., 2014). Despite these statistics, elasmobranchs have a reputation that often paints them in a negative light, leading to the public's negative perception and a challenge to elasmobranch conservation (Friedrich et al., 2014; McCagh et al., 2015; Neff, 2015). Jaws is one of the most well-known horror films to date but has now become the discussion of many conservationists (McCagh et al., 2015). Jaws had a significant impact on how the public viewed sharks, and Steven Spielberg has since dedicated himself to shark conservation after the impact Jaws had on real-world sharks with an increase in trophy hunting, shark culls and reduced support for shark conservation and policy implementations (Neff and Hueter, 2013; McCagh et al., 2015; Neff, 2015). The media went into a frenzy after the death of Steve Irwin caused by a stingray barb. Though his death was considered a freak accident, it still caused a

shift in people's perception of stingrays, leading to acts of retribution where stingrays were killed (Guardian, 2006; Lunney and Moon, 2008).

Conservation efforts for elasmobranchs often face challenges from public perception as many people struggle to see the immediate importance of "saving" elasmobranchs and negative media attention may stop them from wanting to help them at all. If conservation messages are angled from a "human health" perspective, gathering support may be easier as a direct connection can be made. This can be done when assessing the potential human health risks arising from pollutant exposure through the consumption of elasmobranch and their related products. If consumers are given the choice of consuming elasmobranch products, they may opt against it. This, however, is made difficult in the case of mislabelling, where the true identity of a seafood product is unknown. This highlights the importance of focussing research efforts on pollution exposure, and identification of mislabelled elasmobranchs, as this will enhance our understanding of the health risks associated with their consumption (Tiktak et al., 2020), as well as facilitating informed consumer decisions.

#### 1.8 Ecuador

Ecuador, a relatively small country situated in South American, is recognised as a global hotspot for many marine species including cetaceans, sea turtles, sea birds and elasmobranchs. Its unique geographical location allows for this ecologically complex and diverse marine ecosystem (Bustamante et al., 2000; López-Angarita et al., 2021). The mainland coastline of Ecuador stretches for over 2,200 km, offering a diverse range of marine environments, from estuaries within mangroves to deep offshore waters. This high marine biodiversity supports productive fisheries as well as

providing a large range of important habitats that serve as nurseries, breeding grounds, and migratory routes for numerous important elasmobranch species such as scalloped (*S. lewini*) and smooth hammerhead (*S. zygaena*) sharks and tiger sharks (Galeocerdo cuvier) (López-Angarita et al., 2021).

Unfortunately, many elasmobranchs in Ecuador have experienced significant population declines driven by the demand for shark fins and meat in international markets, as well as locally. Elasmobranchs are traditionally sold and consumed in fish markets along the coast of Ecuador (Dominguez and Cobeña, 2019; Hearn et al., 2022). Ecuador is one of the world's leading countries in shark conservation, with the implementation of its second National Shark Action Plan (Gobierno del Ecuador, 2020). In 2007, the Ecuadorian government prohibited shark finning and directed shark fisheries in the country to reduce the illegal trade but allowed for the sale of incidentally whole caught sharks (fins and body), except in the Galápagos Marine Reserve where sharks are fully protected (Executive Decree 486 of 2007, cited in Hearn et al., 2022). Despite the legislation, over one million shark landings were reported in Ecuador between 2008 and 2012 with CITES-listed shark species: bigeye thresher (Alopias superciliosus), pelagic thresher (A. pelagicus) and shortfin mako (Isurus oxyrinchus) sharks accounting for 61% of the total landings during that period (Martínez-Ortiz et al., 2015).

#### 1.9 Aims and Objectives

Efforts to conserve shark populations requires a multidisciplinary approach that addresses threats from overexploitation, habitat loss and degradation, and climate change. However, it is not possible to tackle all the threats above, and therefore in this thesis I aim to tackle two, namely overexploitation and illegal trade of sharks, and
pollutant exposure. The main aim of this thesis is to use genetic and chemical techniques to aid elasmobranch conservation (Figure 1 1). Ecuador provides a perfect location for conducting this research as despite its rich elasmobranch diversity, there is limited information about the status of these species in this region. Ecuador also plays a key role in the contributing to the global elasmobranch trade. Given Ecuador's long-term commitment to elasmobranch conservation, my research has the potential to make a meaningful contribution to these conservation efforts by answering a wide range of questions (Figure 1 1).



Figure 1-1 Flow chart of the four key elements of my PhD thesis: Chapter 2 - Review on identification and mislabelling of elasmobranchs, Chapter 3 – Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC) for the identification of three threatened and CITES-listed sharks, Chapter 4 – Systematic review of pollutants in elasmobranchs, and

Chapter 5 – Trace metals and heavy metals in the tissue of five commercially important shark species in Ecuador. Note that some chapters have elements that overlap.

This thesis will address the following objectives:

- Chapter 2: Explore methods for identifying elasmobranchs and elasmobranchrelated-products in the international trade and provide a comprehensive and up-to-date synthesis of the existing evidence on the mislabelling of elasmobranchs across the world.
- Chapter 3: Develop a rapid, field-based identification tool in the form of a Lab-ona-Chip (LOC) for genetic analysis of three CITES-listed sharks: bigeye thresher (*Alopias. superciliosus*), pelagic thresher (*A. pelagicus*) and shortfin mako shark (*I. oxyrinchus*) belonging to the order Lamniformes.
- Chapter 4: Assess and evaluate the concentrations of pollutants in elasmobranchs (sharks, rays, and skates) across the world by systematically gathering and analysing the available scientific literature.
- Chapter 5: Determine trace element and heavy metal concentrations in five commercially important shark species, bigeye thresher (*A. superciliosus*), pelagic thresher (*A. pelagicus*), silky shark (*Carcharhinus falciformis*), blue shark (*Prionace glauca*) and smooth hammerhead shark (*Sphyrna zygaena*) landed at artisanal fish markets in Ecuador, and to evaluate the potential risks to human health and ecological impacts associated with the consumption of these species.

Chapter 6: Conclude the main findings and discuss conservation implications of chapters two to five and provide future recommendations for the conservation of elasmobranchs.

Abercrombie, D. L., Clarke, S. C. and Shivji, M. S. (2005) 'Global-scale genetic identification of hammerhead sharks: Application to assessment of the international fin trade and law enforcement.' *Conservation Genetics*, 6(5) pp. 775–788.

Almerón-Souza, F., Sperb, C., Castilho, C. L., Figueiredo, P. I. C. C., Gonçalves, L. T., Machado, R., Oliveira, L. R., Valiati, V. H. and Fagundes, N. J. R. (2018) 'Molecular identification of shark meat from local markets in Southern Brazil based on DNA barcoding: Evidence for mislabeling and trade of endangered species.' *Frontiers in Genetics*, 9 pp. 1–12.

Arnot, J. A. and Gobas, F. A. P. C. (2004) 'A food web bioaccumulation model for organic chemicals in aquatic ecosystems.' *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 23(10) pp. 2343–2355.

Barría, C., Navarro, J. and Coll, M. (2017) 'Trophic habits of an abundant shark in the northwestern Mediterranean Sea using an isotopic non-lethal approach.' *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, pp. 1–8.

Baum, J. K., Myers, R. A., Kehler, D. G., Worm, B., Harley, S. J. and Doherty, P. A. (2003) 'Collapse and Conservation of Shark Populations in the Northwest Atlantic.' *Science*, 299(5605) pp. 389–392.

Baum, J.K. and Worm, B. (2009) 'Cascading top-down effects of changing oceanic predator abundances'. *Journal of animal ecology*, *78*(4), pp.699-714.

Bezerra, M. F., Lacerda, L. D. and Lai, C. T. (2019) 'Trace metals and persistent organic pollutants contamination in batoids (Chondrichthyes: Batoidea): A systematic review.' *Environmental Pollution*, 248 pp. 684–695.

Briffa, J., Sinagra, E. and Blundell, R. (2020) 'Heavy metal pollution in the environment

and their toxicological effects on humans.' Heliyon. 6(9) p. e04691.

Bruce-Vanderpuije, P., Megson, D., Reiner, E. J., Bradley, L., Adu-Kumi, S. and Gardella, J. A. (2019) 'The state of POPs in Ghana- A review on persistent organic pollutants: Environmental and human exposure.' *Environmental Pollution*.

Bustamante, R., Collins, K. J. and Bensted-smith, R. (2000) 'Biodiversity conservation in the Galapagos Marine Reserve.' *Bulletin van het Koninklijk Belgisch Instituut voor Natuurwetenschap*, 70 pp. 31–38.

Caballero, S., Cardeñosa, D., Soler, G. and Hyde, J. (2012) 'Application of multiplex PCR approaches for shark molecular identification: Feasibility and applications for fisheries management and conservation in the Eastern Tropical Pacific.' *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 12 pp. 233–237.

Cagnazzi, D., Broadhurst, M. K. and Reichelt-Brushett, A. (2019) 'Metal contamination among endangered, threatened and protected marine vertebrates off south-eastern Australia.' *Ecological Indicators*, 107 p. 105658.

Cardeñosa, D. (2019) 'Genetic identification of threatened shark species in pet food and beauty care products.' *Conservation Genetics*, 20 pp. 1383–1387.

Cardeñosa, D., Fields, A., Abercrombie, D., Feldheim, K., Shea, S. K. H. and Chapman, D. D. (2017) 'A multiplex PCR mini-barcode assay to identify processed shark products in the global trade.' *Plos One*, 12(10) p. e0185368.

Cardeñosa, D., Fields, A. T., Babcock, E. A., Zhang, H., Feldheim, K., Shea, S. K. H., Fischer, G. A. and Chapman, D. D. (2018) 'CITES-listed sharks remain among the top species in the contemporary fin trade.' *Conservation Letters*, 11 pp. 1–7.

Cardeñosa, D., Shea, S. K., Zhang, H., Fischer, G. A., Simpfendorfer, C. A. and Chapman, D. D. (2022) 'Two thirds of species in a global shark fin trade hub are

threatened with extinction: Conservation potential of international trade regulations for coastal sharks.' *Conservation Letters*, 15(5) p. e12910.

Cardinale, B. J., Duffy, J. E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D. U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., MacE, G. M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D. A., Kinzig, A. P., Daily, G. C., Loreau, M., Grace, J. B., Larigauderie, A., Srivastava, D. S. and Naeem, S. (2012) 'Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity.' *Nature*, 486(7401) pp. 59–67.

CITES. (2023a) *Sharks and Rays.* CITES. [Online] [Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2024] <u>https://cites.org/eng/prog/shark</u>

CITES (2023b) What is CITES? CITES. [Online] [Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2024]. https://cites.org/eng/disc/what.php

Clarke, S. C., Harley, S. J., Hoyle, S. D. and Rice, J. S. (2013) 'Population Trends in Pacific Oceanic Sharks and the Utility of Regulations on Shark Finning.' *Conservation Biology*, 27(1) pp. 197–209.

Corrigan, S., Maisano Delser, P., Eddy, C., Duffy, C., Yang, L., Li, C., Bazinet, A. L., Mona, S. and Naylor, G. J. P. (2017) 'Historical introgression drives pervasive mitochondrial admixture between two species of pelagic sharks.' *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 110 pp. 122–126.

Cortés, E., Brooks, E. N. and Shertzer, K. W. (2015) 'Risk assessment of cartiliginous fish populations.' *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 72(3) pp. 1057–1068.

Crossley, R., Collins, C. M., Sutton, S. G. and Huveneers, C. (2014) 'Public Perception and Understanding of Shark Attack Mitigation Measures in Australia.' *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, 19(2) pp. 154–165.

Derraik, J. G. B. (2002) 'The pollution of the marine environment by plastic debris: A review.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 44(9) pp. 842–852.

Domingo, J. L. and Bocio, A. (2007) 'Levels of PCDD/PCDFs and PCBs in edible marine species and human intake: A literature review.' *Environment International*.

Dominguez, C. and Cobeña, M. (2019) Estudio de comercialización de carne de tiburón en Ecuador, para entender las características específicas del mercado de carne de tiburón y sus subproductos en el país. Quayaquil.

Dulvy, N. K., Baum, J. K., Clarke, S., Compagno, L. J. V., Cortés, E., Domingo, A., Fordham, S., Fowler, S., Francis, M. P., Gibson, C., Martínez, J., Musick, J. A., Soldo, A., Stevens, J. D. and Valenti, S. (2008) 'You can swim but you can't hide: The global status and conservation of oceanic pelagic sharks and rays.' *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*.

Dulvy, N. K., Fowler, S. L., Musick, J. A., Cavanagh, R. D., Kyne, P. M., Harrison, L. R., Carlson, J. K., Davidson, L. N. k, Fordham, S. V., Francis, M. P., Pollock, C. M., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Burgess, G. H., Carpenter, K. E., Compagno, L. J. v, Ebert, D. A., Gibson, C., Heupel, M. R., Livingstone, S. R., Sanciangco, J. C., Stevens, J. D., Valenti, S. and White, W. T. (2014) 'Extinction risk and conservation of the world's sharks and rays.' *eLife*, 3.

Dulvy, N. K., Pacoureau, N., Rigby, C. L., Pollom, R. A., Jabado, R. W., Ebert, D. A., Finucci, B., Pollock, C. M., Cheok, J., Derrick, D. H., Herman, K. B., Sherman, C. S., VanderWright, W. J., Lawson, J. M., Walls, R. H. L., Carlson, J. K., Charvet, P., Bineesh, K. K., Fernando, D., Ralph, G. M., Matsushiba, J. H., Hilton-Taylor, C., Fordham, S. V. and Simpfendorfer, C. A. (2021) 'Overfishing drives over one-third of all sharks and rays toward a global extinction crisis.' *Current Biology*, 31(21) pp. 4773-4787.e8. Dulvy, N. K., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Davidson, L. N. K., Fordham, S. V., Bräutigam, A.,

Sant, G. and Welch, D. J. (2017) 'Challenges and Priorities in Shark and Ray

Conservation.' Current Biology, 27(11) pp. R565–R572.

Ebert, D. A., Fowler, S. L. and Campango, L. J. (2013) *Sharks of the world: a fully illustrated guide*. Wild Nature Press.

El-Shahawi, M. S., Hamza, A., Bashammakh, A. S. and Al-Saggaf, W. T. (2010) 'An overview on the accumulation, distribution, transformations, toxicity and analytical methods for the monitoring of persistent organic pollutants.' *Talanta*, 80(5) pp. 1587–1597.

Estupiñán-Montaño, C., Pacheco-Triviño, F., Cedeño-Figueroa, L. G., Galván-Magaña, F. and Estupiñán-Ortiz, J. F. (2017) 'Diet of three shark species in the Ecuadorian Pacific, Carcharhinus falciformis, Carcharhinus limbatus and Nasolamia velox.' *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, pp. 1–9.

Ferretti, F., Jacoby, D. M. P., Pfleger, M. O., White, T. D., Dent, F., Micheli, F., Rosenberg, A. A., Crowder, L. B. and Block, B. A. (2020) 'Shark fin trade bans and sustainable shark fisheries'. *Conservation letters*, pp. 1–6.

Ferretti, F., Myers, R. A., Serena, F. and Lotze, H. K. (2008) 'Loss of large predatory sharks from the Mediterranean Sea.' *Conservation Biology*, 22(4) pp. 952–964.

Ferretti, F., Worm, B., Britten, G. L., Heithaus, M. R. and Lotze, H. K. (2010) 'Patterns and ecosystem consequences of shark declines in the ocean.' *Ecology Letters*, 13(8) pp. 1055–1071.

Field, I. C., Meekan, M. G., Buckworth, R. C. and Bradshaw, C. J. A. (2010) Susceptibility of sharks, rays and chimaeras to global extinction. Advances in Marine Biology. 1st ed., Elsevier Ltd.

Fields, A. T., Abercrombie, D. L., Eng, R., Feldheim, K. and Chapman, D. D. (2015) 'A novel mini-DNA barcoding assay to identify processed fins from internationally

protected shark species.' PLoS ONE, 10(2) p. e0114844.

French, I. and Wainwright, B. J. (2022) 'DNA Barcoding Identifies Endangered Sharks in Pet Food Sold in Singapore.' *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 9 p. 836941.

Friedrich, L. A., Jefferson, R. and Glegg, G. (2014) 'Public perceptions of sharks: Gathering support for shark conservation.' *Marine Policy*, 47 pp. 1–7.

García, V. B., Lucifora, L. O. and Myers, R. A. (2008) 'The importance of habitat and life history to extinction risk in sharks, skates, rays and chimaeras.' *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 275(1630) pp. 83–89.

Gobierno del Ecuador (2020) *Gobierno Nacional fortalece el Plan de Acción Nacional* para la Conservación y Manejo del Tiburón de Ecuador PAT.

Gonzalez-Pestana, A., Acuña-Perales, N., Coasaca-Cespedes, J., Cordova-Zavaleta, F., Alfaro-Shigueto, J., Mangel, J. C. and Espinoza, P. (2017) 'Trophic ecology of the smooth hammerhead shark (Sphyrna Zygaena) off the coast of northern Peru.' *Fishery Bulletin*, 115(4) pp. 451–459.

Gray, C. A. and Kennelly, S. J. (2018) 'Bycatches of endangered, threatened and protected species in marine fisheries.' *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*. Springer International Publishing, 28(3) pp. 521–541.

Guardian, T. (2006) 'Irwin's death sparks bout of stingray mutilations.' *The Guardian* [Online] [Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2024]

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2006/sep/13/australia.topstories3.

Hammerschlag, N., SC, B., DJ, I., JJ, M. and ER, N. (2018) 'Predator declines and morphological changes in prey: evidence from coral reefs depleted of sharks .' *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 586 pp. 127–139.

Hearn, A. C. S., Allen, H. Z. L., Zurita, L., Gabela-flores, M. V., Peñaherrera-, C. R.,

Castrejón, M., Cruz, S., Kelley, D., Bruno, J., Jones, J., Naveira-garabato, A., Viteri, C., Picho, J., Donnelly, A., Tudhope, A., Fischer, C., Green, J. R., Hucke-gaete, R., Navia, A., Palomino-gaviria, A. and Parra, M. (2022) *A Blueprint for Marine Spatial Planning of Ecuador's Exclusive Economic Zone around the Galápagos Marine Reserve*. Quito.

Hobbs, C. A. D., Potts, R. W. A., Bjerregaard Walsh, M., Usher, J. and Griffiths, A. M. (2019) 'Using DNA Barcoding to Investigate Patterns of Species Utilisation in UK Shark Products Reveals Threatened Species on Sale.' *Scientific Reports*, 9(1) pp. 1–10.

Islam, M. S. and Tanaka, M. (2004) 'Impacts of pollution on coastal and marine ecosystems including coastal and marine fisheries and approach for management: A review and synthesis.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 48(7–8) pp. 624–649.

IUCN (2023) *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species*. [Online] [Accessed: 22nd December 2023] https://www.iucnredlist.org

Kim, K. H., Jahan, S. A., Kabir, E. and Brown, R. J. C. (2013) 'A review of airborne polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and their human health effects.' *Environment International*, 60 pp. 71–80.

Krishna Krishnamurthy, P. and Francis, R. A. (2012) 'A critical review on the utility of DNA barcoding in biodiversity conservation.' *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 21(8) pp. 1901–1919.

Linares, V., Perelló, G., Nadal, M., Gómez-Catalán, J., Llobet, J. M. and Domingo, J. L. (2010) 'Environmental versus dietary exposure to POPs and metals: A probabilistic assessment of human health risks.' *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, 12(3) pp. 681–688.

López-Angarita, J., Villate-Moreno, M., Díaz, J. M., Cubillos-M, J. C. and Tilley, A. (2021) 'Identifying nearshore nursery habitats for sharks and rays in the Eastern

Tropical Pacific from fishers' knowledge and landings.' *Ocean and Coastal Management*, 213 p. 105825.

Lucifora, L. O., García, V. B. and Worm, B. (2011) 'Global diversity hotspots and conservation priorities for sharks.' *PLoS ONE*.

Lunney, D. and Moon, C. (2008) 'The portrayal of human-wildlife interactions in the print media.' *Australian Zoologist*, 34 pp. 52–64.

Luque, G. M. and Donlan, C. J. (2019) 'The characterization of seafood mislabeling: A global meta-analysis.' *Biological Conservation*, 236 pp. 556–570.

Martínez-Ortiz, J., Aires-Da-silva, A. M., Lennert-Cody, C. E. and Maunderxs, M. N. (2015) 'The ecuadorian artisanal fishery for large pelagics: Species composition and spatio-temporal dynamics.' *PLoS ONE*, 10(8) pp. 1–29.

McCagh, C., Sneddon, J. and Blache, D. (2015) 'Killing sharks: The media's role in public and political response to fatal human-shark interactions.' *Marine Policy*, 62 pp. 271–278.

McKee, J. K., Sciulli, P. W., David Fooce, C. and Waite, T. A. (2004) 'Forecasting global biodiversity threats associated with human population growth.' *Biological Conservation*, 115(1) pp. 161–164.

Megson, D., Kalin, R., Worsfold, P. J., Gauchotte-lindsay, C., Patterson, D. G., Lohan, M. C., Comber, S., Brown, T. A. and Sullivan, O. (2013) 'Fingerprinting polychlorinated biphenyls in environmental samples using comprehensive two-dimensional gas chromatography with time-of-flight mass spectrometry.' *Journal of Chromatography A*. 1318 pp. 276–283.

Merly, L., Lange, L., Meÿer, M., Hewitt, A. M., Koen, P., Fischer, C., Muller, J., Schilack, V., Wentzel, M. and Hammerschlag, N. (2019) 'Blood plasma levels of heavy metals

and trace elements in white sharks (Carcharodon carcharias) and potential health consequences.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 142 pp. 85–92.

Morrison, R. D. and Murphy, B. L. (2010) *Environmental Forensics: Contaminant Specific Guide*. Amsterdam: Elsevier Ltd,

Myers, R. A., Baum, J. K., Shepherd, T. D., Powers, S. P. and Peterson, C. H. (2007) 'Cascading effects of the loss of apex predatory sharks from a coastal ocean.' *Science*, 315(5820) pp. 1846–1850.

Neff, C. (2015) 'The Jaws Effect: How movie narratives are used to influence policy responses to shark bites in Western Australia.' *Australian Journal of Political Science*, 50(1) pp. 114–127.

Neff, C. and Hueter, R. (2013) 'Science, policy, and the public discourse of shark "attack": A proposal for reclassifying human-shark interactions.' *Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences*, 3(1) pp. 65–73.

Niedermüller, S., Ainsworth, G. B., de Juan, S., Garcia, R., Ospina-Alvarez, A., Pita, P. and Villasante, S. (2021) *Shark and ray global trade meat network: A deep dive into a global affair.* World Wildlife Fund (WWF) report. Available at:

https://sharks.panda.org/images/downloads/392/WWF MMI Global shark ray meat trade report 2021 lowres.pdf

Nordberg, G. F., Nordberg, M. and Costa, M. (2022) 'Toxicology of metals: Overview, definitions, concepts, and trends.' *Handbook on the Toxicology of Metals: Fifth Edition*, pp. 1–14.

O'Sullivan, G. and Megson, D. (2013) 'Brief Overview: Discovery, Regulation, Properties, and Fate of POPs.' *In Environmental Forensics for Persistent Organic Pollutants*, pp. 1–20. Pacoureau, N., Rigby, C. L., Kyne, P. M., Sherley, R. B., Winker, H., Carlson, J. K., Fordham, S. V., Barreto, R., Fernando, D., Francis, M. P., Jabado, R. W., Herman, K. B., Liu, K. M., Marshall, A. D., Pollom, R. A., Romanov, E. V., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Yin, J. S., Kindsvater, H. K. and Dulvy, N. K. (2021) 'Half a century of global decline in oceanic sharks and rays.' *Nature*, 589(7843) pp. 567–571.

Patandin, S., Dagnelie, P. C., Mulder, P. G. H., Op De Coul, E., Van Der Veen, J. E., Weisglas-Kuperus, N. and Sauer, P. J. J. (1999) 'Dietary exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and dioxins from infancy until adulthood: A comparison between breastfeeding, toddler, and long-term exposure.' *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 107(1) pp. 45–51.

Patel, N. P. and Haldar, S. (2022) 'Pollutants in the coral environment and strategies to lower their impact on the functioning of reef ecosystem.' *Microbial Biodegradation and Bioremediation: Techniques and Case Studies for Environmental Pollution*, pp. 161–178.

Pazmiño, D. A., van Herderden, L., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Junge, C., Donnellan, S. C., Hoyos-Padilla, E. M., Duffy, C. A. J., Huveneers, C., Gillanders, B. M., Butcher, P. A. and Maes, G. E. (2019) 'Introgressive hybridisation between two widespread sharks in the east Pacific region.' *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 136 pp. 119–127. Pinhal, D., Shivji, M. S., Nachtigall, P. G., Chapman, D. D. and Martins, C. (2012) 'A streamlined dna tool for global identification of heavily exploited coastal shark species (genus rhizoprionodon).' *PLoS ONE*, 7(4) pp. 3–8.

Prasetyo, A. P., Murray, J. M., Kurniawan, M. F. A. K., Sales, N. G., McDevitt, A. D. and Mariani, S. (2023) 'Shark-dust: Application of high-throughput DNA sequencing of processing residues for trade monitoring of threatened sharks and rays.'

*Conservation Letters*, pp. 1–10.

Prugh, L. R., Stoner, C. J., Epps, C. W., Bean, W. T., Ripple, W. J., Laliberte, A. S. and Brashares, J. S. (2009) 'The Rise of the Mesopredator.' *BioScience*, 59(9) pp. 779–791. Reynolds, J. D., Dulvy, N. K., Goodwin, N. B. and Hutchings, J. A. (2005) 'Biology of extinction risk in marine fishes.' *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 272(1579) pp. 2337–2344.

Sanderson, E. W., Jaiteh, M., Levy, M. A., Redford, K. H., Wannebo, A. V. and Woolmer, G. (2002) 'The Human Footprint and the Last of the Wild.' *BioScience*, 52(10) p. 891.

Sharma, B. M., Bharat, G. K., Tayal, S., Nizzetto, L., Čupr, P. and Larssen, T. (2014) 'Environment and human exposure to persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in India: A systematic review of recent and historical data.' *Environment International*, 66 pp. 48–64.

Simpfendorfer, C. A., Heupel, M. R., White, W. T. and Dulvy, N. K. (2011) 'The importance of research and public opinion to conservation management of sharks and rays: A synthesis.' *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 62(6) pp. 518–527.

Steinke, D., Bernard, A. M., Horn, R. L., Hilton, P., Hanner, R. and Shivji, M. S. (2017) 'DNA analysis of traded shark fins and mobulid gill plates reveals a high proportion of species of conservation concern.' *Scientific Reports*, 7(1) p. 9505.

Teffer, A. K., Staudinger, M. D., Taylor, D. L. and Juanes, F. (2014) 'Trophic influences on mercury accumulation in top pelagic predators from offshore New England waters of the northwest atlantic ocean.' *Marine Environmental Research*, 101(1) pp. 124– 134.

Tiktak, G. P., Butcher, D., Lawrence, P. J., Norrey, J., Bradley, L., Shaw, K., Preziosi, R.

and Megson, D. (2020) 'Are concentrations of pollutants in sharks, rays and skates (Elasmobranchii) a cause for concern? A systematic review.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 160 p. 111701.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2011) 'USEPA Exposure Factors Handbook Chapter 8: Body Weight studies.' *Exposure Factors Handbook*, pp. 8–2.

United Nations Environment Program (2017) 'The 16 New POPs.' p. 25.

Vračko, P., Tuomisto, J., Grad, J. and Kunsele, E. (2007) *Exposure of children to chemical hazards in food.* World Health Organisation.

Wang, Q., Kim, D., Dionysiou, D. D., Sorial, G. A. and Timberlake, D. (2004) 'Sources and remediation for mercury contamination in aquatic systems - A literature review.' *Environmental Pollution*, 131(2) pp. 323–336.

Ward, R. D., Zemlak, T. S., Innes, B. H., Last, P. R., Paul, D., Hebert, N., Ward, R. D., Zemlak, T. S., Innes, B. H., Last, P. R. and Hebert, P. D. N. (2005) 'DNA barcoding Australia's fish species.' *Philosophical Transactions A*, 360(1462) pp. 1847–1857.

WHO (2010) 'Exposure to Dioxins and Dioxin-like Substances: a Major Public Health Concern' p. 6. *WHO: Geneve, Switzerland*.

WHO (2020) *Persistent organic pollutants (POPs). Food Safety.* [Online] [Accessed on 6th February 2020] https://www.who.int/foodsafety/areas\_work/chemical-risks/pops/en/.

Wong, E. H. K., Shivji, M. S. and Hanner, R. H. (2009) 'Identifying sharks with DNA barcodes: Assessing the utility of a nucleotide diagnostic approach.' *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 9 pp. 243–256.

Worm, B., Davis, B., Kettemer, L., Ward-Paige, C. A., Chapman, D., Heithaus, M. R., Kessel, S. T. and Gruber, S. H. (2013) 'Global catches, exploitation rates, and

rebuilding options for sharks.' Marine Policy, 40(1) pp. 194–204.

Zeng, Y., Wu, Z., Zhang, C., Meng, Z., Jiang, Z. and Zhang, J. (2016) 'DNA barcoding of Mobulid Ray Gill Rakers for Implementing CITES on Elasmobranch in China.' *Scientific Reports*, 6 pp. 1–9.

Zhang, X., Armani, A., Wen, J., Giusti, A., Zhao, J. and Li, X. (2021) 'DNA barcoding for the identification of shark lips (鱼唇): A nationwide survey for analyzing a never

investigated product in the Chinese market.' Food Control, 126 p. 108075.

Zheng, N., Wang, Q., Zhang, X., Zheng, D., Zhang, Z. and Zhang, S. (2007) 'Population health risk due to dietary intake of heavy metals in the industrial area of Huludao city, China.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 387(1–3) pp. 96–104.

# **Chapter 2**

2 Identifying patterns of mislabelling in elasmobranchs (sharks, rays, and skates): A global review

# **Chapter Overview**

This chapter is a systematic review on mislabelling worldwide in elasmobranchs (sharks, rays, and skates) following the 2020 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines.

## **Author Contributions**

As lead author I designed the project, collected the data, performed the statistical analysis, wrote the manuscript. I supervised a MSc student along with Professor Richard Preziosi, who provided support with data collection to add an additional level of rigour on the data collected from the literature. This chapter will be streamlined for submission to Conservation Biology early 2024.

#### Abstract

Elasmobranchs (sharks, rays, and skates) currently comprise one of the most vulnerable taxa on the planet, with many species facing rapid population declines largely driven by overexploitation and bycatch. The trade in elasmobranchs and elasmobranch-related-products has prompted their capture at unsustainable rates, as well as increasing rates of species mislabelling and substitution, allowing for the sale of endangered and CITES-listed species. Here we present the first systematic review aimed at exploring methods of identifying elasmobranchs and elasmobranchrelated-products in the trade, as well as identifying patterns of mislabelling worldwide. Eighty-three studies were included in this review, covering 306 elasmobranch species, 45 families and 12 orders. Thirty-five percent (n = 109) of elasmobranchs caught were classified as threatened by the IUCN Red List and 9.48% (n = 29) were listed in CITES Appendix I, II or III at the time of study. Around 44.7% (n = 29)= 38) of studies focussed on mislabelling, revealing that 11.3% (*n* = 824) of samples were mislabelled and 10.1% (n = 744) were labelled using umbrella terms such as "Cação" and "Flake". Blue sharks (Prionace glauca) were the most frequently mislabelled species, representing 12.5% (n = 103) of all cases of mislabelling. Additionally, blue sharks were also the most common species sold under umbrella terms, accounting for 13.7% (n = .102) of these cases. Species listed as threatened made up 48.7% (n = 38) of mislabelled elasmobranchs and 53.7% (n = 29) of species labelled using umbrella terms. Thirteen percent (n = 10) of mislabelled and 9.26% (n= 5) of umbrella labelled elasmobranch species originated from CITES-listed species. Mislabelling and the use of umbrella terms was widespread, with many studies being carried out in Europe (n = 14) and South America (n = 14) but some of the most important trading hubs for elasmobranchs had limited (Hong Kong, China, Indonesia, and Singapore) to no studies (Vietnam), highlighting the urgent need for research in these understudied regions. DNA barcoding using the mitochondrial (mtDNA) cytochrome oxidase 1 (CO1) region was the most widely used genetic identification technique (81.2%), though studies highlighted the need for faster, cheaper, and field based identification techniques. The results of this review underline the negative effect of mislabelling on monitoring trade for conservation efforts, especially for species facing rapid population declines. The prevalence of threatened and CITESlisted species in the trade, especially when mislabelled, indicates the heightened threat to these already vulnerable populations, emphasising the need for stronger enforcement measures and additional conservation efforts to protect these species from extinction.

### Keywords: Elasmobranchs; Mislabelling; CITES; Identification; Trade; Conservation

#### 2.1 Introduction

Elasmobranchs (sharks, rays and skates) have been identified as one of the most threatened vertebrates on the planet, with one third of all chondrichthyans (sharks, rays, skates and chimeras) currently threatened with extinction (Dulvy et al., 2008, 2014, 2021; Ferrette et al., 2019a; Bernardo et al., 2020; Pacoureau et al., 2021). The trade in elasmobranchs and their related products has been the biggest driver of their mortalities worldwide (Dulvy et al., 2021). Elasmobranchs are especially susceptible to threats from overexploitation as many of them exhibit similar traits to that of largebodied mammals with slow growth, delayed maturity, long gestation periods and low fecundity (Abercrombie et al., 2005a; Clarke et al., 2006b; García et al., 2008; Almerón-Souza et al., 2018). Their populations require long periods of recovery following overfishing, which may span decades (Macbeth et al., 2018; Ferrette et al., 2019a).

Elasmobranchs and elasmobranch-related products are consumed by humans all over the world, with only a small number of species currently protected under national and international laws that make them illegal to fish and trade (Abercrombie et al., 2005a; Cardeñosa et al., 2018, 2022; Ferretti et al., 2020; Van Houtan et al., 2020; Dulvy et al., 2021). The combined value of the shark fin trade (~1.5 billion USD) and meat trade (~2.6 billion USD) generates over four billion USD annually (Niedermüller et al., 2021). This makes the elasmobranch trade one of the most valuable seafood commodities globally. Other elasmobranch-derived products include vitamin and beauty supplements, gill rakers, cosmetics, souvenirs, traditional medicine, and pet food (Wainwright et al., 2018; Cardeñosa, 2019; Niedermüller et al., 2021). Recently there has been growing concern for mislabelling and species substitution of elasmobranchs that occurs globally, even in non-coastal countries and cities. Many elasmobranchs have been found with high concentrations of mercury (Hg) as well as other pollutants (e.g., dichloro-diphenyl-trichloroethane(DDT)) which puts consumers at greater risk to serious health concerns from overexposure to pollutants, especially when they may be unaware that they are consuming elasmobranchs when they are being mislabelled (Bezerra et al., 2019; Tiktak et al., 2020; EPA, 2022).

Identifying elasmobranchs or elasmobranch-related products is one of the main challenges in the trade. Various methods are used for identification, including morphological identification, which can be limited when dealing with heavily processed products. Morphological identification is typically carried out on whole specimens and experts trained in visual identification (Clarke et al., 2006a; Holmes et al., 2009). DNA barcoding is often used to identify sharks when they cannot be identified based on their morphological features. It may also be used as a tool to confirm visual identification, for example in the case of heavily processed shark fins (Ward et al., 2005; Clarke et al., 2006a, 2006b; Cardeñosa et al., 2017; Filonzi et al., 2021). Studies often use fish primers or species-specific primers to perform polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based amplification of DNA from mitochondrial genes such as cytochrome b (CytB), cytochrome oxidase subunit 1 (CO1), Internal Transcriber Space 2 (ITS2), 16S ribosomal RNA, and NADH dehydrogenase subunit 2 (NADH2). The DNA requires downstream processes such as visualisation of bands through gel electrophoresis and/or DNA sequencing (Shivji et al., 2002; Fields et al., 2015; Feitosa et al., 2018; Delpiani et al., 2020). DNA barcoding uses a short, standardised sequence of genomic DNA from a particular region against a 'barcode'

sequence within a database of reference samples to distinguish between species (Marchetti et al., 2020; Filonzi et al., 2023). Because the primers used to amplify and sequence DNA fragments are universal, no prior knowledge of the species present in a sample is required to genetically identify species within samples. As a result, this technique is applicable to large fish markets where the point of origin of a wide range of products may be unknown (Hobbs et al., 2019; Cardeñosa et al., 2021), though also useful in seizures from IUU fishing vessels or at customs.

DNA barcoding has been recognised as being most effective in the identification of elasmobranch species in fresh and lightly processed products, due to the large section of sequences available for PCR amplification (around 650bp is the standard) (Marchetti et al., 2020). When elasmobranch products have been heavily processed such as dried fins, shark fin soup, cartilage, pet food and vitamin supplements, liver oil capsules and beauty products (i.e., lipstick and mascara) the DNA often becomes degraded, making it difficult to attain large amplicons for PCR (Marchetti et al., 2020). For heavily degraded samples, mini-barcode assays can be used as they produce shorter fragments of DNA from the mtDNA CO1 region for amplification (~100-200bp) which is more effective than full DNA barcoding. Mini-DNA barcoding allows for the identification of heavily processed and degraded samples down to species level (Fields et al., 2015; Cardeñosa, 2019; Giovos et al., 2020; Zahn et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2021).

The aim of this systematic review was to explore methods for identifying elasmobranchs and elasmobranch-related products in the international trade and provide a comprehensive and up-to-date synthesis of the existing evidence on the mislabelling of elasmobranchs globally. This will be achieved by;

1) Identifying trends, geographical distribution, and knowledge gaps within existing literature on the elasmobranch trade;

2) Assessing the species composition and conservation status of elasmobranchs within existing literature;

3) Evaluating the prevalence and extent of mislabelling of elasmobranch products in global seafood markets across different geographic regions;

4) Identifying gaps in knowledge and research needs related to the mislabelling of elasmobranchs and provide recommendations for future research and policy actions to address this issue; and finally;

5) Evaluating and discussing the morpholical and genetic methods for the identification of elasmobranchs and elasmobranch-related-products in the international trade.

#### 2.2 Methods

#### 2.2.1 Study Selection

A comprehensive search was conducted following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines for 2020 (Page et al., 2021), to identify relevant research articles related to the identification and mislabelling of elasmobranchs. Studies were considered for inclusion based on the following inclusion criteria: the study reported on the genetic identification or mislabelling of elasmobranchs within the scope of the seafood trade, published between 1970 (the earliest start date on Scopus) and 2023 (cut off October), was original research, published within a peer-reviewed journal and written in English. 'Gray Literature' were not included in this review as they often do not undergo the same peer-review process and may not be available online. Studies that focussed on the development of a method (e.g., species-specific markers, PCR multiplex) and shark depredation were not included in this review.

The following search terms were used separately or in combination for the identification of papers (Figure 2-1) within the search engines Scopus and Web of Science: "mislabel\*", "identif\*", "species substitution", "elasmobranch\*", "shark\*", "ray\*", "skate\*", "batoid\*". The following text "AND NOT" combined with "X-ray", "gamma", "attack", "Rayleigh", "cosmic", "receptor", "ray tracing", "skater\*" and "skateboard\*". Search terms were kept broad to obtain as many studies as possible. Google Scholar was used to cross-reference papers, and any suggested papers that were relevant were also included.





#### 2.2.2 Data Collection

Relevant information was extracted from each eligible study and recorded, including: the title of the study, author(s), year of publication, and journal. Taxaspecific data were collected to include common and scientific names, family, order, superorder, subclass, class, number of samples collected per species and most common species within the study (number and percentages where applicable), in addition to their International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List status (based on the time of publication as well as their status in 2023) and their inclusion in the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) Appendices I, II or III (CITES, 2022, 2023; IUCN, 2023). The country and region of the study were recorded, the surrounding ocean(s), the place and number of samples attained, the number of species identified, type of sample (e.g. fin, muscle tissue, dried/fresh/frozen), identification method and genetic marker used (where available). Studies were split into two categories: species identification, and mislabelling. Species identification studies were defined as studies that focussed on identifying elasmobranchs using morphological (visual) or genetic techniques, and mislabelling studies reported on the mislabelling of elasmobranchs. Studies could belong to one or both categories, depending on the scope.

In the literature mislabelling cand be defined in a number of different ways, in this review we have defined mislabelling under two specific terms: mislabelling and umbrella labelling. Mislabelling is defined as any seafood product that has false or incorrect labelling which may include species substitution, for example when a threatened species is mislabelled as a non-threatened species (Ryburn et al., 2022). Umbrella labelling is defined as when various species or organisms are grouped under a general term without specifying each individual species (Giagkazoglou et al., 2022). An umbrella term might be the use of "cacao" which is deliberately broad to incorporate elasmobranchs. Several studies grouped mislabelling and the use of umbrella terms together for certain species without distinguishing between the two categories. As it was not possible to separate these instances, they were excluded from the analysis to ensure clarity and accuracy in reporting.

Additional data was collected that included: the number of samples mislabelled, price of product (where applicable), taxa information (species, family, order, subclass, class, etc), IUCN status and CITES listing. IUCN status of non-threatened species were categorised as DD = Data Deficient, LC = Least Concern, LR/CD = Lower Risk/Conservation Dependent, LR/LC = Lower Risk/Least Concern, LR/NT = Lower Risk/Near Threatened, NE = Not Evaluated, NT = Near Threatened, Species were classified as threatened if they were categorised within the following IUCN categories: VU = Vulnerable, EN = Endangered and CR = Critically Endangered (IUCN, 2023).

#### 2.2.3 Mislabelling Terminology

In total, 140 different commercial names were used across the 38 mislabelling studies. To standardise reporting the names were grouped into broader commercial categories for example, "tuna" was grouped with "átun" (tuna in Spansih), "átun rojo" and "albacore" and categorised as "tuna species". If common or latin names were present, these were classified as "shark species" or "ray species" where applicable, if no species names were present, the umbrella term "shark" or "ray" was used. By recategorizing the terms, it reduced the number of categories for mislabelling terms drastically, from 140 down to 26. Latin names were written as common species names for simplicity. Any samples which did not fall into any of the above categories were classified as "other". For full breakdown of terms see Section 2.6. Supplementary Information (Table S2 -2).

#### 2.2.4 Data Analysis

All data analysis and visualisation were carried out R (3.6.1 (2019-07-05)) (R Core Team., 2019). Data for longitude and latitude of each country were taken from Google's data set: "countries.csv" (<u>https://developers.google.com/publicdata/docs/canonical/countries csv</u>). Maps were made in R using "Leaflet" (Cheng et al., 2023) and the map base layer "esri.worldmap". A chi-square goodness of fit test was used to examine whether the frequency of studies published in each country was evenly distributed.

#### 2.3 Results and Discussion

#### 2.3.1 Research Trends

A systematic review was performed on the identification of elasmobranchs with a focus on mislabelling worldwide. A total of 85 relevant studies were identified for this review that were published between 1970 and 2023. Seventy-six percent (n =65) of these were solely focussed on elasmobranchs, and 24.7% (n = 21) included other organisms (i.e., teleost's, crustaceans, and chimeras). For the purpose of this study only elasmobranchs were discussed. Forty-five percent (n = 38) of these studies discussed elements of mislabelling of elasmobranchs within the seafood trade, while 55.3% (n = 47) focussed only species identification, 3.6% (n = 3) (Figure 2-2). Nineteen percent (n = 16) of studies focussed on both species identification and mislabelling (Figure 2-2).

There has been an increase in studies over the last five years, with a spike in the number of studies published between 2019 and 2021 (Figure 2-2). The search for this review concluded in October 2023, thus the real figure of 2023 (n = 7) could be higher (Figure 2-2). A possible explanation for the increase in studies could be due to the advancement in genetic techniques, as they have become cheaper, faster, and more accurate (Hellberg and Morrissey, 2011; Dudgeon et al., 2012; Durmaz et al., 2015). There has been an increase in studies focussing on mislabelling in elasmobranchs in the last six years (Figure 2-2) though it's difficult to infer whether this is due to an increase in mislabelling or other factors, such as the above suggested advancement of genetic techniques, or increased interest in elasmobranchs due to their growing population concerns etc.



Figure 2-2 Total number (n = 85) of publications between 2001 and 2023 by topic (bycatch, elasmobranch landings, mislabelling and species identification). No relevant studies were found before 2001.

### 2.3.2 Global Distribution of Studies

Samples originated from 50 countries, where studies were mainly carried out in Europe (n = 25), Asia (n = 21), or South America (n = 21). Most studies were conducted in Brazil (n = 16), followed by Mexico (n = 6) and the USA (n = 5) (Figure 2-3). Mislabelling of elasmobranchs was evaluated in 19 countries, though 14 of those countries only included one to two studies. Brazil (n = 9), Italy (n = 4) and Greece (n = 3) were the countries with the greatest number of studies on mislabelling (Figure 2-3).

East and Southeast Asia remain the main hub for shark fins, with Hong Kong SAR, Taiwan province and Singapore being amongst the highest importers of elasmobranch-related products (e.g., shark fins) (Shea et al., 2022). Shark fin soup is still widely consumed in East and Southeast Asia despite the decrease in demand, as well as the use of traditional Chinese medicine and vitamin supplement, usually coming from cartilage and shark liver oil (Oceana, 2010). Hong Kong imported nearly 10,000,000 kg of shark fins in 2008, where most originated from Spain, Singapore and Taiwan (Oceana, 2010). Europe is a significant player in the global shark fin trade providing 45% of shark fins to the trade hubs in Asia, but also 22% of the global shark meat supply (Niedermüller et al., 2021; Shea et al., 2022). Between 2003 and 2020, Spain supplied Hong Kong SAR, Singapore and Taiwan with an annual average of 2,877.52 metric tonnes of shark fins (Shea et al., 2022).

While many studies focussing on elasmobranchs were carried out in Europe, it's important to point out that a limited number of studies were carried out in individual European countries. Despite the implementation of various measures to regulate shark fishing and trade, challenges persist in effectively monitoring and controlling these activities within the EU.

Industrial and artisanal fleets across the world supply the Asian markets for shark fins (including fins from batoid species), while the meat from these captured sharks is traded to different countries, for example meeting the growing demand in markets in Brazil (Dent and Clarke, 2015). The elasmobranch meat trade has expanded significantly with regulations in place that require carcasses to be landed with fins attached ("antifinning") as well as the increase in demand in elasmobranch meat (Dent and Clarke, 2015). The elasmobranch meat trade generated 2.6 billion USD between 2012 and 2019, exceeding the total income of 1.5 billion USD from shark fins, which shows this increased demand for elasmobranch meat. Considering the value of the global elasmobranch fin and meat trade, there remains a pressing need for increased research efforts.



Figure 2-3 Geographical distribution of studies published between 2001 and 2023 (cut off October) on elasmobranchs in the trade (bycatch, elasmobranch landings, species identification and mislabelling). The numbers represent the number of studies carried out in each country. The number of studies were not even across area of study ( $\chi^2$  = 137.35, df = 49, p < 0.0001) where more studies were published in Brazil than anywhere else in the world. Species Composition of Global Elasmobranch Trade and Conservation Status

#### 2.3.3 Species Identification

A total of 146,794 individual elasmobranchs were sampled, where 19,813 biological samples were taken for further genetic analysis (i.e., tissue, cartilage etc) and 126,981 were identified morphologically (Figure 2-4). Most studies targeted elasmobranchs specifically, aiming to identify elasmobranchs from a range of samples across different points of the supply chain, i.e., fishing vessels, artisanal and commercial fish markets, restaurants, and supermarkets (Table 2-1). Most studies were carried out at fish markets (n = 20), food markets and street vendors (n = 12), supermarkets and grocery stores (n = 11) and artisanal fish markets (n = 11) (Table



Figure 2-4 This figure shows (a) the identification techniques used over time, specifically showing genetic and morphological identification, and (b) provides a more detailed breakdown of the studies conducted. One study identified elasmobranchs using protein fingerprinting in 2001, but these findings have not been included in the figure.

Biological samples were derived from a range of products, with the most frequent sample type being muscle tissue (9.72%, n = 14,274) and dried fin (0.64%, n = 933). Many elasmobranchs were morphologically identified (86.5%, n = 126,981) across 16 studies (Figure 2-4), and 13.5% (n = 19,813) were identified using genetic techniques across 73 studies. Morphological identification studies were often carried out on boats where elasmobranchs were for example caught as bycatch, as well as when they were landed whole at ports or artisanal markets.

Table 2-1 Market sectors for each of the studies conducted on mislabelling and species identification of elasmobranchs. The total number of market sectors was 28. Some studies were conducted in more than one market sector.

Market Sector	Count of Studies
Food markets and street vendors	12
Artisanal fish market	11
Supermarkets and grocery stores	11
Restaurants and takeaway	10
Fish mongers and vendors	9
Landing sites and docks	7
Seizures	6
Fish nets	6
Department stores and retail outlets	4
Auction	3
Pharmacies	3
Fishing vessel	3
Wholesalers	2
Commercial fish market	2
Catering facilities	2
Fin trading hub	2
Online	2
Commercial shark fisheries	1
Fish processing industries	1
Customs	1
Fin auction	1
Fin drying facilities	1
Dry seafood market	1
Food service establishment	1

School	1
University	1
Seafood company	1

#### 2.3.3.1 Molecular Species Identification

A total of 81.2% of studies (n = 69) used DNA barcoding (including mini-DNA barcoding) to identify samples (Figure 2.4), with the majority using the CO1 gene (81.2%, n = 56). The CO1 region sometimes struggles to accurately discriminate between some shark species due to introgression, hybridisation or low genetic variation between species (i.e. Squalidae and Triakidae, and sharks belonging to the genus Carcharhinus) (Corrigan et al., 2017; Pazmiño et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2021). Carcharhinid sharks for example, are very difficult to tell apart visually, but also genetically (Sebastian et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2009; Fields et al., 2017; Cardeñosa, 2019; Hobbs et al., 2019; Hacohen-Domené et al., 2020). Several studies (n = 18) used additional genetic markers, used min-DNA barcoding or used other markers entirely for more accurate species identification, or when samples were heavily degraded (Shivji et al., 2005; Rodrigues-Filho et al., 2009; Caballero et al., 2012; Zeng et al., 2016; Vella et al., 2017; Fields et al., 2017; Feitosa et al., 2018; Pazartzi et al., 2019; Cardeñosa, 2019; Ferrette et al., 2019b; Marchetti et al., 2020; Pardo and Jiménez, 2020; Alvarenga et al., 2021a; Giovos et al., 2021; Domingues et al., 2021; French and Wainwright, 2022; Giagkazoglou et al., 2022).

Some studies used ribosomal RNA (rRNA) markers (n = 12), such as 16S (average length 544 bp) or the Internal Transcriber Spacer 2 (ITS2) which have been used in global-scale applications. ITS2 has a high degree of sequence conservation within shark species and can amplify the target species sequence regardless of its

origin (Shivji et al., 2002; Abercrombie et al., 2005b; Nachtigall et al., 2017; Fields et al., 2018). This is particularly valuable when examining samples from trade hubs in Asia, where products on sale can originate from various sources.

The associated costs of downstream analysis, such as sequencing (e.g., Sanger) may be excessive in large-scale applications or in situations where resources are limited (Canfield and Bowen, 2021). A popular alternative method of shark identification in the field involves the use of a multiplex PCR mini-barcode assay that can identify processed shark products. This method significantly reduces to cost per sample to just \$1 (USD) by using a multiplex assay that allows for rapid species identification (Cardeñosa et al., 2017), which is a fraction of the cost of DNA barcoding (Canfield and Bowen, 2021). This method still needs to be carried out by trained personnel and the use of specialistic equipment such as thermocyclers and sequencers (Tiktak et al., 2024). Low-cost field-based techniques remain limited in conservation applications, posing an ongoing challenge in addressing the trade in elasmobranch and their related products. Despite the increase in genetic studies carried out on elasmobranchs, information is still limited, for example, with only a handful of nuclear genomes being sequenced (n = 9) (Hara et al., 2018; Marra et al., 2019; Pearce et al., 2021).

DNA barcoding is the most common tool for the identification of elasmobranchs and challenges the identification issues posed by the absence of visual features (Ward et al., 2005; Holmes et al., 2009; Kuguru et al., 2018). Genetic techniques such as these offer a promising opportunity for improving the accuracy of elasmobranch trade data (e.g., catch and landing records, as well as mislabelled samples. This data could potentially help to reduce IUU fishing activities whilst

providing informed data on species composition, as well as reducing the illegal trade of threatened and/or prohibited species. Enhanced seafood traceability, inspections (i.e., at customs and fishery landing sites), field DNA identification methods are needed to manage the influx of fins and meat from threatened CITES-listed elasmobranchs (Cardeñosa et al., 2018).

#### 2.3.4 Species Composition of Global Elasmobranch Trade and Conservation Status

Across the 85 studies, a total of 306 different elasmobranch species were found belonging to 45 families and 12 orders. A total of 53.3% (n = 163) species were sharks, Selachimorpha, and 46.7% (n = 143) were rays and skates, Batoidea, belonging to 45 Families from 12 Orders (Figure 2 5). Carcharhinidae was the most represented family, making up 52.9% (n = 77,597) of all elasmobranch families found, followed by Rhinobatidae (11.5%, n = 16,809), Lamnidae (6.69%, n = 9,817), Triakidae (5.98%, n =8,773), Trygpnorhinidae (5.10%, n = 7,480), and Sphyrnidae (4.85%, n = 7,113) (Figure 2 5). The most common elasmobranch species found were silky sharks (*Carcharhinus falciformis*) (33.1%, n = 48,521), blue sharks (*Prionace glauca*) (12.5%, n = 18375), shovelnose guitarfish (*Pseudobatos productos*) (11.2%, n = 16,470) and shortfin mako sharks (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) (6.55%, n = 9,599) (Figure 2 5).


Figure 2-5 The percentage of total species (%) for different genera across the two elasmobranch superorders: (a) Batoidea (rays and skates) and (b) Selachimorpha (sharks), calculated based on data from the 85 studies. Each bar's height indicates the total count (*n*) of each genus within the two superorders. Some species were excluded from the dataset due to missing sample numbers in the studies, despite their presence in the records. The excluded species were *Lago* sp./*Mustelus mosis*, *Isistius brasiliensis*, *Lamna* spp., *Bathyraja brachyurops* and *Himantura* sp.

Thirty-five (n = 126) of elasmobranch species were listed as threatened (CR = 18, EN = 34 and VU = 74), 19.6% (n = 60) were NT, and 13.4% (n = 41) LC. Thirty-five percent (n = 109) of species were NE and 15.4% (n = 47) were data deficient (DD) showing the limited amount of information we still have about elasmobranchs and their threat status. Additionally, 29 species were listed in CITES which represented 9.48% of the species found in this study.

Our study confirms the existing literature that suggests predominantly pelagic species supply the international elasmobranch trade (Dulvy et al., 2014; Tolotti et al., 2015; Cardeñosa et al., 2018, 2022). The most common species found in this study, silky sharks are not only listed as VU by the IUCN red list, but they have also been listed in Appendix II of CITES since 04/10/2017. Blue sharks are currently listed as NT globally, but in November 2023 (25/11/2023) they were included in Appendix II of CITES, and their status in the Mediterranean, where they are targeted frequently, is CR. Blue sharks are one of the most targeted shark species globally, and they are often found in elasmobranch catches due to their high distributional overlap with fishing hotspots (Queiroz et al., 2019; Dulvy et al., 2021). Shortfin make sharks are listed as EN by the IUCN red list. Many longline fisheries overlap with hotspots for commercial valuable and international protected species of sharks (Lucifora et al., 2011; Queiroz et al., 2019; Dulvy et al., 2021). There is limited to no protection for pelagic sharks from fishing efforts in the high seas as these fisheries often operate in areas beyond national jurisdiction (Queiroz et al., 2019). Where there is protection in place (i.e., marine protected areas (MPA)), due to the highly mobile and migratory nature of many pelagic sharks, these areas may not offer enough refuge and leaves them vulnerable to fishing efforts (Heupel et al., 2015; MacKeracher et al., 2019).

The IUCN status and CITES listing were recorded for each species at the time of study and in 2023. This was performed to compare their current status to their previous status as Dulvy et al., (2021) indicated that 32.6% (n = 391) chondrichthyans are currently threatened with extinction, with the main cause being overfishing. A total of 52.6% (n = 161) of the species found in this review would now be threatened according to their current IUCN Red List Status, and 33.9% (n = 104) would now be listed in one of the CITES Appendices. If the current trajectory of the elasmobranch trade continues, it could lead to the depletion of these species. Existing regulations for the protection of elasmobranchs is limited to those that are the most endangered

and threatened, which allows for the continued fishing of other "non-threatened" elasmobranchs to near depletion (Shea et al 2022).

Treaties such as CITES work well when implemented correctly but relies on other national and international fisheries management measures (Vincent et al., 2014), which if not managed effectively may lead illegal trade of threatened wildlife. There are also challenges with enforcing CITES, especially as many elasmobranch products traded are highly processed and degraded (i.e., fins) and are extremely difficult to identify, thus requiring additional resources such as genetic techniques which are costly, required trained personnel and specialist facilities, and in some cases, the involvement of international experts if samples are sent to laboratories in other countries (Helmy et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2020). CITES focusses on regulating the international trade and may not directly address the other pressing threats to elasmobranch populations such as overfishing, bycatch and habitat destruction. Conservation of elasmobranchs thus requires a multidisciplinary approach and relevant protection in place across every stage of the seafood supply chain.

Another concerning factor was the occurrence of species in this review initially categorised as DD or NE (50.9%) by the IUCN Red List during the study period. This highlights the significant gap in our understanding of elasmobranch populations and their true status, potentially being threatened by the time the assessment is carried out (IUCN, 2023). By 2023, the proportion of species that were categorised as DD or NE had reduced from 50.9% (n = 156) to 2.61% (n = 8), indicating the increased research efforts dedicated to our understanding of elasmobranch populations.

# 2.3.5 Summary of Mislabelling Findings in Elasmobranch Products

Our review resulted on the inclusion of 38 studies reporting on mislabelling in elasmobranchs. Thirty-three different products made up of 7,295 individual samples were tested for mislabelling, where 11.3% (n = 824) were mislabelled and 10.1% (n = 744) were labelled using umbrella terms (Figure 2-6).



Figure 2-6 Level of mislabelling per species. This figure shows the total percentage of species identified in studies with correct labels, mislabelled or labelled using umbrella terms for the two elasmobranch orders (a) Batoidea (rays and skates) and (b) Selachimorpha (sharks). Each bar represents the percentage of species within each order that are classified as correctly labelled, mislabelled, or labelled using umbrella terms. The *n* represents the total number of species identified

Samples tested for mislabelling included dried and fresh fins (7.33%, n = 535), muscle tissue (25.6%, n = 1864), amongst others. The most mislabelled samples were muscle tissue (including fillets) (8.21%, n = 599), or fresh and dry fins (1.89%, n = 138). Other mislabelled samples included processed elasmobranch products such as cosmetics (<0.1%, n = 3), pet food (0.946%, n = 69), capsules (<0.1%, n = 1), whole body (<0.1%, n = 1) and processed shark meat (0.178%, n = 13). Most samples that were labelled using umbrella terms were tissue samples (7.09%, n = 517) and processed meat (1.15%, n = 84).

### 2.3.5.1 Mislabelling

Mislabelling rates ranged from 3.70% to 100%, which resulted in an average percentage of 44.3%  $\pm$  28.1%. The mislabelled elasmobranchs were composed of nine orders, 20 families, and 75 species across 23 different studies. The most common families found amongst mislabelled samples were Carcharhinidae, Squatinidae and Sphyrnidae. The most mislabelled species were blue sharks (12.5%, *n* = 103), followed by smooth hammerhead shark (*Sphyrna zygaena*) (10.4%, *n* = 86) and small-spotted catshark (*Scyliorhinus canicula*) (8.62%, *n* = 71) (Figure 2.6). Elasmobranchs were mislabelled as fish speices 70 times (8.50%).

Many shark species were mislabelled as other incorrect shark species (31.3%, n = 272) across 16 studies across the globe. Blue sharks were mislabelled as other shark species 73 times, followed by small sotted catshark (n = 38), spinner shark (*Carcharhinus brevipinna*) (n = 37) and silky shark (n = 21). These sharks were mislabelled as *Mustelus* species, tope shark (*Galeorhinus galeus*), sandbar shark (*C. plumbeus*), pelagic thresher shark, nurse shark (*Ginglymostoma cirratum*), "hammerhead" shark and others (Marín et al., 2018; Pazartzi et al., 2019; Pardo and

Jiménez, 2020; Agyeman et al., 2021; Cruz et al., 2021). Ninety-six samples were labelled as sandbar shark or brown shark in ten different studies. This type of mislabelling is also frequently known as "species substitution" as often less valuable species are substituted for more valuable ones, or threatened species are substituted by non-threatened species.

In total 48.7% (n = 38) of elasmobranch species in mislabelling studies were listed as threatened according to the IUCN red list, where 11.5% were CR (n = 9), 15.4% were EN (n = 12), and 21.8% were VU (n = 17). Thirteen percent (n = 10) of mislabelled species were listed in CITES Appendix II, this figure jumps to 39.7% (n =32) in 2023 with the addition of species to CITES over the last two decades (CITES, 2022, 2023). The prevalence of threatened and CITES-listed species amongst the mislabelled samples raises significant concerns. The high level of mislabelling observed across the studies might be in part attributed to the lack of regulations and legislation on elasmobranch fishing and conservation. Stronger enforcement of CITES-listed species is required in exporting and importing nations, as well as more protection for elasmobranchs within nations (i.e., implementation of elasmobranch action plans).

Determining whether mislabelling takes place intentionally or accidently is challenging, as many studies do not address this aspect. Investigating the underlying reasons for why seafood fraud takes place may fall outside the scope of the studies reviewed. Gathering this type of data requires social research, which can be challenging due to the need for specific permits and ethical approval. Individuals engaging in illegal practices may also be reluctant to disclose accurate information, deliberately concealing products or withholding the truth. As a result, mislabelling or providing false information may be a way to conceal non-compliant or unlawful behavior. Additionally, time constraints, and protection of fishing practices, especially in artisanal fisheries, can further limit data collection. Only a handful of studies (Barbuto et al., 2010; Garcia-Vazquez et al., 2011; Hobbs et al., 2019; Alvarenga et al., 2021a; Zhang et al., 2021) provided pricing information of products which could provide insights into the motivation behind mislabelling (Donlan and Luque, 2019).

#### 2.3.5.2 Umbrella Labelling

Umbrella terms were used for 56 elsmobranch species, made up of 18 families and eight orders across 17 different studies. The most common families found sold using umbrella terms were Carcharinidae, Sphyrnidae and Squatinidae. Umbrella terms were most frequently used for blue sharks (13.7%, n = 102), scalloped hammerhead sharks (*Sphyrna lewini*) (9.14%, n = 68) and silky sharks (7.73%, n = 58) (Figure 2.6).

The umbrella term "Cação" was the most common umbrella term (55.7%, n = 418), used throughout studies carried out in Brazil. It's considered an umbrella term as the species are not defined (Bornatowski et al., 2015; Bernardo et al., 2020). Cação was mostly used for the sale of shark meat (48.5%, n = 364), where 19 species were sold under the name Cação, with the most common species sold under this label being blue sharks (n = 88), angular angel sharks (n = 84) and scalloped hammerhead sharks (n = 64). Cação was used for labelling ray products in 7.20% (n = 54) of the samples, where chola guitarfish (n = 33), Brazilian guitarfish and longnose stingray (n = 6) were found most frequently.

In the UK, the terms "dogfish", "flake", "huss", "rigg", "rock eel" and "rock salmon" are used to describe several species of sharks in the genus *Galeorhinus*,

*Mustelus*, *Scyliorhinus*, and two specific species of shark blackmouth catshark (*Galeus melastomus*) and spiny dogfish (*Squalus acanthias*) (Hobbs et al., 2019). Sixty-six percent (n = 77) of the samples collected in the study conducted by Hobbs et al., (2019) in the UK were spiny dogfish which are listed as VU by the IUCN red list (IUCN, 2023). These terms are considered umbrella terms as they include several species grouped under a single nomenclature. Not only are these labels misleading for consumers, but they may also hinder conservation efforts as there no way of recording which actual species are sold. These terms are also misleading as they closely resemble fish names. If consumers aren't aware that these names refer to shark, they might mistakenly assume it is a type of fish.

Over half of (53.7%, n = 29) threatened elasmobranch species were sold using umbrella terms, with 9.26% (n = 5) species listed in either CITES Appendix II or III. Using umbrella terms that include both sharks and rays has real implications for their conservation as threatened and/or prohibited species can easily be concealed under these labels making it difficult to enforce and regulate the trade of threatened elasmobranchs.

Although mislabelling is prevalent in the elasmobranch trade, there is a lack of consistency in describing the types of mislabelling that take place. Terms are often used interchangeably despite describing different practices. The varying national and international policies concerning seafood labelling and traceability further complicates efforts to define and track species mislabelling. Characterisation of mislabelling is often done at the study-level which hinders efforts to monitor mislabelling trends. Studies should aim to standardise mislabelling terminology to get a better understanding of the broader mislabelling trends for elasmobranchs. provide insights into the motivation behind mislabelling (Donlan and Luque, 2019).

#### 2.3.5.3 Conservation Implications of Mislabelling

Blue sharks are the most targeted species for the global trade of sharks as well as in fisheries (Agyeman et al., 2021). Once processed, blue and silky sharks have white meat (muscle tissue) which may resemble fish species such as cod, marlin, and even tuna species as indicated in this review, or other Carcharhinid sharks (Pardo et al., 2018; Agyeman et al., 2021; Alvarenga et al., 2021a; French and Wainwright, 2022), and thus allows them to be traded under these false labels and using generic labels such as "ocean fish" and "white fish" (French and Wainwright, 2022).

Demands for fins may drive the sale of shark meat as many countries have adopted legislation that require the fins, body, and head of sharks to be attached when landed (Oceana, 2010, 2022; Passantino, 2014; Ferretti et al., 2020; Niedermüller et al., 2021). Cardeñosa et al., (2018) found that some of the most traded species in the fin trade were two CITES listed hammerheads, silky sharks, blue sharks, and black tip shark species complex (*Carcharhinus limbatus, C. tilstoni, C. leidon* and *C. amblyrhynchoides*). Fins belonging to the threatened hammerheads (great, smooth and scalloped) are some of the most valuable and sought after fins in the global fin trade due to their large size (Abercrombie et al., 2005a; Cardeñosa et al., 2018), and may explain why they are amongst the most mislabelled species.

Studies reporting on mislabelling in elasmobranchs often had differing sampling designs, frequently reporting brief sampling methodologies. Many studies focusssed specifcally on detecting mislabelling which can overestimate true mislabelling rates. Sampling was typicaly limited in both scope and duration, often carrying out "convenience sampling" which may be due to the high costs, time requirements and need for specialised facilities and expertise assocatied with genetic identification techniques (Frézal and Leblois, 2008;Farrokhi and Mahmoudi-Hamidabad, 2012; Luque and Donlan, 2019). Whilst this type of sampling has its benefits, for example being cost effective and speeding up data collection, it introduces difficult-to-measure biases (Luque and Donlan, 2019). As a result, reported mislabelling rates only present a snapshot and may not be rrepresentative of broader trends. Additionally, there may be sampling bias favoring countries with greater resources and genetic exepertise.

As elasmobranchs are facing increasing global concern, the limited availability of papers reporting on the issue of mislabelling could be concerning. Nevertheless, this study did not include 'Gray Literature' such as fishing data, export and import data, studies carried out by NGOs, governmental institutions, and other research bodies which may provide additional scope if scrutinised at the same standards as peer review. The studies included in this review were limited by the search terms used. As a result, mislabelling studies outside these parameters may have been missed. Therefore, one of the main limitations of this review is the scope of the search terms employed. A recommendation for future studies is to broaden the search terms and databases used, incorporating a wider range of synonyms and related terms. This approach would help encompass a more comprehensive range of mislabelling studies, addressing the limitations of the current review.

## 2.3.5.4 The Hidden Costs of Mislabelling

Mislabelling may expose consumers to products containing high concentrations of pollutants without their knowledge potentially putting them at risk

of serious health concerns (Taylor et al., 2014; Sandoval-Herrera et al., 2016; Marchetti et al., 2020; Tiktak et al., 2020). Health concerns may include supressed reproductive development effects, immunosuppression, neurological effects, endocrine disruption and oxidative stress (Chien et al., 2002; Sundeland, 2007; Mohammed Abdul et al., 2015; Nadal et al., 2016). Large-bodied sharks, often pelagic, tend to have higher body mass as well as higher trophic positions which makes them more susceptible to bioaccumulation of toxic pollutants (Lee et al., 2015; Sandoval-Herrera et al., 2016; Tiktak et al., 2020). Most elasmobranch species found mislabelled in this review belonged to species of higher trophic levels, such as the blue shark, smooth hammerhead, and silky sharks. Carcharhiniformes have been found with an average of 1.43 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (wet weight) of mercury in their muscle tissue which greatly exceeds the recommended weekly intake as set by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (EPA, 2020; Tiktak et al., 2020). It is critical that elasmobranch products are accurately tracked and correctly labelled due to the human risk associated with the consumption of elasmobranch and elasmobranch related products.

Mislabelling was found all across Europe indicating a serious concern as many elasmobranchs in the Mediterranean Sea and Atlantic Ocean are facing serious population declines, with commonly traded and mislabelled species such as spiny dogfish, silky sharks, smooth hammerhead sharks, shortfin mako shark listed as either Vulnerable or Endangered by the IUCN Red List (IUCN, 2023). In 2011 and 2014 the EU implemented stricter regulations (legislation n1169/2011 and 1379/2013 and) for seafood labelling which require essential information such as commercial and scientific names and that products have clear, comprehensible and legible labels

(FAO, 2011, 2014; Hobbs et al., 2019). These regulations have been put in place to ensure that consumers are appropriately informed about the food they are eating and can make informed choices regarding their health, as well as economic, environmental, social and ethical considerations (FAO, 2011). Although these measures have been put in place, our findings support the current literature that broad terms, such as umbrella terms, are used for seafood product descriptions in the EU, creating ambiguity around products sold, especially in the case of elasmobranchs (FAO, 2014).

Consumers frequently receive deceptive, incomplete, confusing, or misleading information about the seafood they buy and consume. This widespread problem of seafood substitution, mislabelling and lack of transparency is prevalent globally (Luque and Donlan, 2019). Mislabelling can lead to the misidentification of threatened species, for example if threatened species are sold as non-threatened species, it can undermine conservation efforts by misrepresenting the true number of threatened species caught or sold. There is no way of monitoring which species are being caught or sold and may therefore lead to the overexploitation of threatened species as true numbers are concealed. This leads to inaccurate data for conservation planning/priorities and can lead to mismanagement of elasmobranch populations, as it may give an inaccurate indication of population health. Mislabelled species might allow bypassing laws that are aimed at conserving species, particularly with certain elasmobranch species that share similar morphological and genetic characteristics. Hopefully with the addition of Carcharhinid sharks, and hammerhead sharks to CITES, it may protect these species from being mislabelled, i.e., under umbrella terms, in the future.

Seafood mislabelling is a global concern, and solving this crisis requires a collaborative and joint global approach. This means improved transparency throughout the supply chain, stricter regulations, further national and international protection of threatened elasmobranch species, advanced technological and genetic tracing methods, and international collaboration to not only protect human health but also ensure the safeguarding of elasmobranch populations.

## 2.4 Conclusion and Future Recommendations

This review identified 84 relevant studies published between 1970 and 2023 focussed on four different aspects of the elasmobranch trade, namely species identification, mislabelling, bycatch, and elasmobranch landings. Studies were widespread, though mainly carried out in Europe, Asia, or South America leaving areas such as Africa unstudied despite being fishing and elasmobranch hotspots (Lucifora et al., 2011; Queiroz et al., 2019).

Forty-two percent of elasmobranch species were classified as threatened by the IUCN Red List, and 10.6% of species were listed in one of the CITES Appendices. Although batoids were reported on across a wide range of studies, there is still a larger focus on sharks. Our study supports the literature that many threatened, and CITES-listed species make up the international elasmobranch trade, with Carcharhinidae being the most represented family, making up 52.9% of the total numbers. As this review covers the global elasmobranch trade, we can start to understand the severity of the situation with such a significant percentage of threatened species present in the elasmobranch trade.

Thirty-eight studies were identified that covered aspects of mislabelling. This review has uncovered a wide array of elasmobranch species being sold, and

mislabelled, among many which were threatened and CITES-listed. The most frequently mislabelled species were blue sharks, smooth hammerhead shark and small-spotted catshark. The species sold most frequently under umbrella terms, were blue sharks, scalloped hammerhead sharks and silky sharks. Most of these are listed in CITES Appendix II, and catogorised as either EN, VU or CR by the IUCN Red List. Given the global reach of seafood markets and supply chains, this review offers an initial insight into our understanding of mislabelling and the use of umbrella terms in elasmobranchs globally.

We have found significant gaps in our understanding of mislabelling of elasmobranchs within the seafood trade, especially concerning where mislabelling is taking place and what is being mislabelled (i.e., species, products etc.). Monitoring the trade of elasmobranch and elasmobranch-related products is difficult as not only are there challenges in identifying species, but many species are incorrectly labelled with the use of umbrella labels across the world. Labels frequently used included umbrella terms such as 'Cação' for a wide range of threatened and non-threatened elasmobranch species, or incorrect labels such as fish species or other elasmobranchs. Mislabelling poses a significant threat to elasmobranch populations as one third of all chondrichthyans are currently threatened with extinction. The high level of mislabelling observed across the studies highlights the need for further research being carried out, as well as the necessity for better regulations aimed at seafood traceability and sustainability. As mislabelling was found across the world, tackling this issue requires a global approach. Additional conservation measures and protection are needed within countries but also internationally.

It is important to note that this review is based on peer-reviewed literature and therefore only represents a snapshot of mislabelling in elasmobranchs. Carrying out studies such as these are not only time consuming, but they are also resource intensive and expensive, especially as they rely on specialist facilities (i.e., laboratories for genetic analysis) and trained experts to carry out the research. Therefore, studies may be biased towards countries where most research has been carried out not where the most mislabelling has taken place.

With elasmobranchs facing increasing global concern, the limited availability of papers reporting on the issue of mislabelling as well as species identification is worrying. Our understanding of the global elasmobranch trade and the true extent of mislabelling remains limited. Although there is a positive movement in the conservation and management of elasmobranchs, stronger enforcement measures are required as well as the development of faster, cheaper, and more portable DNA identification techniques (Tiktak et al., 2024). This will help international treaties such as CITES or other regulatory bodies monitor the trade in elasmobranch products, such as meat that are not easy to identify down to species, and tackle emerging tactics used by illegal actors to disguise fins and meat from threatened and CITES-listed species by changing their morphology or mislabelling them (Cardeñosa et al., 2017).

Future studies should aim to focus their research on areas that have received less attention as well as important fisheries and trading hubs for elasmobranchs. This is crucial as in combination with other threats from pollutant exposure, overfishing, habitat loss and climate change, we may see the loss of threatened species entirely. The loss of elasmobranchs from our seas will not only have devastating impacts on marine ecosystems but also the livelihoods of many people that depend on fishing and/or tourism as a source of income and sustenance. Despite this concern, there has been a positive movement in the management and conservation of elasmobranchs, with the addition of more species to CITES and many countries adopting national shark action plans. More countries are promoting eco-tourism where tourists can swim, dive or snorkel with elasmobranchs all over the world. This growing interest in elasmobranch conservation will help encourage the involvement of government bodies, increasing the funding and capacity building opportunities aimed at protecting threatened elasmobranch species.

#### 2.5 References

Abdullah, A., Nurilmala, M., Muttaqin, E. and Yulianto, I. (2020) 'DNA-based analysis of Shark products sold on the Indonesian market towards seafood labelling accuracy program.' *Biodiversitas*, 21(4) pp. 1385–1390.

Abercrombie, D. L., Clarke, S. C. and Shivji, M. S. (2005a) 'Global-scale genetic identification of hammerhead sharks: Application to assessment of the international fin trade and law enforcement.' *Conservation Genetics*, 6 pp. 775–788.

Aguilar, F., Chalén, X. and Villón, C. (2005) 'Plan De Acción Nacional De Tiburones.' Instituto Nacional de Pesca p. 23.

Agyeman, N. A., Blanco-Fernandez, C., Steinhaussen, S. L., Garcia-Vazquez, E. and Machado-Schiaffino, G. (2021) 'Illegal, unreported, and unregulated fisheries threatening shark conservation in african waters revealed from high levels of shark mislabelling in ghana.' *Genes*, 12(7).

Alfaro-Cordova, E., Cañedo-Apolaya, R. M., Alfaro-Shigueto, J., Mangel, J. C., Carrillo, O., Sarmiento, D. and Velez-Zuazo, X. (2023) 'Is what you see what you get? Assessing external morphological identification of devil rays captured by small-scale fisheries in northern Peru using DNA barcoding.' *Conservation Genetics Resources*, 15(3) pp. 97– 103.

Almerón-Souza, F., Sperb, C., Castilho, C. L., Figueiredo, P. I. C. C., Gonçalves, L. T., Machado, R., Oliveira, L. R., Valiati, V. H. and Fagundes, N. J. R. (2018) 'Molecular identification of shark meat from local markets in Southern Brazil based on DNA barcoding: Evidence for mislabeling and trade of endangered species.' *Frontiers in Genetics*, 9 pp. 1–12.

Alvarenga, M., Solé-Cava, A. M. and Henning, F. (2021a) 'What's in a name?

Phylogenetic species identification reveals extensive trade of endangered guitarfishes and sharks.' *Biological Conservation*, 257.

Alvarenga, M., Solé-Cava, A. M. and Henning, F. (2021b) 'What's in a name? Phylogenetic species identification reveals extensive trade of endangered guitarfishes and sharks.' *Biological Conservation*, 257 p. 109119.

Appleyard, S. A., White, W. T., Vieira, S. and Sabub, B. (2018) 'Artisanal shark fishing in Milne Bay Province, Papua New Guinea: Biomass estimation from genetically identified shark and ray fins.' *Scientific Reports*, 8(1) pp. 1–2.

Bakiu, R. and Soldo, A. (2021) 'Shark capture by commercial fisheries in Albania.' Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 37(4) pp. 607–610.

Barbuto, M., Galimberti, A., Ferri, E., Labra, M., Malandra, R., Galli, P. and Casiraghi, M. (2010) 'DNA barcoding reveals fraudulent substitutions in shark seafood products: The Italian case of "palombo" (Mustelus spp.).' *Food Research International*, 43(1) pp. 376–381.

Belcher, C. N. and Jennings, C. A. (2011) 'Identification and evaluation of shark bycatch in Georgia's commercial shrimp trawl fishery with implications for management.' *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, 18 pp. 104–112.

Bénard-Capelle, J., Guillonneau, V., Nouvian, C., Fournier, N., Le Loët, K. and Dettai, A. (2015) 'Fish mislabelling in France: substitution rates and retail types.' *PeerJ*, 2 p. e714.

Bernardo, C., Corrêa de Lima Adachi, A. M., Paes da Cruz, V., Foresti, F., Loose, R. H. and Bornatowski, H. (2020) 'The label "Cação" is a shark or a ray and can be a threatened species! Elasmobranch trade in Southern Brazil unveiled by DNA barcoding.' *Marine Policy*, 116.

Bessudo, S., Soler, G. A., Klimley, P. A., Ketchum, J., Arauz, R., Hearn, A., Guzmán, A. and Calmettes, B. (2016) 'Vertical and Horizontal Movements of the Scalloped Hammerhead Shark (Sphyrna Lewini) Around Malpelo and Cocos Islands (Tropical Eastern Pacific) Using Satellite Telemetry.' *Bulletin of Marine and Coastal Research*, 40 pp. 91–106.

Bezerra, M. F., Lacerda, L. D. and Lai, C. T. (2019) 'Trace metals and persistent organic pollutants contamination in batoids (Chondrichthyes: Batoidea): A systematic review.' *Environmental Pollution*, 248 pp. 684–695.

Bornatowski, H., Braga, R. R., Kalinowski, C. and Vitule, J. R. S. (2015) "Buying a pig in a poke": The problem of elasmobranch meat consumption in southern Brazil.' *Ethnobiology Letters*, 6(1) pp. 196–202.

Bravo-Ormaza, E., Arauz, R., Bessudo, S., Hearn, A., Klimley, A. P., Ladino-Archila, F., López-Macías, J., Steiner, T. and Peñaherrera-Palma, C. (2023) 'Scalloped hammerhead shark Sphyrna lewini relative abundance comparison in three offshore marine protected areas of the Eastern Tropical Pacific.' *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 106(8) pp. 1767–1784.

Bunholi, I. V., Ferrette, B. L. da S., De Biasi, J. B., Magalhães, C. de O., Rotundo, M. M., Oliveira, C., Foresti, F. and Mendonça, F. F. (2018) 'The fishing and illegal trade of the angelshark: DNA barcoding against misleading identifications.' *Fisheries Research*, 206 pp. 193–197.

Caballero, S., Cardeñosa, D., Soler, G. and Hyde, J. (2012) 'Application of multiplex PCR approaches for shark molecular identification: Feasibility and applications for fisheries management and conservation in the Eastern Tropical Pacific.' *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 12 pp. 233–237.

Calegari, B. B., Reis, R. E. and Alho, C. S. (2019) 'DNA barcode identification of shark fillet reveals fraudulent commerce in Brazil.' *Journal of the Canadian Society of Forensic Science*, 52(2) pp. 95–100.

Canfield, S. J. and Bowen, B. W. (2021) 'A rapid PCR-RFLP method for species identification of the eastern Pacific horn sharks (genus Heterodontus).' *Conservation Genetics Resources*, 13(79) pp. 79–84.

Cardeñosa, D. (2019) 'Genetic identification of threatened shark species in pet food and beauty care products.' *Conservation Genetics*, 20 pp. 1383–1387.

Cardeñosa, D., Fields, A., Abercrombie, D., Feldheim, K., Shea, S. K. H. and Chapman, D. D. (2017) 'A multiplex PCR mini-barcode assay to identify processed shark products in the global trade.' *Plos One*, 12(10) p. e0185368.

Cardeñosa, D., Fields, A. T., Babcock, E. A., Zhang, H., Feldheim, K., Shea, S. K. H., Fischer, G. A. and Chapman, D. D. (2018) 'CITES-listed sharks remain among the top species in the contemporary fin trade.' *Conservation Letters*, 11 pp. 1–7.

Cardeñosa, D., Fields, A. T., Shea, S. K. H., Feldheim, K. A. and Chapman, D. D. (2021) 'Relative contribution to the shark fin trade of Indo-Pacific and Eastern Pacific pelagic thresher sharks.' *Animal Conservation*, 24(3) pp. 367–372.

Cardeñosa, D., Shea, S. K., Zhang, H., Fischer, G. A., Simpfendorfer, C. A. and Chapman, D. D. (2022) 'Two thirds of species in a global shark fin trade hub are threatened with extinction: Conservation potential of international trade regulations for coastal sharks.' *Conservation Letters*, 15(5) p. e12910.

Cartamil, D., Santana-Morales, O., Escobedo-Olvera, M., Kacev, D., Castillo-Geniz, L., Graham, J. B., Rubin, R. D. and Sosa-Nishizaki, O. (2011) 'The artisanal elasmobranch fishery of the Pacific coast of Baja California, Mexico.' *Fisheries Research*, 108(2–3) pp. 393–403.

Castillo, C. G. A. and Morales, O. S. (2021) 'Charecterization of the artisanal elasmobranch fisheries off the Pacific coast of Guatemala.' *Fishery Bulletin*, 119 pp. 3–9.

Cheng, J., Schloerke, B. and Karambelkar, B. (2023) 'leaflet: Create Interactive Web Maps with the JavaScript "Leaflet" Library.' R.

Chien, L. C., Hung, T. C., Choang, K. Y., Yeh, C. Y., Meng, P. J., Shieh, M. J. and Han, B. C. (2002) 'Daily intake of TBT, Cu, Zn, Cd and As for fishermen in Taiwan.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 285(1–3) pp. 177–185.

Choo, M. Y., Choy, C. P. P., Ip, Y. C. A., Rao, M. and Huang, D. (2021) 'Diversity and origins of giant guitarfish and wedgefish products in Singapore.' *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 31(7) pp. 1636–1649.

CITES (2022) 'Nineteenth meeting of the Conference of the Parties Panama City (Panama)'. *CITES*. [Online] [Accessed 27th of September 2024] https://cites.org/eng/cop19

CITES (2023) 'Sharks and Rays.' *CITES*. [Online] [Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2024] <u>https://cites.org/eng/prog/shark</u>

Clarke, S.C., Magnussen, J. E., Abercrombie, D. L., McAllister, M. K. and Shivji, M. S. (2006a) 'Identification of Shark Species Composition and Proportion in the Hong Kong Shark Fin Market Based on Molecular Genetics and Trade Records.' *Conservation Biology*, 20(1) pp. 201–211.

Clarke, S.C., McAllister, M. K., Milner-Gulland, E. J., Kirkwood, G. P., Michielsens, C. G. J. J., Agnew, D. J., Pikitch, E. K., Nakano, H. and Shivji, M. S. (2006b) 'Global estimates of shark catches using trade records from commercial markets.' *Ecology Letters*, 9(10)

pp. 1115–1126.

Clarke, T. M., Espinoza, M., Ahrens, R. and Wehrtmann, I. S. (2016) 'Elasmobranch bycatch associated with the shrimp trawl fishery off the pacific coast of Costa Rica, Central America.' *Fishery Bulletin*, 114(1) pp. 1–17.

Clavareau, L., Sabarros, P. S., Escalle, L., Bach, P., Abascal, F. J., Lopez, J., Murua, H., Pascual Alayon, P. J., Ramos, M. L., Ruiz, J. and Mérigot, B. (2020) 'Elasmobranch bycatch distributions and mortality: Insights from the European tropical tuna purseseine fishery.' *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 24 p. e01211.

Corrigan, S., Maisano Delser, P., Eddy, C., Duffy, C., Yang, L., Li, C., Bazinet, A. L., Mona, S. and Naylor, G. J. P. (2017) 'Historical introgression drives pervasive mitochondrial admixture between two species of pelagic sharks.' *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 110 pp. 122–126.

Cruz, V. P. da, Adachi, A. M. C. de L., Ribeiro, G. da S., Oliveira, P. H. de, Oliveira, C. de, Oriano Junior, R., Freitas, R. H. A. de and Foresti, F. (2021) 'A shot in the dark for conservation: Evidence of illegal commerce in endemic and threatened species of elasmobranch at a public fish market in southern Brazil.' *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 31(7) pp. 1650–1659.

Cundy, M. E., Santana-Garcon, J., McLennan, A. G., Ayad, M. E., Bayer, P. E., Cooper, M., Corrigan, S., Harrison, E. and Wilcox, C. (2023) 'Seafood label quality and mislabelling rates hamper consumer choices for sustainability in Australia.' *Scientific Reports*, 13(1) pp. 1–17.

Davis, B. and Worm, B. (2013) 'The International Plan of Action for Sharks: How does national implementation measure up?' *Marine Policy*, 38 pp. 312–320.

Delpiani, G., Delpiani, S. M., Deli Antoni, M. Y., Covatti Ale, M., Fischer, L., Lucifora, L.

O. and Díaz de Astarloa, J. M. (2020) 'Are we sure we eat what we buy? Fish mislabelling in Buenos Aires province, the largest sea food market in Argentina.' *Fisheries Research*, 221 p. 105373.

Dent, F. and Clarke, S. (2015) 'State of the global market for shark products.' FAO Fishereis and Aquaculture Technical paper No. 590. p. 187.

Domingues, R. R., de Amorim, A. F. and Hilsdorf, A. W. S. S. (2013) 'Genetic identification of Carcharhinus sharks from the southwest Atlantic Ocean (Chondrichthyes: Carcharhiniformes).' *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 29(4) pp. 738–742.

Domingues, R. R., Bunholi, I. V., Pinhal, D., Antunes, A. and Mendonça, F. F. (2021) 'From molecule to conservation: DNA-based methods to overcome frontiers in the shark and ray fin trade.' *Conservation Genetics Resources*, 13(2) pp. 231–247.

Donlan, C. J. and Luque, G. M. (2019) 'Exploring the causes of seafood fraud: A metaanalysis on mislabeling and price.' *Marine Policy*, 100 pp. 258–264.

Dudgeon, C. L., Blower, D. C., Broderick, D., Giles, J. L., Holmes, B. J., Kashiwagi, T., Kr??ck, N. C., Morgan, J. A. T., Tillett, B. J. and Ovenden, J. R. (2012) 'A review of the application of molecular genetics for fisheries management and conservation of sharks and rays.' *Journal of Fish Biology*, 80(5) pp. 1789–1843.

Dufflocq, P., Larraín, M. A. and Araneda, C. (2022) 'Species substitution and mislabeling in the swordfish (Xiphias gladius) market in Santiago, Chile: Implications in shark conservation.' *Food Control*, 133(September 2021).

Dulvy, N. K., Baum, J. K., Clarke, S., Compagno, L. J. V., Cortés, E., Domingo, A., Fordham, S., Fowler, S., Francis, M. P., Gibson, C., Martínez, J., Musick, J. A., Soldo, A., Stevens, J. D. and Valenti, S. (2008) 'You can swim but you can't hide: The global status and conservation of oceanic pelagic sharks and rays.' Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems.

Dulvy, N. K., Fowler, S. L., Musick, J. A., Cavanagh, R. D., Kyne, P. M., Harrison, L. R., Carlson, J. K., Davidson, L. N. k, Fordham, S. V., Francis, M. P., Pollock, C. M., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Burgess, G. H., Carpenter, K. E., Compagno, L. J. v, Ebert, D. A., Gibson, C., Heupel, M. R., Livingstone, S. R., Sanciangco, J. C., Stevens, J. D., Valenti, S. and White, W. T. (2014) 'Extinction risk and conservation of the world's sharks and rays.' *eLife*, 3.

Dulvy, N. K., Pacoureau, N., Rigby, C. L., Pollom, R. A., Jabado, R. W., Ebert, D. A., Finucci, B., Pollock, C. M., Cheok, J., Derrick, D. H., Herman, K. B., Sherman, C. S., VanderWright, W. J., Lawson, J. M., Walls, R. H. L., Carlson, J. K., Charvet, P., Bineesh, K. K., Fernando, D., Ralph, G. M., Matsushiba, J. H., Hilton-Taylor, C., Fordham, S. V. and Simpfendorfer, C. A. (2021) 'Overfishing drives over one-third of all sharks and rays toward a global extinction crisis.' *Current Biology*, 31(21) pp. 4773-4787.e8.

Duncan, K. M., Martin, A. P., Bowen, B. W. and De Couet, H. G. (2006) 'Global phylogeography of the scalloped hammerhead shark (Sphyrna lewini).' *Molecular Ecology*, 15(8) pp. 2239–2251.

Durmaz, A. A., Karaca, E., Demkow, U., Toruner, G., Schoumans, J. and Cogulu, O. (2015) 'Evolution of genetic techniques: Past, present, and beyond.' *BioMed Research International*, 2015.

EPA (2020) EPA-FDA Fish Advice: Technical Information. [Online] [Accessed on 10th February 2020] <u>https://www.epa.gov/fish-tech/epa-fda-fish-advice-technical-</u> information

EPA (2022) Technical Information on Development of FDA/EPA Advice about Eating

Fish for Those Who Might Become or Are Pregnant or Breastfeeding and Children Ages 1-11 Years. US Food and Drug Administration (US EPA).

FAO (2011) REGULATION (EU) No 1169/2011 OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL. Official Journal of the European Union. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO).

FAO (2014) COMMISSION IMPLEMENTING REGULATION (EU) No 1418/2013 of 17 December 2013 concerning production and marketing plans pursuant to Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on the common organisation of the markets in fishery and aquaculture pr. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO).

Farrokhi, F. and Mahmoudi-Hamidabad, A. (2012) 'Rethinking convenience sampling: Defining quality criteria.' *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 2(4) pp. 784–792. Feitosa, L. M., Martins, A. P. B., Giarrizzo, T., Macedo, W., Monteiro, I. L., Gemaque, R., Nunes, J. L. S., Gomes, F., Schneider, H., Sampaio, I., Souza, R., Sales, J. B., Rodrigues-Filho, L. F., Tchaicka, L. and Carvalho-Costa, L. F. (2018) 'DNA-based identification reveals illegal trade of threatened shark species in a global elasmobranch conservation hotspot.' *Scientific Reports*, 8 p. 3347.

Fernando, D., Bown, R. M. K., Tanna, A., Gobiraj, R., Ralicki, H., Jockusch, E. L., Ebert, D. A., Jensen, K. and Caira, J. N. (2019) 'New insights into the identities of the elasmobranch fauna of Sri Lanka.' *Zootaxa*, 4585(2) pp. 201–238.

Ferretti, F., Jacoby, D. M. P., Pfleger, M. O., White, T. D., Dent, F., Micheli, F., Rosenberg, A. A., Crowder, L. B. and Block, B. A. (2020) 'Shark fin trade bans and sustainable shark fisheries,' pp. 1–6.

Ferrito, V., Raffa, A., Rossitto, L., Federico, C., Saccone, S. and Pappalardo, A. M. (2019) 'Swordfish or shark slice? A rapid response by CoiBar–RFLP.' *Foods*, 8(11).

Fields, A. T., Abercrombie, D. L., Eng, R., Feldheim, K. and Chapman, D. D. (2015) 'A novel mini-DNA barcoding assay to identify processed fins from internationally protected shark species.' *PLoS ONE*, 10(2) p. e0114844.

Fields, A. T., Fischer, G. A., Shea, S. K. H., Zhang, H., Abercrombie, D. L., Feldheim, K. A., Babcock, E. A. and Chapman, D. D. (2017) 'Species composition of the international shark fin trade assessed through a retail-market survey in Hong Kong.' *Conservation Biology*, 7(1) pp. 1–47.

Fields, A. T., Fischer, G. A., Shea, S. K. H., Zhang, H., Abercrombie, D. L., Feldheim, K. A., Babcock, E. A. and Chapman, D. D. (2018) 'Species composition of the international shark fin trade assessed through a retail-market survey in Hong Kong.' *Conservation Biology*, 32(2) pp. 376–389.

Filonzi, L., Ardenghi, A., Rontani, P. M., Voccia, A., Ferrari, C., Papa, R., Bellin, N. and Nonnis Marzano, F. (2023) 'Molecular Barcoding: A Tool to Guarantee Correct Seafood Labelling and Quality and Preserve the Conservation of Endangered Species.' *Foods*, 12(12).

Filonzi, L., Vaghi, M., Ardenghi, A., Rontani, P. M., Voccia, A. and Nonnis Marzano, F. (2021) 'Efficiency of dna mini-barcoding to assess mislabeling in commercial fish products in italy: An overview of the last decade.' *Foods*, 10(7).

French, I. and Wainwright, B. J. (2022) 'DNA Barcoding Identifies Endangered Sharks in Pet Food Sold in Singapore.' *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 9 p. 836941.

Frézal, L. and Leblois, R. (2008) 'Four years of DNA barcoding: Current advances and prospects.' *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 8(5) pp. 727–736.

Gallagher, A. J. and Klimley, A. P. (2018) 'The biology and conservation status of the large hammerhead shark complex: the great, scalloped, and smooth hammerheads.'

*Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 28(4) pp. 777–794.

Garcia-Vazquez, E., Perez, J., Martinez, J. L., Pardiñas, A. F., Lopez, B., Karaiskou, N., Casa, M. F., MacHado-Schiaffino, G. and Triantafyllidis, A. (2011) 'High level of mislabeling in Spanish and Greek hake markets suggests the fraudulent introduction of African species.' *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59(2) pp. 475–480.

Garcia Barcia, L., Argiro, J., Babcock, E. A., Cai, Y., Shea, S. K. H. and Chapman, D. D. (2020) 'Mercury and arsenic in processed fins from nine of the most traded shark species in the Hong Kong and China dried seafood markets: The potential health risks of shark fin soup.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 157 p. 111281.

García, V. B., Lucifora, L. O. and Myers, R. A. (2008) 'The importance of habitat and life history to extinction risk in sharks, skates, rays and chimaeras.' *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 275(1630) pp. 83–89.

Giagkazoglou, Z., Griffiths, A. M., Imsiridou, A., Chatzispyrou, A., Touloumis, K., Hebb, J. L., Mylona, D., Malamidou, A. K., Apostolidi, E. D., Batjakas, I. and Gubili, C. (2022) 'Flying under the radar: DNA barcoding ray wings in Greece detects protected species and umbrella labelling terms.' *Food Control*, 132 p. 108517.

Giovos, I., Aga Spyridopoulou, R. N., Doumpas, N., Glaus, K., Kleitou, P., Kazlari, Z., Katsada, D., Loukovitis, D., Mantzouni, I., Papapetrou, M., Papastamatiou, Y. P. and Moutopoulos, D. K. (2021) 'Approaching the "real" state of elasmobranch fisheries and trade: A case study from the Mediterranean.' *Ocean and Coastal Management*, 211 p. 105743.

Giovos, I., Arculeo, M., Doumpas, N., Katsada, D., Maximiadi, M., Mitsou, E., Paravas, V., Naasan Aga-Spyridopoulou, R., Stoilas, V. O., Tiralongo, F., Tsamadias, I., Vecchioni, L. and Moutopoulos, D. K. (2020) 'Assessing multiple sources of data to detect illegal

fishing, trade and mislabelling of elasmobranchs in Greek markets.' *Marine Policy*, 112 p. 103730.

Griffiths, A. M., Miller, D. D., Egan, A., Fox, J., Greenfield, A. and Mariani, S. (2013) 'DNA barcoding unveils skate (Chondrichthyes: Rajidae) species diversity in "ray" products sold across Ireland and the UK.' *PeerJ*, 1 p. e129.

Haas, A. R., Fedler, T. and Brooks, E. J. (2017) 'The contemporary economic value of elasmobranchs in The Bahamas: Reaping the rewards of 25 years of stewardship and conservation.' *Biological Conservation*, 207 pp. 55–63.

Hacohen-Domené, A., Polanco-Vásquez, F., Estupiñan-Montaño, C. and Graham, R. T. (2020) 'Description and characterization of the artisanal elasmobranch fishery on Guatemala's Caribbean coast.' *PLoS ONE*, 15(1) pp. 1–19.

Haque, A. B., Das, S. A. and Biswas, A. R. (2019) 'DNA analysis of elasmobranch products originating from Bangladesh reveals unregulated elasmobranch fishery and trade on species of global conservation concern.' *PLoS ONE*, 14(9) pp. 1–14.

Hara, Y., Yamaguchi, K., Onimaru, K., Kadota, M., Koyanagi, M., Keeley, S. D., Tatsumi, K., Tanaka, K., Motone, F., Kageyama, Y., Nozu, R., Adachi, N., Nishimura, O., Nakagawa, R., Tanegashima, C., Kiyatake, I., Matsumoto, R., Murakumo, K., Nishida, K., Terakita, A., Kuratani, S., Sato, K., Hyodo, S. and Kuraku, S. (2018) 'Shark genomes provide insights into elasmobranch evolution and the origin of vertebrates.' *Nature Ecology and Evolution*, 2(11).

Hayes, C. G., Jiao, Y. and Cortés, E. (2009) 'Stock Assessment of Scalloped Hammerheads in the Western North Atlantic Ocean and Gulf of Mexico.' *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, 29(5) pp. 1406–1417.

Hellberg, R. S., Isaacs, R. B. and Hernandez, E. L. (2019) 'Identification of shark species

in commercial products using DNA barcoding.' *Fisheries Research*. Elsevier, 210 pp. 81–88.

Hernández, S., Haye, P. a and Acuña, E. (2009) 'Morphological identification of fins of the main traded pelagic shark species in Chile: Blue shark (Prionace glauca Linnaeus), shortfin mako (Isurus oxyrhinchus Rafinesque), and porbeagle (Lamna nasus Bonnaterre) .' *Gayana*, 73(1) pp. 33–39.

Heupel, M. R., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Espinoza, M., Smoothey, A. F., Tobin, A. and Peddemors, V. (2015) 'Conservation challenges of sharks with continental scale migrations.' *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 2 pp. 1–7.

Hobbs, C. A. D., Potts, R. W. A., Bjerregaard Walsh, M., Usher, J. and Griffiths, A. M. (2019) 'Using DNA Barcoding to Investigate Patterns of Species Utilisation in UK Shark Products Reveals Threatened Species on Sale.' *Scientific Reports*, 9(1) pp. 1–10.

Holmes, B. H., Steinke, D. and Ward, R. D. (2009) 'Identification of shark and ray fins using DNA barcoding.' *Fisheries Research*, 95 pp. 280–288.

Van Houtan, K. S., Gagné, T. O., Reygondeau, G., Tanaka, K. R., Palumbi, S. R. and Jorgensen, S. J. (2020) 'Coastal sharks supply the global shark fin trade: Sourcing shark fins.' *Biology Letters*, 16 pp. 9–12.

IUCN (2023) *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species*. [Online] [Accessed on 22nd December 2023] <u>https://www.iucnredlist.org</u>

Jabado, R. W., Al Ghais, S. M., Hamza, W., Henderson, A. C., Spaet, J. L. Y., Shivji, M. S. and Hanner, R. H. (2015) 'The trade in sharks and their products in the United Arab Emirates.' *Biological Conservation*, 181 pp. 190–198.

Khalil, A. M., Gainsford, A. and van Herwerden, L. (2023) 'DNA barcoding of fresh seafood in Australian markets reveals misleading labelling and sale of endangered

species.' Journal of Fish Biology, 102(3) pp. 727–733.

Klangnurak, W., Arunrugstichai, S., Manopawitr, P. and Krajangdara, T. (2023) 'DNAbased species identification of shark fins traded in thai markets.' *Conservation Genetics*, 24(4) pp. 537–546.

Krishna Krishnamurthy, P. and Francis, R. A. (2012) 'A critical review on the utility of DNA barcoding in biodiversity conservation.' *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 21(8) pp. 1901–1919.

Kuguru, G., Maduna, S., da Silva, C., Gennari, E., Rhode, C. and Bester-van der Merwe, A. (2018) 'DNA barcoding of chondrichthyans in South African fisheries.' *Fisheries Research*, 206 pp. 292–295.

Lee, H. K., Jeong, Y., Lee, S., Jeong, W., Choy, E. J., Kang, C. K., Lee, W. C., Kim, S. J. and Moon, H. B. (2015) 'Persistent organochlorines in 13 shark species from offshore and coastal waters of Korea: Species-specific accumulation and contributing factors.' *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 115 pp. 195–202.

Liu, S. Y. V., Chan, C. L. C., Lin, O., Hu, C. S. and Chen, C. A. (2013) 'DNA barcoding of shark meats identify species composition and CITES-listed species from the markets in Taiwan.' *PLoS ONE*, 8(11) p. e79373.

Lucifora, L. O., García, V. B. and Worm, B. (2011) 'Global diversity hotspots and conservation priorities for sharks.' *PLoS ONE*.

Luque, G. M. and Donlan, C. J. (2019) 'The characterization of seafood mislabeling: A global meta-analysis.' *Biological Conservation*, 236 pp. 556–570.

Macbeth, W. G., Butcher, P. A., Collins, D., McGrath, S. P., Provost, S. C., Bowling, A. C., Geraghty, P. T. and Peddemors, V. M. (2018) 'Improving reliability of species identification and logbook catch reporting by commercial fishers in an Australian

demersal shark longline fishery.' *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, 25(3) pp. 186–202.

MacKeracher, T., Diedrich, A. and Simpfendorfer, C. A. (2019) 'Sharks, rays and marine protected areas: A critical evaluation of current perspectives.' *Fish and Fisheries*, 20(2) pp. 255–267.

Manojkumar, P. P., Ranjith, L. and Kanthan, K. P. (2019) 'Fishery and geospatial mapping of pelagic elasmobranchs from mechanised gillnetters of Tharuvaikulam, Thoothukudi, south-east coast of India.' *Indian Journal of Fisheries*, 66(1) pp. 17–25. Marchetti, P., Mottola, A., Piredda, R., Ciccarese, G. and Di Pinto, A. (2020) 'Determining the authenticity of shark meat products by DNA sequencing.' *Foods*, 9(1194) pp. 1–16.

Marín, A., Serna, J., Robles, C., Ramírez, B., Reyes-Flores, L. E., Zelada-Mázmela, E., Sotil, G. and Alfaro, R. (2018) *A glimpse into the genetic diversity of the Peruvian seafood sector: Unveiling species substitution, mislabeling and trade of threatened species. PLoS ONE.* 

Marra, N. J., Stanhope, M. J., Jue, N. K., Wang, M., Sun, Q., Bitar, P. P., Richards, V. P., Komissarov, A., Rayko, M., Kliver, S., Stanhope, B. J., Winkler, C., O'Brien, S. J., Antunes, A., Jorgensen, S. and Shivji, M. S. (2019) 'White shark genome reveals ancient elasmobranch adaptations associated with wound healing and the maintenance of genome stability.' *PNAS*, 116(10).

Martins, T., Santana, P., Lutz, Í., da Silva, R., Guimarães-Costa, A., Vallinoto, M., Sampaio, I. and Evangelista-Gomes, G. (2021) 'Intensive Commercialization of Endangered Sharks and Rays (Elasmobranchii) Along the Coastal Amazon as Revealed by DNA Barcode.' *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8 pp. 1–11.

Md-Zain, B. M., Abid-Kamal, S. N. A., Rahmanaifat, N., Abdul-Latiff, M. A. B., Abumohd-Hashim, Ampeng, A., Yaakop, S. and Samat, A. (2018) 'Molecular identification of shark fins in Malaysian Borneo's local markets.' *Biodiversitas*, 19(3) pp. 1035–1043.

Merten Cruz, M., Szynwelski, B. E. and Ochotorena de Freitas, T. R. (2021) 'Biodiversity on sale: The shark meat market threatens elasmobranchs in Brazil.' *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 31(12) pp. 3437–3450.

Mohammed Abdul, K. S., Jayasinghe, S. S., Chandana, E. P. S., Jayasumana, C. and De Silva, P. M. C. S. (2015) 'Arsenic and human health effects: A review.' *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 40(3) pp. 828–846.

Munguia-Vega, A., Terrazas-Tapia, R., Dominguez-Contreras, J. F., Reyna-Fabian, M. and Zapata-Morales, P. (2022) 'DNA barcoding reveals global and local influences on patterns of mislabeling and substitution in the trade of fish in Mexico.' *PLoS ONE*, 17(4) pp. 1–22.

Munguia-Vega, A., Weaver, A. H., Domínguez-Contreras, J. F. and Peckham, H. (2021) 'Multiple drivers behind mislabeling of fish from artisanal fisheries in La Paz, Mexico.' *PeerJ*, 9, p. e10750.

Muttaqin, E., Abdullah, A., Nurilmala, M., Ichsan, M., Simeone, B. M., Yulianto, I. and Booth, H. (2019) 'DNA-barcoding as molecular marker for seafood forensics: Species identification of locally consumed shark fish products in the world's largest shark fishery.' *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 278(1).

Nachtigall, P. G., Rodrigues-Filho, L. F. S., Sodré, D. C. A., Vallinoto, M. and Pinhal, D. (2017) 'A multiplex PCR approach for the molecular identification and conservation of the Critically endangered daggernose shark.' *Endangered Species Research*, 32 pp.

Nadal, M., Rovira, J., Díaz-Ferrero, J., Schuhmacher, M. and Domingo, J. L. (2016) 'Human exposure to environmental pollutants after a tire landfill fire in Spain: Health risks.' *Environment International*, 97.

Neo, S., Kibat, C. and Wainwright, B. J. (2022) 'Seafood mislabelling in Singapore.' *Food Control*. Elsevier Ltd, 135 p. 108821.

Niedermeier, K., Affenzeller, M. and Tribsch, A. (2023) 'COI-Barcoding evidences mislabelling and the use of endangered species in German shark products' pp. 275–285.

Niedermüller, S., Ainsworth, G. B., de Juan, S., Garcia, R., Ospina-Alvarez, A., Pita, P. and Villasante, S. (2021) *Shark and ray global trade meat network: A deep dive into a global affair.* World Wildlife Fund (WWF) report. Available at:

https://sharks.panda.org/images/downloads/392/WWF MMI Global shark ray

meat trade report 2021 lowres.pdf

O'Bryhim, J. R., Parsons, E. C. M. and Lance, S. L. (2017) 'Forensic species identification of elasmobranch products sold in Costa Rican markets.' *Fisheries Research*, 186 pp. 144–150.

Oceana (2010) The International Trade of Shark Fins : endangering shark populations worldwide. Traffic: UK.

Oceana (2022) Historic legilsated passed in December 2022 banned the buying and selling of shark fins in the U.S., thereby removing the U.S. from the global shark fin trade. Oceana. [Online] [Accessed on 2nd January 2024] <u>https://usa.oceana.org/our-campaigns/ending-the-shark-fin-trade/</u>

Pacoureau, N., Rigby, C. L., Kyne, P. M., Sherley, R. B., Winker, H., Carlson, J. K.,

Fordham, S. V., Barreto, R., Fernando, D., Francis, M. P., Jabado, R. W., Herman, K. B., Liu, K. M., Marshall, A. D., Pollom, R. A., Romanov, E. V., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Yin, J. S., Kindsvater, H. K. and Dulvy, N. K. (2021) 'Half a century of global decline in oceanic sharks and rays.' *Nature*, 589(7843) pp. 567–571.

Page, M. J., McKenzie, J. E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T. C., Mulrow, C. D., Shamseer, L., Tetzlaff, J. M., Akl, E. A., Brennan, S. E., Chou, R., Glanville, J., Grimshaw, J. M., Hróbjartsson, A., Lalu, M. M., Li, T., Loder, E. W., Mayo-Wilson, E., McDonald, S., McGuinness, L. A., Stewart, L. A., Thomas, J., Tricco, A. C., Welch, V. A., Whiting, P. and Moher, D. (2021) 'The PRISMA 2020 statement: An updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews.' *The BMJ*, 372(71).

Pardo, M. Á. and Jiménez, E. (2020) 'DNA barcoding revealing seafood mislabeling in food services from Spain.' *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*. Elsevier, 91 p. 103521.

Pardo, M. Á., Jiménez, E., Viðarsson, J. R., Ólafsson, K., Ólafsdóttir, G., Daníelsdóttir, A. K. and Pérez-Villareal, B. (2018) 'DNA barcoding revealing mislabeling of seafood in European mass caterings.' *Food Control*, 92 pp. 7–16.

Passantino, A. (2014) 'The EU shark finning ban at the beginning of the new millennium: the legal framework.' *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 71(3) pp. 429–434. Pazartzi, T., Siaperopoulou, S., Gubili, C., Maradidou, S., Loukovitis, D., Chatzispyrou, A., Griffiths, A. M., Minos, G. and Imsiridou, A. (2019) 'High levels of mislabeling in shark meat – Investigating patterns of species utilization with DNA barcoding in Greek retailers.' *Food Control*, 98 pp. 179–186.

Pazmiño, D. A., van Herderden, L., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Junge, C., Donnellan, S. C., Hoyos-Padilla, E. M., Duffy, C. A. J., Huveneers, C., Gillanders, B. M., Butcher, P. A. and Maes, G. E. (2019) 'Introgressive hybridisation between two widespread sharks in the east Pacific region.' *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 136 pp. 119–127.

Pearce, J., Fraser, M. W., Sequeira, A. M. M. and Kaur, P. (2021) 'State of Shark and Ray Genomics in an Era of Extinction.' *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8 pp. 1–12.

Piovano, S. and Gilman, E. (2017) 'Elasmobranch captures in the Fijian pelagic longline fishery.' *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 27(2) pp. 381–393.

Pires, N. M., Garla, R. C. and Carvalho, A. R. (2016) 'The economic role of sharks in a major ecotourism archipelago in the western South Atlantic.' *Marine Policy*, 72 pp. 31–39.

Prasetyo, A. P., Murray, J. M., Kurniawan, M. F. A. K., Sales, N. G., McDevitt, A. D. and Mariani, S. (2023) 'Shark-dust: Application of high-throughput DNA sequencing of processing residues for trade monitoring of threatened sharks and rays.' *Conservation Letters*, pp. 1–10.

Queiroz, N., Humphries, N. E., Couto, A., Vedor, M., da Costa, I., Sequeira, A. M. M.,
Mucientes, G., Santos, A. M., Abascal, F. J., Abercrombie, D. L., Abrantes, K., Acuña-Marrero, D., Afonso, A. S., Afonso, P., Anders, D., Araujo, G., Arauz, R., Bach, P.,
Barnett, A., Bernal, D., Berumen, M. L., Bessudo Lion, S., Bezerra, N. P. A., Blaison, A.
V., Block, B. A., Bond, M. E., Bonfil, R., Bradford, R. W., Braun, C. D., Brooks, E. J.,
Brooks, A., Brown, J., Bruce, B. D., Byrne, M. E., Campana, S. E., Carlisle, A. B.,
Chapman, D. D., Chapple, T. K., Chisholm, J., Clarke, C. R., Clua, E. G., Cochran, J. E. M.,
Crochelet, E. C., Dagorn, L., Daly, R., Cortés, D. D., Doyle, T. K., Drew, M., Duffy, C. A.
J., Erikson, T., Espinoza, E., Ferreira, L. C., Ferretti, F., Filmalter, J. D., Fischer, G. C.,
Fitzpatrick, R., Fontes, J., Forget, F., Fowler, M., Francis, M. P., Gallagher, A. J., Gennari,
E., Goldsworthy, S. D., Gollock, M. J., Green, J. R., Gustafson, J. A., Guttridge, T. L., Guzman, H. M., Hammerschlag, N., Harman, L., Hazin, F. H. V., Heard, M., Hearn, A. R., Holdsworth, J. C., Holmes, B. J., Howey, L. A., Hoyos, M., Hueter, R. E., Hussey, N. E., Huveneers, C., Irion, D. T., Jacoby, D. M. P., Jewell, O. J. D., Johnson, R., Jordan, L. K. B., Jorgensen, S. J., Joyce, W., Keating Daly, C. A., Ketchum, J. T., Klimley, A. P., Kock, A. A., Koen, P., Ladino, F., Lana, F. O., Lea, J. S. E., Llewellyn, F., Lyon, W. S., MacDonnell, A., Macena, B. C. L., Marshall, H., McAllister, J. D., McAuley, R., Meÿer, M. A., Morris, J. J., Nelson, E. R., Papastamatiou, Y. P., Patterson, T. A., Peñaherrera-Palma, C., Pepperell, J. G., Pierce, S. J., Poisson, F., Quintero, L. M., Richardson, A. J., Rogers, P. J., Rohner, C. A., Rowat, D. R. L., Samoilys, M., Semmens, J. M., Sheaves, M., Shillinger, G., Shivji, M., Singh, S., Skomal, G. B., Smale, M. J., Snyders, L. B., Soler, G., Soria, M., Stehfest, K. M., Stevens, J. D., Thorrold, S. R., Tolotti, M. T., Towner, A., Travassos, P., Tyminski, J. P., Vandeperre, F., Vaudo, J. J., Watanabe, Y. Y., Weber, S. B., Wetherbee, B. M., White, T. D., Williams, S., Zárate, P. M., Harcourt, R., Hays, G. C., Meekan, M. G., Thums, M., Irigoien, X., Eguiluz, V. M., Duarte, C. M., Sousa, L. L., Simpson, S. J., Southall, E. J. and Sims, D. W. (2019) 'Global spatial risk assessment of sharks under the footprint of fisheries.' Nature, 572(7770) pp. 461–466.

R Core Team. (2019) 'R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing.'

Ramirez-Amaro, S. R., Cartamil, D., Galvan-Magaña, F., Gonzalez-Barba, G., Graham, J. B., Carrera-Fernandez, M., Escobar-Sanchez, O., Sosa-Nishizaki, O. and Rochin-Alamillo, A. (2013) 'Artesanal de elasmobranquios en la costa Pacifico de Baja California Sur, México, implicaciones para su gestión.' *Scientia Marina*, 77(3) pp. 473– 487.

Rasmussen Hellberg, R. S. and Morrissey, M. T. (2011) 'Advances in DNA-based techniques for the detection of seafood species substitution on the commercial market.' *Journal of Laboratory Automation*, 16(4) pp. 308–321.

Rodrigues Filho, L. F. da S., Feitosa, L. M., Silva Nunes, J. L., Onodera Palmeira, A. R., Martins, A. P. B., Giarrizzo, T., Carvalho-Costa, L. F., Monteiro, I. L. P., Gemaque, R., Gomes, F., Souza, R. F. C., Sampaio, I. and Sales, J. B. de L. (2020) 'Molecular identification of ray species traded along the Brazilian Amazon coast.' *Fisheries Research*, 223 p. 105407.

Ryburn, S.J., Ballantine, W.M., Loncan, F.M., Manning, O.G., Alston, M.A., Steinwand, B. and Bruno, J.F., 2022. Public awareness of seafood mislabeling. *PeerJ*, *10*, p.e13486.

Sandoval-Herrera, N. I., Vargas-Soto, J. S., Espinoza, M., Clarke, T. M., Fisk, A. T. and Wehrtmann, I. S. (2016) 'Mercury levels in muscle tissue of four common elasmobranch species from the Pacific coast of Costa Rica, Central America.' *Regional Studies in Marine Science*, 3 pp. 254–261.

Sarmiento-Camacho, S., Valdez-Moreno, M. and Adamowicz, S. (2018) 'DNA barcode identification of commercial fish sold in Mexican markets.' *Genome*, 61(6) pp. 457–466.

Seah, Y. G., Kibat, C., Hew, S. and Wainwright, B. J. (2022) 'DNA barcoding of traded shark fins in Peninsular Malaysia.' *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 32(3) pp. 993–999.

Sebastian, H., Haye, P. A. and Shivji, M. S. (2008) 'Characterization of the pelagic shark-fin trade in north-central Chile by genetic identification and trader surveys.' *Journal of Fish Biology*, 73(10) pp. 2293–2304.

Sembiring, A., Pertiwi, N. P. D., Mahardini, A., Wulandari, R., Kurniasih, E. M., Kuncoro, A. W., Cahyani, N. K. D., Anggoro, A. W., Ulfa, M., Madduppa, H., Carpenter, K. E., Barber, P. H. and Mahardika, G. N. (2015) 'DNA barcoding reveals targeted fisheries for endangered sharks in Indonesia.' *Fisheries Research*, 164 pp. 130–134.

Sharrad, A. E., Reis-Santos, P., Austin, J. and Gillanders, B. M. (2023) 'Umbrella terms conceal the sale of threatened shark species: A DNA barcoding approach.' *Food Control*, 148 p. 109606.

Shea, S., Slee, B. and O'Toole, M. (2022) *Supply and demand : the EU' s role in the global shark trade*. Internation Fund for Animal Welfare: Brussels, Belgium.

Shivji, M., Clarke, S., Pank, M., Natanson, L., Kohler, N. and Stanhope, M. (2002) 'Genetic identification of pelagic shark body parts for conservation and trade monitoring.' *Conservation Biology*, 16(4) pp. 1036–1047.

Shivji, M. S., Chapman, D. D., Pikitch, E. K. and Raymond, P. W. (2005) 'Genetic profiling reveals illegal international trade in fins of the great white shark, Carcharodon carcharias.' *Conservation Genetics*, 6(6) pp. 1035–1039.

da Silva Ferrette, B. L., Domingues, R. R., Rotundo, M. M., Miranda, M. P., Bunholi, I. V., De Biasi, J. B., Oliveira, C., Foresti, F. and Mendonça, F. F. (2019) 'DNA barcode reveals the bycatch of endangered batoids species in the southwest Atlantic: Implications for sustainable fisheries management and conservation efforts.' *Genes*, 10(4) pp. 1–15.

da Silva Ferrette, B. L., Domingues, R. R., Ussami, L. H. F., Moraes, L., de Oliveira Magalhães, C., de Amorim, A. F., Hilsdorf, A. W. S., Oliveira, C., Foresti, F. and Mendonça, F. F. (2019) 'DNA-based species identification of shark finning seizures in Southwest Atlantic: implications for wildlife trade surveillance and law enforcement.'

*Biodiversity and Conservation*, 28 pp. 4007–4025.

da Silva Rodrigues-Filho, L. F., da Rocha, T. C., do Rêgo, P. S., Schneider, H., Sampaio, I. and Vallinoto, M. (2009) 'Identification and phylogenetic inferences on stocks of sharks affected by the fishing industry off the Northern coast of Brazil.' *Genetics and Molecular Biology*, 32(2) pp. 405–413.

Smith, P. J. and Benson, P. G. (2001) 'Biochemical identification of shark fins and fillets from the coastal fisheries in New Zealand.' *Fishery Bulletin*, 99 pp. 351–355.

Smith, W. D., Bizzarro, J. J. and Cailliet, G. M. (2009) 'The artisanal elasmobranch fishery on the east coast of Baja California, Mexico : Characteristics and management considerations La pesca artesanal de elasmobranquios en la costa oriental de Baja California, México : Características y consideraciones de ,' 35 pp. 209–236.

Spaet, J. L. Y. and Berumen, M. L. (2015) 'Fish market surveys indicate unsustainable elasmobranch fisheries in the Saudi Arabian Red Sea.' *Fisheries Research*, 161 pp. 356–364.

Sundeland, E. M. (2007) 'Mercury exposure from domestic and imported estuarine and marine fish in the U.S. seafood market.' *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 115(2) pp. 235–242.

Taylor, D. L., Kutil, N. J., Malek, A. J. and Collie, J. S. (2014) 'Mercury bioaccumulation in cartilaginous fishes from Southern New England coastal waters: Contamination from a trophic ecology and human health perspective.' *Marine Environmental Research*, 99 pp. 20–33.

Tiktak, G. P., Butcher, D., Lawrence, P. J., Norrey, J., Bradley, L., Shaw, K., Preziosi, R. and Megson, D. (2020) 'Are concentrations of pollutants in sharks, rays and skates (Elasmobranchii) a cause for concern? A systematic review.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*,

Tolotti, M. T., Filmalter, J. D., Bach, P., Travassos, P., Seret, B. and Dagorn, L. (2015) 'Banning is not enough: The complexities of oceanic shark management by tuna regional fisheries management organizations.' *Global Ecology and Conservation*. Elsevier B.V., 4 pp. 1–7.

Vella, A., Vella, N. and Schembri, S. (2017) 'A molecular approach towards taxonomic identification of elasmobranch species from Maltese fisheries landings.' *Marine Genomics*. pp. 0–1.

Villate-Moreno, M., Pollerspöck, J., Kremer-Obrock, F. and Straube, N. (2021) 'Molecular analyses of confiscated shark fins reveal shortcomings of CITES implementations in Germany.' *Conservation Science and Practice*, 3(6) pp. 1–8.

Vincent, A. C. J., Sadovy de Mitcheson, Y. J., Fowler, S. L. and Lieberman, S. (2014) 'The role of CITES in the conservation of marine fishes subject to international trade.' *Fish and Fisheries*, 15(4) pp. 563–592.

Wainwright, B. J., Ip, Y. C. A., Neo, M. L., Chang, J. J. M., Gan, C. Z., Clark-Shen, N., Huang, D. and Rao, M. (2018) 'DNA barcoding of traded shark fins, meat and mobulid gill plates in Singapore uncovers numerous threatened species.' *Conservation Genetics*, 19(6) pp. 1393–1399.

Wallace, L. J., Boilard, S. M. A. L., Eagle, S. H. C., Spall, J. L., Shokralla, S. and Hajibabaei,
M. (2012) 'DNA barcodes for everyday life: Routine authentication of Natural Health
Products.' *Food Research International*, 49(1) pp. 446–452.

Ward, R. D., Zemlak, T. S., Innes, B. H., Last, P. R., Paul, D., Hebert, N., Ward, R. D., Zemlak, T. S., Innes, B. H., Last, P. R. and Hebert, P. D. N. (2005) 'DNA barcoding Australia's fish species.' *Philosophical Transactions A*, 360(1462) pp. 1847–1857.

Widowati, T. A., Andayani, N. and Maryanto, A. E. (2020) 'Application of DNA barcoding to detect mislabeling of fish fillet products from Jabodetabek's market.' *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 538(1).

Zahn, R. J., Silva, A. J. and Hellberg, R. S. (2020) 'Development of a DNA minibarcoding protocol targeting COI for the identification of elasmobranch species in shark cartilage pills.' *Food Control*, 109 p. 106918.

Zeng, Y., Wu, Z., Zhang, C., Meng, Z., Jiang, Z. and Zhang, J. (2016) 'DNA barcoding of Mobulid Ray Gill Rakers for Implementing CITES on Elasmobranch in China.' *Scientific Reports*, 6 pp. 1–9.

Zhang, X., Armani, A., Wen, J., Giusti, A., Zhao, J. and Li, X. (2021) 'DNA barcoding for the identification of shark lips (鱼唇): A nationwide survey for analyzing a never investigated product in the Chinese market.' *Food Control*, 126 p. 108075.

# **Supplementary Information**

Table S 2-1 Studies included in the final review (n = 85) including the paper number, author (year), paper type, type of identification technique, country, and continent.

		Type of		
Author(s) and	Paper Type	Identification	Country or Place	Continent
Year		Technique		
	Species			
Smith and	Identification	<b>a</b>		
Benson, 2001	and	Other	New Zealand	Asia
	Mislabelling			
Shivji et al.,	Species	Genetic and		North
20005	Identification	Morphological	USA	America
Clarke et al.,	Species	Constic	Hong Kong	Acia
2006	Identification	Genetic		Asid
Silva	Species			
Rodrigues-	Identification	Genetic	Bazil	South
	and	Genetic	Dazii	America
Fino et al.,	Mislabelling			
Hernandez et	Species	Genetic	Chile	South
al., 2009	Identification	Genetic	Chile	America
Holmes et al.,	Species	Constic	Australia	Asia
2009	Identification	Genetic	Australia	ASId
Smith et al.,	Species			Central
2009	Identification	Morphological	Mexico	America
Rodrigues et	Species	Genetic	Brazil	South
al., 2009	Identification	Genetic Brazil		America

		Type of		
Author(s) and	Paper Type Identification Country or Place		Country or Place	Continent
Year		Technique		
Barbuto et al.,				South
2010	Mislabelling	Genetic	Mexico	America
Belcher and	Species			North
Jennings, 2011	Identification	Morphological	USA	America
Cartamil et al.,	Species	Marchalagiaal	Mavias	Central
2011	Identification	worphological	Mexico	America
Caballero et	Species	Constin	Colombia	South
al., 2012	Identification	Genetic	Genetic Colombia	
Wallace et al.,	Species	Constin		North
2018	Identification	Genetic	Canada and USA	America
	Species			
Griffiths et al.,	Identification	Genetic	Ireland and UK	Europe
2013	and			·
	Mislabelling			
liu et al 2013	Species	Genetic	Taiwan	Asia
	Identification	Genetic	Taiwan	AJIU
Domingues et	Species	Constin	Duratil	South
al., 2013	Identification	Genetic	Brazii	America
Ramirez-	Species			Central
Amaro, 2013	Identification	Morphological	Mexico	America
Bernard-				
Capelle et al.,	Mislabelling	Genetic	France	Europe
2015				

		Type of		
Author(s) and	Paper Type	Identification	Country or Place	Continent
Year		Tachpiqua	·	
		Technique		
Spaet and	Species	Constis and		
Berumen,	species	Genetic and	Saudi Arabia	Asia
2015	Identification	Morphological		
Jabado et al.,	Species	Genetic and	United Arab Emirates	Asia
2015	Identification	Morphological	onice Arab Emilates	Asia
Sembiring et	Species	Genetic and		
al 2015	Identification	Morphological	Indonesia	Asia
ai., 2015	luentineation	Morphological		
Zeng et al.,	Species	Constin	China	Asia
2016	Identification	Genetic China		Asia
Clarke et al.,	Species	Morphological	Costa Rica	Central
2016	Identification			America
Vella et al.,	Species			
2017	Identification	Genetic	Malta	Europe
Piovano et al.,	Species	Morphological	Fiii	
2017	Identification		·	
O'Bryhim et	Species			Central
al 2017	Identification	Genetic	Costa Rica	Amorica
al., 2017	Identification			America
Almeron-				South
Souza et al.,	Mislabelling	Genetic	Brazil	South
2019				America
	Spacias			
	species			
Marin et al.,	Identification	Genetic	Peru	South
2018	and			America
	Mislabelling			

		Type of			
Author(s) and	Paper Type	Identification	Country or Place	Continent	
Year		Technique			
			23 European countries		
			(Portugal, Spain, Finland,		
			Baltic States (Latvia, Lithuania		
			and Estonia), France, Sweden,		
Pardo et al.,	Mislabolling	Constic	Italy, Belgium, Netherlands,	Europo	
2018	Wisiabelling	Genetic	Denmark, Greece, Cyprus,	Luiope	
			United Kingdom, Ireland,		
			Germany, Slovenia, Czech		
			Republic and Romania),		
			Iceland)		
	Species				
Bunholi et al.,	Identification			South	
2018	and	Genetic	Brazil	America	
	Mislabelling				
	Species				
Sarmiento-	Identification			Central	
Camacho et	and	Genetic	Mexico	America	
al., 2018	Mislahelling				
	initia senting				
Christiansen	Mislabelling	Genetic	Belgium	Europe	
et al., 2018					
Appleyard et	Species	Corotia	Denue Maur Cuines	South	
al., 2018	Identification	Genetic	rapua new Guinea	America	
Feitosa et al.,	Species			South	
2018	Identification	Genetic	Brazil	America	

Author(a) and		Type of		
Author(s) and	Paper Type	Identification	Country or Place	Continent
Year		Technique		
		•		
Wainwright et	Species	Genetic	Singanore	Δsia
al., 2018	Identification	Genetic	этерріс	, 1514
Fields et al.,	Species			<b>.</b> .
2018	Identification	Genetic	Hong Kong	Asia
Md-Zain et al.,	Species			
2018	Identification	Genetic	Malaysia	Asia
Cardeñosa,				North
2019	Mislabelling	Genetic	USA	America
	Species			
Hellberg et al.,	Identification			North
2019	and	Genetic	USA	America
	Micloballing			
	wisiabeiiing			
Caelgri et al.,	Mislabelling	Genetic	Brazil	South
2019	Wisiabelling	Genetic	DI dzil	America
	Species			
Ferrito et al.,	Identification			
2019	and	Genetic	Italy	Europe
	Mislahelling			
	Wilsiddening			
Pazartzi et al.,	Mislabelling	Genetic	Greece	Europe
2019			0.0000	96
Ferrette et al.,	Species	<b>0</b>		South
2019b	Identification	Genetic	Brazil	America

		Type of		
Author(s) and	Paper Type	Identification	Country or Place	Continent
Year		Technique		
		rechnique		
Haque et al.,	Species	Constin	Dangladash	Acia
2019	Identification	Genetic	Bangiauesn	ASIa
Fernando et	Species			<b>.</b> .
al., 2019	Identification	Genetic	Sri Lanka	Asia
Manojkumar	Species			A .
et al., 2019	Identification	worphological	India	Asia
Ferette et al.,	Species			South
2019b	Identification	Genetic	Brazii	America
Muttagin et	Species	Constin	Indonesia	Acia
al., 2019	Identification	Genetic	indonesia	Asia
	Species			
Hobbs et al.,	Identification	Genetic	United Kingdom	Europe
2019	and			
	Mislabelling			
Marchetti et	Miclobolling	Constic	Italy	Europo
al., 2020	Wisiabeling	Genetic	italy	Luiope
Pardo and	Micloballing	Constic	Spain	Europo
Jimenez, 2020	wisiabeiiiig	Genetic	Spain	Europe
	Species			
Bernardo et	Identification			South
al., 2020	and	Genetic	Brazil	America
	Mislaholling			
	wisiabelling			

		Type of		
Author(s) and	Paper Type	Identification	Country or Place	Continent
Year				
		Technique		
Giovos et al.,			_	
2020	Mislabelling	Genetic	Greece	Europe
	Species			
Widowati et	Identification	Constin	Indonesia	A sis
al., 2020	and	Genetic	indonesia	ASId
	Mislabelling			
Delpiani et al.,				South
2020	Mislabelling	Genetic	Argentina	<b>.</b> .
2020				America
	Species			
Abdullah et	Identification			
al., 2020	and	Genetic Indonesia		Asia
	Mislabelling			
Rodrigues et	Species	Genetic	Brazil	South
al., 2020	Identification			America
Clavareau et	Species			
al., 2020	Identification	Morphological	Atlantic and Indian Ocean	Africa
Haconen-	Species			Central
Domene et al.,	Identification	Morphological	Guatemala	America
2020	identification			America
Bakiu et al.,	Species			
2020	Identification	Morphological	Albania	Europe
2020				
Alvarenga et	Mielekalliaa	Constis		South
al., 2021	iviisiabelling	Genetic	Brazil	America

		Type of		
Author(s) and	Paper Type	Identification	Country or Place	Continent
Year				
		Technique		
Zhang et al.,	Species	Constin	China	Asia
2021	Identification	Genetic	China	ASId
	Species			
Cruz et al.,	Identification	Genetic	Brazil	South
2021	and	Genetic	ם מבוו	America
	Mislabelling			
Agyeman et	Mislahalling	Constin	Chang and Spain	Africa and
al., 2021	Misiapeliing	Genetic	Ghana and Spain	Europe
Filonzi et al.,	Mislabelling	Genetic	Italy	Europe
2021			icary	Lurope
	Species			
Giovos et al.,	Identification		<u> </u>	-
2021	and	Genetic	Greece	Europe
	Mislabelling			
Munguia-Vega	Mislabelling	Genetic	Mexico	Central
et al., 2021	Wisidocining	Genetic	WEXEG	America
Martins et al.,	Species	Constic	Prozil	South
2021	Identification	Genetic	DI d211	America
da Cruz et al.,	Species	Constin	Drosil	South
2021	Identification	Genetic	Brazii	America
Castillo et al.,	Species	Morphological	Customala	Central
2021	Identification	iviorphological	Guatemala	America

Author(a) and		Type of		
Author(s) and	Paper Type	Identification	Country or Place	Continent
Year		Technique		
O'Bryhim et	Species	Constic	Costa Pica	Central
al., 2021	Identification	Genetic	Costa Nica	America
Villate-	Caracian			
Moreno et al.,	species	Genetic	Germany	Europe
2021	Identification			
2021				
Choo et al.,	Species	Constic	Singaporo	Acia
2021	Identification	Genetic	Singapore	Asia
FIEIICH anu				
Wainwright,	Mislabelling	Genetic	Singapore	Asia
2022				
Dufflocq et al.,				South
2022	Mislabelling	Genetic	Brazil	America
				America
	Species			
Giagkazoglou	Identification			
et al., 2022	and	Genetic	Greece	Europe
,	Mielekelling			
	wisiabeiling			
	Species			
Manguia et	Identification			Central
al., 2022	and	Genetic	Mexico	America
	Micloballing			
	wisiabeliing			
Seah et al.,	Species	Genetic	Malaysia	Acia
2022	Identification	Genetic	iviaidySid	ASId
Sharrad et al.,	Mislabelling	Genetic	Australia	Asia
2023	-			

Author(a) and		Type of			
Author(s) and	Paper Type	Identification	Country or Place	Continent	
Year		Tachairus			
		rechnique			
Cundy et al.,					
2023	Mislabelling	Genetic	Australia	Asia	
Niedermeier					
et al., 2023	Mislabelling	Genetic	Germany	Europe	
Khali et al.,					
2023	Mislabelling	Genetic	Australia	Asia	
Klangnurak et	Species				
al., 2023	Identification	Genetic	Inailand	Asia	
Alfaro-	Chasies	Constisand		South	
Cordova et al.,	species	Genetic and	Peru	South	
2023	Identification	Morphological		America	
Prasetyo et	Species				
al., 2023	Identification	Genetic	Indonesia	Asia	

Table S 2-2 Definitions of terms summarised in the review.

Term	Country	Definition	Author(s) (Year)
			(Giovos et al., 2020;
Raie	Greece	Ray	Giagkazoglou et al.,
			2022)
			(Giovos et al., 2020;
Salchi	Greece	Common name for	Giagkazoglou et al.,
		Batolus	2022)

			(Giovos et al., 2020;
Vatos	Greece	Raja species	Giagkazoglou et al.,
			2022)
			(Giovos et al., 2020;
Rinovatos	Greece	Guitarfish	Giagkazoglou et al.,
			2022)
			(Giovos et al., 2020;
Rina	Greece	Angel shark	Giagkazoglou et al.,
			2022)
			(Giovos et al., 2020;
Galeos	Greece	Mustelus spp.	Giagkazoglou et al.,
			2022)
			(Barbuto et al.,
Palombo	Italy Crain and Couth	M. asterias and M. mustelus	2010; Pazartzi et al.,
	America		2019; Marchetti et
			al., 2020; Dufflocq et
			al., 2022)
		When shark species	
Charly spacing	Various	were listed (this	This study
Shark species	various	includes full genus and	This study
		species)	
		When fish species were	
Fish species	Various	listed (this includes full	This study
		genus and species)	
Eich	Various	When the label stated	Various
FISH	Various	"fish"	various
Shark	Various	When the label stated	Various
Shark	Various	"shark"	various

Ray	Various	When the label stated "ray"	Various
Guitarfish	Various	When the label stated "guitarfish"	Various
Tuna species	Various	Tuna was the most common fish species, and often used as a label, therefore tuna	This study and others
		species were their own group	
Cação	Brazil	Elasmobranch	Various
Flake	Australia and United Kingdom	Shark fillets	(Cundy et al., 2023; Khalil et al., 2023; Sharrad et al., 2023)
Other	Various	Any other term used for elasmobranchs	Various
Dogfish, huss, rigg, rock eel, rock salmon	United Kingdom	Used to describe species of sharks in the genus <i>Galeorhinus</i> , <i>Mustelus</i> , <i>Scyliorhinus</i> , and two specific species of shark blackmouth catshark ( <i>Galeus</i> <i>melastomus</i> ) and spiny dogfish ( <i>Squalus</i> <i>acanthias</i> )	(Hobbs et al., 2019)

-

Technique	Count of Studies	
DNA Barcoding	64	
Morphological Identification	16	
Mini-DNA Barcoding	8	
DNA Polymorphism	1	
Isoelectric Focusing (Protein Fingerprints)	1	
No Data	4	

Table S 2-3 Different identification techniques used for identifying elasmobranchs in this review.

Note: Some studies may have used a combination of one or more techniques to identify species.

## **Chapter 3**

3 Genetic identification of three CITES-listed sharks (bigeye thresher, pelagic thresher and shortfin mako shark) using a paper-based Labon-a-Chip (LOC)

## **Chapter Overview**

This chapter presents the development of a paper-based Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC) to identify three CITES-listed sharks, bigeye thresher (*Alopias superciliosus*), pelagic thresher (*A. pelagicus*) and shortfin mako shark (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) in the field. The LOC gives a simple colour change when one of the target species is present. The LOC has the potential to act as a rapid in-field screening test.

This chapter is based in part on the original research of (Tiktak et al., 2024), which was published in PLOS ONE in 2024.

## **Funding Received**

This work was funded by Save our Seas Foundation (SOSF) Keystone Grant (434) and the National Geographic Society Grant (NGS-52807T-18).

## Author Contributions

As lead author I designed the project, collected the samples and data, carried out the method development in the lab as well as in the field, wrote, and submitted the manuscript. I supervised two final year A-level, and two BSc students that provided support with carrying out preliminary laboratory analyses. Other co-authors provided support with conceptualisation, applying for funding, data interpretation and revising the manuscript.

## 3.1. Abstract

Threatened shark species are caught in large numbers by artisanal and commercial fisheries and traded globally. Monitoring both which shark species are caught and sold in fisheries, and the export of CITES restricted products, are essential in reducing illegal fishing. Current methods for species identification rely on visual examination by experts or DNA barcoding techniques requiring specialist laboratory facilities. The need for specialist equipment and/or input from experts means many markets are currently not monitored. We have developed a paper-based Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC) to facilitate identification of three threatened and CITES-listed sharks, bigeye thresher (Alopias superciliosus), pelagic thresher (A. pelagicus) and shortfin mako shark (Isurus oxyrinchus) at market source. DNA was successfully extracted from shark meat and fin samples and combined with DNA amplification and visualisation using Loop Mediated Isothermal Amplification (LAMP) on the LOC resulting in the successful identification of the target species of sharks, with a working positive and negative control. The LOC provided a simple "yes" or "no" result via a colour change from pink to yellow when one of the target species was present. The LOC serves as proof-of-concept (PoC) for field-based species identification as it does not require specialist facilities. It can be used by non-scientifically trained personnel, especially in areas where there are suspected high frequencies of mislabelling or for the identification of dried shark fins in seizures. We anticipate that the development of the LOC has the potential to greatly facilitate the monitoring of the trade in shark and shark-related products.

## Keywords: Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC); CITES; Identification; Sharks; Portable; LAMP

#### 3.2. Introduction

Elasmobranchs (sharks, rays and skates) represent one of the most vulnerable taxa on the planet, where over one third of all elasmobranchs are threatened with extinction (Dulvy et al, 2021; IUCN, 2020). One of the primary drivers of decline across the group is overfishing. Some species have experienced population declines of over 90%, and without effective protection many species may go extinct (Dulvy et al., 2021; Pacoureau et al., 2021). Elasmobranchs often occupy tertiary positions in food chains as meso and apex predators, playing a crucial role in ecosystem functions (Abercrombie et al., 2005; Ferretti et al., 2010; Matich and Heithaus, 2014). Many elasmobranch species exhibit similar traits to that of large mammals with long gestation periods, slow maturity, and low fecundity, which makes them especially vulnerable to overexploitation (Dulvy et al., 2014; Sims, 2015).

Shark meat is traded and consumed globally, and there is growing concern for the widespread practice of species mislabelling and substitution, even in non-coastal regions where sharks may not be typically considered a primary food source (Almerón-Souza et al., 2018). Mislabelling and species substitution occurs when sharks are sold as other elasmobranch species or teleost fish, and consumers may thus be unaware that they are consuming shark products (Hobbs et al., 2019; Pazartzi et al., 2019). Mislabelling can pose a threat to the safety of consumers as they may be exposed to allergens, zoonotic diseases, and high concentrations of pollutants, without their knowledge (Spink and Moyer, 2011; Tiktak et al., 2020). Countries where mislabelling and species substitution has occurred include the UK, Brazil, Greece, Indonesia, Singapore, Taiwan, Peru, Italy, Spain, and the USA, amongst others

(Bornatowski et al., 2014; Almerón-Souza et al., 2018; Hellberg et al., 2019; Hobbs et al., 2019; Pazartzi et al., 2019; Bernardo et al., 2020).

Ecuador is home to a diverse array of shark species, but populations have experienced declines driven by the demand for shark fins and meat in international markets. They have also been traditionally sold and consumed in fish markets along the coast of Ecuador (Dominguez and Cobeña, 2019). In 2007, the Ecuadorian government prohibited shark finning and directed shark fisheries in the country to reduce the illegal trade but allowed for the sale of incidentally whole caught sharks (fins and body), except in the Galápagos Marine Reserve where sharks are fully protected (Executive Decree 486 of 2007, cited in Hearn et al., 2022). Additional efforts to protect sharks included prohibiting the fishing of hammerhead (Sphyrnidae) and oceanic whitetip sharks (Carcharhinus longimanus) (Ministerial Agreement MCEIP-SRP-2020-0084-A, cited in Hearn et al., 2002). Despite these efforts, over one million shark landings were reported in Ecuador between 2008 and 2012 with the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) listed shark species: bigeye thresher (Alopias superciliosus), pelagic thresher (A. pelagicus) and shortfin mako (Isurus oxyrinchus) sharks accounting for 61% of the total landings during that period (Martínez-Ortiz et al., 2015).

Current monitoring is primarily undertaken using DNA barcoding as a technique to identify sharks when they cannot be identified based on their morphological features. It may also be used to confirm visual identification, for example when shark fins have been processed and dried (Ward et al., 2005; Clarke et al., 2006; Cardeñosa et al., 2017). Many studies use species-specific primers to perform polymerase chain

reaction (PCR)-based amplification of DNA from mitochondrial genes such as cytochrome b, cytochrome oxidase I (CO1), ITS2 and NADH2, and then visualised through gel electrophoresis and/or DNA sequencing (Shivij et al., 2002; Feitosa et al., 2008; Fields et al., 2015). More recently, Loop Mediated Isothermal Amplification (LAMP) has been demonstrated to amplify short DNA fragments from 12 CITES-listed shark species (But et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2021), not including shortfin mako shark. Although these genetic techniques have become increasingly popular over the past few decades, they remain time consuming and expensive, especially as they rely heavily on access to costly laboratory facilities, trained personnel, specialised field equipment, and even international export if they are sent to labs in other countries (Helmy et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2020). One example of shark identification in the field involves the use of a multiplex PCR mini-barcode assay that can identify processed shark products. The cost of each sample is reduced to \$1 by using a multiplex assay that can identify species rapidly (Cardeñosa et al., 2017). Nevertheless, this method still requires the use of trained personnel and specialistic equipment such as thermocyclers and sequencers. Developments in genetic techniques have allowed scientists to sequence DNA in the field, i.e., using a hand-held sequencing device such as the minION (Nanopore, UK) (Johri et al., 2019; Oxford Nanopore, 2023), nevertheless it costs approximately \$60 - \$80 USD per sample to run and requires considerable expertise (Zhang et al., 2020). Thus, these techniques may not be suitable for implementing in countries where control authorities have limited or no access to these technologies or technical expertise.

Miniaturised laboratory techniques are becoming increasing popular as they are often rapid, cost-effective, and portable (e.g., can be carried out in the field). One

example of these techniques is Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC) technology. The LOC incorporates several laboratory processes on a small device that is usually only a few square centimetres in size (Azizipour et al., 2020). LOCs are typically made of glass or polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS), though recent development in the field has incorporated the use of paper-based microfluidic chips which further decreases the cost of application and can be as low as \$0.01 per sample (Esfandyarpour et al., 2017; McNeill et al., 2021). LOCs have primarily been used for clinical diagnostics and biomedical research, for example glucose monitoring for diabetes, covid-19 detection, and HIV (Azizipour et al., 2020). Significant development in this field over the past 15 years has allowed for point-of-care (PoC) diagnostics, though there has been limited use of LOC technology in conservation (Wimbles et al., 2021).

We have developed a simple, on-site identification tool in the form of a LOC which can be easily deployed to monitor the trade of three CITES-listed sharks: bigeye thresher, pelagic thresher and shortfin mako belonging to the order Lamniformes. This study specifically aimed to 1) develop a field-based cell lysis and DNA extraction method that would be suitable for shark muscle and wet fin tissue samples; 2) design species-specific LAMP primers for the three CITES-listed sharks for visual identification; 3) combine the two previous steps, along with positive and negative controls, into an integrated paper-based LOC device; and 4) evaluate the applicability of the LOC device through proof-of-concept field testing and end-user workshops.

#### 3.2. Methods

#### 3.2.1. Sample Collection

For the initial development of the LOC, a total of 31 tissue samples were collected from 26 different species of sharks, rays and fish, and confirmed by Sanger Sequencing of the CO1 gene (see section 2.2. for further details). Eleven were collected from fishing ports and markets across three regions in Ecuador between June and July 2018 (Supplementary Information (SI); Table S 3-1). The sampling sites included Mercado de Mariscos Santa Rosa of Salinas in the province of Santa Elena (coordinates: 2° 13' 0" South, 80° 58' 0" West), Playita Mía in Manta, province of Manabí (coordinates: 0° 57' 10" South, 80° 48' 45" West) and Puerto Pesquero Artesanal de Esmeraldas situated in the province of Esmeraldas (coordinates: 0.9682° North, 79.6517° West) [CITES Permit: No. 18EC000020/VS]. One fin clip of whale shark (Rhincodon typus) was collected from the Galapágos Islands, Ecuador [CITES Permit: No. 18EC000020/VS], 17 tissue samples were also received from the USA [UK CITES No. GB040, and U.S.A. CITES No. US044], and opportunistic fin clips were taken from two species of shark from Sea Life Paris Aquarium. An additional 12 samples were collected from Ecuador between June and July 2018 (bigeye thresher shark, pelagic thresher shark, shortfin mako shark, and blue shark; n = 3 per species) for evaluation of the prototype LOC. These sharks were identified visually and were confirmed by LAMP. No live specimens were involved in the sample collection. All samples were stored in nucleic acid preservation (NAP) buffer, except for aquarium tissue samples which were stored in 95% ethanol. All samples were kept at room

temperature for short-term storage (2 months) and then at -20 °C for long-term storage.

#### 3.2.2. Confirmation of Species Identification

DNA was extracted from ~25 mg of tissue from the 26 different species of elasmobranchs and teleost fish (n = 31; Table S 3-1) using a Bioline ISOLATE II Genomic DNA Kit (Bioline, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions. In the final step of the kit-based extraction, samples were eluted with Nuclease-Free Water (Merck, Germany) in place of elution buffer to ensure compatibility with LAMP. DNA from these 26 species of elasmobranchs and teleost fish were used for validation of species identity for testing species-specific primers in LAMP (section 2.4).

Species identifications were confirmed via PCR and Sanger Sequencing. Fish primers FishF1: 5'-TCAACCAACCACAAAGACATTGGCAC-3' and FishR1: 5′ TAGACTTCTGGGTGGCCAAAGAATCA-3', were used to amplify ~655 bp of DNA from the CO1 region of the mitochondrial genome (Ward et al., 2005). PCR was performed in a total volume of 20  $\mu$ L, which included, 10  $\mu$ L of 2x MyTaq<sup>TM</sup> Red Mix (Bioline, UK), 0.4  $\mu$ L of both forward and reverse primers (20  $\mu$ M), 1  $\mu$ L of DNA (5 ng/ $\mu$ L), and 8.2 µL of Nuclease-Free Water (Merck, Germany). All PCR reactions were run with a negative control (no template DNA) and positive control (scalloped hammerhead). Gel electrophoresis prior to sequencing demonstrated a product size of approximately 650 bp in length. ExoSAP-IT<sup>™</sup> Express (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK) was used to treat PCR products prior to sequencing. Briefly 2 µL of ExoSAP-IT Express reagent was added to 5 µL of PCR product followed by incubation at 37°C for 4 minutes and another incubation period at 80°C for 1 minute.

Approximately 20 ng of DNA for both forward and reverse sequences were sent for Sanger Sequencing at the Medical Research Council Protein Phosphorylation and Ubiquitylation Unit (MRC PPU) (Dundee, Scotland) (Table S 3-1). Resulting sequences were confirmed by eye, trimmed for quality (~50 bp from 5' and 3' ends) and any residual primer sequences were removed. Forward and reverse sequences were then aligned in BioEdit v7.05 (Windows 95/98/NT) and a Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) (https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) was used to confirm species by comparing the sequences against all taxa in GenBank.

## 3.2.3. LOC: Loop Mediated Isothermal Amplification (LAMP)

## 3.2.3.1. Primer Design

PrimerExplorer V5 (http://primerexplorer.jp/lampv5e/index.html) was used to develop species-specific primers for three CITES-listed species of sharks: bigeye thresher, pelagic thresher and shortfin mako shark. Primers for bigeye thresher shark (KC204935) were developed from the ITS2 region. Primers for pelagic thresher (KF020876) and shortfin mako shark (MH760159) were developed based on the noncoding mitochondrial D-Loop region of the mitochondrial genome (Ardura et al., 2013) (Table 3-1; Table S 3-3). ITS2 and D-LOOP genes were chosen for primer development because of their high mutation rates and variation between species. ITS2 has been previously used to develop species-specific primers in sharks (Shivji et al., 2002), and therefore was chosen for the bigeye thresher shark. For the full primer development process see SI 3.

Primers were generated using the default settings in PrimerExplorer and for each primer sequence a BLAST search against all taxa in GenBank was performed.

Loop primers were developed for each species by putting the LAMP primers back into PrimerExplorer and automatically generating loop primer sets. Loop primer sequences were also run against all taxa in GenBank using BLAST. LAMP primers consist of a forward primer (F3), forward inner primer which is made up of F1c and F2 (FIP), a reverse primer (B3), reverse inner primer make up of B1c and F2 (BIP) and optional loop forward (LF) and/or reverse primers (LR).

## 3.2.3.2. Amplification Reaction

LAMP was performed in a total volume of 10 µL containing 3 µL of Nuclease-Free Water (Merck, Germany), 5 µL of WarmStart<sup>®</sup> Colorimetric LAMP Master Mix (NEB, UK), 1µL of primers FIP (0.8 µM), BIP (0.8 µM), F3 (0.2 µM), B3 (0.2 µM), LF (0.4 µM) and specific primers for the three sharks (bigeye thresher, pelagic thresher and shortfin mako shark; Table 3-1) or Lambda ( $\lambda$ ) LF and/or LR (0.4 µM), and 1 µL of DNA (approximately 5 ng/µL). Negative controls, containing no template DNA, were also prepared. LAMP primers for the positive control using  $\lambda$  DNA were obtained from Merck (Germany) and  $\lambda$  DNA was purchased from New England Biolabs (NEB, UK) (250 ng  $\lambda$  DNA, stored in 10mM Tris HCl pH 7.5, 10mM NaCl and 1mM EDTA). Five nanograms per microliter of  $\lambda$  DNA was used for the positive control LAMP reaction (Supplementary Information). Table 3-1. LAMP and loop primers for bigeye thresher shark (*Alopias superciliosus*), pelagic thresher shark (*A. pelagicus*) and shortfin mako shark (*Isurus oxyrinchus*).

Species	Primer Sequences (5'-3')		
Bigeye thresher shark	F3: TCCGGATGGTAGCCGTGG		
	B3: GGAAGGAGCCTCAACTCCAG		
	FIP: GGACCAAACCAGTCACTGCGTTCAGGTGCAGGCGTTACC		
	BIP: GCTGGTGGTGTGTTCGCTTTGGGCGTCAGCGCAGCCAA		
	LF: GCTCCGCTTCACCTCCTAC		
	LR: TGGCATTTCGGACGTGAGT		
Pelagic thresher shark	F3: ATTTGTGGCACTGCACTC		
	B3: CTCGGTGTCCCAGATCAG		
	FIP: GGTACATTCATTCTTGACGCGATTACTAATCCCCATTAATTGACCAG		
	BIP: CTCCCTTTTATGCCATTTTCGTCCAGTAATTGCTTCATCCCCG		
	LR: TTGATCGTCTCAAGATTTCTTGTCC		
Shortfin mako shark	F3: CCCCATTACTGTACTAATCACT		
	B3: GGGATTAATCGAGTACAGCG		
	FIP: GAGGGTGGAAGGAGTAATATGATGATTTCATTACACTCTATTCTTAGTCC		
	BIP: ATCTCTGTATATCTTATGCGGGCTCACAAATAGAGCAATTTTTTCCT		
	LR: GGTAAGAACATCACATCCCGC		

The mixture was incubated at 65 °C for 1 hour and then visualised on a 1.5% agarose gel, following electrophoresis, using a Biorad Gel Doc EQ system w/ Universal Hood II (UV transilluminator) (Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA). Successful amplification was indicated by a colour change (pink to yellow) and presence of bands on the gel.

## 3.2.3.3. Primer Specificity

To ensure amplification of the three target species of sharks, bigeye thresher, pelagic thresher, and shortfin mako shark, the species-specific primers (Table 3-1) were initially tested against DNA from target species (in triplicate) to confirm successful amplification. The specificity of the primers was then determined by LAMP amplification of 26 different species of elasmobranchs and fish previously confirmed by Sanger Sequencing (Section 3.2 and Table S 3-1). A DNA concentration of

approximately 5 ng/ $\mu$ L was used for all subsequent reactions. All reactions were performed in triplicate for each primer set and amplification was further confirmed by gel electrophoresis.

#### 3.2.4. LOC and LAMP Optimisation

#### 3.2.4.1. LOC Design & Fabrication

The LOC was designed to integrate DNA extraction, amplification and visualisation using LAMP. Method development and optimisation, including portable lysis and extraction for the LOC can be found in SI 2. The LOC incorporated three CITES-listed sharks namely bigeye thresher, pelagic thresher shark, and shortfin mako shark, as well as a negative and positive control using  $\lambda$  primers and DNA (DNA only for positive control). LOCs were created in Microsoft Word, and a wax design was printed onto Whatman Grade 1 filter paper (Fisher Scientific, UK) using a Xerox ColorQube 8580 Printer (Xerox, USA) to produce the design in Figure 3-1b. The printed template was then incubated at 130 °C for 3 minutes allowing the wax to melt. One Whatman<sup>®</sup> GC/F glass microfiber filters (6.4 mm in size; grade 1.2 µm) (Merck, Germany) was placed in-between the second (green) and third (orange) panel on the chip (panel 2 and 3) (Figure 3-1b & c), and five were placed on a separate plastic mould (Figure 3-1e, panel 6).

#### 3.2.4.2. LOC Standard Operating Procedure (SOP)

For lysis, approximately 25 mg of tissue from each of the above species (one species per chip) were added to 500  $\mu$ L of 5 M GuHCl and agitated using a pipette tip ("cutting"; mechanical lysis) (Figure 3-1a). The DNA solution was then left at room temperature for 15 minutes. Whilst the sample was lysing, a mastermix was made for

each of the sharks, the negative and positive  $\lambda$  control (enough for two reactions) which contained 2  $\mu$ L of species-specific primer, 10  $\mu$ L of WarmStart<sup>®</sup> Colorimetric LAMP Master Mix (NEB, UK), and eight microliters of Nuclease-Free Water (Merck, Germany) for the negative control (additional details on controls can be found in SI 2 and 5). Each solution was gently pipetted up and down to mix all the components and left on ice until used on the LOC.

Thirty microlitres of the lysed DNA solution was loaded onto the orange (3) panel (Figure 3-1c). Then 30  $\mu$ L of 70% ethanol was loaded onto the chip (panel 3 again), and once that was absorbed another 30  $\mu$ L was added. When the ethanol had dried completely (after ~30 seconds), the black waste panel (1) was discarded, and the orange (3) and green (2) (in this order) were placed over the purple (4) and blue (5) panel (Figure 3-1d). Whilst the ethanol was drying, the 3  $\mu$ L of  $\lambda$  DNA was added to the positive control mastermix and mixed by pipetting gently up and down.

The LOC was then re-folded and placed on top of the plastic mould that is stuck onto an adhesive Polyester PCR Sealing Film (Starlab, UK) containing the five filters. One hundred microliters of Nuclease-Free Water (Merck, Germany) was gently loaded onto the pink panel (3) to elute the DNA which travelled along the channels on the cross shaped purple panel (4) and into the four separate DNA amplification chambers on the blue tab (5) that sits on top of the plastic mould (Figure 3-1e, panel 6). Once the water had been fully absorbed by all four chambers, all paper panels were removed. Next, the LAMP mastermixes were loaded onto the corresponding chambers (6  $\mu$ L of either bigeye thresher, pelagic thresher, shortfin mako shark chambers, seven microliters for the  $\lambda$  positive control and 10  $\mu$ L for the negative control).

The plastic LOC was sealed together by folding the adhesive Polyester PCR Sealing Film (Starlab, UK). The LOC was then then placed onto a portable Miniature Incubator (TC-MIW) with a Temperature Controller (TC-1-100-1) (BioScience Tools, USA) for 30 minutes at 65 °C. Each of the chambers on the plastic mould contained the LAMP mix which turned from pink to yellow if the target species was present, a positive control was also included on the LOC to ensure that the set-up was working. A working LOC was considered if the positive control changed from pink to yellow, and the negative control stayed pink (see Figure S 3-10 for decision making flowchart). Colour changes of the three sharks was dependent on what species were used for the initial lysis step.



Figure 3-1. a) Overview of the procedure for cell lysis from a small piece of meat or wet fin sample taken from markets; b) Photograph showing the paper LOC design with five different coloured areas (panels) that was folded in a origami-style manner to enable different steps of the genetic analysis to be performed; c) Schematic showing the folding of the LOC for DNA binding and washing steps; d) Schematic showing the alternative folding of the LOC for DNA elution; e) Location of the five LAMP chambers for species-specific amplification, as well as positive and negative controls.

LOCs were tested in the lab on tissue belonging to each of the target species (bigeye thresher, pelagic thresher and shortfin mako shark) as well as one non-target species (blue shark, *Prionace glauca*). Blue shark was chosen as the non-target species as it is commonly found at the fish markets in Ecuador and is an important commercial species globally (Clarke et al., 2006; Martínez-Ortiz et al., 2015). The LOCs were tested  $\geq$  3 times per species, pictures were taken before and after to show the colour change from pink to yellow. Positive and negative controls were run on a thermocycler conjunctively to every two LOC's using the same mastermix with  $\lambda$  DNA (positive control only), H<sub>2</sub>O and  $\lambda$  primers.

## 3.2.4.3. Testing of Real-World Samples and Workshop

A small-scale preliminary test was carried out in Ecuador in 2022 on six LOCs namely two bigeye threshers, two pelagic threshers, and two shortfin mako sharks. These samples were collected opportunistically from markets in Santa Rosa and Manta, Ecuador.

A workshop about the LOC devices was conducted in Manta, Ecuador with 31 attendees from various departments across the Viceministerio de Acuacultura y Pesca. Participants were asked to complete a survey to gauge their experience both before and after the event. These findings were used to further optimise the LOC.

## 3.3. Results and Discussion

## 3.3.1. Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC): Lysis and Extraction

A LOC was designed to integrate field-based DNA extraction, amplification and visualisation using LAMP into single cost-effective system which could be employed by non-specialists to monitor the trade in sharks and shark products (see SI 2 for methods and SI 4 for lysis results).

## 3.3.1.1. Optimisation and Evaluation of Cell Lysis Techniques

Although molecular techniques are advancing rapidly and we are now able to amplify and sequence DNA in the field (e.g., MinION), there has been limited research on portable extraction techniques, including cell lysis (Kim et al., 2009). We have applied a lysis method that incorporates easy steps that can be carried out in the field by combining the use of a chaotropic salt (5 M GuHCl) with mechanical disruption in a single test tube (Figure S 3-1 and Figure S 3-2). This removed the need for common laboratory equipment (e.g., vortex, incubators, and centrifuges) and numerous steps
involving different chemicals (e.g., Proteinase K, lysis buffer 1 and 2). Despite the simpler, portable nature of the lysis method, it was still effective on complex samples, such as shark fin, which are made of cartilage with very little muscle tissue and a lot of collagen fibres making them rigid and tough (Wakeman and Corwin, 2014).

#### 3.3.1.2. Optimisation and Evaluation of Field-based DNA Extraction

We aimed to develop a portable extraction method that could produce high yields of DNA whilst also being simple, cost-effective, and rapid. The lysis method above using 5 M GuHCl was used to determine the capture efficiency of the GF/C filters on the LOC. The GF/C filter used per reaction had an average capture efficiency of 83.6% and the total amount that could be bound was 260 ng of DNA which is more than adequate for downstream application as LAMP only requires as little as six copies of DNA for successful amplification (Figure 3-2) (Notomi et al., 2000). The GF/C filters provide a straightforward and cost-effective method of capturing DNA on the LOC and offer versatility as the user can cut them into whatever shape or size necessary for DNA capture. (Minamoto et al., 2016).



Figure 3-2. DNA capture efficiency of Whatman<sup>©</sup> glass microfiber filters (GF/C). The DNA solution was made up to 25  $\mu$ L with 5M GuHCl in concentrations ranging from 8 to 64 ng/ $\mu$ L. The maximum retention of the GF/C filters were recorded.

Once bound, it was important to then wash the DNA to remove any impurities which may inhibit the subsequent LAMP reaction, and therefore a purity ( $A_{260}/A_{280}$ nm ratio) ranging between 1.7 and 2.0 (Promega UK, 2023) was required. The volume of ethanol loaded onto the LOC depended on tissue type, impurity levels and protein concentration. The optimal volume of ethanol required to remove most impurities from both fin and muscle tissue samples was 60 µL (Figure 3-3). At 70 µL the GF/C filter became oversaturated, and the LOC could not maintain its structural integrity. One hundred microliters of Nuclease-Free water were then needed to physically transfer the eluted DNA into the amplification chambers (Figure 3-1d & e).



Figure 3-3. DNA from fin and muscle tissue samples was purified using 70% ethanol in 5  $\mu$ L increments. The protein concentrations of the resulting samples were compared. The red dashed line indicates the plateau in protein concentration at 0.1 ng/ $\mu$ L when 60  $\mu$ L of ethanol is loaded onto the LOC.

# 3.3.2. LAMP

# 3.3.2.1. Primer Specificity

The specificity of the LAMP primers was tested against the target species, as well as 26 non-target species as listed in Table S 3-1. LAMP primers for all three sharks were specific, only amplifying DNA from the target species (see Figures S3 8 & S3 9 for colour change and gel electrophoresis results). The primers proved to be specific even when testing against closely related species such as the common thresher shark (*A. vulpinus*), great white shark (*Carcharodon carcharias*) and salmon shark (*Lamna* 

*ditropis*) which are in the same Order as the three target sharks, and the common thresher shark in the same genus as bigeye and pelagic thresher shark (*Alopias*) (Shimada, 2005; Vélez-Zuazo and Agnarsson, 2011).

Species identification is predominantly carried out using DNA barcodes that amplify specific regions of DNA (e.g CO1, Cytochrome B, NADH2) or limited nuclear genes (e.g., ITS2, 12S and 16S) between species. The LAMP primers developed here are designed to amplify only one species. The three sharks used in this study are very closely related to each other and to other sharks within their order (Lamniformes), and even sharks belonging to other orders (Shimada, 2005; Vélez-Zuazo and Agnarsson, 2011). Therefore, developing completely species-specific LAMP primers for additional species of sharks may prove challenging as DNA is highly conserved and mutation occurs at very slow rates in sharks (Martin et al., 1992).

# 3.3.2.2. Integrated LOC

#### 3.3.2.2.1. LOC Standard Operating Procedure (SOP)

The optimised lysis, extraction, and amplification (using LAMP) were combined on a LOC which were then tested against the three target species of sharks (bigeye thresher, pelagic thresher, and shortfin mako shark) and one non-target species of shark (blue shark) in the lab ( $n \ge 3$ ) (Figure S3 8 and S3 9). Results indicated successful amplification of each target species, namely pelagic thresher, bigeye thresher and shortfin mako shark. The controls that were incorporated on the chip also worked successfully, where there was amplification of the positive control and no amplification of the negative control. Example of the LOC results are shown in Figure 3-4 (full details can be found in Figure S 3 8). There were no instances of crosscontamination for the non-target blue shark (n = 4). For bigeye thresher and shortfin mako shark, one false negative was observed for each (Figure S3 9).

For our method development we incorporated the use of a portable miniaturised incubator (~\$1,500) for reliable results but for future applications of the LOC in the field any heating or incubating device (e.g., heating plate or hot water bath) could be used that can supply a constant temperature of 65°C for 30 to 60 mins. This operating system is much simpler than that required for PCR, which relies on complex temperature control for stages of denaturation, annealing and extension of DNA/RNA sequences. Although there are currently many methods of identifying shark products, for example visually using fin and meat guides (Hernández et al., 2018; Flores-Rivera et al., 2023) 3D fins with TRAFFIC (Bürgener et al., 2021), mini-DNA and DNA barcoding (Clarke et al., 2006; Cardeñosa et al., 2017, 2018), many of these techniques are costly, rely on trained personnel for visual identification of whole caught sharks or fins, laboratory facilities and experts to carry out genetic analysis or visual identification, or are time-consuming.



Figure 3-4. Schematic (*top panel*) and photographic (*bottom panel*) examples of LOC results showing amplification of target species (a) bigeye thresher shark (*Alopias superciliosus*), (b) pelagic thresher shark (*A. pelagicus*), and (c) shortfin mako shark (*Isurus oxyrinchus*), and no amplification of non-target species (d) blue shark (*Prionace glauca*).

## 3.3.2.2.2. Testing of Real-World Samples and Workshop

LOCs were initially tested in the field to identify shark species from six fresh muscle tissues of sharks landed at commercial fish markets in Ecuador. The LOCs were tested without the use of a laboratory or any laboratory equipment in a hotel room. Of the six LOCs, five worked successfully (one bigeye thresher shark and four shortfin mako sharks) and one failed due to a false negative. This demonstrates proof-ofconcept in the field but would require an increased number of tests to be carried out for validation. The key learnings from this field-study were how to store the LAMP mix during long-haul flights (>14 hrs) and in the field to ensure no CO<sub>2</sub> entered the vials, importance of the distance of the negative control chamber from the sample chamber, and drying time needed for the removal of contaminants step on the LOC (using 70% ethanol).

The LOC works as a screening test and therefore the cost per sample is less compared to PCR, £4.73 vs. £10.5 prior to Sanger Sequencing which will further increase the cost (Fields et al., 2017) (for further breakdown of cost see Figure S 3-11). The LOC is also rapid (less than an hour from extraction to visualisation), field-based and can be carried out by non-scientifically trained personnel. It is important to note that non-scientifically-personnel require some initial training prior to using of the LOC.

As the LOC works as a screening test, further laboratory analysis would be required to determine species identity to an accredited standard, for example relating to the handling of illegal products (e.g., dried fins from CITES-listed sharks). The LOC can reduce the number of samples that would further require downstream laboratory analysis and greatly reduces the cost as only a few samples need to be sequenced rather than all unknown samples. This is especially true in the case of high volumes of unidentified shark fins or unlabelled meat which can be expensive, approximately \$10 per sample. In 2019, one of the largest seizures was recorded to date in the Galápagos Marine Reserve, where an illegal shipping vessel contained over 7,600 sharks (Bonaccorso et al., 2021). The sample cost can be reduced to \$0.94 and can be done in <4 hours using Cardeñosa et al., (2018) multiplex real-time PCR assay, but this still requires a Real-Time PCR machine which may not be present in every lab and can be costly.

We carried out a workshop in Manta, Ecuador where ministerial officials (n = 31) were shown some genetic techniques and a demonstration on the use of the LOC. Of

151

the 31 ministerial officials who attended the LOC workshop, 18 had experience of carrying out species identification, with 22% having experience in visual identification, 22% in use of the genetic techniques and 38% with both. Over 80% of the participants had either worked with or confiscated shark products as part of their roles. Following the workshop, the participants knowledge of LOC technology increased from average of 1.88 (on a scale of 1 = nothing, 2 = very little, 3 = more or less, 4 = very good and, 5 = excellent) to 3.80. All participants (100%) responded positively that the LOC would be useful, highlighting benefits for identification of CITES-listed species in processed products where visual identification would not be possible and to verify exports at border control. Constructive feedback revolved around inclusion of additional CITES-listed species but not just restricted to sharks, e.g., mobula rays (Mobulidae), and further development on the SOP for the LOC.

#### 3.4. Conclusion

We present the first completely field-based technique in the form of a paperbased LOC that can used to identify threatened and CITES-listed species of sharks. Previous LOCs incorporate one or two stages of DNA extraction, amplification, and visualisation; we provide all three. LOC technology is still an up-and-coming field. Despite the 15 years of research, most of their applications have been on clinical diagnostics and biomedical research; there has been limited to no research on the use of LOC devices for conservation. There is still a great deal of uncertainty surrounding the techniques used, and therefore our LOC for identifying sharks is a proof-of-concept and can provide a screening of shark species detected but further validation is required. Whilst this work was carried out in Ecuador, the LOC can be applied to any market globally and further development could see the inclusion of other CITES-listed elasmobranchs or taxa entirely. The LOC provides us with the ability to identify sharks in the field without the use of expensive laboratory equipment and can distinguish between sharks, rays and fish, and identify the three CITES-listed sharks: bigeye thresher, pelagic thresher and shortfin mako shark.

Despite recent genetic advances in identifying sharks, there is still an urgent need to involve local stakeholders in the conservation of sharks. Attendees of the workshop reported that the LOC would be useful, in identifying processed products or at border control. Genetic tools should be available to non-specialists and people with limited access to expensive or specialised equipment, especially in countries where sharks are targeted the most, and where there are fewer regulations on the sale of shark and shark-related products.

#### 3.5. References

Abercrombie, D. L., Clarke, S. C. and Shivji, M. S. (2005) 'Global-scale genetic identification of hammerhead sharks: Application to assessment of the international fin trade and law enforcement.' *Conservation Genetics*, 6 pp. 775–788.

Almerón-Souza, F., Sperb, C., Castilho, C. L., Figueiredo, P. I. C. C., Gonçalves, L. T., Machado, R., Oliveira, L. R., Valiati, V. H. and Fagundes, N. J. R. (2018) 'Molecular identification of shark meat from local markets in Southern Brazil based on DNA barcoding: Evidence for mislabeling and trade of endangered species.' *Frontiers in Genetics*, 9 pp. 1–12.

Ardura, A., Planes, S. and Garcia-Vazquez, E. (2013) 'Applications of DNA barcoding to fish landings: Authentication and diversity assessment.' *ZooKeys*, 365 pp. 49–65.

Azizipour, N., Avazpour, R., Rosenzweig, D. H., Sawan, M. and Ajji, A. (2020) 'Evolution of biochip technology: A review from lab-on-a-chip to organ-on-a-chip.' *Micromachines*, 11(6) pp. 1–15.

Bernardo, C., Corr, A. M., Lima, D., Paes, V., Foresti, F., Loose, R. H. and Bornatowski, H. (2020) 'The label "Cação" is a shark or a ray and can be a threatened species! Elasmobranch trade in Southern Brazil unveiled by DNA barcoding.' 116.

Bonaccorso E., Ordóñez-Garza N., Pazmiño D. A., Hearn A., Páez-Rosas D., Cruz S., Muñoz-Pérez J. P., Espinoza E., Suárez J., Muñoz-Rosado L. D., Vizuete A., Chaves J. A., Torres M. L., Bustos W., Rueda D., Hirschfeld M., Guayasamin J. M. (2021) 'International fisheries threaten globally endangered sharks in the Eastern Tropical Pacific Ocean: the case of the Fu Yuan Yu Leng 999 reefer vessel seized within the Galápagos Marine Reserve'. *Scientific Reports*, 22; 11(1) p.14959.

Bornatowski, H., Braga, R. R. and Vitule, J. R. S. (2014) 'Threats to sharks in a

154

developing country: The need for effective and simple conservation measures.' *Natureza a Conservacao*, 12(1) pp. 11–18.

But, G. W. C., Wu, H. Y., Shao, K. T. and Shaw, P. C. (2020) 'Rapid detection of CITESlisted shark fin species by loop-mediated isothermal amplification assay with potential for field use.' *Scientific Reports*, 10(1) pp. 1–14.

Bürgener, M., Louw, S. and da Silva, C. (2021). '3D Printing of Pelagic Shark Fins for Use as a Training and Compliance Tool.'

Cardeñosa, D., Fields, A., Abercrombie, D., Feldheim, K., Shea, S. K. H. and Chapman, D. D. (2017) 'A multiplex PCR mini-barcode assay to identify processed shark products in the global trade.' *Plos One*, 12(10) p. e0185368.

Cardeñosa, D., Quinlan, J., Shea, K.H. and Chapman, D.D. (2018). 'Multiplex real-time PCR assay to detect illegal trade of CITES-listed shark species'. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1) p.16313.

Clarke, S. C., McAllister, M. K., Milner-Gulland, E. J., Kirkwood, G. P., Michielsens, C. G. J. J., Agnew, D. J., Pikitch, E. K., Nakano, H. and Shivji, M. S. (2006) 'Global estimates of shark catches using trade records from commercial markets.' *Ecology Letters*, 9(10) pp. 1115–1126.

Dominguez, C. and Cobeña, M. (2019) 'Estudio de comercialización de carne de tiburón en Ecuador, para entender las características específicas del mercado de carne de tiburón y sus subproductos en el país'.

Dulvy, N. K., Fowler, S. L., Musick, J. A., Cavanagh, R. D., Kyne, P. M., Harrison, L. R., Carlson, J. K., Davidson, L. N. k, Fordham, S. V., Francis, M. P., Pollock, C. M., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Burgess, G. H., Carpenter, K. E., Compagno, L. J. v, Ebert, D. A., Gibson, C., Heupel, M. R., Livingstone, S. R., Sanciangco, J. C., Stevens, J. D., Valenti, S. and White, W. T. (2014) 'Extinction risk and conservation of the world's sharks and rays.' *eLife*, 3.

Dulvy, N. K., Pacoureau, N., Rigby, C. L., Pollom, R. A., Jabado, R. W., Ebert, D. A., Finucci, B., Pollock, C. M., Cheok, J., Derrick, D. H., Herman, K. B., Sherman, C. S., VanderWright, W. J., Lawson, J. M., Walls, R. H. L., Carlson, J. K., Charvet, P., Bineesh, K. K., Fernando, D., Ralph, G. M., Matsushiba, J. H., Hilton-Taylor, C., Fordham, S. V. and Simpfendorfer, C. A. (2021) 'Overfishing drives over one-third of all sharks and rays toward a global extinction crisis.' *Current Biology*, 31(21) pp. 4773-4787.

Esfandyarpour, R., Didonato, M. J., Yang, Y., Durmus, N. G., Harris, J. S. and Davis, R. W. (2017) 'Multifunctional, inexpensive, and reusable nanoparticle-printed biochip for cell manipulation and diagnosis.' *PNAS*, 114(8) pp. e1306–e1315.

Feitosa, L.M., Martins, A.P.B., Giarrizzo, T., Macedo, W., Monteiro, I.L., Gemaque, R., Nunes, J.L.S., Gomes, F., Schneider, H., Sampaio, I. and Souza, R. (2018) 'DNA-based identification reveals illegal trade of threatened shark species in a global elasmobranch conservation hotspot.' *Scientific Reports*, 8(1) p. 3347.

Ferretti, F., Worm, B., Britten, G. L., Heithaus, M. R. and Lotze, H. K. (2010) 'Patterns and ecosystem consequences of shark declines in the ocean.' *Ecology Letters*, 13(8) pp. 1055–1071.

Fields, A. T., Abercrombie, D. L., Eng, R., Feldheim, K. and Chapman, D. D. (2015) 'A novel mini-DNA barcoding assay to identify processed fins from internationally protected shark species.' *PLoS ONE*, 10(2) p. e0114844.

Flores-Rivera, G., Tigrero-Gonzales, W., Bravo-Vasquez, K., Zambrano-Zambrano, C., Delgado-Macias, J., Pincay-Espinoza, J., Avila-Zambrano, E., Bravo-Ormaza, E., Peñaherrera-Palma, C. and R. Diz, F. (2023) 'Guí de identificación de Troncos, Dientes y Aletas Asociados a Pesequerías del Ecuador'.

Giraudoux, P. (2018) 'pgirmess: Spatial Analysis and Data Mining for Field Ecologists.' Hearn, A. C. S., Allen, H. Z. L., Zurita, L., Gabela-flores, M. V., Peñaherrera-, C. R., Castrejón, M., Cruz, S., Kelley, D., Bruno, J., Jones, J., Naveira-garabato, A., Viteri, C., Picho, J., Donnelly, A., Tudhope, A., Fischer, C., Green, J. R., Hucke-gaete, R., Navia, A., Palomino-gaviria, A. and Parra, M. (2022) 'A Blueprint for Marine Spatial Planning of Ecuador's Exclusive Economic Zone around the Galápagos Marine Reserve'.

Hellberg, R. S., Isaacs, R. B. and Hernandez, E. L. (2019) 'Identification of shark species in commercial products using DNA barcoding.' *Fisheries Research*, 210 pp. 81–88.

Helmy, M., Awad, M. and Mosa, K. A. (2016) 'Limited resources of genome sequencing in developing countries: Challenges and solutions.' *Applied and Translational Genomics*, 9 pp. 15–19.

Hernández, S., Heidemeyer, M. and Abercrombie, D. (2018) 'Guía de identificación de aletas de tiburón en Perú'.

Hobbs, C. A. D., Potts, R. W. A., Bjerregaard Walsh, M., Usher, J. and Griffiths, A. M. (2019) 'Using DNA Barcoding to Investigate Patterns of Species Utilisation in UK Shark Products Reveals Threatened Species on Sale.' *Scientific Reports*, 9(1) pp. 1–10.

IUCN (2020) 'The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species'. [Online] [Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2024] <u>https://www.iucnredlist.org</u>

Johri, S., Solanki, J., Cantu, V. A., Fellows, S. R., Edwards, R. A., Moreno, I., Vyas, A. and Dinsdale, E. A. (2019) "Genome skimming" with the MinION hand-held sequencer identifies CITES-listed shark species in India's exports market.' *Scientific Reports*, 9 p. 4476.

Kim, J., Johnson, M., Hill, P. and Gale, B. K. (2009) 'Microfluidic sample preparation:

Cell lysis and nucleic acid purification.' Integrative Biology, 1 pp. 574–586.

Lin, T.-C., Hsiao, W. V., Han, S.-J., Joung, S.-J. and Shiao, J.-C. (2021) 'A direct multiplex loop-mediated isothermal amplification method to detect three CITES-listed shark species.' *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 1 pp. 1–11.

Martin, A. P., Naylor, G. J. and Palumbi, S. R. (1992) 'Rates of mitochondrial DNA evolution in sharks are slow compared with mammals.' *Nature*, 357 pp. 710–713.

Martínez-Ortiz, J., Aires-Da-silva, A. M., Lennert-Cody, C. E. and Maunderxs, M. N. (2015) 'The ecuadorian artisanal fishery for large pelagics: Species composition and spatio-temporal dynamics.' *PLoS ONE*, 10(8) pp. 1–29.

Matich, P. and Heithaus, M. R. (2014) 'Multi-tissue stable isotope analysis and acoustic telemetry reveal seasonal variability in the trophic interactions of juvenile bull sharks in a coastal estuary.' *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 83 pp. 199–213.

McNeill, L., Pearson, C., Megson, D., Norrey, J., Watson, D., Ashworth, D., Linton, P. E., Sutcliffe, O. B. and Shaw, K. J. (2021) 'Origami chips: Development and validation of a paper-based Lab-on-a-Chip device for the rapid and cost-effective detection of 4methylmethcathinone (mephedrone) and its metabolite, 4-methylephedrine in urine.' *Forensic Chemistry*, 22 p. 100293.

Minamoto, T., Naka, T., Moji, K. and Maruyama, A. (2016) 'Techniques for the practical collection of environmental DNA: filter selection, preservation, and extraction.' *Limnology*. Springer Japan, 17 pp. 23–32.

Myers, R. A., Baum, J. K., Shepherd, T. D., Powers, S. P. and Peterson, C. H. (2007) 'Cascading effects of the loss of apex predatory sharks from a coastal ocean.' *Science*, 315(5820) pp. 1846–1850.

Notomi, T., Okayama, H., Masubuchi, H., Yonekawa, T., Watanabe, K., Amino, N. and

158

Hase, T. (2000) 'Loop-mediated isothermal amplification of DNA.' *Nucleic Acids Research*, 28(12) p. e63.

Oda, Y., Sadakane, K., Yoshikawa, Y., Imanaka, T., Takiguchi, K., Hayashi, M., Kenmotsu, T. and Yoshikawa, K. (2016) 'Highly Concentrated Ethanol Solutions: Good Solvents for DNA as Revealed by Single-Molecule Observation.' *ChemPhysChem*, 17 pp. 471– 473.

Oxford Nanopore (2023). 'Oxford Nanopore Technologies'.

Pacoureau, N., Rigby, C. L., Kyne, P. M., Sherley, R. B., Winker, H., Carlson, J. K., Fordham, S. V., Barreto, R., Fernando, D., Francis, M. P., Jabado, R. W., Herman, K. B., Liu, K. M., Marshall, A. D., Pollom, R. A., Romanov, E. V., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Yin, J. S., Kindsvater, H. K. and Dulvy, N. K. (2021) 'Half a century of global decline in oceanic sharks and rays.' *Nature*, 589(7843) pp. 567–571.

Pazartzi, T., Siaperopoulou, S., Gubili, C., Maradidou, S., Loukovitis, D., Chatzispyrou, A., Griffiths, A. M., Minos, G. and Imsiridou, A. (2019) 'High levels of mislabeling in shark meat – Investigating patterns of species utilization with DNA barcoding in Greek retailers.' *Food Control*, 98 pp. 179–186

Promega UK. (2023) *How do I determine the concentration, yield and purity of a DNA sample?* [Online] [Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 204] <a href="https://www.promega.co.uk/resources/pubhub/enotes/how-do-i-determine-the-concentration-yield-and-purity-of-a-dna-sample/#">https://www.promega.co.uk/resources/pubhub/enotes/how-do-i-determine-the-concentration-yield-and-purity-of-a-dna-sample/#</a>

Shimada, K. (2005) 'Phylogeny of lamniform sharks (Chondrichthyes: Elasmobranchii) and the contribution of dental characters to lamniform systematics.' *Paleontological Research*, 9(1) pp. 55–72.

Shivji, M., Clarke, S., Pank, M., Natanson, L., Kohler, N. and Stanhope, M. (2002)

159

'Genetic identification of pelagic shark body parts for conservation and trade monitoring.' *Conservation Biology*, 16(4) pp. 1036–1047.

Sims, D. W. (2015) 'The biology, ecology and conservation of elasmobranchs: Recent advances and new frontiers.' *Journal of Fish Biology*, 87 pp.

Spink, J. and Moyer, D. C. (2011) 'Defining the Public Health Threat of Food Fraud.' Journal of Food Science, 76(9) pp. 57–163.

Tiktak, G. P., Butcher, D., Lawrence, P. J., Norrey, J., Bradley, L., Shaw, K., Preziosi, R. and Megson, D. (2020) 'Are concentrations of pollutants in sharks, rays and skates (Elasmobranchii) a cause for concern? A systematic review.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 160 p. 111701.

Vélez-Zuazo, X. and Agnarsson, I. (2011) 'Shark tales: A molecular species-level phylogeny of sharks (Selachimorpha, Chondrichthyes).' *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 58 pp. 207–217.

Wakeman, J. and Corwin, J. (2014) 'Characterization of Shark Fin Collagen Fiber for Species Identification'. *Environmental Science*.

Ward, R. D., Zemlak, T. S., Innes, B. H., Last, P. R., Paul, D., Hebert, N., Ward, R. D., Zemlak, T. S., Innes, B. H., Last, P. R. and Hebert, P. D. N. (2005) 'DNA barcoding Australia's fish species.' *Philosophical Transactions A*, 360(1462) pp. 1847–1857.

Wimbles, R., Melling, L. M., Cain, B., Doherty, J., Johnson, B. and Shaw, K. J. (2021) 'On-site genetic analysis for species identification using lab-on-.' *Ecology and Evolution*, 11 pp. 1535–1543.

Zhang, P., Ganesamoorthy, D., Nguyen, S. H., Au, R., Coin, L. J. and Tey, S. K. (2020) 'Nanopore sequencing as a scalable, cost-effective platform for analyzing polyclonal vector integration sites following clinical T cell therapy.' *Journal for ImmunoTherapy*  *of Cancer*, 8 pp. 1–13.

Zhu, H., Korabecna, M., Neuzil, P., Xu, Y., Zhang, H. and Lassakova, S. (2020) 'Review PCR past , present and future.' *BioTechniques*, 69(4) pp. 1–9.

# **Supplementary Information**

Table S 3-1 Elasmobranch and teleost fish species collected in Ecuador, USA and in captivity (Aquarium France as well as the percentage (%) match from Sanger Sequencing for both Forward (F) and Reverse (R) sequences for each species.

Common name	Species	Location	Tissue type	F	R
Clearnose skate	Raja eglanteria	USA	Muscle	90.4%	89.7%
Sandbar shark	Carcharhinus plumbeus	USA	Muscle	99.1%	98.5%
Salmon shark	Lamna ditropis	USA	Muscle	NA	97.9%
Shortfin mako (1)	Isurus oxyrinchus	USA	Muscle	99.4%	99.3%
Blue shark	Prionace glauca	USA	Muscle	91.3%	83.6%
Pelagic stingray	Pteroplatyrygon violacea	USA	Muscle	96.7%	97.1%
Common thresher	Alopias vulpinus	USA	Muscle	99.7%	98.6%
Great white shark	Carcharodon carcharias	USA	Muscle	98.9%	NA
Leopard shark	Triakis semifasciata	USA	Muscle	98.9%	99.5%
Bigeye thresher (1)	Alopias superciliosus	USA	Muscle	99.7%	88.1%
Kitefin shark	Dalatis licha	USA	Muscle	89.9%	89.4%
Black tip shark	Carcharhinus limbatus	USA	Muscle	90.4%	NA
Great hammerhead shark	Sphyrna mokarran	USA	Muscle	99.0%	99.4%
Scalloped hammerhead (1)	Sphyrna lewini	USA	Muscle	98.5%	99.1%
Sand tiger shark	Carcharias taurus	USA	Fin	99.4%	99.3%
Smooth dogfish	Mustelus canis	USA	Fin	99.5%	99.7%
Cownose ray	Rhinopetera bonasus	USA	Fin	99.6%	99.4%
Scalloped hammerhead (2)	Sphyrna lewini	Playita Mia	Muscle	99.8%	100%
Whale shark	Rhincodon typus	Galapagos	Muscle	98.0%	97.9%
Bigeye thresher (2)	Alopias superciliosus	Santa Rosa	Muscle	100%	98.8%
Pelagic thresher	Alopias pelagicus	Santa Rosa	Muscle	99.7%	99.7%
Oceanic whitetip	Carcharhinus longimanus	Playita Mia	Muscle	99.7%	97.3%

Shortfin mako (2)	Isurus oxyrinchus	Esmeraldas	Muscle	99.0%	99.3%
Long tail stingray	Hypanus longus	Santa Rosa	Muscle	98.9%	99.1%
Sicklefin smoothhound	Mustelus lunulatus	Santa Rosa	Muscle	99.6%	99.4%
Skipjack tuna (1)	Katsuwonus pelamis	Playita Mia	Muscle	99.7%	99.1%
Yellowfin tuna	Thunnus albacares	Playita Mia	Muscle	97.4%	98.8%
Skipjack tuna (2)	Katsuwonus pelamis	Playita Mia	Muscle	99.4%	98.9%
Tiger shark	Galeocerdo cuvier	Santa Rosa	Muscle	99.8%	98.1%
Black tip reef shark (captive)	Carcharhinus melanopterus	France	Fin	95.8%	98.0%
Zebra shark (captive)	Stegastoma fasciatum	France	Fin	98.2%	97.9%

(1) and (2) indicate where there are multiple samples for the same species.

**NA** = where sequences were inconclusive/sequencing failed. This was most likely because of highly degraded DNA.

#### Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC): Lysis and Extraction

A LOC was designed to integrate the field-based DNA extraction and, amplification and visualisation using LAMP.

## Comparison of Lysis Methods

For optimisation experiments, a variety of cell lysis methods were evaluated using ~25 mg of either fin or muscle tissue belonging to scalloped hammerhead (*Sphyrna lewini*). Methods included thermal lysis, chemical lysis, chemical lysis with the addition of surfactants and mechanical lysis. Methods were compared to find a field-based lysis method that gave comparable results to conventional DNA extraction kit, with consideration given to speed, amount of DNA yielded, quality of DNA, cost of analysis and ease of use. DNA from the scalloped hammerhead was used as the model species for all the testing of LOC processes in sections 2.3.1. – 2.3.3 (please refer to main manuscript) as good quality tissue was readily available.

For the lysis of tissue using a DNA extraction kit, tissue samples were added to 180  $\mu$ L of Lysis Buffer GL and 25  $\mu$ L Proteinase K solution following the pre-lysis steps of the Bioline ISOLATE II Genomic DNA Kit (Bioline, UK) protocol. Samples were then incubated at 56°C for 3 hours until completely digested Samples were vortexed briefly and added to 200  $\mu$ L Lysis Buffer G3, and incubated at 70°C for 10 min. For thermal lysis, tissue samples were added to 500  $\mu$ L Nuclease-Free Water (Merck, Germany) and incubated at 100 °C for 15 minutes.

For chemical lysis, tissue samples were added to 500 μL guanidine hydrochloride (GuHCl) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK) of varying concentrations ranging from 3M to 8M (Montgomery and Sise, 1990; Tian et al., 2000; Shaw, Joyce, et al., 2009; Shaw, Thain, et al., 2009; Kashkary et al., 2012; Mosley et al., 2016). Samples were left at room temperature for 5, 10 and 15 minutes.

Mechanical lysis was carried out in 5M GuHCl with 2% SDS, different mechanical lysis techniques were used including no disruption (control), cutting, pipetting, rolling, shearing, and vortexing (lab equipment) (Table S 3-2). Vortexing was carried out using a vortex mixer found in the laboratory. It was used as to compare DNA concentrations yielded from laboratory equipment versus "field-based" mechanical lysis methods.

Method	Description
Control	The samples were not disturbed.
Mashing	A pipette tip was used to break apart fin and tissue samples for 15 seconds.
Dipotting	Samples were pipetted up and down ten times using a 1000 $\mu\text{L}$ pipette set at 500
Pipetting	μL.

Table S 3-2 Mechanical lysis methods used to physically break down cell membranes.

Rolling Samples in Eppendorf tubes were rolled across a tube rack for 15 seconds.

Shearing Samples were sheared up and down 15 times with a needle syringe.

Vortexing Samples were agitated for 15 seconds using a vortex (laboratory equipment).

The total DNA concentration (ng/µL) and purity (260:280 nm ratio) of the lysed DNA samples were analysed using a Thermo Scientific<sup>™</sup> NanoDrop 2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK).

#### **Optimisation of Field-based DNA Extraction Protocol**

Scalloped hammerhead DNA was lysed in 5 M GuHCl and used to determine the retention (capture efficiency) of the Whatman<sup>©</sup> glass microfiber filters (GF/C) (Merck, Germany) Figure 3-2). DNA concentrations (ng/µL) for all subsequent reactions were quantified using Thermo Scientific<sup>™</sup> NanoDrop 2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK).

The lysed DNA was made up to 25  $\mu$ L with 5M GuHCl in concentrations of DNA ranging from 8 to 64 ng/ $\mu$ L and loaded onto the Whatman<sup>®</sup> GF/C glass microfiber filters (Merck, Germany) to determine their binding efficiency. The maximum retention of the GF/C filters were recorded by collecting the DNA solution in a 0.2 mL PCR tube and recorded in the DNA concentration (ng/ $\mu$ L) for each eluate.

Next the bound DNA samples underwent a wash step to remove any contaminants. A 70% ethanol solution was loaded onto the LOC in 5  $\mu$ L increments until a total of 100  $\mu$ L had passed through the GF/C filter. Eluted fractions were collected on the other side of the LOC in 0.2 mL PCR tubes, and the protein and DNA concentrations (ng/ $\mu$ L) as well as purity were recorded. DNA was then eluted using 100  $\mu$ L of Nuclease-Free Water (Merck, Germany).

165

## Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis and data visualisation were carried out in R 3.6.1 (R Core Team., 2019). Data was tested for normality with all variables found to be not normally distributed; non-parametric statistical methods were used. Wilcoxon rank-sum tests were used to compare differences in DNA concentrations between fin and muscle tissue. Kruskal-Wallis rank-sum tests and pairwise multiple comparison test ('Kruskalmc') using the "pgirmess" package (Giraudoux, 2018) were used to assess differences in DNA concentrations across different lysis methods, including chemical and mechanical lysis.

#### Positive and Negative Controls

A positive control was incorporated onto the LOC (Figure 3-1) using  $\lambda$  primers (Merck, Germany) and readily available  $\lambda$  DNA (NEB, UK). The design of the LOC physically separated the negative control from the other chambers (including target species primers and positive control) by less than 1.33 cm to ensure that it was DNA free. A concentration of 5 ng/µL DNA was used on the LOC chip. The positive and negative controls (including primers and DNA) were added to the LOC after elution of DNA. A mastermix was made for the positive and negative containing 10 µL of LAMP mix and 2 µL of  $\lambda$  primers. For the negative control an additional 8 µL of Nuclease-Free Water (Merck, Germany) was added, and for the positive control, 2 µL of 5 ng/µL  $\lambda$  DNA (NEB, UK) was added. No H<sub>2</sub>O was added to the positive control as this was added during elution of DNA on the LOC. Both mastermixes were homogenised by pipetting up and down gently until the solution was fully mixed. Seven µL of the positive control chamber, and 10 µL of negative control mastermix was pre-loaded onto the positive control chamber, and 10

plastic chip (mould with five chambers containing each a Whatman© glass microfiber

GF/C filter (Merck, Germany).

# **Primer Development**

## Sequences for LAMP Primer Development

Table S 3-3 Sequences used for LAMP primer development.

Common	Consider	<b>T</b>	6	Genbank	Lought (bus)
Name	Species	Type of sequence Gene A		Accession No.	Length (bp)
			Internal		
Diagona	Alerian		Transcriber Spacer		
віедеуе	Alopias Nuclear ribosom	Nuclear ribosomai	2 Locus (ITS2)	KC204935	740
thresher shark	superciliosus	RNA (rRNA)	(located between		
			5.8S and 28S)		
Pelagic	Alopias	Mitochondrial	D-LOOP (1563 –	1/5020076	1050
thresher shark	pelagicus	DNA (mtDNA)	16692 bp)	KFU2U876	1059
Shortfin mako	Isurus	Mitochondrial	5 4 6 6 5		704
shark	oxyrinchus	DNA (mtDNA)	D-LOOP	MH760159	791

# Step-by-step LAMP Primer Development

Using the sequences above, primers were developed in Primer Explorer V5 (http://primerexplorer.jp/lampv5e/index.html) for the three CITES-listed sharks: bigeye thresher, pelagic thresher and shortfin mako shark. Outlined here is a full overview of how the primers were developed (using bigeye thresher shark as an example).



Pr	rimer Int	formatio	on		Save				
3	ID:34		dim	ner(min	imum)	dG=-2	.46		
label	5'pos	3'pos	len	Tm	5'dG	3'dG	GCrate	Sequence	
F3	48	65	18	62.92	-5.96	-6.78	0.67	TCCGGATGGTAGCCGTGG	Primer sets are displayed. Primer
B3	239	258	20	61.51	-5.30	-5.19	0.60	GGAAGGAGCCTCAACTCCAG	highlighted in "green" are the
FIP			39					GGACCAAACCAGTCACTGCGT-TCAGGTGCAGGCGTTACC	primers used. FIP and BIP are
BIP			38					GCTGGTGGTGTGTTCGCTTTGG-GCGTCAGCGCAGCCAA	below.
F2	68	85	18	61.29	-5.25	-4.34	0.61	TCAGGTGCAGGCGTTACC	
F1c	108	128	21	64.83	-5.86	-6.57	0.57	GGACCAAACCAGTCACTGCGT	This was the output for bigeye
B2	212	227	16	62.49	-6.59	-5.75	0.69	GCGTCAGCGCAGCCAA	selected for the LOC.
B1c	147	168	22	66.49	-6.24	-4.61	0.59	GCTGGTGGTGTGTTCGCTTTGG	

The next step is to BLAST each of the primer sets generated against "all taxa" in BLAST (<u>https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi</u>) with the aim to produce a high match with your target species, and lower match with non-target species. In our case, we were aiming to have a lower match with other elasmobranchs and teleost fish. Then once a suitable primer group are found, they are put back into Primer Explorer V5 to create loop primers.

# Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC): Optimisation and Evaluation of Cell Lysis Techniques

# **Optimisation and Evaluation of Cell Lysis Techniques**

Nine lysis methods were tested to establish the most suitable method for fieldtesting that were cost effective and efficient. When evaluating chemical lysis methods, significant differences were observed between GuHCl concentrations used and total DNA released for fin (Kruskal-Wallis:  $\chi^2 = 14.344$ , df = 5, p < 0.02; 78.7±38.3 ng/µL, Figure S 3-1) and muscle tissue (Kruskal-Wallis:  $\chi^2 = 16.013$ , df = 5, p < 0.01; 39.3 ± 28.0 ng/µL, Figure S 3-1). Five molar GuHCl was chosen as the optimum concentration as it yielded the highest concentrations of DNA from muscle and fin tissue (90.6 ± 8.22 ng/µL and 113.4 ± 18.8 ng/µL, respectively). Using the same concentration of GuHCl for both samples also increased the simplicity for end users as the lysis method is consistent and therefore not dependant on what type of sample is used (i.e., whether it is fin or muscle tissue). Significant differences in total DNA concentration were observed between the mechanical lysis methods for fin (Kruskal – Wallis:  $\chi^2 = 16.112$ , df =8, p < 0.05, Figure S 3-2) and muscle tissue (Kruskal – Wallis:  $\chi^2 = 18.5$ , df = 8, p < 0.02, Figure S 3-2). Pipetting yielded higher concentrations of DNA in fin tissue (374 ± 19.7 ng/µL) and cutting (386 ± 102 ng/µL) in muscle tissue, though the multiple comparison test revealed no significant differences (Figure S 3-2). Mechanical disruption by mashing was able to successfully yield high concentrations from both fin and muscle tissue.



Figure S 3-1 Comparison of different mechanical lysis methods used to yield DNA from fin and muscle tissue of scalloped hammerhead sharks (*Sphyrna lewini*).



Figure S 3-2 Comparison of different concentrations of GuHCl (ranging from 3 M to 8 M) used to obtain DNA from 25 mg of fin and muscle tissue of scalloped hammerhead sharks (*Sphyrna lewini*).

#### Positive and Negative Control

A positive and negative control were incorporated onto the LOC using  $\lambda$  DNA (positive control only) and  $\lambda$  primers (Nagamine et al., 2002). For the positive control, 5 ng/µL of  $\lambda$  DNA was required to produce a consistent reaction, any lower and false negative were observed. For the negative control, the distance from the reaction wells was important (move earlier information on the distance down to here). Any detectable failure in the controls meant that the LOC was discarded immediately. See S3-8 & S3-9 for LOC's.

All three primer sets (bigeye thresher (Figure S 3-3), pelagic thresher (Figure S 3-4; Figure S 3-5) and shortfin mako (Figure S 3-6; Figure S 3-7) shark) proved to be specific when testing against the 26 (Table S 3-1) different species of elasmobranchs and fish. Repeat assays were carried out where contamination was present and revealed these were caused by human error.



Figure S 3-3 Primer specificity for target species bigeye thresher shark against 26 different species of elasmobranchs and fish, (a) Showing LAMP colour change with target and non-target species in order from top right to bottom left and (b) gel image showing LAMP amplification of same species (numbered 1-31); red = non-target species, dark blue = target species: (1) CNS = clearnose skate (Raja eglanteria), (2) SBS = sandbar shark (Carcharhinus plumbeus), (3) SAS = salmon shark (Lamna ditropis), (4) SFM (1) = shortfin mako shark (Isurus oxyrinchus), (5) BLS = blue shark (Prionace glauca), (6) PELS = pelagic stingray (Pteroplatyrygon violacea), (7) CTHR = common thresher shark (Alopias vulpinas), (8) GWS = great white shark (Carcharodon carcharias), (9) LEP = leopard shark (Triakis semifasciata), (10) BIG (1) bigeye thresher shark (A. superciliosus), (11) KITE = kitefin shark (Dalatis longa), (12) BTS = black tip shark (Carcharhinus limbatus), (13) GHH = great hammerhead (Sphyrna mokarran), (14) SCHH (1) = scalloped hammerhead (S. lewini), (15) SAND = sand tiger shark (Carcharias taurus), (16) SMOOD = smooth dogfish (Mustelus canis), (17) COW = cownose ray (Rhinoptera bonasus), (18) SCHH (2), (19) WSH = whale shark (Rhincodon typus), (20) BIG (2), (21) PEL = pelagic thresher shark (A. pelagicus), (22) OCW = oceanic whitetip (Carcharhinus longimanus), (23) SFM (2), (24) LTSS = long tail stingray (Dasyatis longa), (25) SICK = sicklefin smoothhound (M. lunulatus), (26) STUN (1) skipjack tuna (Katsuwonus pelamis), (27) YTUN = yellowfin tuna (Thunnus albacores), (28) STUN (2), (29) TIG = tiger

shark (*Galeocerdo cuvier*), (30) BTRS = black tip reef shark (*C. melanopterus*), (31) ZEB = zebra shark (*Stegastoma fasciatum*) and Neg (-) = negative control.



Figure S 3-4 Primer specificity for target species pelagic thresher shark against 26 different species of elasmobranchs and fish, (a) showing LAMP colour change with target and non-target species in order from top right to bottom left and (b) gel image showing LAMP amplification of same species (numbered 1 - 31); red = non-target species, dark blue = target species: (1) CNS = clearnose skate (*Raja* eglanteria), (2) SBS = sandbar shark (Carcharhinus plumbeus), (3) SAS = salmon shark (Lamna ditropis), (4) SFM (1) = shortfin mako shark (Isurus oxyrinchus), (5) BLS = blue shark (Prionace glauca), (6) PELS = pelagic stingray (Pteroplatyrygon violacea), (7) CTHR = common thresher shark (Alopias vulpinas), (8) GWS = great white shark (Carcharodon carcharias), (9) LEP = leopard shark (Triakis semifasciata), (10) BIG (1) bigeye thresher shark (A. superciliosus), (11) KITE = kitefin shark (Dalatis longa), (12) BTS = black tip shark (Carcharhinus limbatus), (13) GHH = great hammerhead (Sphyrna mokarran), (14) SCHH (1) = scalloped hammerhead (S. lewini), (15) SAND = sand tiger shark (Carcharias taurus), (16) SMOOD = smooth dogfish (*Mustelus canis*), (17) COW = cownose ray (*Rhinoptera bonasus*), (18) SCHH (2), (19) WSH = whale shark (Rhincodon typus), (20) BIG (2), (21) PEL = pelagic thresher shark (A. pelagicus), (22) OCW = oceanic whitetip (Carcharhinus longimanus), (23) SFM (2), (24) LTSS = long tail stingray (Dasyatis longa), (25) SICK = sicklefin smoothhound (M. lunulatus), (26) STUN (1) skipjack tuna (Katsuwonus pelamis), (27) YTUN = yellowfin tuna (Thunnus albacores), (28) STUN (2), (29) TIG = tiger shark (Galeocerdo cuvier), (30) BTRS = black tip reef shark (C. melanopterus), (31) ZEB = zebra shark (Stegastoma fasciatum) and Neg (-) = negative control.

50 bp ladder	14	16	18	21	20	23	Neg (-)	50 bp ladder
MANN					0			1111
IIII								111
1				-				Ξ

Figure S 3-5 Repeat assay for pelagic thresher shark against five non-target species (as there was contamination in gels): 14 = scalloped hammerhead (*Sphyrna lewini*), 16 = smooth dogfish (*Mustelus canis*), 18 = scalloped hammerhead, 21 = pelagic thresher (*Alopias pelagicus*), 20 = bigeye thresher (*A. superciliosus*), 23 = shortfin mako shark (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) and Neg (-) = negative control, where red = non-target species and dark blue = target species.

a) Isurus oxyrinchus GLUS BLS LTH SEMO PELS CNS SBS SCHH er) JAND FOOD СТНН BTS LEP BIG(1) KITE 11 SEW COST CER BIGED PEL ou Low SCHH(2) WSH IJ 1 UTRS LES NEGG TIG Siunces STUN() YTUN sich

Figure S 3-6 Primer specificity for target species shortfin mako shark against 26 different species of elasmobranchs and fish, (a) showing LAMP colour change with target and non-target species in order from top right to bottom left and (b) gel image showing LAMP amplification of same species (numbered 1 - 31); red = non-target species, dark blue = target species: (1) CNS = clearnose skate (*Raja eglanteria*), (2) SBS = sandbar shark (*Carcharhinus plumbeus*), (3) SAS = salmon shark (*Lamna ditropis*),

(4) SFM (1) = shortfin mako shark (*Isurus oxyrinchus*), (5) BLS = blue shark (*Prionace glauca*), (6) PELS = pelagic stingray (*Pteroplatyrygon violacea*), (7) CTHR = common thresher shark (*Alopias vulpinas*), (8) GWS = great white shark (*Carcharodon carcharias*), (9) LEP = leopard shark (*Triakis semifasciata*), (10) BIG (1) bigeye thresher shark (*A. superciliosus*), (11) KITE = kitefin shark (*Dalatis longa*), (12) BTS = black tip shark (*Carcharhinus limbatus*), (13) GHH = great hammerhead (*Sphyrna mokarran*), (14) SCHH (1) = scalloped hammerhead (*S. lewini*), (15) SAND = sand tiger shark (*Carcharias taurus*), (16) SMOOD = smooth dogfish (*Mustelus canis*), (17) COW = cownose ray (*Rhinoptera bonasus*), (18) SCHH (2), (19) WSH = whale shark (*Rhincodon typus*), (20) BIG (2), (21) PEL = pelagic thresher shark (*A. pelagicus*), (22) OCW = oceanic whitetip (*Carcharhinus longimanus*), (23) SFM (2), (24) LTSS = long tail stingray (*Dasyatis longa*), (25) SICK = sicklefin smoothhound (*M. lunulatus*), (26) STUN (1) skipjack tuna (*Katsuwonus pelamis*), (27) YTUN = yellowfin tuna (*Thunnus albacores*), (28) STUN (2), (29) TIG = tiger shark (*Galeocerdo cuvier*), (30) BTRS = black tip reef shark (*C. melanopterus*), (31) ZEB = zebra shark (*Stegastoma fasciatum*) and Neg (-) = negative control.



Figure S 3-7 Repeat assay for shortfin mako shark against seven non-target species (as there was contamination in colour changes and gels): LAMP showing colour change (a) and (b) gel for shortfin mako shark against seven non-target species in order: (23) SFM = shortfin mako shark (*Isurus oxyrinchus*), (5) BLS = blue shark (Prionace glauca), (6) PELS = pelagic stingray (*Pteroplatyrygon violacea*), (11) KITE = kitefin shark (*Dalatis licha*), (16) SMOOD = smooth dogfish (*Mustelus canis*), (18) SCHH = scalloped hammerhead (*Sphyrna lewini*), (42) ZEBRA = zebra shark (*Stegastoma fasciatum*) and Neg (-) = negative control, where red = non-target species and dark blue = target species.

# Integrated LOC

LOCs were tested against the three target species of sharks (bigeye and pelagic thresher, and shortfin mako shark) and one non-target species of shark (blue shark (Prionace glauca)) in the lab ( $n \ge 3$ ) (Figure S 3-8). Please note that although these pictures look grey, they were photographed on a white piece of A4 paper as background.



Figure S 3-8 Successful LOCs for target CITES-species where yellow indicates amplification and pink indicates no amplification.



(c) False Negatives for bigeye thresher shark and short fin mako shark



Figure S 3-9 Examples of LOCs that did not work, (a) where either the positive control did not change, (b) where the whole chip failed or (c) the target species did not change colour, but the positive control did (False Negative) for bigeye thresher and shortfin mako shark (SFM 2, left panel) and bigeye thresher (BIG 2, right panel).



Figure S 3-10 Decision making flowchart for the LOC Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) where BIG = bigeye thresher shark, PEL = pelagic thresher shark and SFM = shortfin mako shark. The (+) and (-) indicate positive and negative control. The positive should always turn yellow and negative stay pink.

## Cost comparison with conventional methods

Cost comparisons were based on prices in the UK in 2023 and therefore these are just an estimation for comparison as costs and availability of reagents in different places and countries with differ and be hard to quantify. Costs of the DNA Barcoding method were based on Field et al., (2017). The cost to carry out one LOC is £4.73 per sample (Figure S 3-11a) and for DNA Barcoding is £10.5 (Figure S 3-11b). The cost breakdown for the DNA barcoding is prior to any upstream processing/analysis such as Sangar Sequencing which would increase the cost further.

(a)	ITEM			UNI	Т	NET CO	OST (£
	WHATMAN© GF/0	6		£0.	231		
	WARMSTART© COLORIN	0.025	mL	£2.920			
	LAMBDA DNA (500	) μg/mL)		0.001	mL	£0.001	
	INK			1		£0.043	
	FILTER PAPE	1		£0.	407		
	PRIMERS	0.005	mL	£0.	376		
	GuHCL	0.5 m	ηL	£0.391			
	NUCLEASE FRE	0.11 r	1 mL £0.002				
	ETHANOL (70	0.06	5	£0.	006		
	ADHESIVE PCR	1		£0.350			
a	ITEM	SEQUENCING	UNIT	COMPANY	CAT NO.	NET COST (£)	ONE UN
1	DNEASY COMMERCIAL KIT	PRE-SEQUENCING	250	QIAGEN	69506	£947.00	£3.7
	PRIMERS (FISHF2_t1, VF2_t1 & SHARK COI-MINIR)	PRE-SEQUENCING	5000	MERCK	NA	£51.94	F £0.0
	Hot StarTag Master Mix Kit	PRE-SEQUENCING	2500	QIAGEN	203446	£1,221.00	£0.4
	AGAROSE	PRE-SEQUENCING	1.6	MERCK	A9539-500G	£888.00	£2.8
	1 X TBE BUFFER	PRE-SEQUENCING	25000	MERCK	1061772500	£113.00	£0.3
	DNA LADDER	PRE-SEQUENCING	100	MERCK	D3812-1VL	£147.00	£2.9
	ETHIDIUM BROMIDE	PRE-SEQUENCING	37500	MERCK	1116080030	£59.50	£0.0
	LOADING BUFFER	PRE-SEQUENCING	30000	MERCK	G2526-5ML	£27.50	£0.0

Figure S 3-11 Cost breakdown of (a) one Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC) and one sample for DNA barcoding based

on UK prices in 2023.
# **Chapter 4**

# 4. Are concentrations of pollutants in sharks, rays, and skates (Elasmobranchii) a cause for concern? A systematic review

### **Chapter Overview**

This chapter is a systematic review with meta-analysis on pollutants in sharks, rays, and skates (Elasmbobranchii) following the 2009 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines.

This chapter is based in part on the original research of (Tiktak et al., 2020), which was published in Marine Pollution Bulletin (DOI: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111701).

# **Author Contributions**

As lead author I designed the project, collected the data, performed the analysis, wrote, and submitted the manuscript. I supervised a MSc student who provided support with data collection to add an additional level of rigour on the data collected. Other co-authors provided support with data interpretation and revising the manuscript.

### 4.1. Abstract

This review represents a comprehensive analysis on pollutants in elasmobranchs including meta-analysis on the most studied pollutants: mercury, cadmium, PCBs, and DDTs, in muscle and liver tissue. Elasmobranchs are particularly vulnerable to pollutant exposure which may pose a risk to the organism as well as humans that consume elasmobranch products. The highest concentrations of pollutants were found in sharks occupying top trophic levels (Carcharhiniformes and Lamniformes). A human health risk assessment identified that children and adults consuming shark once a week are exposed to over three times more mercury than is recommended by the US EPA. This poses a risk to local fishing communities and international consumers of shark-based products, as well as those subject to the widespread mislabelling of elasmobranch products. Wider screening studies are recommended to determine the risk to elasmobranchs from emerging pollutants and more robust studies are recommended to assess the risks to human health.

### Keywords: Elasmobranch; Pollution; Mercury; Cadmium; PCB; DDT.

### 4.2. Introduction

Human activities are the main driver behind the rapid loss of the world's biodiversity (Derraik, 2002; Sanderson et al., 2002; McKee et al., 2004). Factors such as pollution, climate change, overexploitation and habitat loss now affect most marine ecosystems on the planet, with human activities causing irreversible damage (Derraik, 2002; Islam and Tanaka, 2004; Dulvy et al., 2014; EEA, 2018). In recent years there has been growing concern for the increasing prevalence of pollutants in the marine environment, their effect on marine organisms, and subsequent effects on humans (Tanabe et al., 1983; Blocksom et al., 2010; Corsolini et al., 2014; Jepson et al., 2016). Persistent organic pollutants (POPs), heavy metals, crude oil and marine debris (e.g. marine litter or microplastics) represent the most common marine pollutants globally (United Nations Environment Program, 2017). Some of these substances are used intentionally as disease and pest control, as well as in manufacturing and industrial processes. These substances can also be produced unintentionally as by-products through industrial processes such as waste incineration, vehicle emissions, and cigarette smoke, as well natural processes such as volcanic activity and forest fires (El-Shahawi et al., 2010; Megson et al., 2013; WHO, 2020). Pollutants can enter the aquatic environment through atmospheric deposition, erosion, urban discharge, combustion, and industrial charges (Wang et al., 2004; Morrison and Murphy, 2010; Megson et al., 2013).

Many pollutants bioaccumulate and biomagnify, and thus, apex predators usually have exposure to disproportionately high concentrations of pollutants compared to environmental levels. Pollutants in teleost fish, molluscs and marine mammals have been well-studied (Tanabe et al., 1983; Streit, 1998; Blocksom et al.,

183

2010; Sharma et al., 2014; Jepson et al., 2016; Barone et al., 2018; Desforges et al., 2018), and have been shown to cause adverse health effects including suppressed reproductive development effects, immunosuppression, endocrine disruption, and oxidative stress (Letcher et al., 2010). Less attention has been paid to pollutants in elasmobranchs compared to other vertebrate groups, which is especially concerning considering the high trophic position of elasmobranchs and their continued population decline (Dulvy et al., 2014).

Elasmobranchs belong to the class Chondrichthyans, which are cartilaginous fish that make up one of the oldest and most ecologically diverse vertebrate lineages, arising over 420 million years ago. They occupy the top tiers of aquatic food chains and are present in every ocean. Many elasmobranchs play a crucial role in the topdown control of coastal and oceanic ecosystem structure and function (Ebert et al., 2013; Dulvy et al., 2014). It is estimated that 30% of all Chondrichthyan species are currently threatened with extinction, where 21% of rays and skates, and 17% of sharks are classified as threatened (encompassing IUCN Red List categories 'critically endangered', 'endangered' and 'vulnerable'). In reality, this number is likely to be higher due to the large proportion (n = 438) of species that are listed as 'data deficient' and have not (yet) been assessed (Dulvy et al., 2008, 2014; Gray and Kennelly, 2018; IUCN, 2020). Elasmobranchs exhibit biological and ecological traits similar to those of large-bodied mammals; maturing late, reproducing slowly, having small numbers of offspring (García et al., 2008; Dulvy et al., 2014). The combination of these traits and their high trophic level puts elasmobranchs at relatively higher risk from exposure to pollutants.

All humans are exposed to pollutants throughout their lifetime, with diet being the most significant exposure pathway for many pollutants that bioaccumulate (e.g. lipophilic compounds such as PCBs) (Johansen et al., 2004; Fleming et al., 2006; Sharma et al., 2014). Twenty seven percent (1.9 billion people) of the world's population lives within 100 km of the coast (Fleming et al., 2006; Kumma et al., 2016). Although variable globally, many of these coastal countries and communities depend on fishing as a source of income, and seafood can make up the majority of their diet (Johansen et al., 2004; Fleming et al., 2006; Zheng et al., 2007; Brunner et al., 2009; Sharma et al., 2014; Bruce-Vanderpuije et al., 2019). Exposure to pollutants such as PCBs, mercury and dioxins, have been linked to cancer, liver and kidney damage, immunosuppression, reproductive defects, and endocrine disruption (Vračko et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2013; Knutsen et al., 2019). Pregnant women and young children are especially vulnerable to the health risks associated with exposure to these contaminants (Patandin et al., 1999; Bruce-Vanderpuije et al., 2019).

Although elasmobranchs may not typically be considered as a primary food source in many non-coastal regions, products deriving from sharks, rays and skates are consumed, and used worldwide (Staffen et al., 2017; Almerón-Souza et al., 2018; Bernardo et al., 2020). Examples of consumption include shark fin soup, the use of traditional Chinese medicine (e.g. gill plates) and the intake of dietary supplements (e.g. liver oil and cartilage supplements). In addition, compounds deriving from elasmobranchs have been found in cosmetic products (Wong et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2013; Dulvy et al., 2014; Fields et al., 2015; Zeng et al., 2016; Cardeñosa et al., 2017; Steinke et al., 2017; Almerón-Souza et al., 2018; Ferretti et al., 2020). Shark meat is also often unintentionally consumed when it is mislabelled (e.g. as other types of

185

elasmobranchs or teleost fish), which means that consumers are unaware that they are consuming shark products (Hobbs et al., 2019; Pazartzi et al., 2019). Shark may be traded under names such as 'white fish', 'corvina', 'toyo', or 'cação', and can end up being consumed in countries where eating sharks is not culturally popular (Bornatowski et al., 2014; Almerón-Souza et al., 2018; Bernardo et al., 2020), as shown in the recent study that found threatened shark species (e.g. spiny dogfish) being sold at fish and chip shops in the UK (Hobbs et al., 2019). This is especially concerning due to the high concentrations of pollutants found in sharks (Holmes et al., 2009; Barbuto et al., 2010; Filonzi et al., 2010; Gilbert, Baduel, et al., 2015; Gilbert, Reichelt-Brushett, et al., 2015; Alves et al., 2016).

Despite the ecological and economical importance of elasmobranchs, the impact contaminants have on their health is poorly understood, as are the risks to humans through consumption of shark meat. No previous reviews have been carried out for pollutants in all elasmobranchs, the most recent review was performed on rays and skates only (Batoids) (Bezerra et al., 2019). The aim of this manuscript is to address this current knowledge gap by providing a thorough review of pollutant concentrations in all elasmobranchs (but with a specific focus on sharks). Specifically this review aims to 1) identify publication trends for elasmobranch pollution studies, 2) examine the variation in pollution concentrations between taxa, and determine elasmobranch groups most at risk from exposure to marine pollution, 4) relate concentrations of pollutants to toxic thresholds and discuss potential risks of consuming shark meat from a human health perspective, and 5) identify current knowledge gaps and discuss future recommendations.

### 4.3. Methods

### 4.3.1. Study Selection

The present systematic review follows the 2009 PRISMA guidelines (Moher et al., 2009) to identify research articles on marine pollution in elasmobranchs (flowchart, Supplementary Material 1). Eligibility for inclusion in this review was assessed independently by two reviewers (GPT and DB). Studies were incorporated based on the following inclusion criteria: the study reported on pollutant concentrations in elasmobranchs (though the study did not have to focus primarily on elasmobranchs to be considered for inclusion), the study was published between January 1999 and November 2019, the study was published in a peer-reviewed journal, and the study reported original research. Studies were considered from any country or region and on any contaminant type, as long they were published in English. Information on other taxa (non-elasmobranchs) were not included in this study. 'Grey literature' was not considered in this study as these papers often do not undergo the same peer-review process and are often not available online.

The following search terms were used to identify papers on two separate search engines (Web of Science and Scopus): "shark\*", "ray\*", "sawfish\*", "skate\*", "elasmobranch\*", "contaminant\*", "contamination", "heavy metal\*", "persistent organic pollutant\*", "microplastic\*", "organochloride", "tissue\*", "fin\*", "ingest\*", "bioaccumulation", "bioaccumulate\*". The following text "AND not x-ray" had to be specified as an exclusion criterion due to the high volume of papers identified in the initial search that were not relevant. Google Scholar was excluded, as it returned a large number of non-relevant papers (over 1000). A number of papers were found

based on the studies identified through the above search; for example, three additional papers were added based on the systematic review published on trace metals and POPs in rays and skates (Batoids) (Bezerra et al., 2019).

### 4.3.2. Data Collection

For every eligible study, general information was collected including author(s), year published, journal, pollutant (e.g. POPs, trace elements, plastic and radionuclides), taxa (species, family, order and superorder), common name, total number of elasmobranchs, area of study, ocean, risk to organism and/or humans and whether the primary focus was on elasmobranchs. The trophic level for all species identified from the scientific literature was sourced from FishBase (Froese and Pauly, 2019). The tissue type analysed was also recorded, specifically whether this concerned liver, fin, kidney, gills, reproductive organs, gastrointestinal system, or other. Reproductive organs included: egg, embryo, gonads, yolk, ovaries and ova; digestive system included: stomach, stomach content, digestive system, intestine and intestinal tract. The current IUCN Red List status (IUCN, 2020) of each species was recorded. Species were also grouped into their superorder Selachimorpha or Batoidea. IUCN status 2020 was categorised as followed; DD = Data Deficient, LC = Least Concern, NT = Near Threatened, VU = Vulnerable, EN = Endangered and CR = Critically Endangered. Pollutants were grouped into five categories: POPs, plastic, trace elements, radionuclides and other (see Supplementary Material 1 and 2).

### 4.3.3. Meta-analysis

A meta-analysis was carried out on total mercury (THg), cadmium (Cd), ΣΡCB and ΣDDT concentrations in the muscle and liver tissue of elasmobranchs and were

188

recorded on a wet weight basis (dry and lipid weight in Supplementary Material 1 and 2). Muscle and liver tissue were recorded as these were the most reported tissue types, as well as being the most significant in terms of human exposure (through consumption). Data was converted to ng g<sup>-1</sup> when necessary. Mean values were calculated when more than one individual was reported for one species. Where ranges were reported, a simple average of the upper and lower bounds of the range was calculated. Genders were grouped together, as were different age classes, so the meta-analysis could be focused on evaluating trends in the concentration of pollutants in different elasmobranch groups. Mean concentrations were reported to three significant figures.

# 4.3.4. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis and data visualisation were carried out in R 3.6.1 (R Core Team, 2019). Data was tested for normality with all variables found to be not normally distributed; non-parametric statistical methods were used. A chi-square goodness of fit test was used to examine whether the frequency of studies published across oceans and seas was evenly distributed. Wilcoxon rank-sum tests were used to compare differences in pollutant concentrations between muscle and liver tissue and, also between Selachimorpha and Batoidea. Kruskal-Wallis rank-sum tests and pairwise multiple comparison test ('Kruskalmc') using the "pgirmess" package (Giraudoux, 2018) were used to assess differences in pollutant concentrations of the statistical methods.

#### 4.4. Publication Trends

#### 4.4.1. General Information

This review examined a total of 176 studies on pollutants in elasmobranchs that were published between January 1999 and November 2019. Sixty-five percent of these studies were solely focussed on elasmobranchs (n = 115) and 35% included other organisms (e.g. fish and marine mammals) (n = 61). The most-studied tissue types included muscle (68%), liver (47%) and organs within the gastrointestinal tract (17%). Other tissue types included fin (14%), reproductive system (14%), gills (9%), kidney (7%), unknown (1%) and other (10%).

### 4.4.2. Overview of pollutants studied

A total of 111 papers focussed on trace elements, 59 on POPs, 12 on plastic, 7 on radionuclides, 3 on cholinesterases (ChEs) and lipid peroxidation (LP), 1 on endocrine-disrupting chemicals, and 1 on synthetic musk fragrances. Sixty three percent (n = 111) of all studies were focussed on trace elements, with 84% (n = 93) of these papers examining mercury (Hg) and 41% (n = 45) examining cadmium (Cd). Studies on POPs made up 32% (n = 57) of the total number of studies, where PCBs (74% of these studies; n = 42) and DDTs (55% of these studies; n = 31) were the most studied POPs. Other POPs included polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins (PCDDs), polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs) and dioxin-like PCBs (DL-PCBs), non-dioxin-like PCBs (NDL-PCBs), organochlorine pesticides (e.g. DDT and its metabolites, dieldrin, endrin and chlordane), hexachlorocyclohexane (HCH) and hexachlorobenzene (HBH), chlorobenzene, perand polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), and halogenated flame retardants (HFR). Ninety-two studies (52%) discussed pollutant exposure risk in elasmobranchs, and 96 (55%) discussed the risks to humans. Forty-five studies (26%) discussed both the risks to elasmobranchs and humans, while 33 (19%) studies did not discuss risks to either elasmobranchs or humans.

There was a spike in the number of studies focussing on pollutants in elasmobranchs from 2013 to 2017, especially regarding trace elements and POPs (Figure 4-1). This could be due to the recent advances in cheaper, faster, and more accurate analysis techniques as well as an increase in interest from human health and environmental perspectives (Cole et al., 2011; Wright et al., 2013; Boucher and Friot, 2017). Plastics, such as microplastics and single-use-plastic, have become a recent important environmental concern and focus for researchers, this is evident from the increase in studies from 2016 onwards (Figure 4-1) (Wright et al., 2013; Ivar Do Sul and Costa, 2014; Gall and Thompson, 2015; Miranda and de Carvalho-Souza, 2016; Alomar and Deudero, 2017; Fossi et al., 2017; Pegado et al., 2018; Smith, 2018). The media and documentaries, such as Blue Planet II (presented by the BBC), have shifted consumers' views, as well as aided in the adoption of new laws on microplastics and single-use-plastic (Barboza and Gimenez, 2015; Xanthos and Walker, 2017; Henderson and Green, 2020). The recent advances in analysis techniques have allowed for a wider scope of studies focussing on emerging pollutants (Nikolaou et al., 2009); in spite of this, most of the studies targeted trace elements, PCBs, and DDTs, which may be because there are more standardised methods to analyse these pollutants in elasmobranchs rather than microplastics, and some of the more emerging and toxic POPs that require lower detection limits (e.g. dioxins, PFAS and halogenated flame retardants).

191



Figure 4-1 Total number of studies carried out on different pollutant types (Plastic, POP, Radionuclide and Trace Element, Other). Total number of studies (n=176); some studies reported on more than one type of pollutant (January 1999 – November 2019).

Most studies were published on trace elements (n = 62) and POPs (n = 31) in Carcharhiniformes, followed by trace elements in Rajiformes (n = 20), Squaliformes (n = 20) and Lamniformes (n = 19). Forty-nine species of rays and skates (Batoidea), and 47 sharks (Selachimorpha) were reported on three times or less. Fifty-five species, 13 families and four orders were recorded for superorder Batoidea. The most represented Batoid species were thornback skates (*Raja clavata*) (8 studies), brown skates (*Raja miraletus*) (5 studies) and starry skates (*Raja asterias*) (5 studies). A total of 80 species, 20 families and six orders were recorded for superorder Selachimorpha. The most reported on shark species were blue sharks (*Prionace glauca*) (28 studies), short fin mako sharks (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) (22 studies) and small spotted catsharks (*Scyliorhinus canicula*) (19 studies). Hence, there appears to be a publication bias towards common and globally occurring species of sharks that are frequently caught in longline fisheries.

### 4.4.3. IUCN status

Species reported were categorised into groups based on their IUCN Red List status (IUCN, 2020), and their superorder (Selachimorpha or Batoidea). Three species of sharks were classed as CR, 7 as EN, 17 as VU, 18 as LC, 14 as DD, and 5 species were unknown. For rays and skates, one species was classed as CR, 6 as EN, 9 as VU, 7 as NT, 17 as LC, 13 as DD and 7 species were unknown. No studies reported on species of sawfish from the order Pristiformes despite their endangered and critically endangered IUCN status (IUCN, 2020). Most studies focussed on species that were listed as vulnerable or least concern.

### 4.4.4. Geographical distribution

There was relatively good global coverage of studies focussing on elasmobranchs, but the majority were carried out in the North Atlantic Ocean (63 studies), North Pacific Ocean (42 studies) and Mediterranean Sea (36 studies). Lesser studied areas included the South Pacific Ocean (14 studies), Indian Ocean (15 studies) and South Atlantic Ocean (21 studies) (Figure 4-2). Areas in the Southern Hemisphere such as the South Pacific (including Eastern Tropical Pacific), South Atlantic and Indian Ocean (including the Red Sea and Persian Gulf) received proportionately less attention despite being global hotspots for elasmobranch occurrence (Lucifora et al., 2011; Dulvy et al., 2014; Gray and Kennelly, 2018; Derrick et al., 2020). With a bias towards certain regions, we may not understand the full extent to which elasmobranchs are exposed to pollutants. This is especially concerning as large-scale commercial fisheries often overlap with these hotspots putting humans at risk from exposure to high concentrations of pollutants if they consume products from these areas (Lucifora et al., 2011; Ferretti et al., 2020). It is crucial that future studies focus on regions that have received less attention in order to accurately identify the global threats to marine organisms as well as the humans that consume these products.



Figure 4-2 Geographical distribution from studies published on pollutants in elasmobranchs. The numbers represent the number of studies performed for each ocean (North Pacific, South Pacific, North Atlantic, South Atlantic and Indian Ocean), with the coloured shading showing how many studies were conducted by each country. The number of studies were not even across area of study ( $\chi^2$  = 56.885, df = 5, p < 0.001) where more studies were published in the North Atlantic Ocean than other locations.

# 4.4.5. Concentrations of pollutants in elasmobranchs

A meta-analysis was carried out on the concentrations of THg, Cd, ΣPCBs and ΣDDTs in the muscle and liver tissue of different elasmobranch orders, as these were the most represented pollutants in the literature. A total of 108 from the initial 176 studies were included in the meta-analysis (74 studies on mercury, 35 on cadmium, 41 on ΣPCBs and 28 ΣDDTs). Within the literature there was variation in how

concentrations were reported as either dry weight, lipid weight or wet weight was used. To allow comparisons between pollutants and enable a human health risk assessment, only wet weight (n = 75) is discussed within the body of this review, however all dry weight and lipid weight data is presented in Supplementary Material 1 and 2 via Science Direct.

# 4.4.5.1. Total mercury (THg)

Mercury concentrations were significantly higher in muscle  $(1430 \pm 2330 \text{ ng})$  $g^{-1}$ ) than in liver tissue (522 ± 971 ng  $g^{-1}$ ) (Wilcoxon: W = 966, p < 0.001). Pairwise comparisons indicated that THg concentrations of muscle tissue in Carcharhiniformes  $(1520 \pm 1900 \text{ ng g}^{-1}, n = 826)$  and Lamniformes  $(2580 \pm 4790 \text{ ng g}^{-1}, n = 195)$  were significantly higher than concentrations in liver tissue (839  $\pm$  1438 ng g<sup>-1</sup>, n = 84 and 85.5  $\pm$  53.6 ng g<sup>-1</sup>, n = 108) (Figure 4-3). THg did not differ between orders in liver tissue (Kruskal – Wallis:  $\chi^2$  = 9.79, df = 5, p = 0.081), but did in muscle tissue (Kruskal – Wallis:  $\chi^2$  = 25.965, p < 0.01). A multiple comparison test on muscle tissue indicated that concentrations of mercury were higher in Carcharhiniformes (1520 ± 1900 ng g<sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup>, n = 1739), Lamniformes (2580 ± 4790 ng g<sup>-1</sup>, n = 508) and Squaliformes (1610 ± 1040 ng g<sup>-1</sup>, n = 415) than in Myliobatiformes (383 ± 350 ng g<sup>-1</sup>, n = 195) (Figure 4-3). Mercury concentrations in liver tissue ranged between 4 ng g<sup>-1</sup> in giant manta rays (*Mobula birostris*) (n = 6) caught along the coast of Takoradi, Ghana (Essumang, 2009) and 20,800 ng g<sup>-1</sup> in short fin mako sharks from Southern California, North Pacific (Lyons et al., 2015). Mercury concentrations in muscle tissue ranged between 4 ng g<sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup> in giant manta rays (n = 6) from Takoradi, Ghana (Essumang, 2009) and 4620 ng g<sup>-1</sup> in smooth tooth black tip sharks (*Carcharhinus leiodon*) (n = 7) from the Arabian Gulf (Moore et al., 2015).



Figure 4-3 Total mercury (THg) concentrations in the muscle and liver tissue of different elasmobranch groups reported globally. Values are reported in ng g<sup>-1</sup> on wet weight (w.w.) basis. The tolerable concentration of THg in one serving of fish (113 g) for adults indicated with a blue dashed line, and one serving of 28 g in children (two-years-old) with a red dashed line. The upper limit was set at 464  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> (ng g<sup>-1</sup>) per week for adults and the lower limit at 335  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> (ng g<sup>-1</sup>) per week in children (EPA, 2020).

# 4.4.5.2. Cadmium (Cd)

Cd concentrations were significantly higher in liver tissue (7050 ± 21200 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) than in muscle tissue (160 ± 397 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) (Wilcoxon: W = 917, p<0.001). Pairwise comparisons indicated that Carcharhiniformes (7730 ± 15100 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) and Rajiformes (16300 ± 34200 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) had significantly higher concentrations of Cd in muscle than liver tissue (451 ± 813 ng g<sup>-1</sup> and 115 ± 181 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) (Figure 4-3). Cd concentrations did

not differ between orders in muscle tissue (Kruskal – Wallis:  $\chi^2$  = 6.802, df = 6, p = 0.339) but did in liver tissue (Kruskal – Wallis:  $\chi^2$  =12.51, df = 5, p < 0.05). A multiple comparison test indicated that Carcharhiniformes (7730  $\pm$  15100 ng g<sup>-1</sup>, n = 84) had significantly higher concentrations of Cd in their liver than Torpediniformes (45 ± 19 ng g<sup>-1</sup>, n = 155) (Figure 4-4). The lowest concentrations of Cd in muscle tissue of 10 ng g<sup>-1</sup> were observed in sandy (*Leucoraja circularis*) (n = 20) and shagreen skates (Leucoraja fullonica) (n = 24) from Bay of Biscay and the Celtic Sea (Nicolaus et al., 2017), blue sharks (n = 20) from southwest waters of Portugal, North East Atlantic (Alves et al., 2016), and whitespotted bamboo sharks (Chiloscyllium plagiosum) (n=26) from the southern waters of Hong Kong (Cornish et al., 2007). The highest Cd concentrations in muscle tissue of 2000 ng g<sup>-1</sup> were observed in small tail sharks (Carcharhinus porosus) (n = 12) from Atlantic waters surrounding Trinidad and Tobago (Mohammed and Mohammed, 2017). Cd in the liver ranged between 17 ng g<sup>-1</sup> in giant manta rays (n = 6) from Takoradi, Ghana (Essumang, 2009) and 87,200 ng g<sup>-1</sup> lesser guitarfish (Acroteriobatus annulatus) (n = 19) from False Bay and Saldanha Bay, South Africa (Morris et al., 2016).



Figure 4-4 Cadmium (Cd) concentrations in the muscle and liver tissue of different elasmobranch groups reported globally. Values are reported in ng g<sup>-1</sup> on a wet weight (w.w.) basis. The maximum concentration of Cd in one serving (113 g) of fish for adults is indicated with a blue dashed line, and one serving of 28 g in children (two-years-old) with a red dashed line. The upper limit was set at 1660  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> (ng g<sup>-1</sup>) per week for adults and the lower limit at 1200  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> (ng g<sup>-1</sup>) per week in children (FAO and WHO, 2013; EFSA, 2011).

# 4.4.5.3. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)

ΣPCB concentrations were significantly greater in liver tissue (6380 ± 9720 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) than in muscle tissue (14 ± 14 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) (Wilcoxon: W = 125, p < 0.001), though a pairwise comparison did not indicate any significant differences within orders. No significant difference was observed in ΣPCB concentrations between each order in muscle (Kruskal – Wallis:  $\chi^2$  = 5.42, df = 3, p = 0.143) and liver tissue (Kruskal – Wallis:

 $\chi^2$  = 6.959, df = 3, p = 0.073) (Figure 4-5). Concentrations of  $\Sigma$ PCBs in muscle tissue ranged from 1 ng g<sup>-1</sup> in barndoor skates (*Dipturus laevis*) (n = 13) from Cape Cod, Massachusetts, USA (Lyons and Adams, 2017) to 44.5 ng  $g^{-1}$  in Greenland sharks (n =3) from North East Greenland waters (Corsolini et al., 2014). SPCBs in liver tissue ranged from 35.6 ng g<sup>-1</sup> in Greenland sharks (n = 43) from the Kongsfjorden area, Svalbard, Norway (Molde et al., 2013) to 30,000 ng g<sup>-1</sup> in one short fin mako shark from Huntington Beach, California, USA (Lyons et al., 2015). Although the total PCB concentration of elasmobranch orders are reported here, these values should be taken tentatively. Due to the different approaches of each study (i.e. taking a subset of PCBs or excluding DL-PCBs), it makes comparing PCB concentrations across orders and the two tissues types challenging. This is an inherent issue when comparing PCB data sets as researches use different analytical techniques and report "total PCBs" in different ways (Megson et al., 2019). Therefore, these values should only be used as a conservative guideline to indicate the potential health risks to elasmobranchs as well as humans consuming products deriving from elasmobranchs.



Figure 4-5 ΣPCB concentrations in the muscle and liver tissue of different elasmobranch groups reported globally. Values are reported in ng g<sup>-1</sup> on a wet weight (w.w.) basis. No tolerable limit was considered against this data due to inconsistencies in reporting PCB concentrations in the literature.

# 4.4.5.4. Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT)

ΣDDT concentrations were significantly greater in liver tissue (19500 ± 37100 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) than in muscle tissue (10 ± 14 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) (W = 145, p < 0.001). A pairwise comparison of muscle and liver tissue did not indicate any significant differences within each order (Figure 4-6). No significant differences were observed between orders for muscle (Kruskal – Wallis:  $\chi^2$  = 3.99, df = 4, p = 0.408) and liver tissue (Kruskal – Wallis:  $\chi^2$  = 4.08, df = 3, p = 0.253) (Figure 4-6). Concentrations in muscle tissue ranged from 0.28 ng g<sup>-1</sup> in barndoor skates (*n* = 1) collected in offshore waters adjacent to Cape Cod, Massachusetts, USA (Lyons and Adams, 2017) to 49.3 ng g<sup>-1</sup> in gulper sharks (*Centrophorus granulosus*) (*n* = 25) from the Mediterranean Sea (Storelli and Marcotrigiano, 2001). Concentrations in the liver ranged from 0.537 ng

g<sup>-1</sup> in Greenland sharks (n = 3) (Corsolini et al., 2014) from North East Greenland to 103,000 ng g<sup>-1</sup> in great white sharks (n = 30) from North Pacific waters surrounding California, USA (Lyons et al., 2013).



Figure 4-6  $\Sigma$ DDT concentrations in the muscle and liver tissue of different elasmobranch groups reported globally. Values are reported in ng g<sup>-1</sup> on a wet weight (w.w.) basis. The maximum concentration of DDT in one serving (113 g) of fish for adults is indicated with a blue dashed line, and one serving of 28 g in children (two-years-old) with a red dashed line. The upper limit was set at 6.64 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (6640 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) per week for adults and the lower limit at 4.79 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (4790 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) per week in children (WHO, 1961; WHO and FAO, 2000).

### 4.4.6. Risk to elasmobranchs

Elasmobranchs are exposed to high concentrations of pollutants throughout their lifetime. Sharks had higher concentrations of pollutants than rays and skates (Table 4-1), with the exception of Cd in bluntnose guitarfish (Acroteriobatus blochii) and lesser spotted guitarfish (Acroteriobatus annulatus) belonging to the order Rajiformes. Species belonging to the orders Carcharhiniformes and Lamniformes had the highest concentration of all four pollutants (Figure 4-3 to Figure 4-6). The variation observed between groups can be explained by the diversity of elasmobranchs, as well as their different habitats, size, age, trophic position, life strategies and diet (Pethybridge et al., 2010; Olin et al., 2014; Beaudry et al., 2015; Sandoval-Herrera et al., 2016; Matulik et al., 2017; McKinney et al., 2017; Morris et al., 2016). Many shark species are migratory predators that feed continuously and as pollutants can vary across geographic regions, species may be exposed to pollutants in different ways (Teffer et al., 2014). Trophic level data revealed that there was a significant positive correlation between THg concentration and trophic level in muscle tissue for sharks, rays and skates. A positive trend was observed between trophic level and concentration of PCBs and DDTs in both tissue types, and THg in liver tissue, however, these trends were not statistically significant which could be as a result of the limited data available. Interestingly Cd concentrations seemed to decrease as trophic level increased; this anomaly seemed to be primarily driven by high concentrations observed in three elasmobranch species (bluntnose and lesser spotted guitarfish, and megamouth shark).

Previous studies have found that sharks, rays and skates accumulate organic (e.g. PCBs, DDTs and organochlorines) and inorganic (e.g. trace elements) pollutants (Olin et al., 2014; Beaudry et al., 2015; Gilbert et al., 2015; Weijs et al., 2015; Cagnazzi et al., 2019). Elasmobranchs occupying high trophic positions also tend to be longlived and large-sized, mature late, and have relatively few offspring, which allows for the bioaccumulation of pollutants (Fisk et al., 2002; Cagnazzi et al., 2019; Matulik et al., 2017; McKinney et al., 2016). As well as bioaccumulation, trophic level analysis revealed strong evidence of biomagnification of organic and inorganic pollutants through the food chain. The lowest concentrations of pollutants were observed in rays and skates, especially THg and Cd in giant manta rays. Giant manta rays are secondary consumers that predominantly feed on zooplankton (e.g. krill, shrimp and crabs), which means they may not accumulate pollutants at the same rate as some of the other rays and skates that feed on larger prey (Essumang, 2009; Bezerra et al. 2019; Burgess et al., 2016). Further discussion on pollutant accumulation and risks to Batoids can be found in Bezerra et al., (2019).

There are currently no toxic thresholds for tolerable concentrations of pollutants in elasmobranchs. Studies have suggested that pollutants, such as Hg and Cd, can alter the reproductive physiology of sharks, rays and skates (Molde et al., 2013; Mull et al., 2013; Bendall et al., 2014; Rumbold et al., 2014; Terrazas-López et al., 2016; Bezerra et al., 2019). Elasmobranchs have also been shown to maternally offload a wide range of pollutants to their offspring (Bezerra et al. 2019; Olin et al., 2014; Gilbert, Baduel, et al., 2015; Lyons and Lowe, 2015; Weijs et al., 2015; van Hees and Ebert, 2017). This poses a significant health risk to developing embryos and shark pups as they start their life with higher concentrations of pollutants and will continue to bioaccumulate these contaminants throughout their lifetime (De Boeck et al., 2010; Mull et al., 2013; Olin et al., 2014; Frías-espericueta et al., 2015; Lyons and Adams, 2015; McKinney et al., 2016). One recent study indicated that white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*) did not exhibit physiological responses (i.e. no change in enzymatic conditions and leukocyte counts) that would usually be expected when

organisms are exposed to high concentrations of heavy metals (Merly et al., 2019). This suggests that some species may be more tolerant to pollutant exposure or are able to biotransform and eliminate organic pollutants (e.g. DDTs and PCBs) more effectively than other species (Corsolini et al., 2014). More studies are needed to assess the risks of pollutants in elasmobranchs to accurately identify any adverse health effects and improve our understanding of the fate and transport of pollutants inside these organisms.

Due to the absence of toxic threshold of ΣPCBs in sharks, concentrations in this study were compared to the "applied" toxic threshold of ΣPCBs in marine mammals as set by Jepson et al. of at lowest 9 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and at highest 41 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (lipid weight) (Helle et al., 1976; Jepson et al., 2016). Short fin mako sharks and bull sharks exceed the lowest toxicity threshold, with concentrations in their muscle and liver tissue exceeding 37 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> lipid weight. Studies carried out on marine mammals and teleost fish have found an association between exposure to pollutants and neurological disorders, structural damage to organs and gills, reduced fertility, reproductive developmental effects, oxidative stress, and cancer (Tanabe et al., 1983; Evans, 1987; Blocksom et al., 2010; Pandey, Govind and Madhuri, 2014; Sharma et al., 2014; Jepson et al., 2016; Desforges et al., 2018; Cagnazzi et al., 2019). More research is needed to confirm if elasmobranchs exhibit the same physiological effects that have been established in marine mammals and teleost fish.

More attention has been paid to the risks towards humans who consume shark meat rather than how pollutants affect the organisms themselves. The large amount of resources, funding, time, and planning required, as well as the shy and migratory behaviour of some species, make sampling for elasmobranchs incredibly

204

difficult. This may also explain the opportunistic nature of some studies. The negative portrayal of sharks in the media and in movies such as 'Jaws', 'The Shallows', 'Sharknado' (series of films) and 'The Meg' has made gathering support for their conservation extremely difficult (Reynolds et al., 2005; Simpfendorfer et al., 2011; Friedrich et al., 2014). Seeking funding to carry out pollutant monitoring programs for elasmobranchs is challenging and funding may support projects on species that are often associated with a positive public perception such as marine mammals, sea birds and turtles, rather than sharks, rays and skates.

Determining the exposure risk in elasmobranchs is difficult as there are differences among taxonomic groups, but also among orders, families and species. The high concentrations found in this study suggest that elasmobranchs could be negatively impacted, though to date research on the health impacts of pollutant exposure in elasmobranchs has typically been less extensive than in humans. Establishing baseline thresholds for pollutants in elasmobranchs poses a significant challenge; nevertheless, they currently represent one of the most vulnerable and atrisk taxa (Dulvy et al., 2014; IUCN, 2020) and therefore there is an urgent need to fully understand their susceptibility to pollutant exposure. The urgency is further underlined by the current rapid loss of species, which is driven by existing threats including overfishing, habitat loss, and climate change. Table 4-1 Mean  $\pm$  SD THg, Cd,  $\Sigma$ PCB and  $\Sigma$ DDT concentrations in the muscle and liver tissue of superorder Selachimorpha and Batoidea expressed in ng g<sup>-1</sup> on a wet weight basis.

Pollutant	Basis	Tissue	Selachimorpha	Batoidea	Sig
THg	Wet Weight	Muscle	1670 ± 2580	598 ± 546	***
		Liver	538 ± 1150	498 ± 666	NS
Cd	Wet Weight	Muscle	272 ± 634	97 ± 142	*
		Liver	4710 ± 10800	8220 ± 25000	*
ΣPCBs	Wet Weight	Muscle	15 ± 14	1	NS
		Liver	6820 ± 9970	625	NS
ΣDDTs	Wet Weight	Muscle	11 ± 14	0.28	NS
		Liver	2140 ± 38100	89	NS

Significant differences in pollutant concentrations between Selachimorpha and Batoidea were indicated at \* <0.05, \*\* <0.01, \*\*\* <0.001. NS = p > 0.05.

### 4.4.7. Human health risks

### 4.4.7.1. Human consumption

The consumption of shark is probably best recognised through the shark fin trade (e.g. shark fin soup), though other important exposure pathways are through the use of traditional Chinese medicine (e.g. gill plates), intake of dietary supplements (e.g. liver oil and cartilage supplements) and use of cosmetic products (Wong et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2013; Dulvy et al., 2014; Fields et al., 2015; Zeng et al., 2016; Cardeñosa et al., 2017; Steinke et al., 2017; Almerón-Souza et al., 2018; Ferretti et al., 2020). Cases of mislabelling and species substitution are becoming increasingly prevalent, with evidence also showing an increased occurrence of mislabelling in ray and skate species (Barbuto et al., 2010; Filonzi et al., 2017; Almerón-Souza et al., 2014; Dulvy et al., 2014; Zeng et al., 2016; Staffen et al., 2017; Almerón-Souza et al., 2018; Wainwright et al., 2018; Hellberg et al., 2019; Hobbs et al., 2019; Pazartzi et al., 2019). This could be due to the advances in genetic tools for species identification (Barcaccia et al., 2016), but also the monetary incentives from selling shark, ray or skate meat as more highly valued and expensive species (e.g. tuna, swordfish, mackerel and bonito), as elasmobranchs often represent lower market values and are caught as bycatch (Filonzi et al., 2010). The decrease in landings for commercial bony fish may also put a strain on commercial fisheries (Mullon et al., 2005; Pinsky et al., 2011), resulting in an increase in fraudulent sales of other fish, such as sharks, rays and skates.

Food fraud and product mislabelling have occurred throughout history (Spink and Moyer, 2011; Johnson, 2014): a well-known case is the 'horse meat scandal' (2013), where horse meat was sold as beef (Walker et al., 2013). Food mislabelling is of great concern to the safety of consumers as they may be exposed to allergens (or in the case of sharks, high concentrations of pollutants), without their knowledge. Recent studies have found shark meat in countries where shark is not known to be a primary fish source. Examples of mislabelling include the UK where shark was sold as cod in fish and chip shops (Hobbs et al., 2019) and substitution of threatened sharks (CITES) as non-threatened species in Brazil, Greece, and the USA, amongst others (Bornatowski et al., 2014; Almerón-Souza et al., 2018; Hellberg et al., 2019; Pazartzi et al., 2019; Bernardo et al., 2020). Mislabelling and substitution thus represents not only a threat to vulnerable species of sharks, but also to the consumers of sharks and shark-based products.

### 4.4.7.2. Hazard quotients

Hazard quotients were calculated based on the recommended weekly and monthly intake (where applicable) for THg, Cd and ΣDDTs (Table 4-2). The minimum and maximum consumption limits were based on the most vulnerable and most-atrisk individuals; females and children. The adult weight was based on a woman of 75 kg, and the children's weight based on a two-year-old female of 13.4 kg and 11-yearold female of 47.5 kg. The average serving size of 113 g (four ounces) of fish was based on the US EPA's advice for adults and children (aged 11); for children aged two the average serving size was 28 g (EPA, 2020). People consume fish between one to three times per week, though young children on average consume only one serving per week (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2011; EPA, 2020). Exposure risk was calculated using the average pollutant concentrations in the muscle tissue of sharks, as this was considered to be the most likely tissue type to be consumed. Table 4-2 Hazard Quotients (HQ) were calculated for Cd, THg and ΣDDT indicating the minimum and maximum risk humans would have from consuming shark meat one to three times per week.

	Hazard Quotient			
	Hg	Cd	ΣDDT	
Adult				
(Female aged 20 yrs or over	10.8	0.5	0.00071	
eating 3x per week)				
Adult				
(Female aged 20 yrs or over	3.6	0.164	0.000236	
eating 1x per week)				
Child (11 yr old female eating 3x	17	0.776	0.00112	
per week)				
Child (11 yr old female eating 1x				
per week)	5.69	0.258	0.000373	
Child				
(2 yr old female eating 3x per	15	0.68	0.00099	
week)				
Child				
(2 yr old female eating 1x per	5	0.228	0.000329	
week)				

# 4.4.7.2.1. Mercury (Hg)

Mercury can be present in the environment in several different forms (organic, inorganic and elemental); within the literature the majority of studies reported on THg and many did not report separately on methylmercury (MeHg) as it makes up 70-100% of total mercury in elasmobranchs (Storelli et al., 2003; Krystek and Ritsema,

2005; Pethybridge et al., 2010; de Carvalho et al., 2014; Rumbold et al., 2014; Alves et al., 2016; Torres et al., 2016; Mohammed and Mohammed, 2017; Chouvelon et al., 2018). The provisional tolerable weekly intake (PTWI) for humans was based on MeHg and was used to calculate the safe consumption limit of mercury in shark muscle tissue for adults and children (FAO and WHO, 2006; EPA, 2020) (Table 4-2). There is currently no scientific consensus on the PTWI of MeHg: the EFSA and WHO recommend a higher PTWI of 1.3 and 1.6 ng g<sup>-1</sup> of body weight (bw) week<sup>-1</sup> respectively, whilst US EPA recommends a more conservative PTWI of 0.7 ng g<sup>-1</sup> of bw week<sup>-1</sup> (FAO and WHO, 2006; EFSA, 2012; EPA, 2020). Hazard quotients were derived based on the US EPA's PTWI given the human health implications of over consumption of mercury (Table 4-2). Hazard quotients were calculated using the mean concentration of Hg in shark muscle tissue was 1670 ng g<sup>-1</sup> on a wet weight basis (Table 4-2).

### 4.4.7.2.2. Cadmium

The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), World Health Organisation (WHO) and the Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO) set PTWI of Cd from food at 2.5 ng g<sup>-1</sup> of bw week<sup>-1</sup> for all age groups (FAO and WHO, 2013; EFSA, 2011). The mean Cd level in shark muscle tissue was 272 ng g<sup>-1</sup> on a wet weight basis. This value was used to determine hazard quotas for adults and children aged between two and 11 years old (Table 4-2). Although there is less risk of consuming shark muscle meat, Cd concentrations in the liver were much higher (maximum 4710 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) and therefore shark products should be consumed with caution as Cd is especially toxic to kidneys, accumulating over time leading to renal dysfunction (Figure 4-5) (EFSA, 2011).

### 4.4.7.2.3. DDTs

The provisional tolerable daily intake (PTDI) of  $\Sigma$ DDT as set by the FAO and WHO is 10 ng g<sup>-1</sup> of bw (70 ng g<sup>-1</sup> of bw week<sup>-1</sup>) (WHO, 1961) which was confirmed at the Joint Meeting of Pesticide Residues (JMPR) (FAO and WHO) in 2001 (WHO and FAO, 2000). The mean concentration of  $\Sigma$ DDT in shark muscle tissue was 11 ng g<sup>-1</sup>. Maximum and minimum hazard quotients for children (aged two and 11 years old) and adults were less than 0.01, which indicated that there is a limited risk from exposure to DDT in shark meat when consumed one to three times per week Table 4-2). Similarly to Cd, concentrations of  $\Sigma$ DDT were higher in the liver of sharks, especially in Lamniformes (41,000 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), and therefore shark products should be consumed with caution (Figure 4-6).

# 4.4.7.2.4. PCBs

It's challenging to accurately identify the risks to human health posed by PCBs based on the available data in the literature. The health risks from PCBs are calculated using the 12 DL-PCB and PCDD/Fs (FAO and WHO, 1991; van den Berg et al., 1998, 2006; WHO, 2010; Megson et al., 2019) however only three studies out of the 41 on PCBs reported concentrations of all 12 DL-PCBs, with the rest of the data being based on a subset of PCBs (e.g. i7 PCBs) or a "total" PCB concentration ( $\Sigma$ PCB) calculated using anywhere between seven to 55 PCBs (Supplementary Material 3). This is possibly because the aim of many of these studies was to undertake a baseline screening assessment rather than undertake a detailed human and animal health risk assessment. Studies that reported on the 12 DL-PCBs observed high concentrations (wet weight basis) in the liver (43 ± 6 pg g<sup>-1</sup>) and muscle tissue (36 ± 6 pg g<sup>-1</sup>) and Greenland sharks (Corsolini et al., 2014), and in the liver (45972 ± 43967 pg g<sup>-1</sup>) and

muscle tissue (103  $\pm$  77 pg g<sup>-1</sup>) of blue sharks (Alves et al., 2016). Corsolini et al. (2014) reported a WHO<sub>2005</sub> toxic equivalence (TEQ) of 5.23 pg TEQ g<sup>-1</sup> in the muscle tissue of Greenland sharks and Alves et al. (2016) 0.0140 pg TEQ g<sup>-1</sup> (wet weight) in the muscle tissue of blue sharks (van den Berg et al., 2006).

Due to the limited of the data available, only a preliminary human risk assessment could be undertaken. Hazard quotients were calculated based on the EFSA's conservative TWI of 2 pg TEQ kg<sup>-1</sup> of bw week<sup>-1</sup> (Knutsen et al., 2019). This indicated that adults and children would be exposed to over three times more dioxins and DL-PCBs when consuming muscle tissue from Greenland sharks (Adult HQ = 3.9x, Child aged 11 HQ = 6.2x and Child aged two HQ = 5.5x). Although the total DL-PCB concentration was greater in muscle tissue from blue sharks, when this was converted to a TEQ risk assessment, it indicated that there was a lower risk (HQ = 0.1) from consuming blue shark meat. As POPs are more lipophilic, dioxins and DL-PCBs accumulate in higher concentrations in the liver than in muscle tissue, therefore there may be a significant risk from consuming products derived from the liver that should be investigated (e.g. liver oil capsules, and skin care products that are put directly onto skin). In addition, PCBs are just a subset of dioxin-like-compounds (DLCs) which exhibit the same toxic mode of action. Therefore, to properly assess health risks future studies should also consider determining concentrations of other dioxins and DLCs such as polychlorinated naphthalene (PCNs), polybrominated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans (PBDD/Fs) and mixed halogenated dioxins/furans (PxDD/Fs). This assessment indicated that there may be a significant risk to a human health from consuming DLCs in shark meat. However, more studies that focus on determining

DLCs in sharks and shark-based products are needed to accurately assess the human health risks.

### 4.4.7.3. Human health recommendations

The data gathered from this review indicated that humans should avoid consuming shark meat (specifically muscle tissue) as they would be exposed to high levels of mercury. Although there were no observed risks from Cd or DDT in muscle tissue, the higher concentrations in the liver suggest that shark products should be consumed with caution. One serving of shark meat (113 g for adults and 11-year-olds; 28 g for 2-year-olds) would expose adults and children to over three times the maximum recommended mercury consumption limit, and could lead to them experiencing toxic effects (Table 4-1) (Mohammed and Mohammed, 2017; EPA, 2020). Similar findings were observed by the US EPA and in numerous other studies reporting on mercury in sharks (Gomes Ferreira et al., 2004; Burger and Gochfeld, 2011; Escobar-Sánchez et al., 2011; Lopez et al., 2013; Lyons et al., 2013; Olmedo et al., 2013; Vélez-Alavez et al., 2013; Man et al., 2014; Nalluri et al., 2014; Teffer et al., 2014; Corsolini et al., 2014; de Carvalho et al., 2014; Gilbert, Reichelt-Brushett, et al., 2015; Kiszka et al., 2015; Alves et al., 2016; Biton-Porsmoguer et al., 2018; Cagnazzi et al., 2019). Although the US EPA's recommendations of avoiding shark meat are in line with this study, our data indicates that their current limit of 980 ng g<sup>-1</sup> may be underestimating the risk as average mercury concentrations in sharks exceed this value by 66% (1670 ng  $g^{-1}$ ).

It should also be noted that this value was an average for all sharks. People consuming sharks from the orders Carcharhiniformes and Lamniformes would be at greater risk as the average mercury concentration in these species exceeded 4000 ng

213

g<sup>-1</sup>. This is concerning as species belonging to these elasmobranch orders have the highest economic value and so are one of the most targeted group of sharks in the international fin and meat trade. Species include blue sharks (28 studies), silky sharks (*Carcharhinus falciformis*) (6 studies), dusky sharks (*C. obscurus*) (9 studies), sandbar sharks (*C. plumbeus*) (6 studies), tiger sharks (*Galeocerdo cuvier*) (6 studies), hammerheads (*Sphyrna* spp.), bull sharks (*C. leucas*) (14 studies), short fin mako sharks (22 studies), thresher sharks (*Alopias* spp.) (12 studies), and oceanic white tips (*C. longimanus*) (5 studies) (Clarke et al., 2006; Worm et al., 2013; Gray and Kennelly, 2018; Ferretti et al., 2020).

The concentrations of mercury in sharks are greater than other regularly consumed fish species, such as marlin (490 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), king mackerel (730 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), swordfish (1000 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), and bigeye tuna (690 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) (EPA, 2020). There is evidence that humans that live in coastal areas, especially those who work in the fishing industry, eat twice as much fish as the general population; these groups are therefore likely to be at a greater risk than the general population (Svensson et al., 1995; Leng et al., 2009). Limited biomonitoring studies on these groups have revealed elevated concentrations of POPs (e.g. PCBs and PCDD/Fs) and trace elements (e.g. methylmercury) in their blood and semen (Svensson et al., 1995; Chien et al., 2002; Kiviranta et al., 2002; Toft et al., 2006; Rignell-Hydbom et al., 2007; Cheng et al., 2009). As these individuals are most at risk of pollutant exposure, it is crucial that they are aware of these threats. Any programs that are put into place to outline the health risks to consumers should acknowledge the importance of elasmobranchs for their livelihood and work to provide alternatives for communities that depend on fishing.

Although the focus of this study has been on the consumption of shark muscle tissue, it is important to acknowledge a potential exposure pathway from products deriving from shark liver, including shark liver oil, as well as a potential risk from consuming products deriving from rays and skates (Bezerra et al., 2019). The elevated concentrations of Cd, DDT, and PCBs within the liver of sharks suggest that, if anything, risks to human health are exacerbated when shark liver rather than shark muscle is considered. In some cases, for example for PCBs and DDTs in Carcharhiniformes, Lamniformes and Rajiformes, concentrations were higher than in muscle tissue, which highlights the risk from consuming any elasmobranch product. The consumption of elasmobranchs is thus a global health concern, especially in commonly traded species, such as smooth and scalloped hammerheads, short fin mako and blue sharks with the highest concentrations. The risks associated with the consumption of elasmobranch products makes it essential that governments, regulators, and seafood inspectors identify and track products that are sold in their country as well as the products that are imported and exported.

# 4.5. Knowledge gaps and future recommendations

This review was performed on 176 studies focussing on pollutants in elasmobranchs published between 1999 and 2019. Elevated concentrations were observed for common pollutants such as Hg, Cd, DDT, and PCBs, although very little is known about emerging toxic pollutants such as PFAS, dioxin-like-compounds, and halogenated flame retardants. Even for commonly reported pollutants, the limited number of studies indicates that there is a huge gap in our knowledge on the health impacts of pollutant exposure in sharks, rays and skates. With their diverse and complicated life history, comparing elasmobranchs to other taxa such as marine mammals and bony fish could mean we are not accurately assessing their health risks. Most of the studies that discussed the potential health risks in elasmobranchs found that there was little or no evidence to prove these risks, though the high concentrations found in this study suggest that their health could be greatly impacted. There was also a greater focus on the risk to humans and so there is a critical need to understand the effect of these contaminants in elasmobranchs. Global trends and long-term changes in pollutant concentrations (i.e. further evidence of bioaccumulation) could not be inferred as there was not much consistency between species and pollutants studied. We suggest the development of a database, such as the Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF, 2020), where all data on pollutants in elasmobranchs can be collated to determine trends over time, between species, taxa, gender, age, size, geographic location, etc.

Future studies should aim to focus their research on areas that have received less attention (e.g. the South Pacific, Indian Ocean and Red Sea) in order to accurately identify the global threats to elasmobranchs. This is especially crucial as in combination with threats from pollutant exposure, overfishing, habitat loss, and climate change, there may be an accelerated loss of already vulnerable species. There is also a need for biomonitoring programs that aim at providing long term information on the bioaccumulation and exposure risks of pollutants in elasmobranchs, as well as the threats for humans that consume elasmobranch related products.
## **Supplementary Information**

Supplementary information for this chapter can be found online at Science Direct

(https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0025326X20308195#s0140)

and includes:

Supplementary Material 1.

Supplementary Material 2.

Supplementary Material 3.

Almerón-Souza, F., Sperb, C., Castilho, C.L., Figueiredo, P.I.C.C., Gonçalves, L.T., Machado, R., Oliveira, L.R., Valiati, V.H. and Fagundes, N.J.R. (2018) 'Molecular identification of shark meat from local markets in southern Brazil based on DNA barcoding: evidence for mislabeling and trade of endangered species.' *Frontiers in Genetics*, 9 pp. 1-12.

Alomar, C. and Deudero, S. (2017) 'Evidence of microplastic ingestion in the shark *Galeus melastomus* Rafinesque, 1810 in the continental shelf off the western Mediterranean Sea.' *Environmental Pollution*, 223 pp. 223-229.

Alves, L.M.F., Nunes, M., Marchand, P., Le Bizec, B., Mendes, S., Correia, J.P.S., Lemos, M.F.L. and Novais, S.C. (2016) 'Blue sharks (*Prionace glauca*) as bioindicators of pollution and health in the Atlantic Ocean: contamination levels and biochemical stress responses.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 563–564 pp. 282-292.

Barboza, L.G.A. and Gimenez,B.C.G. (2015) 'Microplastics in the marine environment: current trends and future perspectives.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 97 (1–2) pp. 5-12. Barbuto, M., Galimberti, A., Ferri, E., Labra, M., Malandra, R., Galli, P. and Casiraghi, M. (2010) 'DNA barcoding reveals fraudulent substitutions in shark seafood products: the Italian case of "palombo" (*Mustelus* spp.).' *Food Research International*, 43 (1) pp. 376-381.

Barcaccia, G., Lucchin, M. and Cassandro, M. (2016) 'DNA barcoding as a molecular tool to track down mislabeling and food piracy.' *Diversity*, 8 (1) pp. 1-16.

Barone, G., Dambrosio, A., Storelli, A., Garofalo, R., Busco, V. P. and Storelli, M.M. (2018) 'Estimated dietary intake of trace metals from swordfish consumption: a human health problem.' *Toxics*, 6 (22) pp. 1-11.

Beaudry, M.C., Hussey, N.E., Mcmeans, B.C., Mcleod, A.M., Wintner, S.P., Cliff, G., Dudley, S.F.J.J. and Fisk, A.T. (2015) 'Comparative organochlorine accumulation in two ecologically similar shark species (*Carcharodon carcharias* and *Carcharhinus obscurus*) with divergent uptake based on different life history.' Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 34 (9) pp. 2051–2060.

Bendall, V.A., Barber, J.L., Papachlimitzou, A., Bolam, T., Warford, L., Hetherington, S.J., Silva, J.F., McCully, S.R., Losada, S., Maes, T., Ellis, J.R. and Law, R.J. (2014) 'Organohalogen contaminants and trace metals in north-east Atlantic porbeagle shark (*Lamna nasus*).' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 85 (1) pp. 280–286.

Bernardo, C., Corr, A.M., Lima, D., Paes, V., Foresti, F., Loose, R.H. and Bornatowski, H. (2020) 'The label "Cação" is a shark or a ray and can be a threatened species! Elasmobranch trade in southern Brazil unveiled by DNA barcoding.' *Marine Policy*, 116 pp. 103920.

Bezerra, M.F., Lacerda, L.D. and Lai, C.T. (2019) 'Trace metals and persistent organic pollutants contamination in batoids (Chondrichthyes: Batoidea): a systematic review.' *Environmental Pollution*, 248 pp. 684–695.

Biton-Porsmoguer, S., Bănaru, D., Boudouresque, C.F., Dekeyser, I., Bouchoucha, M., Marco-Miralles, F., Lebreton, B., Guillou, G. and Harmelin-Vivien, M. (2018) 'Mercury in blue shark (*Prionace glauca*) and shortfin mako (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) from North-Eastern Atlantic: implication for fishery management.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 127 pp. 131–138.

Blocksom, K.A., Walters, D.M., Jicha, T.M., Lazorchak, J.M., Angradi, T.R. and Bolgrien, D.W. (2010) 'Persistent organic pollutants in fish tissue in the mid-continental great rivers of the United States.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 408 (5) pp. 1180–1189.

Bornatowski, H., Braga, R.R. and Vitule, J.R.S. (2014) 'Threats to sharks in a developing country: the need for effective and simple conservation measures.' *Nature Conservation*, 12 (1) pp. 11–18.

Boucher, J. and Friot, D. (2017) *Primary Microplastics in the Oceans: A Global Evaluation of Sources.* [Online] Gland, Switzerland: IUCN. [Accessed on 12<sup>th</sup> May 2023] <u>https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/files/documents/2017-002-</u> En.pdf

Bruce-Vanderpuije, P., Megson, D., Reiner, E.J., Bradley, L., Adu-Kumi, S. and Gardella, J.A. (2019) 'The state of POPs in Ghana- a review on persistent organic pollutants: environmental and human exposure.' Environmental Pollution, 245 pp. 331–342.

Brunner, E.J., Jones, P.J.S., Friel, S. and Bartley, M., 2009. 'Fish, human health and marine ecosystem health: policies in collision.' *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 38 (1) pp. 93–100.

Burger, J. and Gochfeld, M. (2011) 'Mercury and selenium levels in 19 species of saltwater fish from New Jersey as a function of species, size, and season.' Science of the Total Environment, 409(8) pp. 1418–1429.

Burgess, K.B., Couturier, L.I.E., Marshall, A.D., Richardson, A.J., Weeks, S.J. and Bennett, M.B. (2016) '*Manta birostris*, predator of the deep? Insight into the diet of the giant manta ray through stable isotope analysis.' *Royal Society Open Science*, 3 (11) pp. 1-9.

Cagnazzi, D., Consales, G., Broadhurst, M. K. and Marsili, L. (2019) 'Bioaccumulation of organochlorine compounds in large, threatened elasmobranchs off northern New South Wales, Australia.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, Elsevier, 139 pp. 263–269.

Cardeñosa, D., Fields, A., Abercrombie, D., Feldheim, K., Shea, S.K.H. and Chapman, D.D. (2017) 'A multiplex PCR mini-barcode assay to identify processed shark products in the global trade.' *PLoS One*, 12 (10) pp. 1-9.

Cheng, J., Gao, L., Zhao, W., Liu, X., Sakamoto, M. and Wang, W. (2009) 'Mercury levels in fisherman and their household members in Zhoushan, China: impact of public health.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 407(8) pp. 2625–2630.

Chien, L.C., Hung, T.C., Choang, K.Y., Yeh, C.Y., Meng, P.J., Shieh, M.J. and Han, B.C. (2002) 'Daily intake of TBT, cu, Zn, cd and as for fishermen in Taiwan.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 285 (1–3) pp. 177–185.

Chouvelon, T., Cresson, P., Bouchoucha, M., Brach-Papa, C., Bustamante, P., Crochet, S., Marco-Miralles, F., Thomas, B. and Knoery, J. (2018) 'Oligotrophy as a major driver of mercury bioaccumulation in medium-to high-trophic level consumers: a marine ecosystem-comparative study.' *Environmental Pollution*, 233 pp. 844–854.

Clarke, S.C., McAllister, M.K., Milner-Gulland, E.J., Kirkwood, G.P., Michielsens, C.G.J.J., Agnew, D.J., Pikitch, E.K., Nakano, H. and Shivji, M.S. (2006) 'Global estimates of shark catches using trade records from commercial markets.' *Ecology Letters*, 9 (10) pp. 1115–1126.

Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Halsband, C. and Galloway, T.S. (2011) 'Microplastics as contamination the marine environment: a review.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62 (12) pp. 2588–2597.

Cornish, A.S., Ng, W.C., Ho, V.C.M., Wong, H.L., Lam, J.C.W., Lam, P.K.S. and Leung, K.M.Y. (2007) 'Trace metals and organochlorines in the bamboo shark *Chiloscyllium plagiosum* from the southern waters of Hong Kong, China.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 376 (1–3) pp. 335–345.

Corsolini, S., Ancora, S., Bianchi, N., Mariotti, G., Leonzio, C. and Christiansen, J.S. (2014) 'Organotropism of persistent organic pollutants and heavy metals in the Greenland shark *Somniosus microcephalus* in NE Greenland.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 87 (1) pp. 381–387.

Cresson, P., Fabri, M.C., Miralles, F.M., Dufour, J.L., Elleboode, R., Sevin, K., Mahé, K. and Bouchoucha, M. (2016) 'Variability of PCB burden in 5 fish and shark species of the French Mediterranean continental slope'. *Environmental Pollution*, 212 pp. 374– 381.

de Boeck, G., Eyckmans, M., Lardon, I., Bobbaers, R., Sinha, A. K. and Blust, R. (2010) 'Metal accumulation and metallothionein induction in the spotted dogfish *Scyliorhinus canicula.*' *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology*, 155(4) pp. 503–508.

de Carvalho, G.G.A., Degaspari, I.A.M. and Branco, V. (2014) 'Assessment of Total and organic mercury levels in blue sharks (*Prionace glauca*) from the south and southeastern Brazilian coast.' *Biological Trace Element Research*, 159 pp. 128–134.

Derraik, J.G.B. (2002) 'The pollution of the marine environment by plastic debris: a review.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 44 (9) pp. 842–852.

Derrick, D.H., Cheok, J. and Dulvy, N.K. (2020) 'Spatially congruent sites of importance for global shark and ray biodiversity.' *PLoS One*, 15 (7) pp. 1-19.

Desforges, J.P., Hall, A., McConnell, B., Rosing-Asvid, A., Barber, J.L., Brownlow, A., De Guise, S., Eulaers, I., Jepson, P.D., Letcher, R.J., Levin, M., Ross, P.S., Samarra, F., Víkingson, G., Sonne, C. and Dietz, R. (2018) 'Predicting global killer whale population collapse from PCB pollution.' *Science*, 361 (6409) pp. 1373–1376.

Dulvy, N.K., Baum, J.K., Clarke, S., Compagno, L.J.V., Cortés, E., Domingo, A., Fordham, S., Fowler, S., Francis, M.P., Gibson, C., Martínez, J., Musick, J.A., Soldo, A., Stevens, J.D. and Valenti, S. (2008) 'You can swim but you can't hide: the global status and conservation of oceanic pelagic sharks and rays.' *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 18 pp. 459–582.

Dulvy, N.K., Fowler, S.L., Musick, J.A., Cavanagh, R.D., Kyne, P.M., Harrison, L.R., Carlson, J.K., Davidson, L.N. k, Fordham, S.V., Francis, M.P., Pollock, C.M., Simpfendorfer, C.A., Burgess, G.H., Carpenter, K.E., Compagno, L.J. v, Ebert, D.A., Gibson, C., Heupel, M.R., Livingstone, S.R., Sanciangco, J.C., Stevens, J.D., Valenti, S. and White, W.T. (2014) 'Extinction risk and conservation of the world's sharks and rays.' *eLife*, 3.

Ebert, D.A., Fowler, S.L. and Campango, L.J. (2013) *Sharks of the World: A Fully Illustrated Guide*. Wild Nature Press.

EEA. (2018) Mercury in Europe's Environment - A Priority for European and Global Action. EEA, Copenhagen (20219947452).

EFSA. (2011). 'Statement on tolerable weekly intake for cadmium. European food safety authority.' *EFSA J*, 9 (2) p. 1975.

EFSA. (2012) 'Scientific Opinion on the risk for public health related to the presence of mercury and methylmercury in food.' *EFSA J*, 10 (12) p. 2985.

Knutsen, H.K., Alexander, J., Barreg, L., Ceccatelli, S., Cottrill, B., Dinovi, M., Edler, L., Grasl-kraupp, B., Hogstrand, C., Nebbia, C.S., Oswald, I.P., Petersen, A., Rose, M., Roudot, A., Schwerdtle, T., Vleminckx, C., Helen, H., Wallace, H., Peter, F., Halldorsson, T., Lundebye, A., Pohjanvirta, R., Rylander, L., Smith, A., Loveren, H. Van, Christoph, E., Ciccolallo, L., Bordajandi, L.R., Steinkeller, H. and Hoogenboom, L. (2019) 'EFSA: risk for animal and human health related to the presence of dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in feed and food.' *EFSA J*, 16 (11) pp. 1–331.

El-Shahawi, M. S., Hamza, A., Bashammakh, A. S. and Al-Saggaf, W. T. (2010) 'An overview on the accumulation, distribution, transformations, toxicity and analytical methods for the monitoring of persistent organic pollutants.' *Talanta*, 80(5) pp. 1587–1597.

EPA. (2020) *EPA-FDA Advice about Eating Fish and Shellfish*. Environment Protection Agency (EPA). [Online]. [Accessed on 10th February 2020] <u>https://www.epa.gov/fish-tech/epa-fda-advice-about-eating-fish-and-shellfish</u>

Escobar-Sánchez, O., Galván-Magaña, F. and Rosíles-Martínez, R. (2011) 'Biomagnification of mercury and selenium in blue shark *Prionace glauca* from the Pacific Ocean off Mexico.' *Biological Trace Element Research*, 144 (1–3) pp. 550–559. Essumang, D.K. (2009) 'Analysis and human health risk assessment of arsenic, cadmium, and mercury in *Manta birostris* (manta ray) caught along the Ghanaian coastline.' *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: And International Journal*, 15 (5) pp. 985–998.

Evans, D.H. (1987) 'The fish gill: site of action and model for toxic effects of environmental pollutants.' *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 71 (8) pp. 47–58.

FAO and WHO. (1991). 'Evaluation of certain food additives and contaminants.' *Thirtyseventh report of the joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA).* World Health Organisation, Geneva, Switzerland, 5<sup>th</sup> -14<sup>th</sup> June 1990, 806 pp. 1–52 [Online] [Access on 12<sup>th</sup> of May 2023]

https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/40288

FAO and WHO. (2006). 'Safety evaluation of certain contaminants in food.' *Sixtyfourth meeting of the joint FAO/WHO expert committee on food additives (JECFA).* World Health Organisation, pp. 1–778. [Online] [Accessed on 12<sup>th</sup> May 2023] https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43406

FAO and WHO. (2013) 'Evaluation of certain food additives and contaminants.' Seventy-seventh report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA). World Health Organisation. Rome, Italy, 2013. [Online] [Accessed on 12<sup>th</sup> of May 2023]

https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43406

Ferretti, F., Jacoby, D.M.P., Pfleger, M.O., White, T.D., Dent, F., Micheli, F., Rosenberg, A.A., Crowder, L.B. and Block, B.A. (2020) 'Shark fin trade bans and sustainable shark fisheries.' *Conservation Letters*, 13 pp. 1–6.

Fields, A.T., Abercrombie, D.L., Eng, R., Feldheim, K. and Chapman, D.D. (2015) 'A novel mini-DNA barcoding assay to identify processed fins from internationally protected shark species.' *PLoS One*, 10 (2) pp. 1–10.

Filonzi, L., Chiesa, S., Vaghi, M. and Nonnis Marzano, F. (2010) 'Molecular barcoding reveals mislabelling of commercial fish products in Italy.' *Food Research International*, 43(5) pp. 1383–1388.

Fisk, A.T., Tittlemier, S.A., Pranschke, J.L. and Norstrom, R.J. (2002) 'Using anthropogenic contaminants and stable isotopes to assess the feeding ecology of Greenland sharks.' *Ecology*, 83 (8) pp. 2162–2172.

Fleming, L.E., Broad, K., Clement, A., Dewailly, E., Elmir, S., Knap, A., Pomponi, S.A., Smith, S., Solo Gabriele, H. and Walsh, P. (2006) 'Oceans and human health: emerging public health risks in the marine environment.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 53 (10–12) pp. 545–560.

Fossi, M.C., Baini, M., Panti, C., Galli, M., Jiménez, B., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Marsili, L., Finoia, M.G. and Ramírez-Macías, D. (2017) 'Are whale sharks exposed to persistent organic pollutants and plastic pollution in the Gulf of California (Mexico)? First ecotoxicological investigation using skin biopsies.' *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*, 199 pp. 48–58.

Frías-espericueta, M.G., Zamora-sarabia, F.K.G., Márquez-farías, J.F., Osuna López, J.I., Ruelas-Inzunza, J. and Voltolina, D. (2015) 'Total mercury in female Pacific sharpnose sharks *Rhizoprionodon longurio* and their embryos.' *Latin American Journal of Aquatic Research*, 43 (3) pp. 534–538.

Friedrich, L. A., Jefferson, R. and Glegg, G. (2014) 'Public perceptions of sharks: gathering support for shark conservation.' *Marine Policy*, 47 pp. 1–7

Froese, R. and Pauly, D. (2019) *FishBase*. [Online]. [Accessed on 13<sup>th</sup> of of July 2020]

https://www.fishbase.org/

Gall, S.C. and Thompson, R.C. (2015) 'The impact of debris on marine life.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 92 (1–2) pp. 170–179.

García, V.B., Lucifora, L.O. and Myers, R.A. (2008) 'The importance of habitat and life history to extinction risk in sharks, skates, rays and chimaeras.' *Proceedings of the Royal society B*, 275 (1630) pp. 83–89.

GBIF. (2020) *Global biodiversity information facility. Free and open access to biodiversity data*. [Online]. [Accessed on 20<sup>th</sup> of March 2020]

https://www.gbif.org/

Gilbert, J.M., Baduel, C., Li, Y., Reichelt-Brushett, A.J., Butcher, P.A., McGrath, S.P., Peddemors, V.M., Hearn, L., Mueller, J., and Christidis, L. (2015a) 'Bioaccumulation of PCBs in liver tissue of dusky *Carcharhinus obscurus*, sandbar *C. plumbeus* and white *Carcharodon carcharias sharks* from south-eastern Australian waters.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 101 (2) pp. 908–913.

Gilbert, J.M., Reichelt-Brushett, A.J., Butcher, P.A., McGrath, S.P., Peddemors, V.M., Bowling, A.C. and Christidis, L. (2015b) 'Metal and metalloid concentrations in the tissues of dusky *Carcharhinus obscurus*, sandbar *C. plumbeus* and white *Carcharodon carcharias* sharks from south-eastern Australian waters, and the implications for human consumption.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 92 (1–2) pp. 186–194.

Giraudoux, P. (2018) *Pgirmess: Spatial Analysis and Data Mining for Field Ecologists*. Version 16.9. [Software]. [Accessed on 12<sup>th</sup> of May 2023]

Gomes Ferreira, A., Vieira Faria, V., Veiga De Carvalho, C.E., Teixeira Lessa, R.P. and Santana Da Silva, F.M. (2004) 'Total mercury in the night shark, *Carcharhinus signatus* in the western equatorial Atlantic Ocean.' *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology*, 47 (4) pp. 629–634.

Gray, C.A. and Kennelly, S.J. (2018) 'Bycatches of endangered, threatened and protected species in marine fisheries.' *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 28 (3) pp. 521–541.

Hellberg, R.S., Isaacs, R.B. and Hernandez, E.L. (2019) 'Identification of shark species in commercial products using DNA barcoding.' *Fisheries Research*, 210 pp. 81–88. Helle, E., Olsson, M. and Jensen, S. (1976) 'PCB levels correlated with pathological changes in seal uteri.' *Ambio: A journal of the Human Environment*, 5(5) pp. 261–262.

Henderson, L. and Green, C. (2020) 'Making sense of microplastics? Public understandings of plastic pollution.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 152 p. 110908 Hobbs, C.A.D., Potts, R.W.A., Bjerregaard Walsh, M., Usher, J. and Griffiths, A.M. (2019) 'Using DNA barcoding to investigate patterns of species utilisation in UK shark products reveals threatened species on Sale.' *Scientific Reports*, 9 (1) pp. 1–10.

Holmes, B.H., Steinke, D. and Ward, R.D. (2009) 'Identification of shark and ray fins using DNA barcoding.' *Fisheries Research*, 95 (2–3) pp. 280–288.

Islam, M.S. and Tanaka, M. (2004) 'Impacts of pollution on coastal and marine ecosystems including coastal and marine fisheries and approach for management: a review and synthesis.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 48 (7–8) pp. 624–649.

IUCN. (2020) *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species*. [Online] [Accessed on 6<sup>th</sup> February 2020] https://www.iucnredlist.org

Ivar Do Sul, J.A. and Costa, M.F. (2014) 'The present and future of microplastic pollution in the marine environment.' *Environmental Pollution*, 185 pp. 352–364 Jepson, P.D., Deaville, R., Barber, J.L., Aguilar, À., Borrell, A., Murphy, S., Barry, J., Brownlow, A., Barnett, J., Berrow, S., Cunningham, A.A., Davison, N.J., Ten Doeschate, M., Esteban, R., Ferreira, M., Foote, A.D., Genov, T., Giménez, J., Loveridge, J., Llavona, Á., Martin, V., Maxwell, D.L., Papachlimitzou, A., Penrose, R., Perkins, M.W., Smith, B., De Stephanis, R., Tregenza, N., Verborgh, P., Fernandez, A. and Law, R. (2016) 'PCB pollution continues to impact populations of orcas and other dolphins in European waters.' *Scientific Reports*, 6 pp. 1–17.

Johansen, P., Muir, D., Asmund, G. and Riget, F. (2004) 'Human exposure to contaminants in the traditional Greenland diet.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 331 (1–3) pp. 189–206.

Johnson, R. (2014) Food Fraud and "Economically Motivated Adulteration" of Food and Food Ingredients. Washington, D.C.: Congressional Research Service. (R43358) Kim, K.H., Jahan, S.A., Kabir, E. and Brown, R.J.C. (2013) 'A review of airborne polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and their human health effects.' Environment International, 60 pp. 71–80.

Kiszka, J.J., Aubail, A., Hussey, N.E., Heithaus, M.R., Caurant, F. and Bustamante, P. (2015) 'Plasticity of trophic interactions among sharks from the oceanic South-Western Indian Ocean revealed by stable isotope and mercury analyses.' *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers*, 96 pp. 49–58.

Kiviranta, H., Vartiainen, T. and Tuomisto, J. (2002) 'Polychlorinated dibenzo-pdioxins, di- benzofurans, and biphenyls in fishermen in Finland.' *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 110 (4) pp. 355–361.

Krystek, P. and Ritsema, R. (2005) 'Mercury speciation in thawed out and refrozen fish samples by gas chromatography coupled to inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry and atomic fluorescence spectroscopy.' *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 381 (2) pp. 354–359.

Kummu, M., De Moel, H., Salvucci, G., Viviroli, D., Ward, P.J. and Varis, O. (2016) 'Over the hills and further away from coast: global geospatial patterns of human and environment over the 20th–21st centuries.' *Environmental Research Letters*, 11 (3) p. 034010

Leng, J.H., Kayama, F., Wang, P.Y., Nakamura, M., Nakata, T. and Wang, Y. (2009) 'Levels of persistent organic pollutants in human milk in two Chinese coastal cities, Tianjin and Yantai: influence of fish consumption.' *Chemosphere*, 75 (5) pp. 634–639.

Letcher, R. J., Bustnes, J. O., Dietz, R., Jenssen, B. M., Jørgensen, E. H., Sonne, C., Verreault, J., Vijayan, M. M. and Gabrielsen, G. W. (2010) 'Exposure and effects assessment of persistent organohalogen contaminants in arctic wildlife and fish.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 408(15) pp. 2995–3043.

Liu, S.Y.V., Chan, C.L.C., Lin, O., Hu, C.S. and Chen, C.A. (2013) 'DNA barcoding of shark meats identify species composition and CITES-listed species from the markets in Taiwan.' *PLoS One*, 8(11) p. e79375.

Lopez, S.A., Abarca, N.L., Meléndez, R. and Meléndez, C.R. (2013) 'Heavy metal concentra- tions of two highly migratory sharks (*Prionace glauca* and *Isurus oxyrinchus*) in the southeastern Pacific waters: comments on public health and conservation.' *Tropical Conservation Science*, 6 (1) pp. 126–137.

Lucifora, L.O., García, V.B. and Worm, B. (2011) 'Global diversity hotspots and conservation priorities for sharks'. *PLoS One*, 6 (5) p. e19356.

Lyons, K. and Adams, D.H. (2015) 'Maternal offloading of organochlorine contaminants in the yolk-sac placental scalloped hammerhead shark (*Sphyrna lewini*).' *Ecotoxicology*, 24 (3) pp. 553–562.

Lyons, K. and Adams, D.H. (2017) 'First evidence of persistent organic contaminants as potential anthropogenic stressors in the Barndoor skate *Dipturus laevis*.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 116 (1–2) pp. 534–537.

Lyons, K. and Lowe, C. G. (2015) 'Organochlorine contaminants and maternal offloading in the lecithotrophic Pacific angel shark (*Squatina californica*) collected from southern California.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 97 (1–2) pp. 518–522.

Lyons, K., Carlisle, A., Preti, A., Mull, C., Blasius, M., O'Sullivan, J., Winkler, C. and Lowe, C.G. (2013) 'Effects of trophic ecology and habitat use on maternal transfer of contaminants in four species of young of the year lamniform sharks.' *Marine Environmental Research*, 90 pp. 27–38.

Lyons, K., Preti, A., Madigan, D.J., Wells, R.J.D., Blasius, M.E., Snodgrass, O.E., Kacev, D., Harris, J.D., Dewar, H., Kohin, S., Mackenzie, K. and Lowe, C.G. (2015) 'Insights into the life history and ecology of a large shortfin mako shark Isurus oxyrinchus captured in southern California.' *Journal of Fish Biology*, 87 (1) pp. 200–211.

Man, Y.B., Wu, S.C. and Wong, M.H. (2014) 'Shark fin, a symbol of wealth and good fortune may pose health risks: the case of mercury.' *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 36 (6) pp. 1015–1027.

Matulik, A. G., Kerstetter, D. W., Hammerschlag, N., Divoll, T., Hammerschmidt, C. R. and Evers, D. C. (2017) 'Bioaccumulation and biomagnification of mercury and methyl- mercury in four sympatric coastal sharks in a protected subtropical lagoon.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 116 (1–2) pp. 357–364.

McKee, J.K., Sciulli, P.W., David Fooce, C. and Waite, T.A. (2004) 'Forecasting global biodiversity threats associated with human population growth.' *Biological Conservation*, 115 (1) pp. 161–164.

McKinney, M.A., Dean, K., Hussey, N.E., Cliff, G., Wintner, S.P., Dudley, S.F.J., Zungu, M.P. and Fisk, A.T. (2016) 'Global versus local causes and health implications of high mercury concentrations in sharks from the east coast of South Africa.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 541 pp. 176–183.

McMeans, B.C., Arts, M.T. and Fisk, A.T. (2015) 'Impacts of food web structure and feeding behavior on mercury exposure in Greenland sharks (*Somniosus microcephalus*).' *Science of the Total Environment*, 509–510 pp. 216–225.

Megson, D., Kalin, R., Worsfold, P.J., Gauchotte-lindsay, C., Patterson, D.G., Lohan, M.C., Comber, S., Brown, T.A. and Sullivan, O. (2013) 'Fingerprinting polychlorinated biphenyls in environmental samples using comprehensive two-dimensional gas chromatography with time-of-flight mass spectrometry.' *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1318 pp. 276–283.

Megson, D., Benoit, N.B., Sandau, C.D., Chaudhuri, S.R., Long, T., Coulthard, E. and Johnson, G.W. (2019) 'Chemosphere evaluation of the effectiveness of different indicator PCBs to estimating total PCB concentrations in environmental investigations.' *Chemosphere*, 237 p. e124429.

Merly, L., Lange, L., Meÿer, M., Hewitt, A.M., Koen, P., Fischer, C., Muller, J., Schilack, V., Wentzel, M. and Hammerschlag, N. (2019) 'Blood plasma levels of heavy metals and trace elements in white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*) and potential health con- sequences.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 142 pp. 85–92.

Miranda, D. de A. and de Carvalho-Souza, G.F. (2016) 'Are we eating plastic-ingesting fish?' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 103 (1–2) pp. 109–114.

Mohammed, A. and Mohammed, T. (2017) 'Mercury, arsenic, cadmium and lead in two commercial shark species (*Sphyrna lewini* and *Caraharinus porosus*) in Trinidad and Tobago. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 119 (2) pp. 214–218.

Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D.G. and Grp, P. (2009) 'Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement.' *Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation Journal*, 89 (9) pp. 873–880.

Molde, K., Ciesielski, T.M., Fisk, A.T., Lydersen, C., Kovacs, K.M., Sørmo, E.G. and Jenssen, B.M. (2013) 'Associations between vitamins a and E and legacy POP levels in

highly contaminated Greenland sharks (*Somniosus microcephalus*).' Science of the Total Environment, 442 pp. 445–454.

Moore, A.B.M., Bolam, T., Lyons, B.P. and Ellis, J.R. (2015) 'Concentrations of trace elements in a rare and threatened coastal shark from the Arabian gulf (smoothtooth blacktip *Carcharhinus leiodon*).' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 100 (2) pp. 646–650.

Morris, T., Avenant-Oldewage, A., Lamberth, S. and Reed, C. (2016) 'Shark parasites as bio- indicators of metals in two south African embayments.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 104 (1–2) pp. 221–228.

Morrison, R.D. and Murphy, B.L. (2010) *Environmental Forensics: Contaminant Specific Guide.* Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Elsevier.

Mull, C.G., Lyons, K., Blasius, M.E., Winkler, C., O'Sullivan, J.B. and Lowe, C.G. (2013) 'Evidence of maternal offloading of organic contaminants in White sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*).' *PLoS One* 8 (4) pp. 2–9.

Mullon, C., Fréon, P. and Cury, P. (2005) 'The dynamics of collapse in world fisheries.' *Fish and Fisheries*, 6 (2) pp. 111–120.

Nalluri, D., Baumann, Z., Abercrombie, D.L., Chapman, D.D., Hammerschmidt, C.R. and Fisher, N.S. (2014) 'Methylmercury in dried shark fins and shark fin soup from American restaurants.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 496 pp. 644–648.

Nicolaus, E. E. M., Barry, J., Bolam, T. P. C., Lorance, P., Marandel, F., McCully Phillips, S. R., Neville, S. and Ellis, J. R. (2017) 'Concentrations of mercury and other trace elements in two offshore skates: sandy ray *Leucoraja circularis* and shagreen ray *L. fullonica*.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 123 (1–2) pp. 387–394.

Nikolaou, A., Kostopoulou, M., Lofrano, G. and Meric, S. (2009) 'Determination of PAHs in marine sediments: analytical methods and environmental concerns.' *Global NEST Journal*, 11 (4) pp. 391–405.

Olin, J.A., Beaudry, M., Fisk, A.T. and Paterson, G. (2014) 'Age-related polychlorinated bi- phenyl dynamics in immature bull sharks (*Carcharhinus leucas*).' *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 33 (1) pp. 35–43.

Olmedo, P., Pla, A., Hernández, A. F., Barbier, F., Ayouni, L. and Gil, F. (2013) 'Determination of toxic elements (mercury, cadmium, lead, tin and arsenic) in fish and shellfish samples. Risk assessment for the consumers.' *Environment International*, 59 pp. 63–72.

Pandey, Govind and Madhuri, S. (2014) 'Heavy metals causing toxicity in humans, animals and environment.' *Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 3 (February) pp. 172–174.

Patandin, S., Dagnelie, P.C., Mulder, P.G.H., Op De Coul, E., Van Der Veen, J.E., Weisglas- Kuperus, N. and Sauer, P.J.J. (1999) 'Dietary exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and dioxins from infancy until adulthood: a comparison between breastfeeding, toddler, and long-term exposure.' *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 107 (1) pp. 45–51.

Pazartzi, T., Siaperopoulou, S., Gubili, C., Maradidou, S., Loukovitis, D., Chatzispyrou, A., Griffiths, A.M., Minos, G. and Imsiridou, A. (2019) 'High levels of mislabeling in shark meat – investigating patterns of species utilization with DNA barcoding in Greek retailers.' *Food Control*, 98 pp. 179–186.

Pegado, T. de S.e.S., Schmid, K., Winemiller, K.O., Chelazzi, D., Cincinelli, A., Dei, L. and Giarrizzo, T. (2018) 'First evidence of microplastic ingestion by fishes from the Amazon River estuary.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 133 (March) pp. 814–821.

Pethybridge, H., Cossa, D. and Butler, E.C.V. (2010) 'Mercury in 16 demersal sharks from Southeast Australia: biotic and abiotic sources of variation and consumer health implications.' *Marine Environmental Research*, 69 (1) pp. 18–26.

Pinsky, M.L., Jensen, O.P., Ricard, D. and Palumbi, S.R. (2011) 'Unexpected patterns of fisheries collapse in the world's oceans.' *PNAS*, 108 (20) pp. 8317–8322.

R Core Team. (2019) *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing*. Version R 3.6.1 [Software]. [Accessed on 10<sup>th</sup> February 2020]

Reynolds, J.D., Dulvy, N.K., Goodwin, N.B. and Hutchings, J.A. (2005) 'Biology of extinction risk in marine fishes.' *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 272 (1579) pp. 2337–2344

Rignell-Hydbom, A., Axmon, A., Lundh, T., Jönsson, B.A., Tiido, T. and Spano, M. (2007) 'Dietary exposure to methyl mercury and PCB and the associations with semen parameters among Swedish fishermen.' *Environmental Health*, 6 pp. 1–10.

Rumbold, D., Wasno, R., Hammerschlag, N. and Volety, A. (2014) 'Mercury accumulation in sharks from the coastal waters of Southwest Florida.' *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 67 (3) pp. 402–412.

Sanderson, E.W., Jaiteh, M., Levy, M.A., Redford, K.H., Wannebo, A.V., Woolmer, G., 2002. The human footprint and the last of the wild. *BioScience*, 52 (10), 891.

Sandoval-Herrera, N. I., Vargas-Soto, J. S., Espinoza, M., Clarke, T. M., Fisk, A. T. and Wehrtmann, I. S. (2016) 'Mercury levels in muscle tissue of four common elasmobranch species from the Pacific coast of Costa Rica, Central America.' *Regional* Studies in Marine Science, 3 pp. 254–261.

Sharma, B.M., Bharat, G.K., Tayal, S., Nizzetto, L., Čupr, P. and Larssen, T. (2014) 'Environment and human exposure to persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in India: a systematic review of recent and historical data.' *Environment International*,66 pp. 48– 64.

Simpfendorfer, C.A., Heupel, M.R., White, W.T. and Dulvy, N.K. (2011) 'The importance of research and public opinion to conservation management of sharks and rays: a synthesis.' *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 62 (6) pp. 518–527.

Smith, L. E. (2018) 'Plastic ingestion by *Scyliorhinus canicula* trawl captured in the North Sea.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 130 pp. 6–7.

Spink, J. and Moyer, D.C. (2011) 'Defining the public health threat of food fraud.' *Journal of Food Science*, 76 (9) pp. 157-163.

Staffen, C. F., Staffen, M. D., Becker, M. L., Löfgren, S. E., Muniz, Y. C. N., de Freitas, R. H.A. and Marrero, A. R. (2017) 'DNA barcoding reveals the mislabeling of fish in a popular tourist destination in Brazil.' *PeerJ*, 2017(11) pp. 1–13.

Steinke, D., Bernard, A. M., Horn, R. L., Hilton, P., Hanner, R. and Shivji, M. S. (2017) 'DNA analysis of traded shark fins and mobulid gill plates reveals a high proportion of species of conservation concern.' *Scientific Reports*, 7(1) p. 9505.

Storelli, M.M. and Marcotrigiano, G.O. (2001) 'Persistent organochlorine residues and toxic evaluation of polychlorinated biphenyls in sharks from the Mediterranean Sea (Italy).' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 42 (12) pp. 1323–1329.

Storelli, M.M., Giacominelli-Stuffler, R., Storelli, A., D'Addabbo, R., Palermo, C. and Marcotrigiano, G.O. (2003) 'Survey of total mercury and methylmercury levels in edible fish from the Adriatic Sea.' *Food Additives and Contaminants,* 20 (12) pp. 1114– 1119.

Streit, B. (1998) 'Bioaccumulation of contaminants in fish.' In *Fish Ecotoxicology*. (86th ed) Birkhäuser, Basel: Springer, pp. 353–387.

Svensson, B.G., Nilsson, A., Jonsson, E., Schutz, A., Akesson, B. and Hagmar, L. (1995) 'Fish consumption and exposure to persistent organochlorine compounds, mercury, selenium and methylamines among Swedish fishermen.' *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health*, 21 (2) pp. 96–105.

Tanabe, S., Mori, T., Tatsukawa, R. and Miyazaki, N. (1983) 'Global pollution of marine mammals by PCBs, DDTs and HCHs (BHCs).' *Chemosphere*, 12 (9–10) pp. 1269–1275. Teffer, A. K., Staudinger, M. D., Taylor, D. L. and Juanes, F. (2014) 'Trophic influences on mercury accumulation in top pelagic predators from offshore New England waters of the Northwest Atlantic Ocean.' *Marine Environmental Research*, 101(1) pp. 124– 134.

Terrazas-López, R., Arreola-Mendoza, L., Galván-Magaña, F., Anguiano-Zamora, M., Sujitha, S. B. and Jonathan, M. P. (2016) 'Cadmium concentration in liver and muscle of silky shark (*Carcharhinus falciformis*) in the tip of Baja California south, México.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 107(1) pp. 389–392.

Toft, G., Rignell-Hydbom, A., Tyrkiel, E., Shvets, M., Giwercman, A., Lindh, C.H., Pedersen, H.S., Ludwicki, J.K., Lesovoy, V., Hagmar, L., Spanó, M., Manicardi, G.C., Bonefeld-Jorgensen, E.C., Thulstrup, A.M. and Bonde, J.P. (2006) 'Semen quality and exposure to persistent organochlorine pollutants.' *Epidemiology*, 17 (4) pp. 450–458.

Torres, P., Tristão da Cunha, R., Micaelo, C. and Rodrigues, A. dos S. (2016) 'Bioaccumulation of metals and PCBs in *Raja clavata*.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 573 pp. 1021–1030.

US EPA, (2011) 'USEPA exposure factors handbook chapter 8: body weight studies.' In *Exposure Factors Handbook*. 2011 Edition, USA: Office of Health and Environmental Assessment, US Environmental Protection Agency, pp. 8–2. [Online] [Accessed on 15<sup>th</sup> of May 2023] <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2015-09/documents/efhchapter08.pdf</u>

United Nations Environment Program (2017) *Towards a Pollution-Free Planet Background Report*. Nairobi: United Nations Environment. [Online] [Accessed on 15<sup>th</sup> of May 2023]

# https://cleanair.london/app/uploads/Towards a pollution free planet advanceversion.pdf

van den Berg, M., Birnbauml, L., Bosveld, A.T.C., Brunstrdm, B., Cook, P., Feely, M., Giesy, P., Hanberg, A., Hasegawa, R., Kennedy, S.W., Kubiak, T., Larsen, J.C., Leeuweny, F.X.R. Van, Liem, A.K.D., Nolt, C., Peterson, R.E., Poellinger, L., Schrenk, D., Tillitt, D., Tysklind, A.M., Younes, M., Warn, F. and Zacharewsk, T. (1998) 'Toxic equivalency factors (TEFs) for PCBs, PCDDs, PCDFs for humans and wildlife.' *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 106 (12) pp. 775-792.

van den Berg, M., Birnbaum, L.S., Denison, M., De Vito, M., Farland, W., Feeley, M., Fiedler, H., Hakansson, H., Hanberg, A., Haws, L., Rose, M., Safe, S., Schrenk, D., Tohyama, C., Tritscher, A., Tuomisto, J., Tysklind, M., Walker, N. and Peterson, R.E. (2006) 'The 2005 World Health Organization reevaluation of human and mammalian toxic equivalency factors for dioxins and dioxin-like compounds. *Toxicological Sciences*, 93 (2) pp. 223–241.

van Hees, K.E. and Ebert, D.A. (2017) 'An evaluation of mercury offloading in two central California elasmobranchs.' *Science of the Total Environment,* 590–591 pp. 154–162.

Vélez-Alavez, M., Labrada-Martagón, V., Méndez-Rodriguez, L. C., Galván-Magaña, F. and Zenteno-Savín, T. (2013) 'Oxidative stress indicators and trace element concentrations in tissues of mako shark (*Isurus oxyrinchus*).' Comp. Biochem. *Comparitive Biochemistry and Physiology Part A*, 165(4) pp. 508–514.

Vračko, P., Tuomisto, J., Grad, J. and Kunsele, E. (2007). *Exposure of Children to Chemical Hazards in Food*. World Health Organisation.

Wainwright, B. J., Ip, Y. C. A., Neo, M. L., Chang, J. J. M., Gan, C. Z., Clark-Shen, N., Huang, D. and Rao, M. (2018) 'DNA barcoding of traded shark fins, meat and mobulid gill plates in Singapore uncovers numerous threatened species.' *Conservation Genetics*, 19(6) pp. 1393–1399.

Walker, M. J., Burns, M. and Burns, D. T. (2013) 'Horse meat in beef products-species substitution 2013.' *Journal of the Association of Public Analysts*, 41 pp. 67–106.

Wang, Q., Kim, D., Dionysiou, D.D., Sorial, G.A. and Timberlake, D. (2004) 'Sources and re- mediation for mercury contamination in aquatic systems - a literature review.' *Environmental Pollution*, 131 (2) pp. 323–336.

Weijs, L., Briels, N., Adams, D. H., Lepoint, G., Das, K., Blust, R. and Covaci, A. (2015) 'Maternal transfer of organohalogenated compounds in sharks and stingrays.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 92 (1–2) pp. 59–68.

FAO and WHO. (1991). 'Evaluation of certain food additives and contaminants. Thirtyseventh report of the joint FAO/WHO expert committee on food additives.' *Thirtyseventh report of the joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA).* World Health Organisation, Geneva, 5<sup>th</sup> -14<sup>th</sup> June 1990, 806 pp. 1–52 [Online] [Access on 12<sup>th</sup> of May 2023]

https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/40288

WHO. (1961) 'Evaluation of the carcinogenic hazards of food additives.' *Fifth Report* of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA). World Health Organisation, Geneva, 220 pp. 1-33. [Online] [Accessed on 12<sup>th</sup> of May 2023] https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/40493

WHO. (2010) *Exposure to Dioxins and Dioxin-Like Substances: A Major Public Health Concern*. Geneva: World Health Organisation. (WHO/CED/PHE/EPE/19.4.4)

WHO. (2020) Persistent organic pollutants (POPs). [Online] [Accessed on 6th February

2020] <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/questions-and-answers/item/food-safety-</u> persistent-organic-pollutants-(pops)

Wong, E.H.K., Shivji, M.S. and Hanner, R.H. (2009) 'Identifying sharks with DNA barcodes: assessing the utility of a nucleotide diagnostic approach.' *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 9 pp. 243–256.

Worm, B., Davis, B., Kettemer, L., Ward-Paige, C. A., Chapman, D., Heithaus, M. R., Kessel, S. T. and Gruber, S. H. (2013) 'Global catches, exploitation rates, and rebuilding options for sharks.' *Marine Policy*, 40(1) pp. 194–204.

Wright, S.L., Thompson, R.C. and Galloway, T.S. (2013) 'The physical impacts of microplastics on marine organisms: a review.' *Environmental pollution*, pp. 178, 483–492.

Xanthos, D. and Walker, T.R. (2017) 'International policies to reduce plastic marine pollution from single-use plastics (plastic bags and microbeads): a review.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 118 (1–2) pp. 17–26.

Zeng, Y., Wu, Z., Zhang, C., Meng, Z., Jiang, Z. and Zhang, J. (2016) DNA barcoding of Mobulid ray gill Rakers for implementing CITES on elasmobranch in China.' *Scientific Reports*, 6 pp. 1–9.

Zheng, N., Wang, Q., Zhang, X., Zheng, D., Zhang, Z. and Zhang, S. (2007) 'Population health risk due to dietary intake of heavy metals in the industrial area of Huludao city, China.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 387 (1–3) pp. 96–104.

### Chapter 5

5. Trace elements in the muscle tissue of five species of sharks (bigeye thresher, blue shark, pelagic thresher, silky shark, and smooth hammerhead shark) commercially landed at artisanal fish markets in Ecuador

#### **Chapter Overview**

This chapter presents the results of an investigation to measure fourteen trace elements (Al, As, Cd, Co, Cr, Fe, Hg, Ni, Mn, Mo, P, Pb, S and Zn) in five commercially important species of sharks: bigeye thresher shark (*Alopias superciliosus*), blue shark (*Prionace glauca*), pelagic thresher shark (*A. pelagicus*), silky shark (*Carcharhinus falciformis*) and smooth hammerhead shark (*Sphyrna zygaena*). Thirty-six samples were collected from the five shark species landed at three artisanal fisheries in Ecuador. Human risk assessments were carried out for Arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd) and mercury (Hg) to assess the risk of consuming shark to children and adults.

#### **Author Contributions**

As lead author I designed the project, collected the samples in Ecuador, carried out the lab work, collected the data, performed the analysis, and wrote the manuscript. Other co-authors provided support and assistance with sample collection, data interpretation and revising the manuscript. David McKendry ran the samples on the ICP-OES and assisted with data analysis. This chapter will be streamlined for submission for publication in Marine Pollution Bulletin in early 2024.

#### 5.1. Abstract

This study looked at fourteen trace elements in the edible muscle tissue of five shark species landed at artisanal fish markets in Ecuador. Concentrations of Hg in shark muscle samples (n = 36) ranged from 0.19 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (w.w.) in smooth hammerhead (*Sphyrna zygaena*) sharks to 3.81 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (w.w.) in silky sharks (*Carcharhinus falciformis*), no significant differences in metal concentrations were observed between species. Hg concentrations greatly exceeded the safe regulatory limit of consumption set by the EPA, and therefore children and adults may experience negative health effects even after consuming as little as one portion of shark a week. As shark is not only consumed in Ecuador but globally, this poses a risk to local fishing communities and international consumers of shark meat. This is further exacerbated in the case of mislabelling and species substitution that occurs on a global scale.

*Key Words:* Sharks; Marine Pollution; Trace Elements; Mercury (THg); Human Health Risk; Conservation

#### 5.2. Introduction

Pollution threatens the fate of marine ecosystems and the organisms which inhabit it, with long lasting and potentially irreversible toxic effects (Islam and Tanaka, 2004). Marine ecosystems are exposed to a range of pollutants including metals, persistent organic pollutants (POPs), crude oil and marine debris (e.g. marine litter, ghost nets or plastics) (Islam and Tanaka, 2004; Henry, 2015; Jambeck et al., 2015; Rochman et al., 2015; Tiktak et al., 2020). Heavy metals, namely arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), lead (Pb) and mercury (Hg) remain among the well-studied pollutants in the marine environment (Ansari et al., 2004; Islam and Tanaka, 2004), with many long-term biomonitoring studies focussing on these pollutants specifically (Alves et al., 2016; Bezerra et al., 2019; Tiktak et al., 2020).

Although many metals are naturally occurring, human activities have greatly increased their concentrations in the environment, including the more toxic heavy metals such as Pb, Cd, As and Hg. Heavy metals and trace elements enter the marine environment as by-products of human activities such as sewage sludge, domestic and municipal waste, agricultural and surface runoff (e.g. fertilisers and pesticides), mining, industrial processes (e.g. oil, paints, leather, paper and batteries), or naturally by volcanic activity and forest fires (Ansari et al., 2004; Islam and Tanaka, 2004; Singh et al., 2011). Even when found in low concentrations, heavy metals can have negative impacts on marine fauna and humans including immunosuppression, reproductive developmental effects, carcinogenic, mutagenic and teratogenic effects, and endocrine disruption (Das et al., 2002; Storelli et al., 2002; Zheng et al., 2007; Iavicoli et al., 2009; Jakimska et al., 2011; Singh et al., 2011). Heavy metals do not degrade over time and therefore bioaccumulate and biomagnify in living organisms, this is

especially concerning for animals that occupy top levels of the food chain that accumulate high concentrations of pollutants leading to potential potentially irreversible toxic effects (Das et al., 2002). Humans face risk from high concentrations of pollutants when consuming animals from the top of the food chain, i.e., pelagic fish (tuna, swordfish, marlin) and sharks (Davis et al., 2002; Olmedo et al., 2013; Araújo and Cedeño-Macias, 2016).

Exposure to pollutants such as methylmercury, have been linked to various types of cancer, liver and kidney damage, immunosuppression, reproductive defects, and endocrine disruption in humans (Vračko et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2013; Knutsen et al., 2019). Exposure to pollutants puts vulnerable members of the population, for example pregnant women and young children, at greater risk of exposure to the health risks associated with these contaminants (Patandin et al., 1999; Bruce-Vanderpuije et al., 2019). Twenty seven percent (>1.5 billion people) of the world's population lives within 100 km of the coast (Fleming et al., 2008; Kummu et al., 2016). It's important to assess the heavy metal exposure in seafood as many coastal countries and communities depend on fishing as a source of income, and seafood also serves as a crucial nutritional source(FAO, 2010). This puts them at greater risk of the negative health effects associated with exposure to high concentrations of these pollutants (Johansen et al., 2004; Fleming et al., 2006; Zheng et al., 2007; Brunner et al., 2009; Sharma et al., 2014). Ensuring the safety and quality of seafood is not only an economic concern but also a public health imperative (FAO, 2010).

Sharks are often not considered a "primary" food source in many non-coastal regions, though shark derived products are consumed worldwide, and are especially

important for coastal communities that depend on fishing as their main source of food and income (Johansen et al., 2004; Fleming et al., 2006; FAO, 2010). Shark can be found in shark fin soup, traditional medicine (e.g. gill plates), dietary supplements (e.g. cartilage supplements and liver oil), beauty products (e.g. mascara and lipstick) as well as in pet food (Caballero et al., 2012; Kibria and Haroon, 2015; Hammerschlag et al., 2016; Steinke et al., 2017; Wainwright et al., 2018; Cardeñosa, 2019; Hellberg et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2021; Cardeñosa et al., 2022; Prasetyo, Cusa, et al., 2023; Prasetyo, Murray, et al., 2023). Shark meat is also often consumed worldwide and has been found to be mislabelled either as bony fish or other elasmobranch species (e.g., threatened as non-threatened species) globally including Brazil, Indonesia, Singapore, United Kingdom, Italy and Greece (Blaber et al., 2009; Barbuto et al., 2010; Sembiring et al., 2015; Staffen et al., 2017; Cardeñosa, 2019; Hobbs et al., 2019; Barbosa et al., 2020; Tiktak et al., 2020; Filonzi et al., 2021; Villate-Moreno et al., 2021). As sharks have been found with high concentrations of heavy metals as well as a wide variety of POPs (Weijs et al., 2015; Alves et al., 2016; Bezerra et al., 2019; Cagnazzi et al., 2019; Tiktak et al., 2020), it puts consumers at increased risk of exposure to pollutants. Shark species that are most consumed include species such as blue sharks, thresher sharks (Alopias spp.), scalloped hammerheads (S. lewini), silky sharks (C. falciformis) and short fin mako sharks (Isurus oxyrinchus) (Bonfil, 1997; Clarke et al., 2006a; Martínez-Ortiz et al., 2015; García Barcia et al., 2023). These species have also been found with the highest concentrations of heavy metals, with Hg often exceeding the tolerable daily intake (TDI) limit for both adults and children (Tiktak et al., 2020; Goyanna et al., 2023). Recent studies have shown the potential for these species not only to be used as a biomonitor of marine contamination, but also as a gauge of risk of overexposure to pollutants through consumption.

The most likely route of exposure to pollutants in marine organisms is through their diet (Das et al., 2002). Apex predators such as killer whales, sharks, and other pelagic fishes (e.g. tuna and billfish) are especially susceptible to high concentrations of pollutants due to their high trophic position. Pollutants have been well-studied in cetaceans and bony fish (Cockcroft et al., 1993; Dorneles et al., 2013; Bartalini et al., 2022; Goyanna et al., 2023), but less attention has been paid to sharks (Bezerra et al., 2019; Tiktak et al., 2020). Sharks are part of a group of cartilaginous fish, elasmobranchs, which include sharks, rays and skates. Elasmobranchs have been around for over 420 million years, representing one of the most ecologically diverse taxa on the planet, that are present in every ocean. They occupy top positions in the food chain and so play a crucial role in the top-down control of coastal and oceanic ecosystem structure and function (Ebert et al., 2013; Dulvy et al., 2014).

Despite their important role in marine ecosystems, elasmobranchs face growing pressure from overfishing and other anthropogenic threats, with over 1/3 of all elasmobranchs threatened with extinction (Dulvy et al., 2021; Pacoureau et al., 2021). Sharks share similar traits to that of large, bodied mammals in that they often mature late, reproduce slowly, and have limited offspring. Its these traits in combination with their high trophic position that puts them at a higher risk of exposure from pollutants (Tiktak et al., 2020), though little is understood about the effects pollutants have on sharks.

Controlled experiments and long-term biomonitoring studies on pollutants are difficult to establish for pelagic shark species as they cannot be kept in captivity,

are large, difficult to catch/high catch mortality rates and are highly mobile (i.e., travel over large distances). These types of studies also require a significant number of resources, expertise, time, and money. Though, as it's crucial to study pollutants in sharks, fisheries may provide an alternative method of monitoring pollutant concentrations in these difficult shark species (i.e., large pelagic sharks) such as blue sharks, thresher sharks, mako sharks and hammerheads, as samples are often available (Ardura et al., 2013; Boldrocchi et al., 2019; Tiktak et al., 2020).

The Eastern Tropical Pacific (ETP) remains an important research area for sharks as they are locally consumed as well as traded internationally. The ETP also serves as a hotspot for many shark species, which often overlaps with shark fisheries, and makes up one of the 27 global fishing areas (FAO, 2015). Ecuador is home to a diverse array of shark species. They have been traditionally sold and consumed in fish markets along the coast of Ecuador, as well as their fins being sold and traded internationally (Dominguez and Cobeña, 2019). In 2007, the Ecuadorian government (Ministerio de Producción, Comercio Exterior, Inversiones y Pesca (MPCEIP)) took steps to curb shark finning and directed shark fisheries under the program "Acción Tiburón" with hopes to reduce the illegal trade. However, they maintained the sale of incidentally whole caught sharks (fins and body), with the exception of the Galápagos Marine Reserve, where sharks are fully protected (Executive Decree 486 of 2007, cited in (Hearn et al., 2022)). Additional efforts to protect sharks included prohibiting the fishing of hammerhead (Sphyrnidae) and oceanic whitetip sharks (Carcharhinus longimanus) in 2020 (Ministerial Agreement MCEIP-SRP-2020-0084-A, cited in (Hearn et al., 2022)). Ecuador is one of the few countries that has a national action plan for sharks, which was proposed as a tool to strengthen and consolidate

the National Action for the Conservation and Management of Sharks in Ecuador (PAT), which has been carried out since 2006 (Gobierno del Ecuador, 2020; Rosero and Rosero, 2020).

Despite the Ecuadorian governments' efforts to reduce shark fishing, over one million shark landings were reported in Ecuador between 2008 and 2012. Shark species listed in Appendix II of the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) namely pelagic thresher, bigeye thresher, silky shark and smooth hammerhead shark (S. zygaena) accounted for 3.84% of the total landings (combined total including teleost fish and elasmobranchs) in Ecuador between 2008 and 2012 (Martínez-Ortiz et al., 2015). Pelagic thresher sharks were the most frequently landed elasmobranch representing 4.8% of the total catch, followed by blue shark (1.8%) and silky sharks (0.9%). Bigeye thresher and smooth hammerhead sharks only accounted for 0.1% and 0.5% (respectively) of the total catch (15,515,357 counts in total) (Martínez-Ortiz et al., 2015). Research on pollutants in these species from the TEP and Pacific Ocean are limited, with studies mainly focussing on the Atlantic Ocean and Mediterranean Sea (Tiktak et al., 2020). Over the last three years however there has been an increase in the number of studies conducted in the ETP (Álvaro-Berlanga et al., 2021). For bigeye thresher sharks there have only been three studies to date (Maurice et al., 2021; Li et al., 2023) determining trace element concentrations in their tissue despite them being a globally important species for the international fin trade, as well for seafood consumption locally (e.g. in Ecuador) (Clarke et al., 2006b; Martínez-Ortiz et al., 2015).

The main aim of this study was to determine trace element and heavy metal concentrations in five commercially important shark species (bigeye thresher shark, blue shark, pelagic thresher shark, silky shark, and smooth hammerhead shark) landed at artisanal fish markets in Ecuador, and to evaluate the potential risks to human health and ecological impacts associated with the consumption of these species. Specifically this study will 1) quantify the concentrations of 14 trace elements (As, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Fe, Hg, Ni, Mn, Mo, P, Pb, S and Zn) in the muscle tissue from five commercially important shark species in Ecuador, 2) compare concentrations of trace elements presented in this study to the literature, 3) investigate potential factors contributing to accumulation of trace elements in shark species, such as diet, geographic location, habitat and trophic level, 4) evaluate the potential human health risks from As, Cd and Hg associated with consuming shark meat based on the regulatory limits as set by the Environment Agency (EA), Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA), and EPA (EPA) (EA, 2009; JECFA, 2021; EPA, 2022) respectively, 5) compare the concentrations of trace elements in different shark species and assess if certain species pose a higher risk to human health than others, and 6) provide recommendations on trace metal contamination in commercially important shark species in Ecuador, which can inform future monitoring and conservation management efforts.

#### 5.3. Material and Methods

#### 5.3.1. Chemicals

Nitric acid, PrimarPlus<sup>™</sup> (~68%) was used for trace metal analysis, Fisher Chemical<sup>™</sup> and, HCl (37%) was used for THg analysis (Fisher Scientific, UK). Ultrapure water (18.2 m $\Omega$  deionised H20) was obtained from a Type 1 Ultrapure water system (Avidity Science, USA).

For analyses, all preparation of standards and samples, and clean-up, were done in a laminar flow cabinet with an HEPA and carbon filter on both the inlet and exhaust. Extractions for metals were carried out using MARS 6 Microwave Digestion System (CEM Corporation, UK).

#### 5.3.2. Sample Collection

White muscle tissue samples from five species of sharks: bigeye thresher (n = 6), blue shark (n = 9), pelagic thresher (n = 9), silky shark (n = 6) and smooth hammerhead (n = 6) were opportunistically collected at three artisanal markets between June and July 2018 (Santa Rosa, Salinas: n = 12, Playita Mia, Manta: n = 13 and Esmeraldas: n = 12) [CITES Permit: No. 21EC000010]. The sampling sites included Mercado de Mariscos Santa Rosa of Salinas in the province of Santa Elena (coordinates:  $2^{\circ}$  13' 0" South, 80° 58' 0" West), Playita Mía in Manta, province of Manabí (coordinates:  $0^{\circ}$  57' 10" South, 80° 48' 45" West) and Puerto Pesquero Artesanal de Esmeraldas situated in the province of Esmeraldas (coordinates:  $0.9682^{\circ}$  North, 79.6517° West). A total of 36 tissue samples were collected. Muscle tissue was collected from the main body of the shark, between the head and dorsal fin. Two additional samples (*P. glauca*, n = 1; *Scyliorhinus canicula*, n = 1) were collected from a fish market in Manchester, UK for method development.



Figure 5-1 Map of the three study sites Salinas, Manta, and Esmeraldas in Ecuador.


Figure 5-2 The three study sites in Ecuador (a) Santa Rosa, Salinas (b) Playita Mia, Manta, and (c) Esmeraldas. In (a) species of blue sharks (*Prionace glauca*) and short fin mako sharks (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) can be seen, and in (b), blue sharks and silky sharks (*Carcharhinus falciformis*).

Sharks were identified using identification sheets and help from experts (fishery inspectors and analysts), study species can be found in Supplementary Information (Figure S 5-1). The identification guides included the main characteristics of the species, taxonomic classification from order to species (including fin identification), biological and ecological information such as diet, reproduction, behaviour and habitat, and aspects of fisheries, uses and marketing. Where possible, the sex of each shark was determined by the presence or absence of claspers. The

total length was measured from the tip of the shark's snout to the tip of the caudal fin, the fork length from the tip of the snout to the fork in the caudal fin (tail) where the upper and lower lobes of the caudal fin come together (Compagno, 1984; Zafeiraki et al., 2019). All measurements were rounded to the nearest centimetre (cm). Many sharks were landed without fins, including caudal fin, anal fins, pelvic fins, and claspers (for males only) and therefore it was not always possible to measure total body length, or determine gender.

Muscle tissue samples of approximately 20 g (wet weight; w.w.) were taken from the main body of each shark, wrapped in foil, and stored in glass amber SEPTA jars at -80 °C until further chemical analysis. All information on samples collected in this study can be found in SI 1. Aliquots of ~3 g (w.w.) were taken from the 20 g (w.w.) for trace metal analysis.

#### 5.3.3. Sample Extraction

Total concentrations of 14 trace elements; arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), cobalt (Co), copper (Cu), iron (Fe), lead (Pb), manganese (Mn), molybdenum (Mo), nickel (Ni), phosphorous (P), sulfur (S), zinc (Zn), and total mercury (THg) were analysed using ICP-OES. Approximately 3 g of (wet) tissue was freeze dried for 24 hours using a freeze-dryer (Buchi Lyovapor L-200 Freeze Dryer, UK). Approximately 0.5 g of freeze-dried tissue was accurately weighed out and placed in 55 mL MARSXpress vessels (CEM Corporation, UK). Nine millilitres of 68 % nitric acid (Fisher Scientific, UK) and 1 mL of 18.2 m $\Omega$  deionised H20 was added to the samples and placed in MARS 6 Microwave Digestion System using MARSXpress vessels for microwave digest (CEM Corporation, UK) at 15-minute ramp to 175 °C, 30minute hold at 175 °C (samples were cooled down for ~40 minutes).

#### 5.3.4. Instrumental Analysis

After digestion, samples were made up to 100 mL with 18.2 m $\Omega$  deionised H20. ICP-OES was conducted with an iCAP 7000 ASX520 (Thermo Scientific, UK). A separate aliquot of 4.5 mL of each digested sample in nitric acid was mixed with 0.5 mL of 37% HCl (Fisher Scientific, UK) and analysed for THg using ICP-OES mercury hydride technique with an iCAP 7000 ASX520 (Thermo Scientific, UK). Multi Analyte Custom Grade Solution standards (Inorganic Ventures, USA) were used at a concentration of 0.02 to 20 ppm for calibration (Pearson's R > 0.998) of trace elements, specifically Mo, Cr, Mn, Co, Ni, Zn, Cd, As and Pb used a calibration of 0.02 to 4 ppm, Cu, P and S 0.05 to 10 ppm, and Fe 0.1 to 20 ppm (Table S 5 2). Mercury Standard for AAS (Fluka Analytical, Sigma, UK) was used for a standard calibration of THg ranging from 0.2 ppb to 20 ppb, and 10 to 80 ppb for calibration (Pearson's R > 0.999) of high range samples (Table S 5-3). Sample standards were made up in 10% HCl (Fisher Scientific, UK). All results are presented in mg kg<sup>-1</sup> expressed in dry weight (d.w.) and wet weight (w.w.).

### 5.3.5. Data Quality

The limits of quantification (LOQ) were determined for each of the trace elements, and for standard and high range THg. Ten samples were repeated for a higher range for THg, for details of samples see Table S 5-3. All concentrations were above the detection limit (DL) of the instrument, and therefore all samples were included for upstream analysis. Procedural blanks were run after every 10 samples, and these were used for blank corrections. Satisfactory linearity was observed of R<sup>2</sup> > 0.998 for all trace elements between 0.2 and 20 ppm, and 0.2 to 20 ppb for standard range Thg, and 10 to 80 ppb for high range THg ppm. Limits of Quantification (LOQ) varied by element and ranged from 0.000144 to 0.230 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> in Cd and Cu respectively. Concentrations for Al were removed from the data set as samples were originally wrapped in foil as they were stored for use for not just trace elements but for a wider study on trace level POPs. A small aliquot was cut to remove any surfaces of tissue that were touching the Al, but for quality purposes these were removed from the data set. The wrapping of the samples should have little impact on sample concentrations as they were only touching, and effort was made to cut a small piece of tissue from the centre. Larger samples could not be taken due to the confines of sampling, transport and permits in Ecuador.

### 5.3.6. Data Analyses

Moisture content (%) in the sharks ranged from 62.3% to 81.6%, with a mean of 74.9  $\pm$  3.75%. The moisture content (%) of each sample was used to calculate the w.w. of each concentration. All values are reported in mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for d.w. and w.w.

The following equation was used to convert trace element concentrations to mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and THg samples to  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup>:

```
Concentration in tissue<sup>a</sup> (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> or \mug kg<sup>-1</sup>) = ICP-OES Concentration * (1/mass of
the sample in g) * Dilution Factor<sup>b</sup>
```

<sup>a</sup>Concentration in dry tissue

<sup>b</sup>A dilution factor of 100 was used for all trace elements, except for THg where dilution factor of 111 was used.

Threshold values that are defined by regulatory guidelines of health agencies are reported in w.w., and therefore the As, Cd and THg concentrations measured in d.w. in this study were transformed to w.w. based on the following formula:

(1) Dry content:

### Dry content (%) = 100% - Moisture content (%)

(2) Wet weight:

### Wet weight (%) = Dry weight (%) / Dry content (%) \* 100

Shapiro-Wilk test and Bartlett Tests were carried out to evaluate the assumptions of parametric tests (normality and homogeneity of variance, respectively). Transformation of data were carried out for the data to fulfil these assumptions (logarithmic transformation for all metal concentrations (w.w.)) followed by parametric tests. Where parametric tests were not possible, non-parametric tests were used. Statistical tests were only carried out on the w.w. concentrations. Where data was normally distributed, a one-way ANOVA test followed by a Tukey post-hoc test was used to assess differences in metal concentrations between species. Where data was not normally distributed a Kruskal-Wallis rank-rum test and pairwise multiple comparison test was used to assess differences in metal concentrations between species (R version 3.6.1 (2019-07-05) (R Development Core Team, 2014)).

# 5.3.7. Human Health Risk Assessment

Hazard quotients (*HQ*) were calculated for the heavy metals considered toxic to human health, namely As, Cd, and THg. *HQ's* for Pb could not be calculated as all concentrations were below <LOD indicating no risk to humans from consumption. The *HQ* of the metals mentioned above were based on the recommended Provisional Tolerable Daily, Weekly, or Monthly Intake (PTDI, PTWI or PTMI) as set by JECFA and the EPA respectively (JECFA, 2021; EPA, 2022).

The following equation as set by the EPA (EPA, 2022) was used to calculate hazard quotients (*HQ*) for consumption of shark meat risk to humans for As, Cd and THg:

(1) Amount consumed per week:

 $WR = C \times F$ 

(2) Exposure dose:

D = WR / bw

(3) Hazard Quotient (HQ)

# HQ = D / RfD

Where: **bw** = Body Weight (kg), **C** = Concentration (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), **D** = Exposure Dose (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> per day), **F** = Average Filet (g), *HQ* = Hazard Quotient, **RfD** = Reference Dose (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> per day) and **WR** = mean weekly consumption rate of the species of interest (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> per week)

The RfD for chronic oral exposure to methylmercury is = 0.1  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> bw per day. Therefore, 7 days (1 week) x 0.1  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> bw per day = 0.7  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> bw per week (taken from EPA's Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS) (EPA, 2022). We used the conservative estimate as set by the EPA, as the WHO recommends 1.6  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> bw per week which is more than double the amount(FAO and WHO, 2013; EPA, 2022).

The RfD for Cd set by JECFA is 25  $\mu$ g/kg bw per month (JECFA, 2021) which works out as 6.25  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> bw per week.

The toxicological framework report by the EA (2009) set a RfD for arsenic as 0.003  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> bw per day. This was used to calculate the PTWI = 7 days x 0.003  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> bw per day = 0.02  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> bw per week (EA, 2009).

# 5.4. Results and Discussion

### 5.4.1. General Overview

This study provides valuable insight on trace metal and mercury concentrations in some of the most frequently caught sharks in Ecuador, as well as globally (Clarke et al., 2006a; Martínez-Ortiz et al., 2015; Fields et al., 2017; Cardeñosa et al., 2018, 2021, 2022; Van Houtan et al., 2020). A total of 36 samples from five shark species (bigeye thresher shark, blue shark, pelagic thresher, silky and smooth hammerhead shark) were collected at three artisanal fish markets in Ecuador (Table 5 1).

Table 5-1 Number, total body length (mean ± SD), trophic level (mean ± SD)<sup>d</sup>, gender, and age (juvenile, subadult or adult) of sharks sampled. Thirty-six sharks were sampled in total<sup>a</sup>.

Common Name	Species	n	IUCN Red	Trophic	Total	Female	Male	Juvenile	Subadult	Adult
			List	Level (TL) <sup>d</sup>	Length					
			Status <sup>b</sup>		(cm)					
Bigeye thresher	Alopias	c		4 50 ± 0 420	258 + 20.0	2	2	0	0	G
shark	superciliosus	0	VU	4.50 ± 0.430	256 ± 20.0	5	5	U	0	0
Blue shark	Prionace	9	NT	4.25 ± 0.250	189 ± 44.7	4	5	1	1	7
	glauca									,
Pelagic thresher	Alopias	٩	VU	4.52 ± 0.370	197 ± 461	8	0	4	0	2
shark <sup>c</sup>	pelagicus	5	vo							-
Silky shark	Carcharhinus	6	NT	4.33 ± 0.200	188 ± 64.0	4	2	2	0	Λ
	falciformis	U								4
Smooth	Snhurna			4.47 ± 0.290	101 ± 24.9		1	4		
hammerhead	Spriymu	6	VU			5			2	0
shark	zygaena	ygaena								

<sup>a</sup>Data for reference samples *Prionace glauca* and *Scyliorhinus canicula* (UK) were not included in this table.

<sup>b</sup>IUCN Red List Status from 2023

<sup>c</sup>Unknown gender: Pelagic thresher shark (*n* = 1)

<sup>d</sup>TL based on mean from several studies, see Table S 5-1 for data

### 5.4.2. Concentrations of Total Mercury (THg)

Mean concentrations of THg ranged from 0.19 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (w.w.) in smooth hammerhead sharks to 3.81 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (w.w.) in silky sharks (



Figure 5-3). Existing data on pollutants in bigeye threshers is very limited. Only three studies have reported on THg concentrations in bigeye thresher sharks. Previous studies reported slightly higher mean concentrations of THg (4.12 and 6.04 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> d.w. respectively) in bigeye thresher sharks from similar regions than what was measured in our study (3.74 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> d.w.) (Maurice et al., 2021; Li et al., 2023), note that d.w. was referenced here because one of the studies only provided data in this format. Given the scarcity of studies reporting on pollutants in bigeye thresher sharks, it becomes challenging to infer whether these concentrations are comparable to other sharks, and to assess the effects they have. Bigeye thresher sharks are an important species commercially despite their CITES listing and Vulnerable status (CITES, 2023; IUCN, 2023) This study highlights critical gaps in our understanding of mercury in bigeye thresher sharks and emphasises the need for ongoing monitoring.

Concentrations of THg were highest in silky sharks which are one of the most consumed and traded species internationally (Clarke et al., 2006b; Martínez-Ortiz et al., 2015; Fields et al., 2017). The concentrations of THg observed in the silky sharks presented in this study were comparable to those caught in the same area, namely Galápagos Marine Reserve and ETP (1.76 and 2.14 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> w.w.) respectively (Maurice et al., 2021; Li, Hussey, et al., 2022). Our study provides valuable data to the limited body of research on sharks in the ETP, contributing to a greater understanding of these species in one of the world's key elasmobranch hotspots.

Concentrations in the pelagic thresher sharks reported in our study (0.834 ± 0.466 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> w.w.) were consistent with those reported in previous studies on pelagic thresher sharks (0.36 to 4.93 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> w.w.) from the Pacific Ocean, namely near Mexico and Colombia (Maurice et al., 2021; Li, Pethybridge, et al., 2022; Li et al., 2023). Pelagic thresher sharks from the ETP tend to have a higher trophic position (~5.0) than their Atlantic equivalents (Calle-Morán and Galván-Magaña, 2020), this may be because they feed on squid and bony fish that already have higher concentrations of THg in their tissue.

Our study reveals that THg concentrations observed in the smooth hammerhead sharks fall in the range previously reported in the same region area, where concentrations range between 0.196 to 8.25 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (w.w.) (Figure 5-3). Most smooth hammerheads in this study (n = 4) were juveniles, implying that concentrations could increase substantially as they reach adulthood, possibly exceeding previously reported concentrations. It is concerning that the majority were

also females (*n* = 5), as they have the potential to transfer pollutants to their future offspring once they reach sexual maturity, thus posing an increased threat to future populations. Both smooth and scalloped hammerheads are covered by the Ministerial Agreement No. 116 in Ecuador as established by the Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadaría, Acuacultura y Pesca (MAGAP) in 2013 which states that a maximum catch per trip of five hammerheads (juveniles up to 150 cm TL) can be allowed as by catch. Concentrations of THg could therefore be much higher in adult smooth hammerheads due to bioaccumulation. Although now illegal to fish in Ecuador, smooth hammerheads still make up a large portion of catches globally, and at the time of collection were the fourth most caught shark species in Ecuador, making up 0.5% of total catches between 2008 and 2012 (Martínez-Ortíz et al., 2007; MAGAP, 2013; Martínez-Ortiz et al., 2015; Estupiñán-Montaño et al., 2017).

THg concentrations were not significantly different between species (F = 2.516, df = 4, p = 0.0615; Figure 5 3), which may be as they share similar trophic levels ranging between 4.25 to 5.2. These species are known to frequent similar pelagic or semi pelagic environments, where their habitats and foraging grounds overlap. Their dietary references also overlap as they consume similar prey. Despite being distinct species with varying ecological niches, their overlapping trophic positions and dietary preferences likely contribute to their similarity in THg concentrations.



Figure 5-3 Total mercury concentrations of muscle tissue in five species of sharks landed at artisanal fisheries in Ecuador: bigeye thresher shark (*Alopias superciliosus*), blue shark (*Prionace glauca*), pelagic thresher shark (*A. pelagicus*), silky shark (*Carcharhinus falciformis*) and smooth hammerhead shark (*Sphyrna zygaena*). Concentrations are expressed in mg kg<sup>-1</sup> on wet weight (w.w.) basis.

### 5.4.3. Human Health Risks

# 5.4.3.1. Hazard Quotients (HQs)

*Hazard Quotients (HQs)* were calculated based on regulatory maximum daily, weekly, or monthly intakes (where applicable) for heavy metals THg, Cd and As. Minimum and maximum consumption limits were calculated for the most vulnerable and most-at-risk individuals, pregnant females, and children. Weights for adults were based on the average weight of a pregnant woman of 75 kg and the children's weight on a two-year-old female of 13.4 kg and 11-year-old female of 47.5 kg (Tiktak et al., 2020; EPA, 2022). Serving of "shark" was based on the average serving of fish: 1 x a week = 113 g and, 3 x a week = 339 g as suggested by the FDA (EPA, 2020, 2022). The average (minimum and maximum) serving of fish for adults from coastal communities were also included from six studies: minimum = 172 g and maximum serving = 1201 g (Svensson et al., 1995; Jiang et al., 2005; Hajeb et al., 2008; Rantakokko et al., 2008; Turunen et al., 2008; García-Hernández et al., 2018; Çamur et al., 2021). The mean concentration (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> w.w.) for each species were used for calculating the exposure risks for each pollutant (more information can be found in SI 1). A *HQ* <1 indicated that the exposed population is unlikely to experience the adverse effects from consumption, whereas a *HQ* >1 meant there would be a high risk of adverse effects experienced from overexposure to the pollutant, with the likelihood increasing as the *HQ* increases (Krishna et al., 2014).

# 5.4.3.1.1. Total Mercury (THg)

The provisional tolerable weekly intake (PTWI) for humans was based on methylmercury (MeHg), as within the literature mercury is often reported as THg, and MeHg makes up 70% to 100% of THg in elasmobranchs (Storelli et al., 2003, 2022; Krystek and Ritsema, 2005; Pethybridge et al., 2010; de Carvalho et al., 2014; Rumbold et al., 2014; Alves et al., 2016; Torres et al., 2016; Mohammed and Mohammed, 2017; Mille et al., 2018; Tiktak et al., 2020). The *HQ* for each of the sharks was calculated using the most conservative regulatory limit as reported by the US EPA in 2011 (0.7 µg kg<sup>-1</sup> of bw per week<sup>-1</sup>) (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2011; EFSA, 2012; EPA, 2022). Exposure risk of Hg was calculated for each species and is summarised in Table 5-2.

Table 5-2 Hazard quotients (*HQ*) were calculated for THg indicating the minimum (1 serving per week) and maximum (3 servings per week) risk adults (general and coastal population) and children (2-year-old's and 11-year-old's) would have from the consumption of shark meat.

		Adult	Ad	lult	11-year	-old child	2-year-old		
	(gene	ral, 75 kg)	(coa	istal)	(47	.5 kg)	child (13.4 kg)		
Species	1 x servin g (113 g)	3 x servings per week (339 g)	Minimu m serving (172 g) <sup>a</sup>	Maximu m serving (1201 g) <sup>b</sup>	1 x serving per week (113 g)	3 x servings per week (339 g)	1 x servin g a week (28 g)	3 x servin g a week (84 g)	
Bigeye									
threshe	1.81 6.14		2.75	8.77	2.85	8.56	2.51	7.52	
r shark									
Blue	1.05	3.58	1.61	5.11	1.67	5	1.46	4.39	
shark									
Pelagic									
threshe	1.79	6.07	2.72	8.67	2.82	8.46	2.48	7.43	
r shark									
Silky	3.21	10.9	4.88	15.57	5.06	15.19	4.45	13.3	
shark									
Smooth									
hamme	1.29	4.39	1.97	6.27	2.04	6.12	1.79	5.37	
rhead									

*HQ* reference dose: US EPA, (2020) 0.7 μg kg<sup>-1</sup> bw pw<sup>-1</sup>

<sup>a</sup>The minimum serving of fish in coastal adults is based on one serving per day (g)

<sup>b</sup>The maximum serving of fish in coastal adults is based on the average amount of fish consumed in a

week (g)

### 5.4.3.1.2. Arsenic

Currently there is no PTWI for arsenic as it occurs naturally at elevated concentrations in some food sources, and therefore establishing a PTWI may not be practical or necessary because it is difficult to further regulate or limit exposure in these cases. Although a reference dose may not be applicable to As from certain food sources because of existing background concentrations, guidelines and recommendations are still in place for the oral uptake of As. The health-orientated reference dose established in a toxicological framework report by the EA was 0.02 µg kg<sup>-1</sup> bw per week (EA, 2009). This reference dose was established to ensure minimal excess lifetime cancer risk associated with exposure. This RfD was used to calculate *HQs* for As (Table 5-3).

The HQ results for As indicated that there was risk of overexposure to As from as little as one portion of shark a week for adults and children Table 5-3. Arsenic has been linked to causing various complications in different human organ systems, including the integumentary, nervous, respiratory, cardiovascular, hematopoietic, immune, endocrine, hepatic, renal, reproductive, and developmental issues (Mohammed Abdul et al., 2015). Some of the effects that are caused by arsenic exposure are diabetes, bone marrow depression, skin lesions, encephalopathy and peripheral neuropathy (Mohammed Abdul et al., 2015). Table 5-3 Hazard quotients (*HQ*) were calculated for As indicating the minimum (1 serving per week) and maximum (3 servings per week) risk adults (general and coastal population) and children (2-year-old's and 11-year-old's) would have from the consumption of shark meat.

	Α	dult	Ac	lult	11-year	-old child	2-year-old child		
	(gener	al, 75 kg)	(coa	istal)	(47	.5 kg)	(13.4 kg)		
Species	1 x serving per week (113 g)	3 x servings per week (339 g)	Minimum serving (172 g)ª	Maximum serving (1201 g) <sup>b</sup>	1 x serving per week (113 g)	3 x servings per week (339 g)	1 x serving per week (28 g)	3 x serving per week (84 g)	
Bigeye thresher shark	197	592	300	2,100	312	935	274	821	
Blue shark	555	1,670	845	5,900	877	2,630	770	2,310	
Pelagic thresher shark	166	497	252	1,760	262	785	230	690	
Silky shark	576	1,730	877	6,125	910	2,730	799	2,398	
Smooth hammerhead	304	911	462	3,230	479	1,440	421	1,263	

 $HQ \text{ RfD} = 0.02 \ \mu \text{g kg}^{-1} \text{ bw } \text{pw}^{-1}$ 

<sup>a</sup>The minimum serving of fish in coastal adults is based on one serving per day (g)

<sup>b</sup>The maximum serving of fish in coastal adults is based on the average amount of fish consumed in a week (g)

# 5.4.3.1.3. Cadmium (Cd)

The provisional tolerable monthly intake (PTMI) for Cd as set by the WHO is 25  $\mu$ g/kg bw per month(JECFA, 2021) which works out as 6.25  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> bw per week.

*HQs* were calculated using the PTMI and mean Cd concentrations in the five shark species (Table 5-4).

The *HQ* results for Cd indicated that there was no risk of overexposure to Cd as *HQ's* were <1, even when consumed a maximum of three times a week (339 g) or in the case of adults living near the coast that may consume up to or over 1201 g a week.

Table 5-4 Hazard quotients (*HQ*) were calculated for Cd indicating the minimum (1 serving per week) and maximum (3 servings per week) risk adults (general and coastal population) and children (2-year-old's and 11-year-old's) would have from the consumption of shark meat (JECFA, 2021).

	A	dult	Ad	lult	11-year-	old child	2-year-old child (13.4 kg)	
	(gener	al, 75 kg)	(coa	stal)	(47.	5 kg)		
Species	1 x serving per week (113 g)	3 x servings per week (339 g)	Minimum serving (172 g)ª	Maximum serving (1201 g) <sup>b</sup>	1 x serving per week (113 g)	3 x servings per week (339 g)	1 x serving per week (28 g)	3 x serving per week (84 g)
Bigeye								
thresher shark	0.0297	0.0890	0.0451	0.315	0.0468	0.145	<0.01	0.771
Blue shark	<0.01	0.014	<0.01	0.0487	<0.01	0.0217	<0.01	0.119
Pelagic								
thresher	0.0158	0.0473	0.0240	0.168	0.0249	0.0747	<0.01	0.410
shark								
Silky shark	0.0230	0.0689	0.0350	0.244	0.0363	0.109	<0.01	<0.01
Smooth hammerhead	0.0113	0.0338	0.0172	0.120	0.0178	0.0534	<0.01	<0

HQ RfD = 6.25  $\mu g~kg^{-1}~bw~pw^{-1}$ 

<sup>a</sup>The minimum serving of fish in coastal adults is based on one serving per day (g) <sup>b</sup>The maximum serving of fish in coastal adults is based on the average amount of fish consumed in a week (g)

A HQ value less than 0.01 were indicated as <0.01

The data from this study indicate that humans should avoid consuming shark meat from the ETP as all the sharks exceeded the maximum regulatory limit of Hg (Table 5-2) when consuming as little as one portion (28 g to 113 g) of shark a week for adults and children. Consuming over the maximum regulatory limit could expose the population to toxic health effects such cancer, liver and kidney damage, immunosuppression, reproductive defects, and endocrine disruption in humans (Vračko et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2013; Knutsen et al., 2019). The mean concentration of Hg in this study was 0.82 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (w.w.), with the FDA reporting a concentration of 0.98 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> in sharks which is comparable to the concentration of THg found in our study. Their advice to the public is also to "avoid" consumption of shark (EPA, 2022). As Ecuador has a large coastal community where fish may make up a large proportion of their diet (especially in coastal regions), they would be exposed to extremely high concentrations of Hg if shark is consumed as little as once a week. As the sharks from this study are not only consumed commonly within Ecuador, but also globally, it paints a very concerning picture. Humans are exposed to concentrations of Hg that pose a significant health risk when consuming shark.

Although the advice is to avoid consuming shark meat, consumers may be unaware that they are consuming it as shark is often mislabelled and sold under umbrella terms such as "white fish", "caçao", "pescado blanco", "toyo", "flake"

(Almerón-Souza et al., 2018; Hobbs et al., 2019; Barbosa et al., 2020; Rodrigues Filho et al., 2020; Cundy et al., 2023; Khalil et al., 2023; Sharrad et al., 2023). There is a growing need for seafood transparency throughout the whole supply chain as this would decrease the risk of mislabelling and thus the risk of overexposure to pollutants such as Hg and toxic POPs. Consumers should be given a choice of what seafood they want to consume, and this is only possible with effective labelling. WWF indicated that the total value of the global shark fin and meat trade was \$4.1 billion USD between 2012 to 2019 (Niedermüller et al., 2021). Ecuador exported 21,176 tonnes of shark meat between 2012 to 2019. The most threatened shark species containing the highest concentrations of pollutants still make up the majority of the international trade (Clarke et al., 2006a; Cardeñosa et al., 2018, 2022; Tiktak et al., 2020).

#### 5.4.4. Concentrations of Trace Elements

Thirteen trace elements (As, Cd, Co, Cr, Fe, Ni, Mn, Mo, P, Pb, S, and Zn) were analysed in the edible muscle tissue of five shark species (bigeye thresher, blue shark, pelagic thresher, silky shark, and smooth hammerhead shark) landed at artisanal fish markets in Ecuador (Table 5-5). Concentrations of Cd, Co, Fe, Ni, Mn, Mo, P, Pb, and Z did not significantly differ between the five shark species, whereas concentrations of As, Cr, Cu, and S did (Supplementary Information; Table S 5-4 & Table S 5-5). For statistical tests on trace elements see Table S 5-4. Table 5-5 Mean concentrations of 13 trace elements in the muscle of five shark species from this present study. Values are expressed in mg kg<sup>-1</sup> on a wet (w.w.) and dry (d.w.)

weight basis. The numbers at the top represent mean values ± SD, and the values in parentheses represent the concentration ranges.

		Bigeye thresher shark (n = 6)		Blue shark ( <i>n</i> = 9)		Pelagic thresher shark (n = 9)		Silky	shark	Smooth hammerhead	
Metal	LOQ							( <i>n</i> = 6)		( <i>n</i> = 6)	
	-	w.w.	d.w.	w.w.	d.w.	w.w.	d.w.	w.w.	d.w.	w.w.	d.w.
•	0.000	2.62 ± 1.67	11.4 ± 6.55	7.37 ± 3.29	31.5 ± 14.6	2.20 ± 1.13	8.64 ± 3.87	7.65 ± 5.28	27.6 ± 19.2	4.03 ± 2.68	14.4. ± 9.65
As	0.006	(1.28 – 5.69)	(5.69 -22.3)	(2.90 -12.5)	(14.9 - 57.4)	(1.02 –4.52)	(4.26 - 15.5)	(3.82 –18.1)	(13.2 - 4.9)	(3.82 –18.1)	(8.89 - 33.8)
		0.123±0.160	0.554±0.695	0.019±0.083	0.084±0.043	0.065±0.054	0.279 ± 0.248	0.095±0.064	0.331±0.208	0.047±0.037	0.163±0.121
Cd	0.0001	(0.009-0.192)	(0.037-1.83)	(0.007-0.036)	(0.027-0.175)	(0.009-0.173)	(0.025-0.793)	(0.070-0.192)	(0.025-0.664)	(0.011-0.112)	(0.043-0.374)
		0.004±0.001		0.015±0.017		0.008±0.0127		0.013±0.018		0.003±0.0423	
Со	0.0002	(0.003-0.005)		(0.041–0.058)		( <lod-0.039)< td=""><td></td><td>(<lod-0.046)< td=""><td></td><td>(<loq-0.012)< td=""><td></td></loq-0.012)<></td></lod-0.046)<></td></lod-0.039)<>		( <lod-0.046)< td=""><td></td><td>(<loq-0.012)< td=""><td></td></loq-0.012)<></td></lod-0.046)<>		( <loq-0.012)< td=""><td></td></loq-0.012)<>	
		0.560±0.010	0.247±0.044	0.218 ± 0.237	0.967 ± 1.00	0.966±0.0329	0.397 ± 0.166	0.495 ± 0.875	1.67 ± 3.02	$0.149 \pm 0.104$	0.520 ± 0.33 2
Cr	0.0006	(0.045–0.069)	(0.18-0.299)	(0.070–0.794)	(0.262 - 3.28)	(0.065-0.168)	(0.222-0.731)	(0.040 -2.25)	(0.148 - 7.78)	(0.052 - 0.349)	(0.192 - 1.15)
			0.715 ± 0.281		0.721 ± 0.862	0.512 ± 0.553	1.87 ± 1.91		0.795 ± 0.329		0.863 ± 0.266
Cu	0.320	<loq< td=""><td>(0.430 - 1.22)</td><td><loq< td=""><td>(<loq -="" 2.89)<="" td=""><td>(<loq 1.93)<="" td="" –=""><td>(0.581 - 6.66)</td><td><loq< td=""><td>(0.392 - 1.14)</td><td><loq< td=""><td>(0.387 - 1.18)</td></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq<></td></loq<>	(0.430 - 1.22)	<loq< td=""><td>(<loq -="" 2.89)<="" td=""><td>(<loq 1.93)<="" td="" –=""><td>(0.581 - 6.66)</td><td><loq< td=""><td>(0.392 - 1.14)</td><td><loq< td=""><td>(0.387 - 1.18)</td></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq<>	( <loq -="" 2.89)<="" td=""><td>(<loq 1.93)<="" td="" –=""><td>(0.581 - 6.66)</td><td><loq< td=""><td>(0.392 - 1.14)</td><td><loq< td=""><td>(0.387 - 1.18)</td></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq></td></loq>	( <loq 1.93)<="" td="" –=""><td>(0.581 - 6.66)</td><td><loq< td=""><td>(0.392 - 1.14)</td><td><loq< td=""><td>(0.387 - 1.18)</td></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq>	(0.581 - 6.66)	<loq< td=""><td>(0.392 - 1.14)</td><td><loq< td=""><td>(0.387 - 1.18)</td></loq<></td></loq<>	(0.392 - 1.14)	<loq< td=""><td>(0.387 - 1.18)</td></loq<>	(0.387 - 1.18)
		8.98 ± 9.07	38.7 ± 36.1	25.2 ± 36.7	124 ± 201	15.8 ± 21.7	67.4 ± 96.7	31.9 ± 43.2	112 ± 149 (5.68	6.16 ± 4.86	22.0 ± 17.5
<b>Fe</b> 0.016	0.016	(1.70 – 26.2)	(7.95 - 102)	(2.6 -117)	(10.2 - 637)	(4.55 – 72.2)	(15.6 - 315)	(1.54 – 118)	- 409)	(3.40 – 16.0)	(11.2 - 57.5)

<b>Ni</b> 0	0.001	0.934 ± 1.97	0.022 ± 0.045	4.95 ± 6.30	0.117 ± 0.159	3.20 ± 3.783	0.073 ± 0.091	3.13 ± 10.3	0.080 ± 0.697	<100	<100
	0.001	( <loq 4.12)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq -="" 0.088)<="" td=""><td>(<loq 18.4)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq-0.485)< td=""><td>(<loq 9.37)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq -0.229)<="" td=""><td>(<loq 21.2)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq -="" 0.402)<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq-0.485)<></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq>	( <loq -="" 0.088)<="" td=""><td>(<loq 18.4)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq-0.485)< td=""><td>(<loq 9.37)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq -0.229)<="" td=""><td>(<loq 21.2)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq -="" 0.402)<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq-0.485)<></td></loq></td></loq>	( <loq 18.4)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq-0.485)< td=""><td>(<loq 9.37)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq -0.229)<="" td=""><td>(<loq 21.2)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq -="" 0.402)<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq-0.485)<></td></loq>	( <loq-0.485)< td=""><td>(<loq 9.37)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq -0.229)<="" td=""><td>(<loq 21.2)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq -="" 0.402)<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq-0.485)<>	( <loq 9.37)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq -0.229)<="" td=""><td>(<loq 21.2)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq -="" 0.402)<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq>	( <loq -0.229)<="" td=""><td>(<loq 21.2)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq -="" 0.402)<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></loq></td></loq></td></loq>	( <loq 21.2)<="" td="" –=""><td>(<loq -="" 0.402)<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></loq></td></loq>	( <loq -="" 0.402)<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></loq>		
Mn	0 0002	$0.011 \pm 0.010$	0.490 ± 0.393	0.702 ± 1.60	3.65 ± 8.78	0.175 ± 0.220	0.737 ± 0.969	0.677 ± 0.842	2.11 ± 2.32	0.482 ± 0.695	1.64 ± 2.26
IVIII	0.0002	(0.038–0.254)	(0.151–0.997)	(0.064 – 4.97)	(0.295 - 27.0)	(0.053–0.746)	(0.182 - 3.25)	(0.119 – 2.12)	(0.446 - 5.63)	(0.139 – 1.90	(0.520 - 6.23)
Mo	0 0009	0.013 ± 0.011	0.053 ± 0.045	0.702 ± 1.60	0.003 ± 0.032	0.007 ± 0.009	$0.032 \pm 0.041$	0.007 ± 0.004	0.025 ± 0.015	0.007 ± 0.007	0.027 ± 0.024
IVIO	0.0008	(0.002–0.033)	(0.012–0.131)	(0.064 – 4.97)	( <loq-0.104)< td=""><td>(0.065–0.168)</td><td>(0.003- 0.130)</td><td>(0.003–0.014)</td><td>(0.073 0.050)</td><td>(0.010–0.017)</td><td>(0.004 -0.062)</td></loq-0.104)<>	(0.065–0.168)	(0.003- 0.130)	(0.003–0.014)	(0.073 0.050)	(0.010–0.017)	(0.004 -0.062)
-	0.009	1,750 ± 275	7,660 ± 786	1,820 ± 462	7,810 ± 1,780	2,200 ± 516	8,710 ± 1,580	3,970 ± 4,320	12,500±10,500	3,740 ± 3,520	13,000 ± 11,300
r	0.009	(1,310 – 2050)	(6,770 - 8930)	(982 – 2560)	(3,910-9,210)	(1,070-2,720)	(4,910-9,850)	(1,550-12,700)	(6,980-33,800)	(2,030-10,900)	(7,330-35,800)
Pb	0.007	<loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<>	<loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<>	<loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<>	<loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<>	<loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<>	<loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<>	<loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<>	<loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""></loq<></th></loq<></th></loq<>	<loq< th=""><th><loq< th=""></loq<></th></loq<>	<loq< th=""></loq<>
c	0.115	1,760 ± 295	7750 ± 1,180	1,980 ± 446	8,530 ± 1,800	2,020 ± 351	8,900 ± 1,420	2,600 ± 474	9,170 ± 774	2,770 ± 487	9,860 ± 1,700
3	0.115	(1,370 – 2,130)	(6,100 - 9,480)	(985 – 2,320)	(3,920-9,880)	(1,500–2,470)	(6,250-10,600)	(1,960 – 3,260)	(8,070 -10,100)	(2,160–3,430)	(7,870 -12,300)
Zn	0 100	23.3 ± 14.8	21.6 ± 12.0	33.1 ± 16.5	26.9 ± 11.9	19.3 ± 15.4	22.5 ± 17.3	69.5 ± 65.0	70.5 ± 51.5	37.1 ± 21.6	34.4 ± 17.4
	0.190	(6.00 – 49.3)	(6.29 - 42.9)	(14.7 - 63.1)	(15.2 - 47.0)	(7.08 – 50.0)	(7.90 - 50.6)	(15.3 – 183)	(12.1 - 155)	(16.2 – 76.1)	(12.7 - 59.5)

Note: values less than the LOQ were written as <LOQ. LOQ values varied per metal.

#### 5.4.5. Implications for Sharks

Sharks are exposed to pollutants through various pathways in their marine environments, with the main route of exposure being through their diet. Sharks feed on a wide range of marine organisms, including teleost fish, cephalopods, elasmobranchs, crustaceans, and carcasses of large cetaceans (Cortés, 1999; Barnett et al., 2010; Kiszka et al., 2015). Their prey often contains elevated concentrations of pollutants through bioaccumulation as concentrations increase as they transfer up the food chain, becoming increasingly more concentrated in the tissue of top predators like sharks (Suk et al., 2009; Lara et al., 2020, 2022). The sharks represented in the present study are pelagic, oceanic shark species that have dynamic and diverse dietary preferences. They're opportunistic predators that feed on a variety of prey and have been found to actively seek regions of concentrated prey that are spatiotemporally variable (Bizzarro et al., 2017). There is significant dietary, and habitat overlap among the five shark species described in the present study, which may explain the similar concentrations of trace elements found in their tissue.

Sharks inherit the accumulated pollutants when they consume their prey, and over time these pollutants become more concentrated in their tissue. As a result of mercury's long persistence and high mobility in marine ecosystems, it has been shown to have an age-related accumulation and strong biomagnification in the food web (Islam and Tanaka, 2004). Bioaccumulation amplifies the pollutant concentrations up the marine food chain, posing health risk to the sharks themselves, and ultimately to humans who consume seafood at the top of the food chain (Kibria and Haroon, 2015).

Large pelagic shark species exhibit life traits like that of large-bodied mammals, characterized by their long lifespans, late maturation, and limited offspring production (Fisk

et al., 2002; McKinney et al., 2016; Matulik et al., 2017; Cagnazzi et al., 2019). This further allows for the bioaccumulation of pollutants, which puts shark at higher risk of experiencing adverse health effects from their prolonged exposure to pollutants. Sharks have also been shown to transfer pollutants to their offspring through maternal transfer. This poses a substantial health risk to their young, who now start their life with heightened concentrations of pollutants. This is especially concerning in species that have very few offspring such as smooth hammerhead, silky and thresher sharks, as shark pups may have a lower chance of survival (Parsons et al., 2020).

Trace elements such as As, Cd, Cr, Pb and Hg can interfere with the physiological process that generates reactive oxygen species (ROS). If cellular antioxidant defences fail to balance the production of ROS, it can lead to oxidative damage which includes lipid peroxidation, protein degradation, and DNA disruption. This oxidative stress can lead to cell death (Sies, 1997; Gastell and De Alejo, 2000; Sies et al., 2010; Barrera-García et al., 2012, 2013). The relationship between antioxidant defences and trace elements, specifically heavy metals, is well understood in fish that have been exposed to chemical pollutants (Van der Oost et al., 2003; Martínez-Álvarez et al., 2005). Lamniformes and other active swimming sharks appear to have higher antioxidant defences, protecting them from exercise-induced oxidative damage (Filho and Boveris, 1993; López-Cruz et al., 2010). High concentrations of these toxic metals in sharks may disrupt the production of ROS, leading to the health issues outlined above.

Other studies, for example in great white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*), have found that heavy metals (i.e. Hg and As) have little effect on their physiology. The sharks did not exhibit physiological responses (i.e. no change in enzymatic conditions and leukocyte counts) that would usually be expected in fish that have been exposed to high concentrations of heavy metals (Merly et al., 2019). This suggests that some species can withstand higher concentrations of pollutants in their blood, tissue and vital organs (i.e., from bioaccumulation, or are able to biotransform and eliminate pollutants more effectively than other species (Corsolini et al., 2014; Cresson et al., 2016).

The health risks trace metals pose to sharks is still relatively unknown, and to date there is still no toxic threshold for any contaminant in sharks. While the literature has extensively documented the risks posed to cetaceans and fish, it's important to recognise that sharks possess distinct physiological traits. For example, they are cold blooded, the have evolved along a separate lineage to fish, they don't have a swim bladder, they have cartilaginous skeleton. Drawing comparisons among the three taxonomic groups is difficult and warrants caution. What affects cetaceans and fish may not necessarily apply to sharks. Consequently, there is a growing need for more comprehensive research, such as long-term biomonitoring studies, to assess the impact of pollutants on sharks. These studies are crucial for identifying the potential adverse health risks and enhance our understanding of how pollutants are processed, transported, and transformed within in sharks.

#### 5.5. Conclusion and Future Recommendations

The concentrations of 14 trace elements were measured in the muscle tissue of bigeye thresher sharks, blue sharks, silky sharks, and smooth hammerhead sharks from Ecuador. Ecuador is an elasmobranch hotspot and the ETP is one of the FAO's 27 major fishing areas. Data on these species from the ETP is still relatively limited, especially for bigeye thresher sharks. At the time of this study, research on pollutants in sharks from the ETP was limited, however, over the last three years, there has been a noticeable increase in interest in the number of studies conducted. The five study shark species are large pelagic sharks that occupy tertiary positions in the food chain (Trophic Level > 4), making them more likely to accumulate high concentrations of pollutants, which was especially true for THg and As. The health risks of heavy metals in sharks are still relatively unknown, and monitoring populations remains a conservation challenge. Nevertheless, further research is required to fully understand the health implications heavy metals as well as toxic persistent organic pollutants have on sharks.

Human health risk assessments indicated that meat consumption of all five shark species should be avoided as concentrations of THg may represent a significant health risk to the consumer. Consuming as little as one portion of shark meat poses a significant human health risk to both adults and children. This risk is further exacerbated for adults that consume fish daily, for example humans that live near the coast and where seafood might make up most of their diet (protein source).

#### 5.6. References

Almerón-Souza, F., Sperb, C., Castilho, C. L., Figueiredo, P. I. C. C., Gonçalves, L. T., Machado, R., Oliveira, L. R., Valiati, V. H. and Fagundes, N. J. R. (2018) 'Molecular identification of shark meat from local markets in Southern Brazil based on DNA barcoding: Evidence for mislabeling and trade of endangered species.' *Frontiers in Genetics*, 9 pp. 1–12.

Álvaro-Berlanga, S., Calatayud-Pavía, C. E., Cruz-Ramírez, A., Soto-Jiménez, M. F. and Liñán-Cabello, M. A. (2021) 'Trace elements in muscle tissue of three commercial shark species: Prionace glauca, Carcharhinus falciformis, and Alopias pelagicus off the Manzanillo, Colima coast, Mexico.' *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28(18) pp. 22679–22692.

Alves, L. M. F., Nunes, M., Marchand, P., Le Bizec, B., Mendes, S., Correia, J. P. S., Lemos, M. F. L. and Novais, S. C. (2016) 'Blue sharks (Prionace glauca) as bioindicators of pollution and health in the Atlantic Ocean: Contamination levels and biochemical stress responses.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 563–564 pp. 282–292.

Ansari, T. M., Marr, I. L. and Tariq, N. (2004) 'Heavy Metals in Marine Pollution - A Mini Review.' *Terrestrial and Aquatic Environmental Toxicology* pp. 71–76.

Araújo, C. V. M. and Cedeño-Macias, L. A. (2016) 'Heavy metals in yellowfin tuna (Thunnus albacares) and common dolphinfish (Coryphaena hippurus) landed on the Ecuadorian coast.' *Science of the Total Environment*. Elsevier B.V., 541 pp. 149–154.

Ardura, A., Planes, S. and Garcia-Vazquez, E. (2013) 'Applications of DNA barcoding to fish landings: Authentication and diversity assessment.' *ZooKeys*, 365 pp. 49–65.

Barbosa, A. J., Sampaio, I., da Silva, E. M., Alcântara, J. V. L. and Santos, S. (2020) 'Molecular authentication by DNA barcoding and multiplex PCR assay reveals mislabeling and commercial fraud of the Acoupa weakfish (Cynoscion acoupa), an economically important sciaenid marketed in Brazil.' *Food Control* 117 p. 107351.

Barbuto, M., Galimberti, A., Ferri, E., Labra, M., Malandra, R., Galli, P. and Casiraghi, M. (2010) 'DNA barcoding reveals fraudulent substitutions in shark seafood products: The Italian case of "palombo" (*Mustelus* spp.).' *Food Research International*, 43(1) pp. 376–381.

Barnett, A., Redd, K. S., Frusher, S. D., Stevens, J. D. and Semmens, J. M. (2010) 'Non-lethal method to obtain stomach samples from a large marine predator and the use of DNA analysis to improve dietary information.' *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 393(1–2) pp. 188–192.

Barrera-García, A., O'Hara, T., Galván-Magaña, F., Méndez-Rodríguez, L. C., Castellini, J. M. and Zenteno-Savín, T. (2012) 'Oxidative stress indicators and trace elements in the blue shark (Prionace glauca) off the east coast of the Mexican Pacific Ocean.' *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part - C: Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 156(2) pp. 59–66.

Barrera-García, A., O'Hara, T., Galván-Magaña, F., Méndez-Rodríguez, L. C., Castellini, J. M. and Zenteno-Savín, T. (2013) 'Trace elements and oxidative stress indicators in the liver and kidney of the blue shark (Prionace glauca).' *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - A Molecular and Integrative Physiology*, 165(4) pp. 483–490.

Bartalini, A., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., García-Álvarez, N., Fernández, A. and Jiménez, B. (2022) 'Global PBDE contamination in cetaceans. A critical review.' *Environmental Pollution*, 308.

Besnard, L., Le Croizier, G., Galván-Magaña, F., Point, D., Kraffe, E., Ketchum, J., Martinez Rincon, R. O. and Schaal, G. (2021) 'Foraging depth depicts resource partitioning and contamination level in a pelagic shark assemblage: Insights from mercury stable isotopes.' *Environmental Pollution*, 283.

Bezerra, M. F., Lacerda, L. D. and Lai, C. T. (2019) 'Trace metals and persistent organic pollutants contamination in batoids (Chondrichthyes: Batoidea): A systematic review.' *Environmental Pollution*, 248 pp. 684–695.

Bizzarro, J. J., Carlisle, A. B., Smith, W. D. and Cortés, E. (2017) 'Diet Composition and Trophic Ecology of Northeast Pacific Ocean Sharks.' *In Advances in Marine Biology*, pp. 111–148.

Blaber, S. J. M., Dichmont, C. M., White, W., Buckworth, R., Sadiyah, L., Iskandar, B., Nurhakim, S., Pillans, R., Andamari, R., Dharmadi and Fahmi (2009) 'Elasmobranchs in southern Indonesian fisheries: The fisheries, the status of the stocks and management options.' *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 19(3) pp. 367–391.

Boldrocchi, G., Monticelli, D., Omar, Y. M. and Bettinetti, R. (2019) 'Trace elements and POPs in two commercial shark species from Djibouti: Implications for human exposure.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 669 pp. 637–648.

Bonfil, R. (1997) 'Status of sharks resources in the Southern Gulf of Mexico and Caribbean: implications for management.' *Fisheries Research*, 29(2) pp. 101–117.

Bornatowski, H., Braga, R. R., Abilhoa, V. and Corrêa, M. F. M. (2014) 'Feeding ecology and trophic comparisons of six shark species in a coastal ecosystem off southern Brazil.' *Journal of Fish Biology*, 85(2) pp. 246–263.

Le Bourg, B., Kiszka, J. J., Bustamante, P., Heithaus, M. R., Jaquemet, S. and Humber, F. (2019) 'Effect of body length, trophic position and habitat use on mercury concentrations of sharks from contrasted ecosystems in the southwestern Indian Ocean.' *Environmental Research*, 169 pp. 387–395.

Branco, V., Vale, C., Canário, J. and Santos, M. N. dos (2007) 'Mercury and selenium in blue shark (Prionace glauca, L. 1758) and swordfish (Xiphias gladius, L. 1758) from two areas of the Atlantic Ocean.' *Environmental Pollution*, 150(3) pp. 373–380.

Bruce-Vanderpuije, P., Megson, D., Reiner, E. J., Bradley, L., Adu-Kumi, S. and Gardella, J. A. (2019) 'The state of POPs in Ghana- A review on persistent organic pollutants: Environmental and human exposure.' *Environmental Pollution*.

Brunner, E. J., Jones, P. J. S., Friel, S. and Bartley, M. (2009) 'Fish, human health and marine ecosystem health: Policies in collision.' *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 38(1) pp. 93–100.

Caballero, S., Cardeñosa, D., Soler, G. and Hyde, J. (2012) 'Application of multiplex PCR approaches for shark molecular identification: Feasibility and applications for fisheries management and conservation in the Eastern Tropical Pacific.' *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 12 pp. 233–237.

Cagnazzi, D., Consales, G., Broadhurst, M. K. and Marsili, L. (2019) 'Bioaccumulation of organochlorine compounds in large, threatened elasmobranchs off northern New South Wales, Australia.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 139 pp. 263–269.

Calle-Morán, M. D. and Galván-Magaña, F. (2020) 'Diet composition and feeding habits of the pelagic thresher shark Alopias pelagicus in Eastern Central Pacific Ocean, Ecuadorian waters.' *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 100(5) pp. 837–845.

Calle-Morán, M. D., Loor-Andrade, P. J. and Galván-Magaña, F. (2023) 'Trophic chain of the pelagic thresher, Alopias pelagicus, in the Southeastern Pacific Ocean: An approach through stable isotopes of carbon and nitrogen.' *Food Webs*, 36 p. e00294.

Çamur, D., Topbaş, M., İlter, H., Albay, M., Ayoğlu, F. N., Can, M., Altın, A., Demirtaş, Y., Somuncu, B. P., Aydın, F. and Açıkgöz, B. (2021) 'Heavy Metals and Trace Elements in Whole-Blood Samples of the Fishermen in Turkey: The Fish/Ermen Heavy Metal Study (FHMS).' *Environmental Management*, 67(3) pp. 553–562.

Cardeñosa, D. (2019) 'Genetic identification of threatened shark species in pet food and beauty care products.' *Conservation Genetics*, 20 pp. 1383–1387.

Cardeñosa, D., Fields, A. T., Babcock, E. A., Zhang, H., Feldheim, K., Shea, S. K. H., Fischer, G. A. and Chapman, D. D. (2018) 'CITES-listed sharks remain among the top species in the

contemporary fin trade.' Conservation Letters, 11 pp. 1–7.

Cardeñosa, D., Fields, A. T., Shea, S. K. H., Feldheim, K. A. and Chapman, D. D. (2021) 'Relative contribution to the shark fin trade of Indo-Pacific and Eastern Pacific pelagic thresher sharks.' *Animal Conservation*, 24(3) pp. 367–372.

Cardeñosa, D., Shea, S. K., Zhang, H., Fischer, G. A., Simpfendorfer, C. A. and Chapman, D. D. (2022) 'Two thirds of species in a global shark fin trade hub are threatened with extinction: Conservation potential of international trade regulations for coastal sharks.' *Conservation Letters*, 15(5) p. e12910.

de Carvalho, G. G. A., Degaspari, I. A. M. and Branco, V. (2014) 'Assessment of Total and Organic Mercury Levels in Blue Sharks (*Prionace glauca*) from the South and Southeastern Brazilian Coast'. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 159 (1-3), pp. 128–134.

Castro-Rendón, R. D., Calle-Morán, M. D., García-Arévalo, I., Ordiano-Flores, A. and Galván-Magaña, F. (2022) 'Mercury and Cadmium Concentrations in Muscle Tissue of the Blue Shark (Prionace glauca) in the Central Eastern Pacific Ocean.' *Biological Trace Element Research*. Springer US, 200(7) pp. 3400–3411.

CITES. (2022) *Nineteenth meeting of the Conference of the Parties Panama City (Panama)*. CITES. [Online] [Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2024] https://cites.org/eng/cop19

CITES (2023) *Sharks and Rays*. CITES. [Online] [Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2024] <u>https://cites.org/eng/prog/shark</u> [

Clarke S.C., Magnussen, J. E., Abercrombie, D. L., McAllister, M. K. and Shivji, M. S. (2006a) 'Identification of Shark Species Composition and Proportion in the Hong Kong Shark Fin Market Based on Molecular Genetics and Trade Records.' *Conservation Biology*, 20(1) pp. 201– 211.

Clarke S.C., McAllister, M. K., Milner-Gulland, E. J., Kirkwood, G. P., Michielsens, C. G. J. J.,

Agnew, D. J., Pikitch, E. K., Nakano, H. and Shivji, M. S. (2006b) 'Global estimates of shark catches using trade records from commercial markets.' *Ecology Letters*, 9(10) pp. 1115–1126. Cockcroft, V. ., Haschick, S. L. and Klages, N. T. . (1993) 'The diet of Risso's dolphin, Grampus griseus (Cuvier, 1812), from the east coast of South Africa.' *Zeitschrift für Säugetierkunde* pp. 286–293.

Compagno, L. J. V. (1984) 'Sharks of the World. An Annotated and Illustrated Catalogue of Shark Species Known to Date'. 124(4), United nationals Development Programme.

Cortés, E. (1999) 'Standardized diet compositions and trophic levels of sharks.' *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 56(5) pp. 707–717.

Cundy, M. E., Santana-Garcon, J., McLennan, A. G., Ayad, M. E., Bayer, P. E., Cooper, M., Corrigan, S., Harrison, E. and Wilcox, C. (2023) 'Seafood label quality and mislabelling rates hamper consumer choices for sustainability in Australia.' *Scientific Reports*, 13(1) pp. 1–17.

Das, K., Debacker, V., Pillet, S. and Bouquegneau, J. (2002) 'Heavy metals in marine mammals.' In Toxicology of Marine Mammals, pp. 135–154.

Davis, J. A., May, M. D., Greenfield, B. K., Fairey, R., Roberts, C., Ichikawa, G., Stoelting, M. S., Becker, J. S. and Tjeerdema, R. S. (2002) 'Contaminant concentrations in sport fish from.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 44 pp. 1117–1129.

Dominguez, C. and Cobeña, M. (2019) 'Estudio de comercialización de carne de tiburón en Ecuador, para entender las características específicas del mercado de carne de tiburón y sus subproductos en el país'. Quayaquil.

Dorneles, P. R., Sanz, P., Eppe, G., Azevedo, A. F., Bertozzi, C. P., Martínez, M. A., Secchi, E. R., Barbosa, L. A., Cremer, M., Alonso, M. B., Torres, J. P. M., Lailson-Brito, J., Malm, O., Eljarrat, E., Barceló, D. and Das, K. (2013) 'High accumulation of PCDD, PCDF, and PCB congeners in marine mammals from Brazil: A serious PCB problem.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 463–

464 pp. 309–318.

Duffy, L. M., Olson, R. J., Lennert-Cody, C. E., Galván-Magaña, F., Bocanegra-Castillo, N. and Kuhnert, P. M. (2015) 'Foraging ecology of silky sharks, Carcharhinus falciformis, captured by the tuna purse-seine fishery in the eastern Pacific Ocean.' *Marine Biology*, 162(3) pp. 571–593.

Dulvy, N. K., Fowler, S. L., Musick, J. A., Cavanagh, R. D., Kyne, P. M., Harrison, L. R., Carlson, J. K., Davidson, L. N. k, Fordham, S. V., Francis, M. P., Pollock, C. M., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Burgess, G. H., Carpenter, K. E., Compagno, L. J. v, Ebert, D. A., Gibson, C., Heupel, M. R., Livingstone, S. R., Sanciangco, J. C., Stevens, J. D., Valenti, S. and White, W. T. (2014) 'Extinction risk and conservation of the world's sharks and rays.' *eLife*, 3.

Dulvy, N. K., Pacoureau, N., Rigby, C. L., Pollom, R. A., Jabado, R. W., Ebert, D. A., Finucci, B., Pollock, C. M., Cheok, J., Derrick, D. H., Herman, K. B., Sherman, C. S., VanderWright, W. J., Lawson, J. M., Walls, R. H. L., Carlson, J. K., Charvet, P., Bineesh, K. K., Fernando, D., Ralph, G. M., Matsushiba, J. H., Hilton-Taylor, C., Fordham, S. V. and Simpfendorfer, C. A. (2021) 'Overfishing drives over one-third of all sharks and rays toward a global extinction crisis.' *Current Biology*, 31(21) pp. 4773-4787.e8.

EA (2009) 'Contaminants in soil: updated collation of toxicological data and intake values for humans'. Bristol.

Ebert, D. A., Fowler, S. L. and Campango, L. J. (2013) 'Sharks of the world: a fully illustrated guide'. Wild Nature Press.

EFSA (2012) 'Scientific Opinion on the risk for public and animal health related to the presence of sterigmatocystin in food and feed. European Food Safety Authority.' *EFSA Journal*.

Knutsen, H. K., Alexander, J., Barreg, L., Ceccatelli, S., Cottrill, B., Dinovi, M., Edler, L., Graslkraupp, B., Hogstrand, C., Nebbia, C. S., Oswald, I. P., Petersen, A., Rose, M., Roudot, A.,

Schwerdtle, T., Vleminckx, C., Helen, H., Wallace, H., Peter, F., Halldorsson, T., Lundebye, A., Pohjanvirta, R., Rylander, L., Smith, A., Loveren, H. Van, Christoph, E., Ciccolallo, L., Bordajandi, L. R., Steinkeller, H. and Hoogenboom, L. (2019) 'EFSA: Risk for animal and human health related to the presence of dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in feed and food.' *EFSA Journal*, 16(11) pp. 1–331.

EPA (2020) *EPA-FDA Fish Advice: Technical Information*. U.S. Food and Drug Administration (US EPA). [Online] [Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2024] <u>https://www.epa.gov/choose-fish-and-shellfish-wisely/epa-fda-advice-about-eating-fish-and-</u>

<u>shellfish#:~:text=Advice%20Summary%3A,friends%2C%20check%20for%20fish%20advisorie</u>
<u>s</u>.

EPA (2022) Technical Information on Development of FDA/EPA Advice about Eating Fish for Those Who Might Become or Are Pregnant or Breastfeeding and Children Ages 1-11 Years. U.S. Food and Drug Administration (US EPA). [Online] [Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2024] https://www.fda.gov/food/environmental-contaminants-food/technical-information-

development-fdaepa-advice-about-eating-fish-those-who-might-become-or-are

Erasmus, J. H., Smit, N. J., Gerber, R., Schaeffner, B. C., Nkabi, N. and Wepener, V. (2022) 'Total mercury concentrations in sharks, skates and rays along the South African coast.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 184 p. 114142.

Escobar-Sánchez, O., Galván-Magaña, F. and Rosíles-Martínez, R. (2010) 'Mercury and selenium bioaccumulation in the smooth hammerhead shark, Sphyrna zygaena linnaeus, from the Mexican Pacific Ocean.' *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 84(4) pp. 488–491.

Escobar-Sánchez, O., Galván-Magaña, F. and Rosíles-Martínez, R. (2011) 'Biomagnification of mercury and selenium in blue shark Prionace glauca from the Pacific Ocean off Mexico.'

*Biological Trace Element Research*, 144(1–3) pp. 550–559.

Estupiñán-Montaño, C., Cedeño-Figueroa, L., Estupiñán-Ortiz, J. F., Galván-Magaña, F., Sandoval-Londoño, A., Castañeda-Suarez, D. and Polo-Silva, C. J. (2019) 'Feeding habits and trophic level of the smooth hammerhead shark, Sphyrna zygaena (Carcharhiniformes: Sphyrnidae), off Ecuador.' *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 99(3) pp. 673–680.

Estupiñán-Montaño, C., Pacheco-Triviño, F., Cedeño-Figueroa, L. G., Galván-Magaña, F. and Estupiñán-Ortiz, J. F. (2017) 'Diet of three shark species in the Ecuadorian Pacific, Carcharhinus falciformis, Carcharhinus limbatus and Nasolamia velox.' *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* pp. 1–9.

FAO. (2010) Report oh the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Consultation on the Risks and Benefits of Fish Consumption. Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO). [Online] [Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2024]

https://www.fao.org/4/ba0136e/ba0136e00.htm#:~:text=The%20Expert%20Consultation%2 Odrew%20a,effectively%20communicate%20these%20risks%20and

FAO. (2015) List of Major Fishing Areas. Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO). Online]
[Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2024] <u>https://www.fao.org/fishery/area/search</u>
FAO and WHO. (2013) Evaluations of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food
Additives (JECFA). Mercury. Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) and World Health

Organisation (WHO). [Online] [Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2024]

https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241209830

Fields, A. T., Fischer, G. A., Shea, S. K. H., Zhang, H., Abercrombie, D. L., Feldheim, K. A., Babcock, E. A. and Chapman, D. D. (2017) 'Species composition of the international shark fin trade assessed through a retail-market survey in Hong Kong.' *Conservation Biology*, 7(1) pp. 1–47.

Filho, D. W. and Boveris, A. (1993) 'Antioxidant defences in marine fish—II. Elasmobranchs.' *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Pharmacology, Toxicology and Endocrinology*. Pergamon, 106(2) pp. 415–418.

Filonzi, L., Vaghi, M., Ardenghi, A., Rontani, P. M., Voccia, A. and Nonnis Marzano, F. (2021) 'Efficiency of dna mini-barcoding to assess mislabeling in commercial fish products in italy: An overview of the last decade.' *Foods*, 10(7).

Fisk, A. T., Tittlemier, S. A., Pranschke, J. L. and Norstrom, R. J. (2002) 'Using Anthropogenic Contaminants and Stable Isotopes to Assess the Feeding Ecology of Greenland Sharks.' *Ecology*, 83(8) pp. 2162–2172.

Fleming, L. E., Broad, K., Clement, A., Dewailly, E., Elmir, S., Knap, A., Pomponi, S. A., Smith, S., Solo Gabriele, H. and Walsh, P. (2006) 'Oceans and human health: Emerging public health risks in the marine environment.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 53(10–12) pp. 545–560.

Fleming, L. E., Broad, K., Clement, A., Dewailly, E., Elmir, S., Knap, A., Pomponi, S. A., Smith, S., Solo Gabriele, H. and Walsh, P. (2008) 'Oceans and human health: Emerging public health risks n the marine environment.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 53(10) pp. 10–12.

Flores-Martínez, I. A., Torres-Rojas, Y. E., Galván-Magaña, F. and Ramos-Miranda, J. (2016) 'Diet comparison between silky sharks (Carcharhinus falciformis) and scalloped hammerhead sharks (Sphyrna lewini) off the south-west coast of Mexico.' *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 97(2) pp. 1–9.

Froese, R. and Pauly, D. (2019) *FishBase*. [Online] [Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2024] https://fishbase.se

Gallagher, A. J. and Klimley, A. P. (2018) 'The biology and conservation status of the large hammerhead shark complex: the great, scalloped, and smooth hammerheads.' *Reviews in Fish*
Biology and Fisheries. Springer International Publishing, 28(4) pp. 777–794.

García-Hernández, J., Cadena-Cárdenas, L., Betancourt-Lozano, M., García-De-La-Parra, L. M., García-Rico, L. and Márquez-Farías, F. (2007) 'Total mercury content found in edible tissues of top predator fish from the Gulf of California, Mexico.' *Toxicological and Environmental Chemistry*, 89(3) pp. 507–522.

García-Hernández, J., Ortega-Vélez, M. I., Contreras-Paniagua, A. D., Aguilera-Márquez, D., Leyva-García, G. and Torre, J. (2018) 'Mercury concentrations in seafood and the associated risk in women with high fish consumption from coastal villages of Sonora, Mexico.' *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 120 pp. 367–377.

Garcia Barcia, L., Argiro, J., Babcock, E. A., Cai, Y., Shea, S. K. H. and Chapman, D. D. (2020) 'Mercury and arsenic in processed fins from nine of the most traded shark species in the Hong Kong and China dried seafood markets: The potential health risks of shark fin soup.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 157 p. 111281.

García Barcia, L., Valdes, A. E., Wothke, A., Fanovich, L., Mohammed, R. S., Shea, S., González, C., Cai, Y. and Chapman, D. (2023) 'Health Risk Assessment of Globally Consumed Shark-Derived Products.' *Exposure and Health*, 15(2) pp. 409–423.

Gastell, P. L. P. and De Alejo, J. L. P. (2000) 'Métodos para medir el daño oxidativo.' *Revista Cubana de Medicina Militar*, 29(3) pp. 192–198.

Gobierno del Ecuador (2020) 'Gobierno Nacional fortalece el Plan de Acción Nacional para la Conservación y Manejo del Tiburón de Ecuador PAT'.

Goyanna, F. A. A., Fernandes, M. B., Silva, G. B. da and Lacerda, L. D. de (2023) 'Mercury in oceanic upper trophic level sharks and bony fishes - A systematic review.' *Environmental Pollution*, 318 p. 120821.

Hajeb, P., Selamat, J., Ismail, A., Bakar, F. A., Bakar, J. and Lioe, H. N. (2008) 'Hair mercury level

of coastal communities in Malaysia: A linkage with fish consumption.' *European Food Research and Technology*, 227(5) pp. 1349–1355.

Hammerschlag, N., Davis, D., Mondo, K., Seely, M., Murch, S., Brocglover, W., Divoll, T., Evers, D. and Mash, D. C. (2016) 'Cyanobacterial neurotoxin bmaa and mercury in sharks.' *Toxins*, 8(8) pp. 1–14.

Hearn, A. C. S., Allen, H. Z. L., Zurita, L., Gabela-flores, M. V., Peñaherrera-, C. R., Castrejón, M.,
Cruz, S., Kelley, D., Bruno, J., Jones, J., Naveira-garabato, A., Viteri, C., Picho, J., Donnelly, A.,
Tudhope, A., Fischer, C., Green, J. R., Hucke-gaete, R., Navia, A., Palomino-gaviria, A. and Parra,
M. (2022) 'A Blueprint for Marine Spatial Planning of Ecuador's Exclusive Economic Zone
around the Galápagos Marine Reserve'. Quito.

Hellberg, R. S., Isaacs, R. B. and Hernandez, E. L. (2019) 'Identification of shark species in commercial products using DNA barcoding.' *Fisheries Research*, 210 pp. 81–88.

Henry, T. B. (2015) 'Ecotoxicology of polychlorinated biphenyls in fish-a critical review.' *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*.

Hernández-Aguilar SB, Escobar-Sánchez O, Galván-Magaña F, Abitia-Cárdenas LA (2016) 'Trophic ecology of the blue shark (*Prionace glauca*) based on stable isotopes ( $\delta$ 13C and  $\delta$ 15N) and stomach content.' *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*. 96(7): 1403-1410.

Hobbs, C. A. D., Potts, R. W. A., Bjerregaard Walsh, M., Usher, J. and Griffiths, A. M. (2019) 'Using DNA Barcoding to Investigate Patterns of Species Utilisation in UK Shark Products Reveals Threatened Species on Sale.' *Scientific Reports*, 9(1) pp. 1–10.

van Houtan, K. S., Gagné, T. O., Reygondeau, G., Tanaka, K. R., Palumbi, S. R. and Jorgensen, S. J. (2020) 'Coastal sharks supply the global shark fin trade: Sourcing shark fins.' *Biology Letters*, 16 pp. 9–12.

Hussey, N. E., Brush, J., McCarthy, I. D. and Fisk, A. T. (2010) 'δ15N and δ13C diet–tissue discrimination factors for large sharks under semi-controlled conditions.' *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology*, 155(4) pp. 445–453. Iavicoli, I., Fontana, L. and Bergamaschi, A. (2009) 'The effects of metals as endocrine disruptors.' *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health - Part B: Critical Reviews*, 12(3) pp. 206–223.

Islam, M. S. and Tanaka, M. (2004) 'Impacts of pollution on coastal and marine ecosystems including coastal and marine fisheries and approach for management: A review and synthesis.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 48(7–8) pp. 624–649.

IUCN. (2023) The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. [Online] [Accessed: 22nd December 2023] <u>https://www.iucnredlist.org</u>

Jakimska, A., Konieczka, P., Skóra, K. and Namieśnik, J. (2011) 'Bioaccumulation of metals in tissues of marine animals, part I: The role and impact of heavy metals on organisms.' *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, 20(5) pp. 1117–1125.

Jambeck, J., Geyer, R., Wilcox, C., Siegler, T. R., Perryman, M., Andrady, A., Narayan, R. and Law, K. L. (2015) 'Plastic waste inputs from land into ocean.' *Marine Pollution*, 347(6223) pp. 768–771.

JECFA (2021) Cadmium. Evaluations of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Comittee on Food Additives (JECFA). [Online] [Accessed on 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2024]

https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/43258/WHO TRS 930 eng.pdf?sequence=1

Jiang, Q. T., Lee, T. K. M., Chen, K., Wong, H. L., Zheng, J. S., Giesy, J. P., Lo, K. K. W., Yamashita, N. and Lam, P. K. S. (2005) 'Human health risk assessment of organochlorines associated with fish consumption in a coastal city in China.' *Environmental Pollution*, 136(1) pp. 155–165. Johansen, P., Muir, D., Asmund, G. and Riget, F. (2004) 'Human exposure to contaminants in

the traditional Greenland diet.' Science of the Total Environment, 331(1–3) pp. 189–206.

Kazama, H., Yamaguchi, Y., Harada, Y., Kaneko, N., Mizushima, H., Tsuchiya, K., Nemoto, M., Takaku, Y., Sahoo, Y. V. and Tanaka, M. (2020) 'Mercury concentrations in the tissues of blue shark (Prionace glauca) from Sagami Bay and cephalopods from East China Sea.' *Environmental Pollution*, 266 p. 115192.

Khalil, A. M., Gainsford, A. and van Herwerden, L. (2023) 'DNA barcoding of fresh seafood in Australian markets reveals misleading labelling and sale of endangered species.' *Journal of Fish Biology*, 102(3) pp. 727–733.

Kibria, G. and Haroon, A. K. Y. (2015) 'Pollutant's Bioaccumulation in Sharks and Shark Seafood Security.' *Anytioxidants (Basel)*, 12(2): 254.

Kim, K. H., Jahan, S. A., Kabir, E. and Brown, R. J. C. (2013) 'A review of airborne polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and their human health effects.' *Environment International*, 60 pp. 71–80.

Kim, S. J., Lee, H. K., Badejo, A. C., Lee, W. C. and Moon, H. B. (2016) 'Species-specific accumulation of methyl and total mercury in sharks from offshore and coastal waters of Korea.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 102(1) pp. 210–215.

Kim, S. L., Tinker, M. T., Estes, J. A. and Koch, P. L. (2012) 'Ontogenetic and Among-Individual Variation in Foraging Strategies of Northeast Pacific White Sharks Based on Stable Isotope Analysis.' *PLoS ONE*, 7(9).

Kiszka, J. J., Aubail, A., Hussey, N. E., Heithaus, M. R., Caurant, F. and Bustamante, P. (2015) 'Plasticity of trophic interactions among sharks from the oceanic south-western Indian Ocean revealed by stable isotope and mercury analyses.' *Deep-Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers*, 96 pp. 49–58.

Krishna, P., Rao, M., Swaruparani, V. and Rao, S. (2014) 'Heavy Metals Concentration in Fish

Mugil cephalus from Machilipatnam Coast and Possible Health Risks to Fish Consumers.' British Biotechnology Journal, 4(2) pp. 126–135.

Krystek, P. and Ritsema, R. (2005) 'Mercury speciation in thawed out and refrozen fish samples by gas chromatography coupled to inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry and atomic fluorescence spectroscopy.' *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 381(2) pp. 354–359.

Kummu, M., De Moel, H., Salvucci, G., Viviroli, D., Ward, P. J. and Varis, O. (2016) 'Over the hills and further away from coast: Global geospatial patterns of human and environment over the 20th-21st centuries.' *Environmental Research Letters*, 11(3).

Lara, A., Galván-Magaña, F., Elorriaga-Verplancken, F., Marmolejo-Rodríguez, A. J., Gonzalez-Armas, R., Arreola-Mendoza, L., Sujitha, S. B. and Jonathan, M. P. (2020) 'Bioaccumulation and trophic transfer of potentially toxic elements in the pelagic thresher shark Alopias pelagicus in Baja California Sur, Mexico.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. Elsevier, 156 p. 111192.

Lara, A., Galván-Magaña, F., Elorriaga-Verplancken, F. R., Marmolejo-Rodríguez, A. J., González-Armas, R., Arreola-Mendoza, L., Sujitha, S. B., Jonathan, M. P. and Pantoja-Echevarría, L. M. (2022) 'Mercury, selenium and cadmium in juvenile blue (Prionace glauca) and smooth hammerhead (Sphyrna zygaena) sharks from the Northwest Mexican Pacific coast.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 175.

Li, Y., Gong, Y., Chen, X., Dai, X. and Zhu, J. (2014) 'Trophic ecology of sharks in the mid-east Pacific ocean inferred from stable isotopes.' *Journal of Ocean University of China*, 13(2) pp. 278–282.

Li, Y., Zhang, Y. and Dai, X. (2016) 'Trophic interactions among pelagic sharks and large predatory teleosts in the northeast central Pacific.' *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 483 pp. 97–103.

Li, Z., Hussey, N. E. and Li, Y. (2022) 'Quantifying maternal transfer of trace elements and stable

isotopes in the endangered pelagic thresher shark (*Alopias pelagicus*).' *Chemosphere*, 300 p. 134614.

Li, Z., Pethybridge, H. R., Gong, Y., Wu, F., Dai, X. and Li, Y. (2022) 'Effect of body size, feeding ecology and maternal transfer on mercury accumulation of vulnerable silky shark Carcharhinus falciformis in the eastern tropical pacific.' *Environmental Pollution*, 309 p. 119751.

Li, Z., Pethybridge, H. R., Wu, F. and Li, Y. (2023) 'Mercury bioaccumulation in thresher sharks from the eastern tropical Pacific: Influences of body size, maturation stage, and feeding habitat.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 872 p. 162248.

Loor-Andrade, P., Pincay-Espinoza, J. and Rosas-Luis, R. (2017) 'Diet of the blue shark Prionace glauca in the Ecuadorian Pacific Ocean during the years 2013 to 2015.' *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 33(3) pp. 558–562.

López-Cruz, R. I., Zenteno-Savín, T. and Galván-Magaña, F. (2010) 'Superoxide production, oxidative damage and enzymatic antioxidant defenses in shark skeletal muscle.' *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology*. Pergamon, 156(1) pp. 50–56.

Lopez, S. A., Abarca, N. L., Meléndez, R. and Meléndez, C. R. (2013) 'Heavy metal concentrations of two highly migratory sharks (*Prionace glauca* and *Isurus oxyrinchus*) in the southeastern Pacific waters: comments on public health and conservation.' *Tropical Conservation Science*, 6(1) pp. 126–137.

MAGAP (2013) 'MAGAP aplica medidas de conservación para tiburones martillos en el Ecuador'. Gobierno del Ecuador.

Martínez-Álvarez, R. M., Morales, A. E. and Sanz, A. (2005) 'Antioxidant defenses in fish: Biotic and abiotic factors.' *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 15(1–2) pp. 75–88.

Martínez-Ortiz, J., Aires-Da-silva, A. M., Lennert-Cody, C. E. and Maunderxs, M. N. (2015) 'The ecuadorian artisanal fishery for large pelagics: Species composition and spatio-temporal dynamics.' *PLoS ONE*, 10(8) pp. 1–29.

Martínez-Ortíz, J., Galván-Magaña, F., Carrera-Fernández, M., Mendoza-Intriago, D., Estupiñán-Montaño, C. and Cedeño-Figueroa, L. (2007) 'Abundancia estacional de tiburones desembarcados en Manta--Ecuador.' *Tiburones en el Ecuador: Casos de Estudio. Manta: EPESPO-PMRC*, pp. 9–27.

Matos, J., Lourenço, H. M., Brito, P., Maulvault, A. L., Martins, L. L. and Afonso, C. (2015) 'Influence of bioaccessibility of total mercury, methyl-mercury and selenium on the risk/benefit associated to the consumption of raw and cooked blue shark (Prionace glauca).' *Environmental Research*, 143 pp. 123–129.

Matulik, A. G., Kerstetter, D. W., Hammerschlag, N., Divoll, T., Hammerschmidt, C. R. and Evers, D. C. (2017) 'Bioaccumulation and biomagnification of mercury and methylmercury in four sympatric coastal sharks in a protected subtropical lagoon.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 116(1– 2) pp. 357–364.

Maurice, L., Croizier, G. Le, Morales, G., Carpintero, N., Guayasamin, J. M., Sonke, J., Páez-Rosas, D., Point, D., Bustos, W. and Ochoa-Herrera, V. (2021) 'Concentrations and stable isotopes of mercury in sharks of the Galapagos Marine Reserve: Human health concerns and feeding patterns.' *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 215 pp. 0–3.

Maz-Courrau, A., López-Vera, C., Galván-Magaña, F., Escobar-Sánchez, O., Rosíles-Martínez, R. and Sanjuán-Muñoz, A. (2012) 'Bioaccumulation and biomagnification of total mercury in four exploited shark species in the Baja California Peninsula, Mexico.' *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 88(2) pp. 129–134.

McKinney, M. A., Dean, K., Hussey, N. E., Cliff, G., Wintner, S. P., Dudley, S. F. J., Zungu, M. P.

and Fisk, A. T. (2016) 'Global versus local causes and health implications of high mercury concentrations in sharks from the east coast of South Africa.' *Science of the Total Environment*. Elsevier B.V., 541 pp. 176–183.

Merly, L., Lange, L., Meÿer, M., Hewitt, A. M., Koen, P., Fischer, C., Muller, J., Schilack, V., Wentzel, M. and Hammerschlag, N. (2019) 'Blood plasma levels of heavy metals and trace elements in white sharks (Carcharodon carcharias) and potential health consequences.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 142 pp. 85–92.

Mille, T., Cresson, P., Chouvelon, T., Bustamante, P., Brach-Papa, C., Sandrine, B., Rozuel, E. and Bouchoucha, M. (2018) 'Trace metal concentrations in the muscle of seven marine species: Comparison between the Gulf of Lions (North-West Mediterranean Sea) and the Bay of Biscay (North-East Atlantic Ocean).' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 135 pp. 9–16.

Mohammed, A. and Mohammed, T. (2017) 'Mercury, arsenic, cadmium and lead in two commercial shark species (*Sphyrna lewini* and *Caraharinus porosus*) in Trinidad and Tobago.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 119(2) pp. 214–218.

Mohammed Abdul, K. S., Jayasinghe, S. S., Chandana, E. P. S., Jayasumana, C. and De Silva, P. M. C. S. (2015) 'Arsenic and human health effects: A review.' *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 40(3) pp. 828–846.

Nakano, H. and Stevens, J. D. (2009) 'The Biology and Ecologty of the Blue Shark, Prionace glauca.' *In* Camhi, M. D., Pikitch, E. K., and Babcock, E. A. (eds) *Sharks of the Open Ocean: Biology, Fisheries and Conservation*. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, pp. 140–151. Niedermüller, S., Ainsworth, G. B., de Juan, S., Garcia, R., Ospina-Alvarez, A., Pita, P. and Villasante, S. (2021) *Shark and ray global trade meat network: A deep dive into a global affair.* World Wildlife Fund (WWF) report. Available at:

https://sharks.panda.org/images/downloads/392/WWF MMI Global shark ray meat tra

## de report 2021 lowres.pdf

O'Bryhim, J. R., Adams, D. H., Spaet, J. L. Y., Mills, G. and Lance, S. L. (2017) 'Relationships of mercury concentrations across tissue types, muscle regions and fins for two shark species.' *Environmental Pollution*, 223 pp. 323–333.

Olmedo, P., Pla, A., Hernández, A. F., Barbier, F., Ayouni, L. and Gil, F. (2013) 'Determination of toxic elements (mercury, cadmium, lead, tin and arsenic) in fish and shellfish samples. Risk assessment for the consumers.' *Environment International*, 59 pp. 63–72.

Van der Oost, R., Beyer, J. and Vermeulen, N. P. E. (2003) 'Fish bioaccumulation and biomarkers in environmental risk assessment: A review.' *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 13(2) pp. 57–149.

Pacoureau, N., Rigby, C. L., Kyne, P. M., Sherley, R. B., Winker, H., Carlson, J. K., Fordham, S. V., Barreto, R., Fernando, D., Francis, M. P., Jabado, R. W., Herman, K. B., Liu, K. M., Marshall, A. D., Pollom, R. A., Romanov, E. V., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Yin, J. S., Kindsvater, H. K. and Dulvy, N. K. (2021) 'Half a century of global decline in oceanic sharks and rays.' *Nature*, 589(7843) pp. 567–571.

Parsons, G. R., Hoffmayer, E. R., Frank, J. and Bet-sayad, W. (2020) 'A Review of Shark Reproductive Ecology: Life History and Evolutionary Implications.' *Fish Reproduction* pp. 449– 484.

Patandin, S., Dagnelie, P. C., Mulder, P. G. H., Op De Coul, E., Van Der Veen, J. E., Weisglas-Kuperus, N. and Sauer, P. J. J. (1999) 'Dietary exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and dioxins from infancy until adulthood: A comparison between breast-feeding, toddler, and long-term exposure.' *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 107(1) pp. 45–51.

Pethybridge, H., Cossa, D. and Butler, E. C. V. (2010) 'Mercury in 16 demersal sharks from southeast Australia: Biotic and abiotic sources of variation and consumer health implications.'

Marine Environmental Research, 69(1) pp. 18–26.

Post, D. M. (2002) 'Using stable isotopes to estimate trophic position: Models, methods, and assumptions.' *Ecology*, 83(3) pp. 703–718.

Prasetyo, A. P., Cusa, M., Murray, J. M., Agung, F., Muttaqin, E., Mariani, S. and McDevitt, A. D. (2023) 'Universal closed-tube barcoding for monitoring the shark and ray trade in megadiverse conservation hotspots.' *iScience*, 26(7) p. 107065.

Prasetyo, A. P., Murray, J. M., Kurniawan, M. F. A. K., Sales, N. G., McDevitt, A. D. and Mariani, S. (2023) 'Shark-dust: Application of high-throughput DNA sequencing of processing residues for trade monitoring of threatened sharks and rays.' *Conservation Letters*, pp. 1–10.

Preti, A., Kohin, S., Dewar, H. and Ramon, D. (2008) 'Feeding habits of the bigeye thresher shark (Alopias superciliosus) sampled from the California-based drift gillnet fishery.' *California Cooperative Oceanic Fisheries Investigations Reports*, 49 pp. 202–211.

Preti, A., Soykan, C. U., Dewar, H., Wells, R. J. D., Spear, N. and Kohin, S. (2012) 'Comparative feeding ecology of shortfin mako, blue and thresher sharks in the California Current.' *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 95(1) pp. 127–146.

R Development Core Team (2014) 'R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing.' Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statisical Computing.

Rantakokko, P., Turunen, A., Verkasalo, P. K., Kiviranta, H., Männistö, S. and Vartiainen, T. (2008) 'Blood levels of organotin compounds and their relation to fish consumption in Finland.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 399(1–3) pp. 90–95.

Riesgo, L., Sanpera, C., García-Barcelona, S., Sánchez-Fortún, M., Coll, M. and Navarro, J. (2023) 'Understanding the role of ecological factors affecting mercury concentrations in the blue shark (Prionace glauca).' *Chemosphere*, 313.

Rochman, C. M., Tahir, A., Williams, S. L., Baxa, D. V., Lam, R., Miller, J. T., Teh, F. C., Werorilangi,

S. and Teh, S. J. (2015) 'Anthropogenic debris in seafood: Plastic debris and fibers from textiles in fish and bivalves sold for human consumption.' *Scientific Reports*, 5 pp. 1–10.

Rodrigues Filho, L. F. da S., Feitosa, L. M., Silva Nunes, J. L., Onodera Palmeira, A. R., Martins, A. P. B., Giarrizzo, T., Carvalho-Costa, L. F., Monteiro, I. L. P., Gemaque, R., Gomes, F., Souza, R. F. C., Sampaio, I. and Sales, J. B. de L. (2020) 'Molecular identification of ray species traded along the Brazilian Amazon coast.' *Fisheries Research*, 223 p. 105407.

Rodríguez-Gutiérrez, J., Galván-Magaña, F., Jacobo-Estrada, T., Arreola-Mendoza, L., Sujitha, S. B. and Jonathan, M. P. (2020) 'Mercury–selenium concentrations in silky sharks (Carcharhinus falciformis) and their toxicological concerns in the southern Mexican Pacific.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 153 p. 111011.

Rosas-Luis, R., Loor-Andrade, P., Carrera-Fernández, M., Pincay-Espinoza, J. E., Vinces-Ortega, C. and Chompoy-Salazar, L. (2016) 'Cephalopod species in the diet of large pelagic fish (sharks and billfishes) in Ecuadorian waters.' *Fisheries Research*, 173 pp. 159–168.

Rosero, J. and Rosero, O. (2020) 'Plan De Acción Nacional Para La Conservación Y El Manejo De Tiburones De Ecuador (Pat-Ec)'. *Subsecretaría De Recursos Pesqueros*.

Rumbold, D., Wasno, R., Hammerschlag, N. and Volety, A. (2014) 'Mercury Accumulation in Sharks From the Coastal Waters of Southwest Florida.' *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 67(3) pp. 402–412.

Sardenne, F., Bodin, N., Médieu, A., Antha, M., Arrisol, R., Le Grand, F., Bideau, A., Munaron, J. M., Le Loc'h, F. and Chassot, E. (2020) 'Benefit-risk associated with the consumption of fish bycatch from tropical tuna fisheries.' *Environmental Pollution*, 267 p. 115614.

Sembiring, A., Pertiwi, N. P. D., Mahardini, A., Wulandari, R., Kurniasih, E. M., Kuncoro, A. W., Cahyani, N. K. D., Anggoro, A. W., Ulfa, M., Madduppa, H., Carpenter, K. E., Barber, P. H. and Mahardika, G. N. (2015) 'DNA barcoding reveals targeted fisheries for endangered sharks in Indonesia.' Fisheries Research, 164 pp. 130–134.

Sharma, B. M., Bharat, G. K., Tayal, S., Nizzetto, L., Čupr, P. and Larssen, T. (2014) 'Environment and human exposure to persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in India: A systematic review of recent and historical data.' *Environment International*, 66 pp. 48–64.

Sharrad, A. E., Reis-Santos, P., Austin, J. and Gillanders, B. M. (2023) 'Umbrella terms conceal the sale of threatened shark species: A DNA barcoding approach.' *Food Control*, 148 p. 109606.

Sies, H. (1997) 'Physiological Society Symposium : Impaired Endothelial and Smooth Muscle Cell Function in Oxidative Stress.' *Experimental Physiology*, 82(2) pp. 291–295.

Sies, H., Berndt, C. and Jones, P. D. (2010) 'Oxidative stress.' *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 86 pp. 715–758.

Singh, R., Gautam, N., Mishra, A. and Gupta, R. (2011) 'Heavy metals and living systems: An overview.' *Indian Journal of Pharmacology*, 43(3) pp. 246–253.

Staffen, C. F., Staffen, M. D., Becker, M. L., Löfgren, S. E., Muniz, Y. C. N., de Freitas, R. H. A. and Marrero, A. R. (2017) 'DNA barcoding reveals the mislabeling of fish in a popular tourist destination in Brazil.' *PeerJ*, 2017(11) pp. 1–13.

Steinke, D., Bernard, A. M., Horn, R. L., Hilton, P., Hanner, R. and Shivji, M. S. (2017) 'DNA analysis of traded shark fins and mobulid gill plates reveals a high proportion of species of conservation concern.' *Scientific Reports*, 7(1) p. 9505.

Storelli, A., Barone, G., Garofalo, R., Busco, A. and Storelli, M. M. (2022) 'Determination of Mercury, Methylmercury and Selenium Concentrations in Elasmobranch Meat: Fish Consumption Safety.' *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(2).

Storelli, M. M., Giacominelli-Stuffler, R. and Marcotrigiano, G. O. (2002) 'Total and

methylmercury residues in cartilaginous fish from Mediterranean Sea.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 44(12) pp. 1354–1358.

Storelli, M. M., Giacominelli-Stuffler, R., Storelli, A., D'Addabbo, R., Palermo, C. and Marcotrigiano, G. O. (2003) 'Survey of total mercury and methylmercury levels in edible fish from the Adriatic Sea.' *Food Additives and Contaminants*, 20(12) pp. 1114–1119.

Suk, S. H., Smith, S. E. and Ramon, D. A. (2009) 'Bioaccumulation of mercury in pelagic sharks from the Northeast Pacific Ocean.' *California Cooperative Oceanic Fisheries Investigations Reports*, 50 pp. 172–177.

Svensson, B. G., Nilsson, A., Jonsson, E., Schutz, A., Akesson, B. and Hagmar, L. (1995) 'Fish consumption and exposure to persistent organochlorine compounds, mercury, selenium and methylamines among Swedish fishermen.' *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health*, 21(2) pp. 96–105.

Tiktak, G. P., Butcher, D., Lawrence, P. J., Norrey, J., Bradley, L., Shaw, K., Preziosi, R. and Megson, D. (2020) 'Are concentrations of pollutants in sharks, rays and skates (Elasmobranchii) a cause for concern? A systematic review.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. Elsevier, 160 p. 111701.

Torres, P., Tristão da Cunha, R., Micaelo, C. and Rodrigues, A. dos S. (2016) 'Bioaccumulation of metals and PCBs in Raja clavata.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 573 pp. 1021–1030.

Turunen, A. W., Verkasalo, P. K., Kiviranta, H., Pukkala, E., Jula, A., Männistö, S., Räsänen, R., Marniemi, J. and Vartiainen, T. (2008) 'Mortality in a cohort with high fish consumption.' *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 37(5) pp. 1008–1017.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2011) 'USEPA Exposure Factors Handbook Chapter 8: Body Weight studies.' *Exposure Factors Handbook*, pp. 8–2.

Vega-Barba, C., Páez-Osuna, F., Galván-Magaña, F., Baró-Camarasa, I., Aguilar-Palomino, B.,

Galván-Piña, V. H. and Marmolejo-Rodríguez, A. J. (2022) 'Trace elements in the silky shark Carcharhinus falciformis in the Central Pacific Mexican Shelf.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 185 p. 114263.

Vélez, N., Bessudo, S., Barragán-Barrera, D. C., Ladino, F., Bustamante, P. and Luna-Acosta, A. (2021) 'Mercury concentrations and trophic relations in sharks of the Pacific Ocean of Colombia.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 173 p. 113109.

Villate-Moreno, M., Pollerspöck, J., Kremer-Obrock, F. and Straube, N. (2021) 'Molecular analyses of confiscated shark fins reveal shortcomings of CITES implementations in Germany.' *Conservation Science and Practice*, 3(6) pp. 1–8.

Vračko, P., Tuomisto, J., Grad, J. and Kunsele, E. (2007) *Exposure of children to chemical hazards in food.* WHO. Available at: <u>https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/370951/WHO-</u> <u>EURO-2007-6412-46178-66793-</u>

eng.pdf?sequence=1#:~:text=Aside%20from%20its%20acute%20toxicity,the%20central%20
nervous%20system%20occurs.

Wainwright, B. J., Ip, Y. C. A., Neo, M. L., Chang, J. J. M., Gan, C. Z., Clark-Shen, N., Huang, D. and Rao, M. (2018) 'DNA barcoding of traded shark fins, meat and mobulid gill plates in Singapore uncovers numerous threatened species.' *Conservation Genetics*, 19(6) pp. 1393–1399.

Weijs, L., Briels, N., Adams, D. H., Lepoint, G., Das, K., Blust, R. and Covaci, A. (2015) 'Maternal transfer of organohalogenated compounds in sharks and stingrays.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 92(1–2) pp. 59–68.

Xie, J., Tao, L., Wu, Q., Li, T., Yang, C., Lin, T., Liu, B., Li, G. and Chen, D. (2021) 'Mercury and selenium in squids from the Pacific Ocean and Indian Ocean: The distribution and human health implications.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 173 p. 112926.

Zafeiraki, E., Gebbink, W. A., van Leeuwen, S. P. J., Dassenakis, E. and Megalofonou, P. (2019) 'Occurrence and tissue distribution of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in sharks and rays from the eastern Mediterranean Sea.' *Environmental Pollution*, 252 pp. 379–387.

Zhang, X., Armani, A., Wen, J., Giusti, A., Zhao, J. and Li, X. (2021) 'DNA barcoding for the identification of shark lips (鱼唇): A nationwide survey for analyzing a never investigated product in the Chinese market.' *Food Control*, 126 p. 108075.

Zheng, N., Wang, Q., Zhang, X., Zheng, D., Zhang, Z. and Zhang, S. (2007) 'Population health risk due to dietary intake of heavy metals in the industrial area of Huludao city, China.' *Science of the Total Environment*, 387(1–3) pp. 96–104.

## **Supplementary Information**



Figure S 5-1 Five study species of sharks (*n* = 36) landed at the three artisanal markets in Ecuador, where (a) bigeye thresher shark (*Alopias superciliosus*), (b) blue shark (*Prionace glauca*), (c) pelagic thresher shark (*A. pelagicus*), (d) silky shark (*Carcharhinus falciformis*) and (e) juvenile smooth hammerhead sharks (*Sphyrna zygaena*). Photo credit Guuske Tiktak.

Table S 5-1 Trophic level data for five sharks (bigeye thresher shark, blue shark, pelagic thresher shark, silky shark, and smooth hammerhead shark) taken from 15 studies.

	Bigeye		Pelagic		Smooth		
Authors and Year	thresher	Blue shark	thresher	Silky shark	hammerhead		
	shark		shark		shark		
(Cortés, 1999)	4.2	4.1		4.2	4.2		
(Post, 2002)			4.2				
(Hussey et al., 2010)			4.7				
(Kim et al., 2012)			4				
(Li et al., 2014)	4.53	4.17		4.07			
(Bornatowski et al., 2014)					4.2		
(Hernandez-Aguilar et al., 2016)		4.05					
(Li et al., 2016)	5.2	4.7	4.7	4.6	4.7		
(Bizzarro et al., 2017)	4.09			4.19	4.23		
(Flores-Martínez et al., 2016)				4.2			
(Estupiñán-Montaño et al., 2017)				4.57			
(Estupiñán-Montaño et al., 2019)					4.7		
(Froese and Pauly, 2019)	4.5	4.4	4.5	4.5	4.9		
(Garcia Barcia et al., 2020)		4.08		4.29	4.33		
(Calle-Morán and Galván-Magaña,			-				
2020)			5				
Mean	4.50	4.25	4.52	4.33	4.47		
SD	0.43	0.25	0.37	0.20	0.29		

Table S 5-2 Calibration of trace elements using Multi Analyte Trade Solution Standards (Inorganic Ventures, USA) at a concentration of 0.02 to 20 ppm.

	Cal1	Cal2	Cal3	Cal4	Cal5
Mo202.030{467}(Axial)	0.020ppm	0.100ppm	0.200ppm	2.000ppm	4.000ppm
Cr267.716{126}(Axial)	0.020ppm	0.100ppm	0.200ppm	2.000ppm	4.000ppm
Mn257.610{131}(Axial)	0.020ppm	0.100ppm	0.200ppm	2.000ppm	4.000ppm
Fe240.488{140}(Axial)	0.100ppm	0.500ppm	1.000ppm	10.000ppm	20.000ppm
Co228.616{447}(Axial)	0.020ppm	0.100ppm	0.200ppm	2.000ppm	4.000ppm
Ni231.604{446}(Axial)	0.020ppm	0.100ppm	0.200ppm	2.000ppm	4.000ppm
Cu324.754{104}(Axial)	0.050ppm	0.250ppm	0.500ppm	5.000ppm	10.000ppm
Zn206.200{463}(Axial)	0.020ppm	0.100ppm	0.200ppm	2.000ppm	4.000ppm
Cd228.802{447}(Axial)	0.020ppm	0.100ppm	0.200ppm	2.000ppm	4.000ppm
Cd214.438{457}(Axial)	0.020ppm	0.100ppm	0.200ppm	2.000ppm	4.000ppm
Al396.152{85}(Axial)	0.100ppm	0.500ppm	1.000ppm	10.000ppm	20.000ppm
P178.284{489}(Axial)	0.050ppm	0.250ppm	0.500ppm	5.000ppm	10.000ppm
S182.034{485}(Axial)	0.050ppm	0.250ppm	0.500ppm	5.000ppm	10.000ppm
As189.042{478}(Axial)	0.020ppm	0.100ppm	0.200ppm	2.000ppm	4.000ppm
Pb220.353{453}(Axial)	0.020ppm	0.100ppm	0.200ppm	2.000ppm	4.000ppm
Zn213.856{458}(Axial)	0.020ppm	0.100ppm	0.200ppm	2.000ppm	4.000ppm
Zn202.548{466}(Axial)	0.020ppm	0.100ppm	0.200ppm	2.000ppm	4.000ppm

## Calibration details

	Hg0.2	Hg0.5	Hg1	Hg2	Hg5
Hg 184.950 {482} (Axial)	0.200 ppb	0.500 ppb	1.000 ppb	2.000 ppb	5.000 ppb
	Hg10	Hg20	Hg0.2	Hg0.5	Hg1
Hg 184.950 {482} (Axial)	10.000 ppb	20.000 ppb	0.200 ppb	0.500 ppb	1.000 ppb
20 - 1444 - 1421 - 1688 - 1668 20	493 - 600	1913	00		
	Hg2	Hg5	Hg10	Hg20	
Hg 184.950 {482} (Axial)	2.000 ppb	5.000 ppb	10.000 ppb	20.000 ppb	

Figure S 5-2 Calibration of standard range mercury using Mercury Standard for AAS (Fluka Analytical, Sigma, UK) at a concentration of 0.2 to 20 ppb.

## Calibration details

	Hg10	Hg20	Hg40	Hg60	Hg80
Hg 184.950 {482} (Axial)	10.000 ppb	20.000 ppb	40.000 ppb	60.000 ppb	80.000 ppb

Figure S 5-3 Calibration of high range mercury using Mercury Standard for AAs (Fluka Analytical, Sigma, UK) at a concentration of 10 to 80 ppb.

Sample No.	Species	THg (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> w.w.)
1	Alopias pelagicus	1.61
4	Carcharhinus falciformis	1.36
7	Alopias superciliosus	1.07
	Scyliorhinus canicula	4.00
14	(REFF UK)	1.08
18	Alopias pelagicus	1.31
22	Alopias pelagicus	1.20
30	Sphyrna zygaena	2.24
32	Carcharhinus falciformis	3.81
33	Alopias superciliosus	0.94
37	Alopias superciliosus	1.38

Table S 5-3 Samples rerun for higher calibration of THg.

Reff UK = reference sample taken from the UK (mainly used for method development)

Table S 5-4 Statistical results on trace metal analyses performed to assess differences in concentrations between the five species of sharks (bigeye thresher shark, blue shark, pelagic thresher shark, silky shark and smooth hammerhead shark). One-way Anova's were carried out for data that was normally distributed (As, Cd, THg and Z after log transformation), and non-parametric test Kruskal-Wallis rank-sum were carried out for data that was not normally distributed. Post-hoc tests can be found in Table S 5-5.

Metals	Test	Output	Results
As	Anova	F = 9.561, df = 4, p <0.001	***
Cd	Anova	F = 1.989, df = 4, p = 0.121	NS
Со	Kruskal Wallis	X <sup>2</sup> = 7.6144, df = 4, p = 0.1068	NS
Cr	Kruskal Wallis	X <sup>2</sup> = 12.394, df = 4, p < 0.05	*
Cu	Anova	F = 3.94, df = 4, p <0.05	*
Hg	Anova	F = 2.516, df = 4, p = 0.0615	NS

Fe	Anova	F = 0.534, df = 4, p = 0.712	NS
Ni	Anova	F = 0.544, df = 4, p = 0.705	NS
Mn	Kruskal Wallis	X <sup>2</sup> = 39.097, df = 4, p = 0.3591	NS
Мо	Anova	F = 1.331, df = 4, p = 0.1938	NS
Ρ	Anova	F = 1.319, df = 4, p = 0.294	NS
Pb	NA	ΝΑ	NA
S	Anova	F = 1.7797, df = 4, p <0.001	***
Zn	Anova	F = 2.516, df = 4, p = 0.0615	NS

Significant differences: \* = 0.05, \*\* = 0.01, \*\*\* = 0.001 and \*\*\*\* = <0.001

NA = Not Applicable, for example if values were <0.001

NS = Not Significant (p > 0.05)

Table S 5-5 Post-hoc tests were carried out on trace metals if significant differences were found (Table S 5-4).

Species	As	Cr	Cu	S
Blue shark + bigeye thresher shark	<0.01	<0.05	NS	NS
Pelagic thresher + bigeye thresher shark	NS	NS	NS	NS
Silky shark + bigeye thresher shark	<0.01	NS	NS	<0.05
Smooth hammerhead + bigeye thresher shark	NS	NS	NS	<0.01
Pelagic thresher + blue shark	<0.001	1	<0.01	NS
Silky shark + blue shark	NS	1	NS	NS
Smooth hammerhead + blue shark	NS	1	NS	<0.01
Silky shark + pelagic thresher shark	<0.001	1	NS	NS
Smooth hammerhead + pelagic thresher shark	NS	1	NS	<0.05
Smooth hammerhead + silky shark	NS	1	NS	NS

NS = Not Signficant (p > 0.05)

Table S 5-6 Recommended weekly intake for different members of the population including children (2- and 11year-olds), adult, adult (coastal) and fishermen.

	-	_	Mean Weight	Minimum	Maximum
Target Group	Sex	Age	(kg)	serving (g)	servings (g)
Children	Female	2	13.4	28	84
Children	Female	11	47.5	113	339
Adult	Female	>18	75	113	339
Adult (coastal)	Mixed	>16	-	172ª	1201 <sup>b</sup>
Fishermen	Male	>18	-	162ª	1133 <sup>b</sup>

For general population adults and children, the minimum serving is once a week and maximum serving is three

times a week.

<sup>a</sup>Based on maximum serving of fish (g) from six studies (Svensson et al., 1995; Jiang et al., 2005; Hajeb et al.,

2008; Turunen et al., 2008; García-Hernández et al., 2018; Çamur et al., 2021)

<sup>b</sup>Maximum serving of fish from six studies (g) /seven days = minimum serving (g), as fish is often consumed daily.

Sample No.	Scientific Name	Cu	Zn	Мо	Cr	Mn	Fe	Co	Ni	Cd	AI	Р	S	As	Pb		
1	Alopias palagicus	0 420	11 029	0.028	0 1 2 0	0.002	8 061	0.010	9 140	0 172	5 509	1070 045	2063.	1.25098	0.094		
Ţ	Alopius pelugicus	0.430	11.028	0.028	0.120	0.095	8.901	0.010	9.140	0.175	5.508	1070.045	969	806	0.004		
n	Alopias	0 102	22 224	0.016	0.055	0.041	1 607	0.002	2 264	0.012		1696 522	1552.	3.20082	0.070		
Z	superciliosus	0.102	52.524	0.010	0.055	0.041	1.097	0.000	2.501	0.012	5.050	1080.522	738	478	-0.079		
3	Alopias	0 136	5 957	0 014	0 045	0 038	3 659	0.003	-0 545	0 020	4 291	2010 493	2058.	1.82996	-0 072		
5	superciliosus	0.150	5.557	0.014	0.045	0.050	5.055	0.000	0.545	0.020	4.231	2010.435	920	194	0.072		
Д	Carcharhinus	0 186	183 086	0 007	0.069	0 189	22 166	0.013	3 261	0 084	15 594	1551 771	1960.	5.43551	-0 088		
-	falciformis	0.180	0.100	0.100	105.000	0.007	0.005	0.105	22.100	0.015	5.201		15.554	1551.771	149	259	0.000
5	Alonias pelaaicus	0.203	8,737	0.009	0.083	0.053	6.524	-0.001	-0.899	0.035	8,224	2538,483	1855.	1.56660	-0.089		
5	, liopido peragredo	0.200	0.707	0.005	0.000	0.000	0.521	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.221	2000.100	343	519	0.000		
6	Prionace alauca	0.589	43.078	0.019	0.320	4.965	116.997	0.058	18.488	0.022	88.535	1672.646	1600.	2.89793	0.052		
-													344	951			
7	Alopias	0.185	32.545	0.006	0.051	0.064	4.258	0.005	0.937	0.172	18.258	1632.090	1373.	1.28252	-0.060		
	0.185 superciliosus									-			810	112			
8	Prionace glauca	0.115	27.198	0.006	0.074	0.169	15.228	0.011	1.714	0.020	18.302	2151.777	2321.	9.60132	-0.080		
	2												994	941			

Table S 5-7 Raw data expressed in mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (w.w.) for trace elements Cu, Zn, Mo, Cr, Mn, Fe, Co, Ni, Cd, Al, P, S, As and Pb.

•	Carcharhinus	0.000	27 420	0.005	0.070	0.440	7.000	0.000	1 000	0.004	231.08	2440.000	2147.	5.15656	
9	falciformis	0.336	27.439	0.005	0.070	0.119	7.068	0.003	1.032	0.064	0	2418.683	555	886	-0.090
10	Carcharhinus	0 225	06 410	0.014	0.072	0 175	10 425	0.004	2 627	0.084	21 5 70	2002 621	2687.	18.1026	0 114
10	falciformis	0.525	90.410	0.014	0.075	0.175	10.455	0.004	2.027	0.084	51.579	2095.051	629	026	-0.114
11	Alonias pelagicus	0 100	15 /03	0.003	0.085	0 1 9 0	22 576	0.012	1 757	0.038	16 6/1	2003 233	1716.	1.92798	-0 071
11	Alopius pelugicus	0.155	13.495	0.005	0.005	0.190	22.570	0.012		0.058	10.011	2095.755	910	81	-0.071
12	Snhvrna zvagena	0 131	33 378	0 004	0 349	1 896	3 400	0.012	-5 733	0 112	109.12	10880.41	2795.	3.16338	-0 023
12	Sphyma Zygaena	0.151	55.520	0.004	0.545	1.050	5.400	0.012	5.755	0.112	5	8	993	622	0.025
13	Prionace alauca	0.060	21.460	0.006	0.244	0.064	3.623	0.004	4.730	0.010	24.957	2007.519	2138.	12.5027	-0.059
					0.2.1.1		0.010	0.001		0.010		2007.020	034	066	0.000
15	Sphvrna zvaaena	0.313	37.667	0.017	0.123	0.241	16.018	0.001	1.148	0.055	44.848	2261.847	3433.	9.43286	-0.028
		u 0.515 57.											534	58	
16	Sphyrna zygaena	0.258	18.292	0.014	0.086	0.150	4.700	0.002	3.043	0.022	20.343	2030.678	2532.	2.66259	-0.119
	,,,,,												582	45	
17	Alopias pelagicus	1.934	41.540	0.002	0.065	0.180	9.600	0.000	-0.292	0.037	205.68	2126.229	2363.	1.92294	-0.089
											3		069	031	
18	Alopias pelagicus	0.593	17.260	0.007	0.114	0.086	4.779	0.003	1.831	0.105	4.268	2361.985	1498.	1.02278	-0.081
													680	989	
19	Prionace glauca	0.096	14.657	0.005	0.074	0.128	3.607	0.005	0.735	0.017	11.951	2559.388	2317.	9.65078	-0.129
													503	936	

20	Alonias polagicus	0 5 1 0	10 009	0.012	0 169	0 746	72 201	0 020	0 272	0 114	06 679	1911 726	2430.	3.20124	0.062
20	Alopius pelugicus	0.510	49.908	0.012	0.108	0.740	72.201	0.059	9.575	0.114	90.078	1044.750	351	842	-0.062
21	Prionaco alguca	0 109	10 1 90	0.006	0 704	0 208	25 005	0.021	12 226	0.016	116.11	1707 250	2200.	6.61651	0.017
21	Filonace glaaca	0.158	49.180	0.000	0.794	0.508	23.995	0.021	12.220	0.010	3	1787.338	892	727	-0.017
22	Alonias pelagicus	0 303	11 071	0.001	0 001	0.094	7 203	0.002	2 003	0.057	5 122	2358 080	1704.	1.49205	-0 097
22	Alopius pelugicus	0.502	11.921	0.001	0.091	0.054	7.205	0.002	2.093	0.057	J.122	2330.909	775	463	-0.097
25	Prionace alauca	0 104	15 049	0 003	0 105	0.096	2 599	0 009	2 784	0 023	2 958	1871 285	2302.	5.08054	-0 085
23	Thomace gladed	0.104	13.045	0.005	0.105	0.050	2.335	0.005	2.704	0.025	2.550	1071.205	549	197	0.005
26	Prionace alauca	0 245	63 075	0 004	0 191	0 285	39 936	0.015	2 635	0.036	135.06	1319 457	1813.	5.86800	-0 082
20	Thendee gladea			0.001	0.101	0.200	55.550	0.010	2.000	0.000	9	1010.107	108	6	0.002
27	Prionace alauca	0.039	38.881	0.003	0.087	0.155	14.730	0.009	2.344	0.007	14.865	981.772	985.4	3.74326	-0.070
	,		50.001										31	002	
28	Alopias pelaaicus	0.246	7.075	0.003	0.078	0.080	5.618	0.001	1.624	0.023	16.928	2723.407	2091.	2.93654	-0.119
-	-								-				170	597	
30	Sphyrna zygaena	0.282	76.147	0.005	0.137	0.175	4.459	0.002	0.186	0.059	32.773	2096.109	3229.	3.72635	-0.132
	- <i>F</i> , - , <u>3</u>		-										871	905	
31	Sphyrna zygaena	0.253	16.210	0.001	0.052	0.139	3.686	0.000	2.483	0.011	19.909	2141.684	2443.	2.76361	-0.084
	,,,,,												935	164	
32	Carcharhinus	0.328	77.160	0.008	2.250	1.301	118.316	0.046	21.189	0.192	197.54	2747.206	2808.	3.82439	-0.090
	falciformis										2		167	379	

22	Alopias	0 160	31 0/0	0.002	0.049	0 100	11 205	0.004	-0 552	0 106	9 757	1306 047	1827.	2.39919	-0 093
55	superciliosus	0.100	51.545	0.002	0.045	0.150	11.555	0.004	-0.552	0.100	5.757	1500.047	836	866	-0.095
24	Carcharhinus	0 1 1 9	15 205	0.005	0.040	0 150	1 5/2	0 003	1 /5/	0.007	2 010	22/11 120	2747.	7.75046	0 1 2 2
34	falciformis	0.110	15.505	0.005	0.040	0.155	1.545	-0.005	1.434	0.007	2.015	2241.125	075	13	-0.152
25	Prionace algues	0.074	25 542	0.004	0.070	0 152	2 960	0.006	1 074	0 020	7 011	2002 000	2129.	10.3594	0 1 2 2
33	Filonace glaaca	0.074	23.343	-0.004	0.070	0.152	3.900	0.000	-1.074	0.020	7.911	2002.990	131	839	-0.125
26	Carcharhinus	0 174	17 670	0 002	0.465	2 1 2 1	22 851	0.014	10 912	0 141	49 027	12747.26	3259.	5.60757	0 1 1 7
falcife	falciformis	0.174	17.070	0.005	0.405	2.121	23.054	0.014	-10.012	0.141	40.027	1	297	331	-0.117
27	Alopias	0 169	17 720	0.005	0.069	0.077	6 705	0.004	-0 725	0 /21	0 155	2054 462	1636.	1.31799	-0 113
57	superciliosus	0.169	17.755	0.005	0.005	0.077	0.705	0.004	-0.725	0.421	9.195	2004.402	605	677	-0.115
38	Sphurna zvagena	0 360	10 810	0 003	0 1/9	0 202	4 667	0.004	-2 /88	0 022	5 205	30/13 705	2161.	2.44209	-0.067
50	Spriymu zyguenu	0.500	40.049	0.005	0.145	0.292	4.007	0.004	-2.400	0.022	5.255	5045.705	999	788	-0.007
30	Alopias	0 346	10 315	0 033	0.067	0 254	26 102	0.005	1 121	0 009	15 162	1812 208	2126.	5.69350	-0.074
55	superciliosus	0.540	49.949	0.055	0.007	0.234	20.192	0.005	4.124	0.005	13.102	1012.290	261	152	-0.074
40	Alonias polagicus	0 199	10 097	0.001	0.065	0.052	4 550	0.002	1 170	0.007	2 270	2719 467	2470.	4.52374	0 1 1 1
40	Alopius pelugicus	0.100	10.307	0.001	0.005	0.055	4.550	0.005	1.179	0.007	5.570	2/10.40/	824	772	-0.111

Table S 5-8 Raw data expressed in mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (w.w.) for trace elements Cu, Zn, Mo, Cr, Mn, Fe, Co, Ni, Cd, Al, P, S, As and Pb

Sample No.	Scientific Name	Cu	Zn	Мо	Cr	Mn	Fe	С0	Ni	Cd	AI	Ρ	S	As	Pb
1	Alopias pelagicus	1.97	50.62	0.13	0.55	0.43	41.12	0.04672696	0.23	0.79	25.28	4911.03289	9472.71	5.74	0.39
2	Alopias superciliosus	0.43	19.44	0.07	0.26	0.19	7.95	0.01413088	0.07	0.06	23.65	7898.58426	7272.03	14.99	-0.37
3	Alopias superciliosus	0.49	6.29	0.06	0.18	0.15	14.63	0.01031527	-0.01	0.08	17.16	8038.04406	8231.66	7.32	-0.29
4	Carcharhinus falciformis	0.75	155.08	0.03	0.31	0.85	99.71	0.05946963	0.08	0.38	70.15	6980.35839	8817.37	24.45	-0.40
5	Alopias pelagicus	0.71	8.50	0.03	0.32	0.21	25.25	-0.0020987	-0.02	0.14	31.82	9822.18312	7178.90	6.06	-0.35
6	Prionace glauca	2.89	34.04	0.10	1.74	27.04	637.21	0.31616927	0.49	0.12	482.19	9109.81538	8716.03	15.78	0.29
7	Alopias superciliosus	0.74	24.33	0.02	0.23	0.28	18.89	0.02051721	0.02	0.76	81.02	7242.11101	6096.04	5.69	-0.27
8	Prionace glauca	0.44	18.73	0.03	0.31	0.72	64.80	0.04470575	0.04	0.08	77.88	9155.94587	9880.23	40.85	-0.34
9	Carcharhinus falciformis	1.14	28.23	0.02	0.26	0.45	26.55	0.01111368	0.02	0.24	868.08	9086.04169	8067.52	19.37	-0.34
10	Carcharhinus falciformis	1.05	96.92	0.05	0.26	0.63	66.08	0.01318343	0.05	0.30	113.19	7504.39756	9633.52	64.89	-0.41
11	Alopias pelagicus	0.84	12.93	0.02	0.40	0.89	105.39	0.05543506	0.11	0.18	77.68	9773.86368	8014.80	9.00	-0.33
12	Sphyrna zygaena	0.39	40.59	0.01	1.15	6.23	11.17	0.0382601	-0.09	0.37	358.59	35753.7325	9187.81	10.40	-0.07
13	Prionace glauca	0.25	18.91	0.03	1.12	0.30	16.62	0.01870707	0.11	0.05	114.50	9210.68811	9809.50	57.36	-0.27
15	Sphyrna zygaena	1.01	40.40	0.06	0.44	0.87	57.47	0.00390029	0.02	0.20	160.90	8114.65467	12318.23	33.84	-0.10
16	Sphyrna zygaena	0.84	16.09	0.05	0.31	0.54	16.96	0.00565075	0.06	0.08	73.43	7329.51596	9141.08	9.61	-0.43
17	Alopias pelagicus	6.66	41.08	0.01	0.25	0.69	36.68	-0.0018574	-0.01	0.14	785.93	8124.47007	9029.45	7.35	-0.34
18	Alopias pelagicus	2.23	14.77	0.03	0.48	0.36	19.92	0.01286622	0.04	0.44	17.79	9845.40841	6246.91	4.26	-0.34

Sample No.	Scientific Name	Cu	Zn	Мо	Cr	Mn	Fe	C0	Ni	Cd	AI	Р	S	As	Pb
19	Prionace glauca	0.31	15.22	0.02	0.26	0.45	12.83	0.0169644	0.01	0.06	42.50	9102.12632	8241.90	34.32	-0.46
20	Alopias pelagicus	2.00	43.80	0.05	0.73	3.25	314.68	0.17189871	0.21	0.50	421.37	8040.14954	10592.51	13.95	-0.27
21	Prionace glauca	0.73	46.96	0.03	3.28	1.27	107.30	0.08573851	0.25	0.07	479.28	7377.57988	9084.50	27.31	-0.07
22	Alopias pelagicus	1.09	12.37	0.00	0.36	0.38	28.78	0.00638871	0.04	0.23	20.46	9423.60407	6810.17	5.96	-0.39
25	Prionace glauca	0.37	15.21	0.01	0.41	0.38	10.17	0.03629008	0.05	0.09	11.58	7325.24441	9013.45	19.89	-0.33
26	Prionace glauca	1.08	39.73	0.02	0.93	1.39	194.68	0.07285569	0.07	0.17	658.44	6432.07885	8838.53	28.61	-0.40
27	Prionace glauca	0.14	33.48	0.01	0.35	0.62	58.67	0.03509384	0.05	0.03	59.20	3910.22354	3924.80	14.91	-0.28
28	Alopias pelagicus	0.75	7.90	0.01	0.26	0.27	18.93	0.00177019	0.03	0.08	57.04	9176.88881	7046.48	9.90	-0.40
30	Sphyrna zygaena	0.91	59.53	0.02	0.49	0.63	15.99	0.00849804	0.00	0.21	117.54	7517.91068	11584.26	13.36	-0.48
31	Sphyrna zygaena	0.85	12.65	0.00	0.19	0.52	13.70	9.6005E-05	0.05	0.04	74.01	7961.33224	9084.90	10.27	-0.31
32	Carcharhinus falciformis	1.02	74.25	0.03	7.78	4.50	408.97	0.15937721	0.40	0.66	682.81	9495.82104	9706.54	13.22	-0.31
33	Alopias superciliosus	0.75	18.64	0.01	0.25	0.99	59.08	0.02121023	-0.02	0.55	50.59	6771.95631	9477.47	12.44	-0.48
34	Carcharhinus falciformis	0.39	12.09	0.02	0.15	0.58	5.68	-0.0098003	0.03	0.03	7.43	8251.41685	10114.21	28.54	-0.49
35	Prionace glauca	0.29	19.69	-0.02	0.30	0.66	17.16	0.02460751	-0.03	0.09	34.28	8678.78904	9225.35	44.89	-0.53
36	Carcharhinus falciformis	0.42	56.35	0.01	1.24	5.63	63.32	0.03755964	-0.10	0.38	127.49	33838.7661	8652.10	14.89	-0.31
37	Alopias superciliosus	0.66	17.94	0.02	0.30	0.34	29.15	0.0172757	-0.02	1.83	39.80	8930.37616	7114.03	5.73	-0.49
38	Sphyrna zygaena	1.18	37.04	0.01	0.54	1.06	17.00	0.01454391	-0.05	0.08	19.28	11083.782	7873.01	8.89	-0.24
39	Alopias superciliosus	1.22	42.92	0.13	0.26	1.00	102.61	0.02138756	0.09	0.04	59.40	7100.09813	8330.12	22.31	-0.29
40	Alopias pelagicus	0.58	10.83	0.00	0.22	0.18	15.59	0.01088154	0.02	0.03	11.54	9312.32821	8464.01	15.50	-0.38

Table S 5-9 Raw THg concentrations expressed in mg kg<sup>-1</sup> on a dry (d.w.) and wet (w.w.) weight basis.

Sample No.	Scientific Name	Species	THg (d.w.)	THg (w.w.)
1	Alopias pelagicus	Pelagic thresher shark	7.392	1.61068962
2	Alopias superciliosus	Bigeye thresher shark	2.295	0.48999968
3	Alopias superciliosus	Bigeye thresher shark	2.812	0.70337462
4	Carcharhinus falciformis	Silky shark	6.113	1.35890339
5	Alopias pelagicus	Pelagic thresher shark	3.602	0.93080576
6	Prionace glauca	Blue shark	1.257	0.23071515
7	Alopias superciliosus	Bigeye thresher shark	4.732	1.06632563
8	Prionace glauca	Blue shark	1.127	0.26489449
9	Carcharhinus falciformis	Silky shark	2.076	0.55261511
10	Carcharhinus falciformis	Silky shark	1.837	0.51252477
11	Alopias pelagicus	Pelagic thresher shark	1.238	0.26516012
12	Sphyrna zygaena	Smooth hammerhead	1.24	0.37746773
13	Prionace glauca	Blue shark	2.679	0.58387526
14	Scyliorhinus canicula (REFF UK)	Small spotted catshark	4.35	1.08071548
15	Sphyrna zygaena	Smooth hammerhead	1.136	0.31676071

Sample No.	Scientific Name	Species	THg (d.w.)	THg (w.w.)
16	Sphyrna zygaena	Smooth hammerhead	0.688	0.19051947
17	Alopias pelagicus	Pelagic thresher shark	2.032	0.53185225
18	Alopias pelagicus	Pelagic thresher shark	5.464	1.31073457
19	Prionace glauca	Blue shark	0.911	0.25616354
20	Alopias pelagicus	Pelagic thresher shark	3.586	0.82282308
21	Prionace glauca	Blue shark	3.826	0.92694859
22	Alopias pelagicus	Pelagic thresher shark	4.813	1.20472092
25	Prionace glauca	Blue shark	0.915	0.23380716
26	Prionace glauca	Blue shark	2.723	0.55850532
27	Prionace glauca	Blue shark	2.209	0.55451912
28	Alopias pelagicus	Pelagic thresher shark	1.366	0.40534664
29	Prionace glauca (REFF UK)	Blue shark	2.647	0.49192326
30	Sphyrna zygaena	Smooth hammerhead	8.037	2.24093711
31	Sphyrna zygaena	Smooth hammerhead	1.046	0.28145317
32	Carcharhinus falciformis	Silky shark	13.155	3.80591543
33	Alopias superciliosus	Bigeye thresher shark	4.866	0.93846287
34	Carcharhinus falciformis	Silky shark	1.564	0.42490749

Sample No.	Scientific Name	Species	THg (d.w.)	THg (w.w.)
35	Prionace glauca	Blue shark	3.658	0.84428238
36	Carcharhinus falciformis	Silky shark	6.057	2.28158963
37	Alopias superciliosus	Bigeye thresher shark	6.002	1.38078036
38	Sphyrna zygaena	Smooth hammerhead	0.694	0.19045271
39	Alopias superciliosus	Bigeye thresher shark	1.744	0.4451161
40	Alopias pelagicus	Pelagic thresher shark	1.466	0.42795364

Table S 5-10 Biological data on the five shark species, including scientific name, species, family, order, sex, total length (cm), fork length (cmn), width (cm) and age, where available. Some data was not recorded as sharks were landed without heads or fins.

Sample No.	Scientific Name	Species	Family	Order	Sex	Total Length (cm)	Fork Length (cm)	Width (cm)	Age
1	Alopias pelaaicus	Pelagic thresher	Alopiidae	Lamniformes	Female				
_		shark							
2		Bigeye thresher		: <b>f</b>	Famala		165.00	02.00	6 J. J.
2	Alopias superciliosus	shark	Alopiidae	Lamniformes	Female	265.00	165.00	92.00	Adult
2		Bigeye thresher	Alexides	Louis ife mesos	Mala	225.00	150.00	86.00	م ال
3	Alopias supercinosus	shark	Alopiidae	Lamniformes	wale	235.00	150.00	86.00	Adult
4	Cauch and in us falsife and is	Cillar charle	Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform	Famala	100.00	150.00		م ال
4	Carcharninus juicijorniis	Sliky Slidik	ae	es	remale	190.00	159.00		Adult
F	Alonias nolagious	Pelagic thresher	Aleniidaa	Lamaifarmas	Famala	150.00			huvonilo
5	Alopius pelugicus	shark	Alophuae	Lammormes	remale	150.00			Juvenile
C		Dive shark	Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform	Mala				م ال
б	Prioriace glauca	Blue Shark	ae	es	wale				Adult
7		Bigeye thresher			Famala				6 J. J.
/	Alopias supercillosus	shark	Аюриаае	Lamniformes	Female				Adult

Sample No.	Scientific Name	Species	Family	Order	Sex	Total Length (cm)	Fork Length (cm)	Width (cm)	Age
8	Prionace alauca	Blue shark	Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform	Female	218.00	164 00		Δdult
0	Thomace graded	blue shark	ae	es	Temale	210.00	104.00		Addit
0	Carcharbinus falsiformis	Silkysbark	Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform	Malo				luvonilo
9	Curcharninas jaicijornis	Sliky Slidik	ae	es	Iviale				Juvenne
10	Carabarbinus falsiformis	Ciller chork	Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform	Famala	155.00	125.00		۸ dult
10	carcharninus juicijornis	Sliky Stiark	ae	es	remale	155.00	125.00		Adult
11	Alapias polacious	Pelagic thresher	Aleniidaa	Lampiformac	Famala	240.00	224.00		۸ dult
11	Alopius pelugicus	shark	Alopildae	Lammormes	remale	249.00	234.00		Auun
10	Calumana	Smooth	Carlo and idea	Carcharhiniform	Famala				Subadul
12	sphyrna zygaena	hammerhead	Sphyrnidae	es	Female				t
10	Drianaco alguas	Dive shark	Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform	Mala				Subadul
12	Prioriace glauca	Dide Stidik	ае	es	Iviale				t
1.4	Scyliorhinus canicula (REFF	Small spotted	Scyliorhinida	Carcharhiniform	NA	NA	NA	NIA	NA
14	UK)	catshark	е	es	NA	INA	NA	NA	INA
45	Caburation	Smooth	Crahamaida a	Carcharhiniform	Famala	128.00	100.00		luuranila
12	Sphyrnu Zyguend	hammerhead	Shihimae	es	remale	138.00	100.00		Juvenile

Sample No.	Scientific Name	Species	Family	Order	Sex	Total Length (cm)	Fork Length (cm)	Width (cm)	Age
16	Sphyrna zvagena	Smooth	Sphyrnidae	Carcharhiniform	Male	87.00	67.00	30.00	luvenile
10	Sphyma zygacha	hammerhead	Spriyrindae	es	Wate	87.00	07.00	30.00	Juvenne
		Pelagic thresher							
17	Alopias pelagicus	shark	Alopiidae	Lamniformes	Female	168.00	98.00		Juvenile
		Pelagic thresher							
18	Alopias pelagicus	shark	Alopiidae	Lamniformes	Female		123.00		Juvenile
10			Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform		200.00	161.00		
19	Prionace glauca	Blue shark	ae	es	Female	200.00	161.00		Adult
20	Alonias palagicus	Pelagic thresher	Aloniidae	Lampiformes					
20	Alopius pelugicus	shark	Alopildae	Lammormes					
24			Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform		200.00	172.00		
21	Prionace glauca	Blue shark	ae	es	Male	209.00	172.00		Adult
22	Alopias polagious	Pelagic thresher	Aloniidaa	Lampiformos	Fomalo		116.00		luvonilo
22	Alopius pelugicus	shark	Alopildae	Lammormes	Feinale		110.00		Juvenne
25	Drianaca algues	Plue chark	Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform	Fomale	100.00	05.00		luvonilo
20	Prioriace glauca	Blue Slidik	ae	es	remaie	100.00	95.00		Juvenile

Sample No.	Scientific Name	Species	Family	Order	Sex	Total Length (cm)	Fork Length (cm)	Width (cm)	Age
26	Prionace alauca	Blue shark	Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform	Male	215 00	167.00		۵dult
20	Thomas graded	Druc shark	ae	es	Wate	213.00	107.00		Addit
27	<b>.</b>		Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform					
27	Prionace glauca	Blue shark	ae	es	Male				Adult
		Pelagic thresher							
28	Alopias pelagicus	shark	Alopiidae	Lamniformes	Female				
			Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform					
29	Prionace glauca (REFF UK)	Blue shark	ae	es	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
		Smooth		Carcharhiniform					Subadul
30	Sphyrna zygaena	hammerhead	Sphyrnidae	es	Female			Width (cm)	t
		Smooth		Carcharhiniform					
31	Sphyrna zygaena	hammerhead	Sphyrnidae	es	Female	89.00	68.00		Juvenile
			Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform					
32	Carcharhinus falciformis	Silky shark	ae	es	Male	280.00	155.00		Adult
		Bigeye thresher							
33	Alopias superciliosus	shark	Alopiidae	Lamniformes	Male				Adult

Sample No.	Scientific Name	Species	Family	Order	Sex	Total Length (cm)	Fork Length (cm)	Width (cm)	Age
34	Carcharhinus falciformis	Silky shark	Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform	Female	108 00	88.00	52 00	luvenile
54	curcharninas juicijorniis	Sinky Shark	ae	es	Temale	108.00	00.00	52.00	Juvenine
25	Drianana alawaa	Dive sheri	Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform	Famala	104.00	161.00		بدار رام ۵
30	Prioriace giuucu	Blue Shark	ae	es	remale	194.00	101.00		Adult
26		C'11 I I	Carcharhinid	Carcharhiniform		200.00	477.00		
20	Carcharninus faiciformis	Silky shark	ae	es	Female	208.00	177.00		Adult
27	AL	Bigeye thresher	AL						
37	Alopias superciliosus	shark	Alopiidae	Lamniformes	Female				Adult
		Smooth		Carcharhiniform					
38	Sphyrna zygaena	hammerhead	Sphyrnidae	es	Female	89.00	68.00		Juvenile
		Bigeye thresher		Carcharhiniform	_				
39	Alopias superciliosus	shark	Alopiidae	es	Male	273.00	160.00		Adult
		Pelagic thresher		Carcharhiniform					
40	Alopias pelagicus	shark	Alopiidae	es	Female	222.00	125.00	80.00	Adult

Reff UK = reference samples for method development.
# **Chapter 6**

## 6. Conclusion and Future Work

## 6.1. Conclusions

The main aim of this thesis was to use genetic and chemical techniques to aid elasmobranch (sharks, rays, and skates) conservation. In **Chapter 1** we set out the following specific aims, which have been addressed in the following format;

• The first aim of this thesis was to explore methods for identifying elasmobranchs and elasmobranch-related-products in the international trade and provide a comprehensive and up-to-date synthesis of the existing evidence on the mislabelling of elasmobranchs across the world (Chapter 2).

We successfully conducted a systematic review identifying elasmobranchs and their related products within the international trade, and the extent of mislabelling of elasmobranchs globally. Our review comprised of 85 relevant studies, where 38 reported instances of mislabelling. The main findings revealed that 35% elasmobranchs caught were classified as threatened by the IUCN Red List and 9.48% were listed in either CITES Appendix I, II or III at the time of study. Around 44.7% of studies focussed on mislabelling, revealing that 11.3% of samples were mislabelled and 10.1% were labelled using umbrella terms such as "Cação" and "Flake". Blue sharks (*Prionace glauca*) were the most frequently mislabelled species, and they were also the most common species sold under umbrella terms. Species listed as threatened made up 48.7% of mislabelled elasmobranchs and 53.7% of species

labelled using umbrella terms. Thirteen percent of mislabelled and 9.26% of umbrella labelled elasmobranch species originated from CITES-listed species. Mislabelling was widespread, with a significant number of studies conducted in Europe (n = 14) and South America (n = 14). Conversely, very few studies were conducted in Africa and in major elasmobranch trading hubs like China, Indonesia, Singapore, Vietnam etc.

This review sheds a light on the prevalence of mislabelling in elasmobranchs, highlighting the potential threats to biodiversity and conservation efforts. Mislabelling misinforms consumers who might unknowingly purchase and consume threatened species or products with high concentrations of pollutants under false pretences, reducing their ability to make informed decisions and potentially supporting unstainable practices. Mislabelling also undermines conservation efforts by concealing true numbers caught and sold, impeding accurate assessments of population declines and conservation priorities. This understanding can influence policy changes, trade regulations, and raise public awareness to mitigate the risks posed by mislabelling, ultimately aiding in the safeguarding and sustainable management of elasmobranch populations. The issue of mislabelling in the global context has mainly been conducted as "snapshot research", but rather than just focussing on a single market or a few cities, mislabelling requires a global approach. Currently it's academics, NGOs and government bodies acting in isolation doing snapshot research at specific points of time or specific locations which only gives us a glimpse of the issue, but not the whole picture. This issue requires a more unified approach to enable more effective efforts to improve shark conservation.

We are aiming to publish this chapter, **Chapter 2**, in Biological Conservation in 2025, with the aim to aim to raise awareness of the issue of mislabelling within the elasmobranch trade, as well as putting pressure on regulatory bodies to address this issue and regulate the trade

of elasmobranchs and elasmobranch-related products more effectively. We also hope that by publishing the review it will encourage further studies to be carried out in key understudied areas or markets, providing a more comprehensive global assessment of mislabelling in elasmobranchs.

• The second aim of this thesis was to develop a rapid, on-site identification tool in the form of a Lab-on-a-Chip (LOC) for genetic analysis of three CITES-listed sharks: bigeye thresher (*Alopias superciliosus*), pelagic thresher (*A. pelagicus*) and short fin mako shark (*I. oxyrinchus*) belonging to the order Lamniformes (Chapter 3).

We developed a paper-based lab-on-a-chip (LOC) that successfully identified the three CITES-listed sharks bigeye and pelagic thresher, and shortfin mako shark for intended use at market source. The LOC combined DNA amplification and visualisation using LAMP to give a simple "yes" or "no" answer with a colour change from pink to yellow if the target species of shark was present. We successfully incorporated a positive and negative control onto the chip to validate the accuracy of the method by confirming correct species identification and ruling out potential errors or contamination. The LOC serves as proof of concept (PoC) for field-based species identification, eliminating the need for expensive laboratory equipment and specialist facilities. The LOC's design allows for global application intended for use by non-scientifically trained personnel and in regions where there is limited access to specialist facilities and are prone to mislabelling and where elasmobranchs are traded the most. We carried out a workshop in Manta, Ecuador where ministerial officials were given a demonstration on the use of the LOC. Participants knowledge of LOC technology increased and all attendees responded positively that the LOC would be beneficial for the use of identifying sharks, as well as other CITES-listed species such as mobula rays. Although our LOC is a PoC, it has the

potential to enhance the monitoring and regulation of the trade in shark and shark-relatedproducts, aiding in the conservation of elasmobranchs. It's essential that we involve and empower local stakeholders in conservation as it significantly enhances our capacity to challenge greater conservation issues and ultimately leads to the safeguarding of our ocean's biodiversity.

The work carried out in this chapter was conducted with support from two funded grants totalling ~£50,000 from the Save Our Seas Foundation (SOSF) and National Geographic Society (NGS) that I prepared with support from my supervisor (K. Shaw). I carried out the preparation and delivery of the workshop in Ecuador in 2022. I conducted the workshop in Spanish, a language I learnt during my PhD studies to be able to engage with important stakeholders in Ecuador thereby increasing the impact of my research within local communities. Additionally, I presented the methods of the LOC with faculty members and biology students at Universidad de San Francisco de Quito. I presented this research at microTAS in October 2021 and Sharks International in October 2022. I was selected to present a poster on the LOC at the House of Commons for STEM Britain in March 2022. This chapter was published in PLOS ONE in April 2024.

• The third aim of this thesis was to assess and evaluate the concentrations of pollutants in elasmobranchs across the world by systematically gathering and analysing the available scientific literature (Chapter 4).

This review included a total of 176 relevant studies on pollutants in elasmobranchs. Most studies (63%) focussed on trace elements, with fewer articles on POPs, (micro)plastics, and other pollutants. Despite the relatively good global coverage of studies, most were carried out in the North Atlantic Ocean, North Pacific Ocean, and Mediterranean Sea with areas such as

the South Pacific (including Eastern Tropical Pacific), South Atlantic and Indian Ocean (including the Red Sea and Persian Gulf) receiving proportionately less attention despite being important global hotspots for elasmobranchs. Underrepresenting these areas might hinder our understanding of pollutant exposure in elasmobranchs, particularly concerning due to the overlap of large-scale commercial fisheries with these critical zones, potentially posing a threat to human health through the consumption of seafood originating from these areas.

The highest concentrations of pollutants were found in sharks occupying top trophic levels (Carcharhiniformes and Lamniformes), many of which are threatened and/or CITES-listed. A human health risk assessment revealed consuming shark as little as once a week would put children and adults over the maximum mercury (Hg) intake levels as recommended by the US EPA. This presents a threat to local fishing communities and global consumers of shark-derived products, alongside those subject to the widespread mislabelling of elasmobranchs. This review identified major gaps in the literature which have already started to be addressed by other authors. Broader screening studies are required to determine the risk of emerging pollutants to elasmobranchs, while more robust studies are recommended to evaluate the potential health risks for humans.

This review was published in Marine Pollution Bulletin in 2020, and now has over 80 citations. The impact of this review is complex as it highlights the significant risks to both elasmobranchs and human consumers of elasmobranchs and their related products. Unveiling the potential health risks associated with the consumption of shark meat, it stresses the need for stricter monitoring and regulation of elasmobranch products within the global trade.

• The final aim of this thesis was to determine trace element and heavy metal concentrations in five commercially important shark species, bigeye thresher (*A. superciliosus*), pelagic thresher (*A. pelagicus*), silky shark (*Carcharhinus falciformis*), blue

shark (*Prionace glauca*) and smooth hammerhead shark (*Sphyrna zygaena*) landed at artisanal fish markets in Ecuador, and to evaluate the potential risks to human health and ecological impacts associated with the consumption of these species (**Chapter 5**).

The concentration of fourteen trace elements were measured in the muscle tissue from five commercially important shark species bigeye and pelagic thresher, silky shark, blue shark, and smooth hammerhead shark landed at three artisanal markets in Ecuador. Ecuador is one of FAO's major fishing areas and is an important elasmobranch hotspot. Mercury concentrations greatly exceeded the safe consumption limits established by the US EPA, suggesting potential adverse health effects for children and adults even after consuming as little as one portion of shark a week. As shark is consumed all over the world, it poses a risk not only to local fishing communities but also to international consumers of shark meat. This risk is amplified, particularly in the case of mislabelling that occurs on a global scale. Our knowledge of elasmobranchs from the Eastern Tropical Pacific (ETP) is still limited, and therefore additional research is necessary to fully understand the health effects of heavy metals as well as toxic POPs on elasmobranch populations. We aim to send this chapter off for publication in Marine Pollution Bulletin (where **Chapter 4** was published) in early 2024.

Understanding the effects pollutants have on elasmobranch populations helps us identifying further threats to their health and survival. This research can help guide conservation strategies, facilitating the advancement and implementation of focussed measures to alleviate the risks associated with pollutant exposure and protect elasmobranch populations. It may also promote the need for stricter regulations and policies aimed at reducing pollution levels, ultimately protecting these important marine species and their ecosystems.

#### 6.2. Future work

The work in this thesis has contributed to the field of elasmobranch conservation, specifically targeting threats from overexploitation and pollution. As the LOC was a PoC, taking the application to the next level will require additional work. The initial steps would be to develop the method further by simplifying the method and reducing the production costs by bulk producing it. Once further tests have been carried out, we would trial the LOC in Ecuador with our existing stakeholders, such as the Viceministerio de Acuacultura y Pesca, WWF, customs officials, and environmental police (aimed at tackling wildlife crime). Ecuador would be a great location to trial the LOC as we already have good relations with local stakeholders, and their government is very committed to tackling the illegal wildlife trade especially with the implementation of a new National Action Plan for Sharks. Samples for the species we need to target for the LOC are also readily available and so access to samples would not be a problem. We would record the feedback and data on the LOC from this trial on a database, allowing us to develop the LOC further based on these results. Facilitating knowledge exchange with key stakeholders is crucial to empower local communities to lead conservation efforts, reducing the reliance on international input. Ultimately, the main aim would be to provide these communities with the necessary methods and resources, allowing them to undertake the conservation work within their country. Once we have shown that the LOC works well in one location (Ecuador), we can implement it on a global basis and engage with the wider community so that everyone is working in unison towards a common goal, rather than us carrying out snapshot research that's frequently done in this field.

We carried out initial workshops with these stakeholders in Ecuador and constructive feedback revolved around inclusion of additional CITES-listed species but not just restricted to sharks, e.g., mobula rays (Mobulidae), and further development on the SOP for the LOC.

For future work we would aim to include additional CITES-listed sharks, especially as hammerheads (Sphyrnidae) and Carcharhinid (Carcharhinidae) sharks are now listed in CITES. Some of these species are genetically very similar, and thus developing LAMP species-specific primers would be a challenge, therefore it may be easier to develop primers that target those groups rather than individual species. As many of the elasmobranchs are now listed in CITES, the LOC could be used as a comprehensive screening test. In cases where specific species need confirmation, this could be confirmed in a lab with sequencing facilities. This approach would still minimise the cost significant as only a few samples would need to be sequenced. This efficiency would be particularly advantageous when elasmobranchs need to be identified in huge seizures from airports, fin warehouses or Illegal, Unreported and Unregulated (IUU) vessels. Primers for mobula rays can also be developed, this will target mislabelling, as well as the ray fin and gill raker trade. We would aim to have better special coverage with the LOC, as it is important not just to focus on rolling the LOC out in Ecuador but also other countries where the elasmobranch trade is prevalent, for example South Africa, Hong Kong, and Indonesia.

It would be great to carry out analysis on emerging and highly toxic POPs such as PFAS, PCDD/Fs, OC's, UV chemical filters, as our systematic review on pollutants in elasmobranchs identified that very few studies had looked at these POPs. Future work would aim to analyse these POPs in the tissue of the five sharks (bigeye and pelagic thresher, blue shark, silky and smooth hammerhead shark) from **Chapter 5**. The edible tissue of sharks is important but as POPs tend to bioaccumulate in the liver as they have a highly lipophilic nature. Future work would include liver samples, to look more at concentrations of pollutants in squalene and other roots rather than meat as squalene is used in many products, including cosmetics (e.g., lipstick, mascara) as well as in vitamin and supplements (e.g., liver oil).

#### 6.3. Summary Statement

Throughout my thesis, I have successfully explored key aspects of elasmobranch conservation, including mislabelling, international trade and pollutant exposure. By implementing meta-analysis and systematic reviews, I investigated patterns of mislabelling and pollutant exposure in elasmobranchs. I also applied innovative techniques, such as the LOC, to identify threatened and CITES-listed sharks in the field and used chemical analysis to assess pollutant concentrations in the tissue of commercially important and threatened sharks. This multidisciplinary approach has provided valuable insights into the conservation challenges facing elasmobranchs and has produced novel tools to address these key challenges. The main findings of my thesis were:

- 1. A systematic review on 85 studies that focussed on identifying elasmobranchs and related products in the trade, and mislabelling revealed that over 20% of elasmobranchs were either mislabelled or sold under umbrella terms, often concealing threatened or CITES-listed species, particularly blue sharks. Nearly half of the mislabelled species were threatened, and over half of those sold under umbrella terms were also threatened, highlighting the urgent need for stronger enforcement and more research in key trading hubs.
- 2. Created a novel paper-based LOC that accurately identifies three CITES-listed sharks (bigeye thresher, pelagic thresher, and shortfin mako) at market sources. The LOC can be used by non-scientifically trained personnel and doesn't require the need for expensive reagents, equipment or specialist facilities. It's particularly valuable in areas where there may be suspected high rates or mislabelling and can be used at border control during seizure of shark products (e.g. dried fins),

enhancing enforcement efforts where traditional methods and resources may be limited.

- 3. A total of 176 studies were included in a systematic review of pollutants in elasmobranchs. Sharks belonging to the top of the food chain had the highest concentrations of pollutants, specifically within the orders Carcharhiniformes and Lamniformes. The review also highlighted significant gaps in our knowledge regarding emerging toxic pollutants such as PFAS, dioxin-like-compounds, and halogenated flame retardants. Additionally, it identified critical areas that require further research, particularly in the South Pacific, Indian Ocean and Red Sea.
- 4. A human health risk assessment conducted in Chapter 4 and 5 revealed that individuals consuming shark meat as little as once a week may be exposed to mercury concentrations that exceed the guidelines set by the US EPA. This poses considerable risks not only to local fishing communities and international consumers of shark products but also to those impacted by the widespread mislabelling of elasmobranch products.

Elasmobranchs are frequently mislabelled and are therefore prevalent in our food chains and consumed by the public often without their knowledge. Just one portion of mislabelled shark meat can put children and adult over the toxic threshold for Hg, and possibly other emerging toxic persistent organic pollutants (POPs). Though our understanding of POPs in sharks is limited, their potential threat to humans that consume shark products, particularly liver products that accumulate lipophilic POPs, remains significant. Gathering support for elasmobranch conservation can be challenging as they often lack the endearing qualities of "charismatic" or commonly favoured species as they are not "cute" and "cuddly". However, the human health angle provides an extra layer of significance from a public perspective. It would be very costly and therefore near impossible to tackle the elasmobranch meat trade using only traditional genetic techniques, but our PoC LOC demonstrates that cost-effective, rapid, and field-based alternatives could make tackling this issue achievable in the near future. By focussing our efforts on enhancing these genetic approaches, we can increase our capacity for species identification, ensuring that conservation efforts and policy makers are well informed. As a result, this empowers us to address the illegal trade and mislabelling of elasmobranchs effectively, making a significant impact on both human health and elasmobranch conservation.

In conclusion, my thesis highlights the pressing need for strengthened legislation, policy reforms, and governance, alongside targeted conservation strategies, to effectively address the key threats facing elasmobranchs. By addressing the widespread issue of mislabelling and pollutant exposure in elasmobranchs, along with developing the LOC, my research will contribute to the development of more effective management practices. Future studies should focus on understanding the physiological and ecological impacts of pollutants, especially emerging toxic pollutants, and encourage the implementation community-driven initiatives that raise awareness and promote sustainable fishing practices. In order to protect future elasmobranch populations, collaboration between scientists, policymakers, governments, and local communities is essential. This multidisciplinary approach can facilitate the development of effective conservation strategies and ensure that we create long-lasting solutions that mitigate the threats elasmobranchs face and ensure their survival for generations to come.